
LOCAL REVIEW BODY
MONDAY, 16 MARCH 2020

A MEETING of the LOCAL REVIEW BODY will be held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNCIL 

HEADQUARTERS, NEWTOWN ST BOSWELLS, TD6 0SA on MONDAY, 16 MARCH 2020 at 

10.00 am

J. J. WILKINSON,
Clerk to the Council,

6 March 2020

BUSINESS

1. Apologies for Absence. 

2. Order of Business. 

3. Declarations of Interest. 

4. Continuation: Consider request for review of refusal of application for 
erection of two dwellinghouses on garden ground of 7 Heriot House, 
Heriot. 18/01777/FUL. 19/00029/RREF. 

Copies of the following papers attached:-
(a)  Additional information provided by appellant (Pages 3 - 6)
(b)  Response from Planning Officer (Pages 7 - 8)
(c)  Response from Roads Planning Officer (Pages 9 - 

12)
(d)  Review papers (Pages 13 - 

92)
Copies of papers re-circulated as follows:-

Notice of Review - page 13
Decision Notice - page 58
Officer’s Report - page 61 
Papers referred to - page 67                                           
Consultations - page 71
Representations - page 77
List of Policies - page 83   

 
           

5. Consider request for review of refusal of application for erection of 
dwellinghouse, garages and associated access on land NW of Town O 
Rule Farmhouse, Bonchester Bridge, Hawick. 18/01194/FUL. 

Public Document Pack



20/00001/RREF. 

Copies of the following papers attached:-
(a)  Notice of Review and associated documents (Pages 93 - 

386)
Including:-

Decision Notice – page 190
Officer’s Report – page 193 

(b)  Papers referred to in Officer's Report (Pages 387 - 
424)

(c)  Consultations (Pages 425 - 
436)

(d)  List of Policies (Pages 437 - 
446)

6. Any Other Items Previously Circulated 

7. Any Other Items which the Chairman Decides are Urgent 

NOTE
Members are reminded that, if they have a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in any item 
of business coming before the meeting, that interest should be declared prior to 
commencement of discussion on that item. Such declaration will be recorded in the Minute 
of the meeting.

Membership of Committee:- Councillors T. Miers (Chairman), A. Anderson, J. A. Fullarton, 
S. Hamilton, H. Laing, S. Mountford, C. Ramage, N. Richards and E. Small.

Please direct any enquiries to Fiona Walling  tel:- 01835 826504
email:- fwalling@scotborders.gov.uk



Page 3

Agenda Item 4a



Page 4



Page 5



Page 6



Page 7

Agenda Item 4b



APPEAL REF 19/00029/RREF 

PLANNING APPLICATION REF 18/01777/FUL - Erection of two dwellinghouses, Garden 

Ground Of 7 Heriot House, Heriot  

 

1. The proposed development does not comply with Policies PMD2, HD2 and EP13 of 

the Local Development Plan 2016, or Supplementary Planning Guidance on New 

Housing in the Borders Countryside 2008, Trees and Development 2008 or 

Placemaking and Design 2010 in that the siting and design of the proposed 

development would have an adverse and unsympathetic impact on the landscape 

character of the site; sense of place of the existing group and its built form; and existing 

tree planting. Other material considerations do not outweigh these policy conflicts 

 

 

a) The siting of the development is unchanged thus this aspect cannot be considered to 

have been addressed. It is our view that the gap between the proposed houses and 

the existing group is unacceptable. A sympathetic proposal would have been to site 

the houses closer to the existing, instead of allowing for the houses to leapfrog a strip 

of ground dedicated to a stable block 

b) The revised drawings do, however, address concerns regarding level changes, 

providing clear and fairly comprehensive information which demonstrates a 

sympathetic tie in with existing levels. Stone/rendered walls, as opposed to gabions, 

would, however, be preferred.  It is assumed the level changes will not need adjusted 

to suit any health and safety issues associated with the adjacent drain outlet. It is for 

the applicant to ensure this is the case, as any subsequent adjustments to the levels 

may have adverse visual consequences 

c) The proposals do not address concerns regarding impacts on trees. The information 

is no more precise than before, nor does it address the impact of the trees when fully 

grown on the amenity of the nearest house 

d) The design and detail of the houses has not materially changed. There remains a poor 

flow to the roofs; external chimney; dormers to the rear; fascias to eaves; and heavy 

fascia treatments/eave overhangs to the dormers. These elements combine to 

produce a development that will depart from the character of the existing buildings, 

which are fundamentally traditional in their design and detailing 

 

2. The proposed development does not comply with Policy PMD2 of the Local 

Development Plan 2016 or New Housing in the Borders Countryside Supplementary 

Planning Guidance 2008 in that it has not been demonstrated that the development 

can be provided with a safe means of vehicular access and would not adversely impact 

on the integrity of the public road and verge, therefore potentially leading to an adverse 

impact on road safety. Other material considerations do not outweigh these policy 

conflicts 

 

a) I would respectfully refer the Local Review Body to the views of our statutory consultee, 

the Roads Planning Service, on whether the revised submission addresses concerns 

as regards this reason for refusal 

b) I would note that access to the stable block, as shown on the revised plans, requires 

separate Planning Permission as it would not benefit from Permitted Development 

Rights. 

Page 8



Page 9

Agenda Item 4c



Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells, MELROSE, Scottish Borders, TD6 0SA
Customer Services: 0300 100 1800 www.scotborders.gov.uk

18/01777/FUL - Appeal Ref. 19/00029/REF Page 1 of 2

CONSULTATION RESPONSE TO

PLANNING OR RELATED APPLICATION

Comments provided
by Roads Planning Service

Officer Name, Post
and Contact Details

Alan Scott
Senior Roads Planning Officer

ascott@scotborders.gov.uk
01835 826640

Date of reply 19th February 2020 Consultee reference:

Planning Application
Reference

18/01777/FUL

(Appeal Ref. 19/00029/REF)
Case Officer: Carlos Clarke

Applicant Mr. C. Dougall

Agent Suzanne McIntosh Planning Limited

Proposed
Development

Erection of two dwellings

Site Location Garden ground of 7 Heriot House

The following observations represent the comments of the consultee on the submitted application
as they relate to the area of expertise of that consultee. A decision on the application can only be
made after consideration of all relevant information, consultations and material considerations.

Background and
Site description

Key Issues
(Bullet points)

Assessment It is my opinion that the additional information has still not addressed the concerns
previously raised and does not address the concerns of reason 2 for refusal.

When you look at the elevations drawings for house 1 (Drg. No. 17-40-003 Rev G),
Elevation 1 shows the post and wire fence to be on the site boundary, with a solid
red box outside the boundary. It is unclear what this box refers to. It then shows a
short, steep section of embankment to the top of the gabion baskets. The front
elevation for the same house (Elevation 4) shows the red box doted and within the
site boundary and the gradient of the slope from the fence to the gabion baskets is
less severe than the other elevation.

Of more of a concern is the relationship between the fencing and what is actually
on-site. The existing fence is between 5.5m and 9m back from the edge of the
existing road, however the plans show this fence-line to be approx. 2m back from
the edge of the road. The area of planting between the site and Shoestanes Road
is currently being considered for adoption by the Council as part of the works
associated with the reinstatement of the Borders Railway Line. It was the subject of
a shadow road construction consent and, as we have been asked to adopt it, it is
considered part of the prospective public road network which we are considering for
adoption. Furthermore, there were extensive discussions at the time of the railway
scheme with regards the planting which is currently in place. Were the dwelling to
be constructed as shown, this planting would be lost and additional planting may
have to be provided to compensate for the loss of what is currently in-situ.

The existing fence-line also implies that the dwelling is to be constructed within the
verge and this would not be supported by this section at this stage. Were we to
consider an amendment to the road boundary, which is not unacceptable in
principle, we would require further information on the gabion baskets to ensure the
stability of the road was not put in jeopardy by the works. This would require the

Page 10



Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells, MELROSE, Scottish Borders, TD6 0SA
Customer Services: 0300 100 1800 www.scotborders.gov.uk

18/01777/FUL - Appeal Ref. 19/00029/REF Page 2 of 2

submission of further drawings which accurately show the existing layout and the
proposed layout, with appropriate sections and engineering details for the gabions.
Confirmation would also have to be obtained as to whether any formal process
would be required to amend the boundary currently being considered as part of the
adoption process for roads associated with the reinstatement of the Border Railway
(eg Stopping-up orders).

The snip below shows in green what I believe to be the line of the existing fence.

As the applicant has not shown that they can provide the development without a
significant impact on the public road, I am still unable to support the proposal.

Recommendation Object Do not object Do not object,
subject to conditions

Further
information required

Recommended
Conditions

Recommended
Informatives

Signed: A. J. Scott

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 9

Newtown St Boswells Melrose TD6 0SA  Tel: 01835 826705  Email: corporatebusinesssystems@scotborders.gov.uk 

Applications cannot be validated until all the necessary documentation has been submitted and the required fee has been paid.

Thank you for completing this application form:

ONLINE REFERENCE 100093860-004

The online reference is the unique reference for your online form only. The  Planning Authority will allocate an Application Number when 
your form is validated. Please quote this reference if you need to contact the planning Authority about this application.

Type of Application
What is this application for? Please select one of the following: *

  Application for planning permission (including changes of use and surface  mineral working).

  Application for planning permission in principle.

  Further application, (including renewal of planning permission, modification, variation or removal of a planning condition etc)

  Application for Approval of Matters specified in conditions.

Description of Proposal
Please describe the proposal including any change of use: *  (Max 500 characters)

Is this a temporary permission? *  Yes   No

If a change of use is to be included in the proposal has it already taken place?  Yes   No
(Answer ‘No’ if there is no change of use.) *

Has the work already been started and/or completed? *

 No   Yes – Started   Yes - Completed

Applicant or Agent Details
Are you an applicant or an agent? * (An agent is an architect, consultant or someone else acting
on behalf of the applicant in connection with this application)  Applicant  Agent

Erection of Two Dwellinghouses

Page 13

Agenda Item 4d



Page 2 of 9

Agent Details
Please enter Agent details

Company/Organisation:

Ref. Number: You must enter a Building Name or Number, or both: *

First Name: * Building Name:

Last Name: *  Building Number:

Address 1
Telephone Number: * (Street): *

Extension Number: Address 2:

Mobile Number: Town/City: *

Fax Number: Country: *

Postcode: *

Email Address: *

Is the applicant an individual or an organisation/corporate entity? *

  Individual    Organisation/Corporate entity

Applicant Details
Please enter Applicant details

Title: You must enter a Building Name or Number, or both: *

Other Title: Building Name:

First Name: * Building Number:

Address 1
Last Name: * (Street): *

Company/Organisation Address 2:

Telephone Number: * Town/City: *

Extension Number: Country: *

Mobile Number: Postcode: *

Fax Number:

Email Address: *

Suzanne McIntosh Planning Limited

Mr

Suzanne 

Craig

McIntosh

Dougall

Bath Street

Mayfield Industrial Estate

45C

Mayfield Industrial Estate

07792230979

EH15 1HB

EH22 4AD

United Kingdom

Scotland

Edinburgh

Dalkeith

Portobello

07792230979

smcintoshplan@gmail.com

Hill Norton Homes

Page 14



Page 3 of 9

Site Address Details
Planning Authority: 

Full postal address of the site (including postcode where available):

Address 1:  

Address 2:

Address 3:

Address 4:

Address 5:

Town/City/Settlement:

Post Code:

Please identify/describe the location of the site or sites

Northing Easting

Pre-Application Discussion
Have you discussed your proposal with the planning authority? *  Yes   No

Pre-Application Discussion Details Cont.

In what format was the feedback given? *

 Meeting  Telephone  Letter  Email

Please provide a description of the feedback you were given and the name of the officer who provided this feedback. If a processing 
agreement [note 1] is currently in place or if you are currently discussing a processing agreement with the planning authority, please 
provide details of this. (This will help the authority to deal with this application more efficiently.) * (max 500 characters)

Title: Other title: 

First Name: Last Name:

Correspondence Reference Date (dd/mm/yyyy):
Number:

Note 1. A Processing agreement involves setting out the key stages involved in determining a planning application, identifying what 
information is required and from whom and setting timescales for the delivery of various stages of the process. 

7 HERIOT HOUSE

Ongoing discussions with Carlos Clarke

Mr

Scottish Borders Council

Carlos Clarke

HERIOT

EH38 5YB

654192 340309

Page 15



Page 4 of 9

Site Area
Please state the site area:

Please state the measurement type used:  Hectares (ha)   Square Metres (sq.m)

Existing Use
Please describe the current or most recent use: *  (Max 500 characters)

Access and Parking
Are you proposing a new altered vehicle access to or from a public road? *  Yes   No

If Yes please describe and show on your drawings the position of any existing. Altered or new access points, highlighting the changes 
you propose to make. You should also show existing footpaths and note if there will be any impact on these.

Are you proposing any change to public paths, public rights of way or affecting any public right of access? *  Yes   No

If Yes please show on your drawings the position of any affected areas highlighting the changes you propose to make, including 
arrangements for continuing or alternative public access.

How many vehicle parking spaces (garaging and open parking) currently exist on the application
Site?

How many vehicle parking spaces (garaging and open parking) do you propose on the site (i.e. the
Total of existing and any new spaces or a reduced number of spaces)? *

Please show on your drawings the position of existing and proposed parking spaces and identify if these are for the use of particular 
types of vehicles (e.g. parking for disabled people, coaches, HGV vehicles, cycles spaces).

Water Supply and Drainage Arrangements
Will your proposal require new or altered water supply or drainage arrangements? *  Yes   No

Are you proposing to connect to the public drainage network (eg. to an existing sewer)? *

  Yes – connecting to public drainage network

  No – proposing to make private drainage arrangements

  Not Applicable – only arrangements for water supply required

Do your proposals make provision for sustainable drainage of surface water?? *  Yes   No
(e.g. SUDS arrangements) *

Note:- 

Please include details of SUDS arrangements on your plans

Selecting ‘No’ to the above question means that you could be in breach of Environmental legislation.

0.25

Paddock adjacent to house

0

4

Page 16



Page 5 of 9

Are you proposing to connect to the public water supply network? *

  Yes

  No, using a private water supply

  No connection required

If No, using a private water supply, please show on plans the supply and all works needed to provide it (on or off site).

Assessment of Flood Risk
Is the site within an area of known risk of flooding? *  Yes    No   Don’t Know

If the site is within an area of known risk of flooding you may need to submit a Flood Risk Assessment before your application can be 
determined. You may wish to contact your Planning Authority or SEPA for advice on what information may be required.

Do you think your proposal may increase the flood risk elsewhere? *  Yes    No   Don’t Know

Trees
Are there any trees on or adjacent to the application site? *  Yes   No

If Yes, please mark on your drawings any trees, known protected trees and their canopy spread close to the proposal site and indicate if 
any are to be cut back or felled.

Waste Storage and Collection
Do the plans incorporate areas to store and aid the collection of waste (including recycling)? *  Yes   No

If Yes or No, please provide further details: * (Max 500 characters)

Residential Units Including Conversion
Does your proposal include new or additional houses and/or flats? *  Yes   No

How many units do you propose in total? *

Please provide full details of the number and types of units on the plans. Additional information may be provided in a supporting 
statement.

All Types of Non Housing Development – Proposed New Floorspace
Does your proposal alter or create non-residential floorspace? *  Yes   No

Schedule 3 Development
Does the proposal involve a form of development listed in Schedule 3 of the Town and Country  Yes   No   Don’t Know
Planning (Development Management Procedure (Scotland) Regulations 2013 *

If yes, your proposal will additionally have to be advertised in a newspaper circulating in the area of the development. Your planning 
authority will do this on your behalf but will charge you a fee. Please check the planning authority’s website for advice on the additional 
fee and add this to your planning fee.

If you are unsure whether your proposal involves a form of development listed in Schedule 3, please check the Help Text and Guidance 
notes before contacting your planning authority.

See detailed drawings

2

Page 17



Page 6 of 9

Planning Service Employee/Elected Member Interest
Is the applicant, or the applicant’s spouse/partner, either a member of staff within the planning service or an  Yes    No
elected member of the planning authority? *

Certificates and Notices
CERTIFICATE AND NOTICE UNDER REGULATION 15 – TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
PROCEDURE) (SCOTLAND) REGULATION 2013

One Certificate must be completed and submitted along with the application form. This is most usually Certificate A, Form 1,
Certificate B, Certificate C or Certificate E.

Are you/the applicant the sole owner of ALL the land? *  Yes    No

Is any of the land part of an agricultural holding? *  Yes    No

Are you able to identify and give appropriate notice to ALL the other owners? *   Yes    No

Certificate Required
The following Land Ownership Certificate is required to complete this section of the proposal:

Certificate B

Land Ownership Certificate
Certificate and Notice under Regulation 15 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Scotland) 
Regulations 2013

I hereby certify that 

(1) - No person other than myself/the applicant was an owner [Note 4] of any part of the land to which the application relates at the 
beginning of the period of 21 days ending with the date of the accompanying application; 

or –

(1) - I have/The Applicant has served notice on every person other than myself/the applicant who, at the beginning of the period of 21 
days ending with the date of the accompanying application was owner [Note 4] of any part of the land to which the application relates.

Name:

Address:

Date of Service of Notice: *

Mr Mark Williams

NWHMayfield Industrial Estate, Mayfield Industrial Estate, Dalkeith, Scotland, EH22 4AD

18/12/2018

Page 18



Page 7 of 9

(2) - None of the land to which the application relates constitutes or forms part of an agricultural holding;

or –

(2) - The land or part of the land to which the application relates constitutes or forms part of an agricultural holding and I have/the 
applicant has served notice on every person other than myself/himself who, at the beginning of the period of 21 days ending with the 
date of the accompanying application was an agricultural tenant.  These persons are:

Name:

Address:

Date of Service of Notice: *

Signed: Suzanne  McIntosh

On behalf of: Hill Norton Homes

Date: 18/12/2018

 Please tick here to certify this Certificate. *

Checklist – Application for Planning Permission
Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997

The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2013

Please take a few moments to complete the following checklist in order to ensure that you have provided all the necessary information 
in support of your application. Failure to submit sufficient information with your application may result in your application being deemed 
invalid. The planning authority will not start processing your application until it is valid.

a) If this is a further application where there is a variation of conditions attached to a previous consent, have you provided a statement to 
that effect? *
 Yes   No   Not applicable to this application

b) If this is an application for planning permission or planning permission in principal where there is a crown interest in the land, have 
you provided a statement to that effect? *
 Yes   No   Not applicable to this application

c) If this is an application for planning permission, planning permission in principle or a further application and the application is for 
development belonging to the categories of national or major development (other than one under Section 42 of the planning Act), have 
you provided a Pre-Application Consultation Report? *
 Yes   No   Not applicable to this application

Page 19



Page 8 of 9

Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997

The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2013

d) If this is an application for planning permission and the application relates to development belonging to the categories of national or 
major developments and you do not benefit from exemption under Regulation 13 of The Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2013, have you provided a Design and Access Statement? *
 Yes   No   Not applicable to this application

e) If this is an application for planning permission and relates to development belonging to the category of local developments (subject 
to regulation 13. (2) and (3) of the Development Management Procedure (Scotland) Regulations 2013) have you provided a Design 
Statement? *
 Yes   No   Not applicable to this application

f) If your application relates to installation of an antenna to be employed in an electronic communication network, have you provided an 
ICNIRP Declaration? *
 Yes   No   Not applicable to this application

g) If this is an application for planning permission, planning permission in principle, an application for approval of matters specified in 
conditions or an application for mineral development, have you provided any other plans or drawings as necessary:

  Site Layout Plan or Block plan.

  Elevations.

  Floor plans.

  Cross sections.

  Roof plan.

  Master Plan/Framework Plan.

  Landscape plan.

  Photographs and/or photomontages.

  Other.

If Other, please specify: *  (Max 500 characters) 

Provide copies of the following documents if applicable:

A copy of an Environmental Statement. *  Yes   N/A

A Design Statement or Design and Access Statement. *  Yes   N/A

A Flood Risk Assessment. *  Yes   N/A

A Drainage Impact Assessment (including proposals for Sustainable Drainage Systems). *  Yes   N/A

Drainage/SUDS layout. *  Yes   N/A

A Transport Assessment or Travel Plan  Yes   N/A

Contaminated Land Assessment. *  Yes   N/A

Habitat Survey. *  Yes   N/A

A Processing Agreement. *  Yes   N/A

Other Statements (please specify). (Max 500 characters)

Supporting Planning Statement

Supporting Planning Statement

Page 20



Page 9 of 9

Declare – For Application to Planning Authority
I, the applicant/agent certify that this is an application to the planning authority as described in this form. The accompanying
Plans/drawings and additional information are provided as a part of this application.

Declaration Name: Mrs Suzanne  McIntosh

Declaration Date: 23/04/2018
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

GROUNDS FOR REVIEW 
 
 
 

REFUSAL OF PLANNING PERMISSION REFERENCE   
18/01777/FUL 

 
 
 
 

Erection of Two Dwellinghouses 
Garden Ground of/ Land adjacent to 7 Heriot House 

Heriot 
Scottish Borders 

 
 
 
 

Hill Norton Homes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Suzanne McIntosh Planning Limited 
 
 

1. 11. 19 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



1.       INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 

1.1      I have been instructed by Hill Norton Homes to seek review of  the refusal of planning 

permission for 2 dwellinghouses on land adjacent to 7 Heriot House, Heriot. Planning 

permission was refused under delegated powers on 6.8.19. The reasons for refusal were 

as follows:  

 

 1 The proposed development does not comply with Policies PMD2, HD2 and EP13 of the 

Local Development Plan 2016, or Supplementary Planning Guidance on New Housing 

in the Borders Countryside 2008, Trees and Development 2008 or Placemaking and 

Design 2010 in that the siting and design of the proposed development would have an 

adverse and unsympathetic impact on the landscape character of the site; sense of 

place of the existing group and its built form; and existing tree planting. Other material 

considerations do not outweigh these policy conflicts 

 

 2 The proposed development does not comply with Policy PMD2 of the Local 

Development Plan 2016 or New Housing in the Borders Countryside Supplementary 

Planning Guidance 2008 in that it has not been demonstrated that the development 

can be provided with a safe means of vehicular access and would not adversely impact 

on the integrity of the public road and verge, therefore potentially leading to an adverse 

impact on road safety. Other material considerations do not outweigh these policy 

conflicts 

 

1.2   The application for the 2 dwellinghouses was a resubmission of an amended application 

following extensive negotiations with the council’s Planning Department. The 

previouse proposal had been for 3 dwellinghouses; this was withdrawn and a new 

application prepared, in line with the advice received from the council, which is now 

the subject of this refusal. On the advice of Planning an application was made to 

modify a previous S75 obligation that applied to the land and an amended application 

for 2 dwellinghouses was lodged in preference to the previous application for 3 

dwellings. A length negotiation on design, layout, access, levels and landscaping was 

undertaken. Consultation with the local community and modifying the proposals to 

Page 24



make sure they were in line with council policies, advice and guidance. However, there 

seems to be a backtracking from Roads on what is acceptable in terms of the access – 

the advice has changed from that which was given earlier in the negotiations and the 

Planning Department do not appear to like the design of the proposals. The applicant 

would therefore request that an independent review of the proposal be undertaken by 

the Local Review Body.  

 

1.3    The Local Review Body is asked to note the lengthy negotiations, where the proposal 

started and where it has got to – a significant improvement on the original ideas, the 

neutral comments from the community, the efforts made by the applicant to address 

every point put to us by Roads, Planning and any others in the interests of providing a 

development the council can support.  

 

1.4  The Local Review Body is also invited to support the applicant and Planning 

Department view that the principle of the development is acceptable in terms of an 

expansion of the building group by 2 units being in line with the development plan 

policies. If the Local Review Body has issues of design they require changes to they 

have the option of using condition/s to require a change to the proposal in respect of 

layout, elevations, materials, landscaping, levels etc. The Local Review Body are 

invited to approve the application. The two new dwellings will provide a modern, 

sustainable extension to the building group and provide people with a choice of 

accommodation in the local area.  

 

   

2       THE APPLICATION SITE, ITS SETTING AND THE PROPOSALS 

 

         The Site and its Context 

 

2.1   Heriot comprises a scattered settlement which takes in moorland, building groups 

adjacent to the road linking through to Innerleithen off the A7; and other distinct 

building groups around Heriot Station and Heriot House. On the whole the village 

and its wider environs comprise some 150 dwellings, spread over a geographical area of 

Page 25



around 50 square miles (130 km2), most of which is moorland. Heriot is located west of 

A7 and west of the Waverley line. The station formerly at Heriot served Heriot House 

and the village of Heriot until 1969 when the station was closed. On the re-opening of 

the Waverley Line a station was not reinstated at Heriot.  

 

2.2   The application site is adjacent to Heriot House which sits within a distinct building 

group of properties known as numbers 1 – 7 Heriot House. These properties vary in 

floorspace but are of a similar character being set back from Shoestanes Road, each 

building being a maximum 1.5 stories in height with the upper floor contained within 

the roof and served by dormer windows, stone facades, slate roofs and chimneys. All 

are cottages with accommodation for family living. The character of the buildings 

conveys a traditional farm steading type of architecture. Buildings are spaced apart 

and convey a grouping through shared public areas, access, parking and open front 

garden areas. The building group at Heriot House sits to the west of the A7 and the 

railway line and at a higher level than the A7 with rear gardens enclosed by open field 

boundary fencing and rough grazing land.  

 

2.3   The application site extends to 0.25Ha in area and is currently rough grazing land 

adjacent to the existing cottages in the Heriot House building group. On examining 

the locality it is clear that there are a number of building groups in the wider area 

known as Heriot. Heriot station building group, Heriot House building group and 

Heriot village building group – all individually distinct and different in size, location, 

character and density, location etc. Heriot House building group comprises a number 

of linked houses – some older conversions and others newer dating from planning 

permissions granted around 2006. The permissions sought and granted at that time 

have all been implemented in this building group within previous development plan 

lifespans.  

 

         The Proposal 

 

2.4   The application proposes the creation of an extension of the building group or cluster 

at Heriot House. The objective is to create a meaningful extension to the group that 

Page 26



relates in scale, massing, design, height, composition, materials and detailing. The 

brief from the applicant has been to achieve an extension to the building group that 

fits comfortably with the group, in its setting and enhances the building group by 

rounding it off and achieving a high quality of design in the layout and architecture. 

As a result the buildings will be sited a similar distance back from the Shoestanes Road 

and the existing buildings in the group. 

 

2.5  Two cottages are proposed in this application. They are sited forming an L shaped 

courtyard I order to create a presence, a relationship to each other and to round off 

the settlement edge.  

2.6   The houses are designed as simple cottage forms, 1.5 storeys in height. The main walls 

of the proposed dwellings are faced with natureal stone to fit comfortably with the 

adjacent, stone facades of the existing Heriot House development. The roofs will be 

covered in a natural slate roof finish.  

2.7   With regard to the sustainability credentials of the proposal, the development will 

achieve at least the Bronze level of sustainability in relation to the Technical 

Standards, Section 7.0. As far as possible, the development will be constructed from 

materials that are sourced from as close to the area as practical in a bid to reduce 

excessive transportation as well as utilising local businesses. 

2.8    The courtyard between the two dwellings will be a gravel finish. The access into the 

site will comply with Scottish Borders Council roads department specification and be a 

hard surface. The roof design of the proposed dwellings is more in keeping with the 

South facing elevation of Heriot House and the adjacent dwellings forming the L-

shaped courtyard to the North. Simplistic rooflines interspersed with conservation 

style Velux rooflights and sympathetic/ appropriate dormers allows the development 

to achieve a traditional barn effect attached to the cottages with the timber and glass 

porch breaking up the front elevations.  

 

2.9   The wood burning stoves are fitted with stainless steel flues as opposed to traditional 

chimneys to keep with the simplistic design of the development. The flues are sited to 

the rear of the properties, similar to the existing flue on Heriot House. 

Page 27



2.10 The proposed cottages will be set lower than Shoestanes Road. The application 

encompasses a full drawings package including sections and long elevation of the 

proposal in its streetscene. A landscape plan detailing the levels, changes and 

containment of the site is also provided. 

 

3.       A PLAN LED SYSTEM 

 

3.1    The Planning Authority is required by the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 

1997 (as amended) to take its decisions on planning applications in line with the 

policies of the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. An 

application for planning permission is required when development occurs. The Act 

defines development in Section 26 as: 

 ………..“development” means the carrying out of building, engineering, mining or other 

operations in, on, over or under land, or the making of any material change in the use of 

any buildings or other land.  

This premise of the plan led approach to the planning system is set out in sections 25 

and 37 of the Act as:  

“25 Status of development plans. 

Where, in making any determination under the planning Acts, regard is to be had 

to the development plan, the determination shall be made in accordance with the 

plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise…...  

37 Determination of applications: general considerations. 

(1)Where an application is made to a planning authority for planning permission—  

(a)subject to sections 58 and 59, they may grant planning permission, either 

unconditionally or subject to such conditions as they think fit, or  

(b)they may refuse planning permission.  

(2)In dealing with such an application the authority shall have regard to the 

provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application, and to 

any other material considerations.” 

Page 28



3.2    The interpretation of these provisions was clarified in the House of Lords decision in 

the 1998 case of City of Edinburgh Council v Secretary of State for Scotland (1998 SLT 

120). That judgement set out the following approach to determining a planning 

application:  

• identify any provisions of the development plan which are relevant to the 

decision;  

• interpret them carefully, looking at aims and objectives of the plan as well as 

detailed wording of policies; 

• consider whether or not the proposal accords with the development plan; 

• identify and consider relevant material considerations, for and against the 

proposal; and  

• assess whether these considerations warrant a departure from the development 

plan.  

The weight to be attached to any relevant material consideration is for the 

judgement of the decision maker.  

 

3.3   There is an expectation that development proposals that are in accordance with the 

development plan will be granted planning permission. However, other considerations 

such as more recent expressions of policy and planning guidance may, at times, 

outweigh the policies of the development plan, either in favour of or against the 

proposed development. Likewise situations may arise where plans are out of date and 

less relevant to changed circumstances. There may have been an intervening 

clarification of policy in a particular court or appeal decision or a clarification set out 

by the Chief Planner of the Scottish Government; there may also have been economic, 

social or cultural implications or issues that outweigh the planning status/ policy.  

There may also have been key decisions in planning applications of appeals that will 

inform future decision making and thus be a material consideration in the 

determination of an application; albeit that every application is determined on its own 

merits. In addition, material considerations such as the representation made, specific 

personal or economic needs expressed by the applicant, personal circumstances in 

respect of the Equalities (Scotland) Act 2010 or a wider community benefit in allowing 

Page 29



a proposal may also be relevant material considerations that could tip the balance 

either in favour or against a proposal. There are therefore many variations on the 

theme as to why a decision is taken that does not appear to be at first hand prescribed 

or directly aligned with the policies set out in the development plan. Planning is not 

an exact science and many different factors have an impact on a decision taken.  

 

3.4   In addition the role of the decision maker is to weigh up the proposal before them by 

considering it in terms of the relevant development plan policies as required by the 

Act but also to assess and weigh it up in terms of the material considerations. In 

particular in the case of a Local Review Body it is the role of the body to examine the 

case ‘de novo’ as though it were considering it for the first time and not merely 

assessing the refusal. The Local Review Body is provided with all that it needs in this 

package of submissions to be able to do so.  

 

 

4       ASSESSMENT 

 

         The Development Plan 

4.1  In this case, the Scottish Borders Local Development Plan 2016 is the relevant 

development plan that the proposal requires to be considered against. The general 

direction of policy sets out a need to protect the countryside from inappropriate 

development while at the same time permitting appropriate small scale additions to 

existing settlements by way of either allocations in the plan or by additions to building 

groups. In this case establishing the principle of the development has been our first 

task. In early informal discussions with the Planning Department we had been advised 

that 2 units would be in keeping with the Policy HD 2 Housing in the Countryside. 

Policy HD2 sets out the relevant criteria in the consideration of the principle of 

development on the application site.  

 

4.2  Policy HD2 states that the council wishes to promote appropriate rural housing 

development:  

Page 30



a) in village locations in preference to the open countryside where permission will only be 

granted in special circumstances on appropriate sites. 

b) associates with existing building groups where this does not adversely affect their 

character  or that of the surrounding area; and 

c) in dispersed communities in the Southern Borders housing market area.  

These general principles in addition to the requirement for suitable road access will be 

the starting point for the consideration of applications for housing in the countryside 

which will be supplemented by SPG on New housing tin the Borders Countryside and on 

Placemaking and design.  

(A)BUILDING GROUPS 

Housing of up to a total of 2 additional dwellings or a 30% increase of the building group 

whichever is the greater, associated with existing building groups may be approved 

provided that:  

a) the Council is satisfied that the site is well related to an existing group of at least three 

houses or buildings currently in residential use or capable of conversion to residential 

use. Where conversion is required to establish a cohesive group of at least three houses, 

no additional housing may be approved until such a conversion has been implemented. 

b) the cumulative impact of new development on the character of the building group, and 

on the landscape and amenity of the surrounding area will be taken into account when 

determining new applications. Additional developments within a building group will be 

refused if, in conjunction with other developments in the area, it will cause unacceptable 

adverse impacts. 

c)any consents for new build granted under this part of the policy should not exceed two 

housing dwellings or 30% increase in additional to the group during the Plan period. No 

further development above this threshold will be permitted.  

In addition, where a proposal for new development is to be supported, the proposal 

should be appropriate in scale siting design access and materials and should be 

sympathetic to the character of the group.  

The calculations on building group size are based on the existing number of housing 

units with the group at the start of the LDP period. This will include those under 

construction or nearing completion at that point.  

 

Page 31



4.3    The principle of the addition of a development such as the proposal onto the building 

group of Heriot House is clearly within the terms of the policy requirements for an 

addition to the building group given that it is a distinct building group or cluster and 

only being extended by 2 units. The residential properties within the building group 

consist of numbers 1- 7 Heriot House at present. There is therefore potential to extend 

the building group in an acceptable fashion, as confirmed by Planning. There is also 

the potential to consider this building group as part of the wider Heriot Station 

building group.  

 

4.4   The location and size of the two plots identified as the application site relate well in 

terms of layout and balance to the existing buildings within the group. The additional 

development on the application site will infill a gap within the group and provide a 

rounding off to the building group and opportunities for further landscaping. The land 

is presently used as a paddock and garden ground adjacent to no 7 Heriot House. 

Changes to the local road layout and the introduction of the railwayline have resulted 

in considerable changes to the surrounding landscape. The proposals will allow for 

sympathetic land form and landscaping to be introduced where at present it feels like 

an open, weak and uncontained edge to the settlement group.  

 

4.5    With regard to the number of units proposed. The application has indicated a layout of 

two cottages in order to achieve an acceptable footprint and building form that relates 

well to the setting, courtyard type formations of the existing building group and would 

maintain this strong character element. The provision of two additional cottages will 

also meet a need in terms of accommodation in the village and enhance the range and 

choice of accommodation available.  

 

4.6   When assessed as part of the wider Heriot Station building group, which it is entirely 

reasonable to do given their close proximity and relationship in all other means – 

landscape, townscape, shared access road etc the proposal is clearly much less than 

20% of that building group. Heriot Station and Heriot House taken together amount 

to around 35 dwellings. Two additional appropriate dwellings in this context 

represents only 5.7% expansion of that building group. If measured against the Heriot 

Page 32



House building group alone 2 additional cottages onto a group of 7 units would 

represent a 28% increase in the group. There are obviously overiding design and layout 

reasons why you would create a courtyard setting as the applicant wishes to do to 

round off the settlement group. Clearly all of these ambitions are in line with the 

Scottish Governments Placemaking guidance and principles. 

 

4.7    Noting the policy provision also set out in policies: 

          PMD 4 Development Outwith development boundaries and PMD 5 Infill 

Development criteria – windfall sites. It is considered that this proposal will provide a 

development that will meet a need in Heriot Station/ Heriot where no allocations exist 

for residential development, while preserving the character and amenity of the 

settlement. 

 

4.8    Also in support of this small scale addition to the building group is the provision with 

the consolidated Scottish Planning Policy for the generous provision of housing land. 

The lack of provision in this locale is an issue that the application seeks to address. 

 

4.9   The reasons for refusal relate to design and layout which is detailed above but also 

access into the site. The comments of the council’s Roads Dept have been taken on 

board throughout the process and appear to have changed as we have gone through it. 

The reason for refusal 2 also appears to exaggerate the Road’s comments and say 

something quite different from what is actually conveyed in their responses. There is 

scope to condition any further changes the council wishes to see. The Local Review 

Body is encouraged to do this.  

 

4.10  With regard to the Representations made it is noted that 3 neutral representations have 

been made. The comments from the community council have been considered. 

Additional information to address these was provided to Planning – landscape plan in 

particular looking at levels, sections and planting with a view to addressing the impact 

visually from beyond the boundaries of the site. It should be noted that the applicant 

lives at no 7 and looks onto the site and does not obviously object.  With regard to 

comments on access and winter conditions – the applicant has expressed their desire 

Page 33



to have a condition limiting the gradient of the access. In addition SBC Roads had not 

objected previously to the same scheme which was withdrawn – they appear to be 

requesting further details. The applicant is on record as stating that they have no 

objection to entering into a planning agreement in respect of developer contributions. 

No objections have been made by Scottish Water, Access Officer or other consultees 

 
 
5       CONCLUSIONS 

 

5.1 The application represents an acceptable small scale extension to the building group at 

Heriot House/ Heriot Station. The layout, design and materials proposed for the 

houses will enhance the building group and round off this part of the group providing 

a more cohesive edge to the group. The proposals will also meet a need not met 

through the allocation of land within the wider Heriot settlement for housing. The 

applicant has worked hard to amend the proposals in line with every comment 

forthcoming from Planning, Roads and the community yet still we have a refusal on 

the grounds of design and not principle. It is therefore respectfully requested that the 

Local Review Body review the case and support the proposal.   

 

Suzanne C McIntosh MRTPI Hon FRIAS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 5

Newtown St Boswells Melrose TD6 0SA  Tel: Payments 01835 825251/System Help 01835 826705  Email: 
corporatebusinesssystems@scotborders.gov.uk 

Applications cannot be validated until all the necessary documentation has been submitted and the required fee has been paid.

Thank you for completing this application form:

ONLINE REFERENCE 100198653-001

The online reference is the unique reference for your online form only. The  Planning Authority will allocate an Application Number when 
your form is validated. Please quote this reference if you need to contact the planning Authority about this application.

Applicant or Agent Details
Are you an applicant or an agent? * (An agent is an architect, consultant or someone else acting
on behalf of the applicant in connection with this application)  Applicant  Agent

Agent Details
Please enter Agent details

Company/Organisation:

Ref. Number: You must enter a Building Name or Number, or both: *

First Name: * Building Name:

Last Name: *  Building Number:

Address 1
Telephone Number: * (Street): *

Extension Number: Address 2:

Mobile Number: Town/City: *

Fax Number: Country: *

Postcode: *

Email Address: *

Is the applicant an individual or an organisation/corporate entity? *

  Individual    Organisation/Corporate entity

Suzanne McIntosh Planning Limited

Suzanne 

McIntosh

Bath Street

45C

07792230979

EH15 1HB

United Kingdom

Edinburgh

Portobello

smcintoshplan@gmail.com

Page 51



Page 2 of 5

Applicant Details
Please enter Applicant details

Title: You must enter a Building Name or Number, or both: *

Other Title: Building Name:

First Name: * Building Number:

Address 1
Last Name: * (Street): *

Company/Organisation Address 2:

Telephone Number: * Town/City: *

Extension Number: Country: *

Mobile Number: Postcode: *

Fax Number:

Email Address: *

Site Address Details
Planning Authority: 

Full postal address of the site (including postcode where available):

Address 1:  

Address 2:

Address 3:

Address 4:

Address 5:

Town/City/Settlement:

Post Code:

Please identify/describe the location of the site or sites

Northing Easting

Mr

7 HERIOT HOUSE

Craig

Scottish Borders Council

Dougall Mayfield Industrial Estate

Mayfield Industrial Estate

HERIOT

EH38 5YB

EH22 4AD

United Kingdom

654192

Daleith

340309

smcintoshplan@gmail.com

Hill Norton Homes

Page 52



Page 3 of 5

Description of Proposal
Please provide a description of your proposal to which your review relates. The description should be the same as given in the 
application form, or as amended with the agreement of the planning authority: *
(Max 500 characters)

Type of Application
What type of application did you submit to the planning authority? *

  Application for planning permission (including householder application but excluding application to work minerals).

  Application for planning permission in principle.

  Further application.

  Application for approval of matters specified in conditions.

What does your review relate to? *

  Refusal Notice.

 Grant of permission with Conditions imposed.

  No decision reached within the prescribed period (two months after validation date or any agreed extension) – deemed refusal.

Statement of reasons for seeking review
You must state in full, why you are a seeking a review of the planning authority’s decision (or failure to make a decision). Your statement 
must set out all matters you consider require  to be taken into account in determining your review. If necessary this can be provided as a 
separate document in the ‘Supporting Documents’ section: *  (Max 500 characters)

Note: you are unlikely to have a further opportunity to add to your statement of appeal at a later date, so it is essential that you produce 
all of the information you want the decision-maker to take into account.

You should not however raise any new matter which was not before the planning authority at the time it decided your application (or at 
the time expiry of the period of determination), unless you can demonstrate that the new matter could not have been raised before that 
time or that it not being raised before that time is a consequence of exceptional circumstances.

Have you raised any matters which were not before the appointed officer  at the time the  Yes   No
Determination on your application was made? *

If yes, you should explain in the box below, why you are raising the new matter, why it was not raised with the appointed officer before 
your application was determined and why you consider it should be considered in your review: * (Max 500 characters)

Erection of 2 Dwellinghouses

Separate Statement of the Grounds for Review Included

Page 53



Page 4 of 5

Please provide a list of all supporting documents, materials and evidence which you wish to submit with your notice of review and intend 
to rely on in support of your review. You can attach these documents electronically later in the process: * (Max 500 characters)

Application Details
Please provide details of the application and decision.

What is the application reference number? *

What date was the application submitted to the planning authority? *

What date was the decision issued by the planning authority? *

Review Procedure
The Local Review Body will decide on the procedure to be used to determine your review and may at any time during the review 
process require that further information or representations be made to enable them to determine the review. Further information may be 
required by one or a combination of procedures, such as: written submissions; the holding of one or more hearing sessions and/or 
inspecting the land which is the subject of the review case.

Can this review continue to a conclusion, in your opinion, based on a review of the relevant information provided by yourself and other 
parties only,  without any further procedures? For example, written submission, hearing session, site inspection. *
 Yes   No

In the event that the Local Review Body appointed to consider your application decides to inspect the site, in your opinion:

Can the site be clearly seen from a road or public land? *  Yes   No

Is it possible for the site to be accessed safely and without barriers to entry? *  Yes    No

Checklist – Application for Notice of Review
Please complete the following checklist to make sure  you have provided all the necessary information in support of your appeal. Failure 
to submit all this  information may result in your appeal  being deemed invalid. 

Have you provided the name and address of the applicant?.  *  Yes   No

Have you provided the date and reference number of the application which is the subject of this  Yes   No
review? *

If you are the agent, acting on behalf of the applicant, have you provided details of your name   Yes   No   N/A
and address and indicated whether any notice or correspondence required in connection with the 
review should be sent to you or the applicant? *
Have you provided a statement setting out your reasons for requiring a review and by what  Yes   No
procedure (or combination of procedures) you wish the review to be conducted? *

Note: You must state, in full, why you are seeking a review on your application. Your statement must set out all matters you consider 
require to be taken into account in determining your review. You may not have a further opportunity to add to your statement of review 
at a later date. It is therefore essential that you submit with your notice of review, all necessary information and evidence that you rely 
on and wish the Local Review Body to consider as part of your review.
Please attach a copy of all documents, material and evidence which you intend to rely on  Yes   No
(e.g. plans and Drawings) which are now the subject of this review *

Note: Where the review relates to a further application e.g. renewal of planning permission or modification, variation or removal of a 
planning condition or where it relates to an application for approval of matters specified in conditions, it is advisable to provide the 
application reference number, approved plans and decision notice (if any) from the earlier consent.
 

All lodged application documents and Grounds for Review

18/01777/FUL

06/08/2019

18/12/2018

Page 54



Page 5 of 5

Declare – Notice of Review
I/We the applicant/agent certify that this is an application for review on the grounds stated.

Declaration Name: Mrs Suzanne  McIntosh

Declaration Date: 05/11/2019
 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

 

Mr Craig Dougall 
per Suzanne McIntosh Planning Limited 
45C Bath Street 
Portobello 
Edinburgh 
United Kingdom 
 

Please ask for: 
 
 

Carlos Clarke 
01835 826735 

Our Ref: 18/01777/FUL 
Your Ref:  
E-Mail: CGClarke@scotborders.gov.uk 
Date: 7th August 2019 

 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 

PLANNING APPLICATION AT Garden Ground Of 7 Heriot House Heriot Scottish Borders    
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT:  Erection of two dwellinghouses 
 
APPLICANT:  Mr Craig Dougall 
 
 

Please find attached the formal notice of refusal for the above application. 

 

Drawings can be found on the Planning pages of the Council website at 

https://eplanning.scotborders.gov.uk/online-applications/.   
 
Your right of appeal is set out within the decision notice. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
John Hayward 
 
Planning & Development Standards Manager 
 

Page 57

https://eplanning.scotborders.gov.uk/online-applications/


 

                                                                                                                                                                                

                  Regulatory Services 
 

 

Visit http://eplanning.scotborders.gov.uk/online-applications/ 
 

         

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (SCOTLAND) ACT 1997 (as amended) 
 

Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2013 

 

Application for Planning Permission   Reference: 18/01777/FUL 

 

To :  Mr Craig Dougall per Suzanne McIntosh Planning Limited 45C Bath Street Portobello Edinburgh 
United Kingdom EH15 1HB  

 
With reference to your application validated on 19th December 2018 for planning permission under the Town 
and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (as amended) for the following development :- 
 

 
Proposal:  Erection of two dwellinghouses 
 

 

 
at: Garden Ground Of 7 Heriot House Heriot Scottish Borders   

 

 
The Scottish Borders Council hereby refuse planning permission for the reason(s) stated on the attached 
schedule. 
 
Dated 6th August 2019 
Regulatory Services 
Council Headquarters 
Newtown St Boswells 
MELROSE     
TD6 0SA   

                   
   John Hayward 

Planning & Development Standards Manager 

Page 58

http://eplanning.scotborders.gov.uk/online-applications/


 

                                                                                                                                                                                

                  Regulatory Services 
 

 

Visit http://eplanning.scotborders.gov.uk/online-applications/ 
 

         

 
APPLICATION REFERENCE :  18/01777/FUL 
 
Schedule of Plans and Drawings Refused: 
 
Plan Ref   Plan Type   Plan Status 

 
17-40-001 E  Proposed Site Plan  Refused 
17-40-050  Landscaping Plan  Refused 
17-40-002 C  Proposed Plans   Refused 
17-40-003 E  Proposed Elevations  Refused 
17-40-005 D  Proposed Elevations  Refused 
 
 
 REASON FOR REFUSAL 
 
 1 The proposed development does not comply with Policies PMD2, HD2 and EP13 of the Local 

Development Plan 2016, or Supplementary Planning Guidance on New Housing in the Borders 
Countryside 2008, Trees and Development 2008 or Placemaking and Design 2010 in that the siting 
and design of the proposed development would have an adverse and unsympathetic impact on the 
landscape character of the site; sense of place of the existing group and its built form; and existing 
tree planting. Other material considerations do not outweigh these policy conflicts 

 
 2 The proposed development does not comply with Policy PMD2 of the Local Development Plan 2016 

or New Housing in the Borders Countryside Supplementary Planning Guidance 2008 in that it has 
not been demonstrated that the development can be provided with a safe means of vehicular 
access and would not adversely impact on the integrity of the public road and verge, therefore 
potentially leading to an adverse impact on road safety. Other material considerations do not 
outweigh these policy conflicts 

 
 
FOR THE INFORMATION OF THE APPLICANT 
  
If the applicant is aggrieved by the decision of the Planning Authority to refuse planning permission for or 
approval required by a condition in respect of the proposed development, or to grant permission or approval 
subject to conditions, the applicant may require the planning authority to review the case under Section 43A 
of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (as amended) within three months from the date of 
this notice. The notice of review should be addressed to Corporate Administration, Council Headquarters, 
Newtown St Boswells, Melrose TD6 0SA. 
 
If permission to develop land is refused or granted subject to conditions, whether by the Planning Authority 
or by the Scottish Ministers, and the owner of the land claims that the land has become incapable of 
reasonably beneficial use in its existing state and cannot be rendered capable of reasonably beneficial use 
by the carrying out of any development which has been or would be permitted, the owner may serve on the 
Planning Authority a purchase notice requiring the purchase of his interest in the land in accordance with the 
provisions of Part 5 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (as amended). 
 
  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 59

http://eplanning.scotborders.gov.uk/online-applications/


This page is intentionally left blank



SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL 
 

APPLICATION TO BE DETERMINED UNDER POWERS DELEGATED  TO  
CHIEF PLANNING OFFICER 

 
PART III REPORT (INCORPORATING REPORT OF HANDLING) 

 
REF :     18/01777/FUL 
 
APPLICANT :    Mr Craig Dougall 
 
AGENT :   Suzanne McIntosh Planning Limited 
 
DEVELOPMENT :  Erection of two dwellinghouses 
 
LOCATION:  Garden Ground Of 7 Heriot House 

Heriot 
Scottish Borders 
 
 

 
TYPE :    FUL Application 
 
REASON FOR DELAY:   
______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
DRAWING NUMBERS: 
 
Plan Ref      Plan Type  Plan Status 
        
17-40-001 E  Proposed Site Plan  Refused 
17-40-050  Landscaping Plan  Refused 
17-40-002 C  Proposed Plans  Refused 
17-40-003 E  Proposed Elevations  Refused 
17-40-005 D  Proposed Elevations  Refused 
 
NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIONS:  3  
SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS: 
 
Three representations have been submitted (one applicable to the Community Council whose 
comments are summarised in the consultation section further below), the main points being: 
 
o Narrow road access, gradient of driveway and resulting parked cars on road during snow and 
ice 
o No provision for septic tank and soakaway, there being no mains drainage in Heriot 
o Levelling of land will destroy the trees, and increase the land height next to the drain outlet, 
and the slope could be dangerous, though the plans don't show the new gradient. The drain outlet 
needs protected. 
o Insufficient parking arrangements 
o Poor design, overlooking and privacy impacts, including carport design (appearing odd from 
the A7) and outlook from large window in House 1 poor, with little solar gain, with shading and 
overlooking of outdoor space 
o Sandyknowe not notified 
 
Consultations 
 
Community Council: In summary, the appearance of the houses do not conform with a typical 3 or 4 
bedroom property in the Heriot area. Primarily the double height feature windows which will be highly 
visible from the A7 and the start of the B709. Repeating the feature of 7 Heriot House is not supported. 
These windows would allow visibility into the properties from the A7 and the B709.  

Page 61



The large window at 7 Heriot House will face onto and overlook the entrance and parking area. When 
outside the properties, people will also be able to see into 7 Heriot House. It would also permit light 
pollution. 
 
Winter parking will mean that cars park on the road and experience of parking at Heriot House is that 
two-wheel drive cars are always parked on the road when snow is forecast. Parking on the road, near 
to the junction turning, could deny access for large vehicles. This road is too narrow. The parking 
layout does not allocate outside parking for each property. Cars parking outside House 1 may block 
access to the covered parking for House 2. The CC is also generally concerned about the proliferation 
of residential access onto the road in this area. 
 
There is a large water drain and the plans show that the grounds will be built up for House 1, 
increasing the height above the outlet and creating what looks like a vertical wall around the outlet. 
This might be a solid structure several metres tall inside the garden area of House 1 and could have a 
very large visual impact. The vertical wall is guaranteed to attract local children to climb it, thus 
creating a serious hazard. The application plan also appears to show that raising the ground level for 
House 1 will cover part of the landscaped slope up to the B709.  
 
There are no septic tanks.  
 
Roads Planning Service: Objected to the original submission, requiring details of impact on the 
adjacent public road and verge and details of construction and levels. Following submission of revised 
proposals, remains unable to make a recommendation, due to discrepancies between drawings. Until 
these are rectified, the application cannot be supported.  Fencing and planting appear to close off the 
adjacent stable block access, and confirmation on how this is accessed is required. Objects to the 
application due to insufficient details to confirm impact on the adjacent road and insufficient details to 
confirm the development shall be served by a satisfactory access.  
Education and Lifelong Learning: Contributions (at time of consultation response) due for Galashiels 
Academy of £3720 per house. No contributions sought for primary schools 
Scottish Water: No reply 
Access Officer: No reply 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS AND POLICIES: 
 
Local Development Plan 2016 
 
PMD2, HD1, HD2, HD3, EP3, EP7, EP13, EP16, IS2, IS3, IS7, IS9 
 
SPGs New Housing in the Borders Countryside 2008; Affordable Housing 2015; Development 
Contributions 2011 (updated 2019); Landscape and Development 2008; Placemaking and Design 
2010; Guidance on Householder Development 2006; Trees and Development 2008; Waste 
Management 2015 
 
Recommendation by  - Carlos Clarke  (Lead Planning Officer) on 6th August 2019 
 
This application seeks consent for two houses within a field approximately 370m south of Heriot. It flanks, 
and would be accessed from, the B709 to its west, and sits alongside it to its south side. The A7 is located to 
the east. The site comprises an undeveloped field south of three blocks of houses, two furthest north 
forming part of the Category B Listed Heriot House and, between these and the site, a block of three houses 
built under consent reference 07/01330/FUL. 
 
The application was subject to some modifications during its processing (explained further in this report) in 
response to design concerns raised by this service, albeit the changes are not significant and thus did not 
warrant renotification of neighbours. I would note that, in response to one representation, the property 
referred to as Sandyknowe is outwith the neighbour notification distance, thus why it was not notified.  
 
Principle 
 
Policy HD2 of the Council's Local Development Plan 2016, supported by our New Housing in the Borders 
Countryside Guidance 2008, requires that new housing developments relate appropriately to the sense of 

Page 62



place of an existing group and do not expand it by more than 2 houses or 30% whichever is the greater. In 
this case, two houses would not exceed the limitations of the group in simple numerical terms. This proposal 
also incorporates an L-plan that follows the building line of the existing buildings and that type of approach 
has the potential to complete the group. Though into an open field, the new road to the south (formed as 
part of the railway works) and its landscaping provide an edge to the group within which the new 
development would sit. This now prevents the potential for ribbon development. However, the current 
proposal would be significantly distant from the existing houses, with approximately twice the gap between 
them and the existing and that between the two existing terraces.  The site itself also does not physically link 
with the boundaries of the group to which it is attempting to form an addition to. There is a significant gap, 
and the fact this is designed to safeguard a paddock area (for a stable block, recently granted retrospective 
consent) is not a notable mitigating factor. These two houses would not relate sympathetically to the setting 
of the group as result of the large gap between them and existing properties, a gap clearly evident in views 
from the A7. 
 
Furthermore, the proposals raise concerns regarding design, landscape changes, impacts on trees and 
boundary features, as noted further in this report, which have not been satisfactorily addressed during the 
processing of the application, and which suggest the development will not sufficiently sympathetically relate 
to the sense of place and character of the existing group. 
 
As a result, the proposals will not comply with Policies PMD2 and HD2, nor with our New Housing in the 
Borders Countryside or Placemaking and Design SPGs.  
 
Services 
 
Mains water and foul drainage is specified in the application, though private measures are agreeable if 
satisfactory information is provided demonstrating suitable services, including provision of a septic tank and 
soakaway that complies with Building Standards and SEPA requirements. A condition can cover these 
details. In addition, a surface water drainage scheme should be sought by condition.  
 
Neighbouring amenity 
 
The proposals should not harm the amenity of neighbouring properties by reason of daylight, outlook, 
sunlight or privacy loss. I do not consider that the relationship with the adjacent property, in terms of 
overlooking the proposals, would be inappropriate in this setting. 
 
Access and parking 
 
The proposals incorporate a new access and parking area. A carport originally proposed has now been 
replaced with garages. Parking requirements required by the LDP are two spaces per house. Garages are 
not included in this calculation. The RPS have not raised concerns that the proposal is unacceptable in 
terms of the amount or layout of parking, nor do they share concerns regarding potential overspill parking on 
the public road during bad weather. However, they asked for further information to inform their view of the 
proposals (as noted above). Amended plans were submitted, but these do not respond sufficiently to the 
RPS's issues. It is also noted that the approved stable block would have no access to it since this proposal 
would prevent it.  Having discussed these matters with the RPS, it would appear they would not 
appropriately be addressed by planning condition since, albeit they may be capable of being resolved, they 
may materially affect the site layout. Consistent drawings and levels should be provided which demonstrate 
that this site layout will achieve satisfactory, safe means of access in a manner that does not affect the 
public road verge.  As it currently stands, the proposal is not acceptable in these regards, and so conflicts 
with Policy PMD2 and our NHIBC guidance.  
 
Siting and layout 
 
The site is framed to the south by newly planted trees associated with the road link. The original application 
appeared to ignore these trees. A revised proposal identifies the area of the trees, but the information is 
lacking in clarity as regards the detailed proximity of the trees, the protection areas that should be applied, 
and the potential impact of level changes (which are considerable, but are not noted on the plan). The site 
plan also implies that trees will be removed and replaced elsewhere. These trees will assist with the case for 
two houses here since they will emphasise the robustness of this boundary. They will also assist in providing 
privacy to the development, however, placing the nearest house in such close proximity to them leaves them 

Page 63



liable to pressure for future removal given the size of remaining garden is seriously compromised, and the 
potential for shading from the trees when mature. This application does not adequately account for impacts 
on these trees, as required by Policy EP13; their potential scope to provide screening to the rear garden of 
the proposed nearest house; and also their potential to seriously undermine its amenity in the long term. 
 
The proposals also appear to incorporate substantial level changes that appear to be beyond the application 
site boundary; are not shown on the site plans; are not supported by spot levels of existing or proposed; are 
not shown as tying in sympathetically with the existing levels; including cuts to the rear supported by gabions 
which would be out of character with the existing group.  The resulting landscape change would likely be 
adverse and the application drawings do not demonstrate otherwise. Negotiation of an existing drain outlet 
may have added visual implications, particularly if retaining walls or safety measures are required to satisfy 
Building Standards. The applicant was asked to respond to this issue but has not addressed these 
concerns. Matters regarding subsidence are for the Building Standards.  
 
As noted above, the gap between these proposals and existing houses will not relate sympathetically to the 
existing spacing of the blocks of buildings within the existing group. An intervening paddock and recently 
constructed stable block will be leapfrogged and, visually, this is a weak link between the proposals and 
existing group. The L-shape and building lines roughly reflect the existing buildings and could potentially 
complement them, however, the siting itself will appear detached.  
 
The layout comprises a single access and parking area which is relatively large. It has been reduced during 
the application's processing, though scope to reduce it further (in a manner that does not undermine parking 
and turning requirements) should be considered by way of planning condition.  
 
Scale, design and materials 
 
The general scale of the proposals may complement existing houses in the group. As regards design, a 
carport was originally proposed that would comprise a weak link between the two buildings. In response, this 
has been changed to a solid link, thus the two houses are attached, and this provides the potential for a 
development complementary to the existing buildings within the group. I note the Community Council's 
concerns regarding the large feature gable, but I consider this provides for a visual link with the existing 
buildings that would be welcome, notwithstanding the potential for some visual impacts from internal lighting. 
I also note concerns regarding the outlook from this window, though that is ultimately for the applicant to 
consider. The principal outlook from both properties, and access to sunlight, is acceptable, when accounting 
for all other relevant planning matters (excepting concerns noted above regarding proximity to trees).   
 
I did, however, raise concerns regarding the top-heavy design and detailing of the dormers; their siting on 
the rear elevation to the east (which does not occur on existing houses in the group); and the limited flow of 
the roofs, contrasting somewhat with existing buildings, with an absence of skews and chimneys and use of 
steel flues and fascia boarding exacerbating the evident departure from existing houses. The applicants 
have responded with some adjustments (including slimmer fascias to dormers, though the dormers are still 
top-heavy, and still on the rear elevation); replacing flues with chimneys (though including an external 
chimney that is not complementary to the design); gutters to fascia boards (though the fascia boards still 
appear to have been retained). As regards the roof, the flow has not been improved, and the houses will still 
appear as a weak addition to the more robust roofscape of existing houses. These shortcomings may 
appear minor in themselves, but if this development is to complement the setting of existing houses, 
including the Category B Listed Heriot House, a more focussed attention to the design of the development is 
required, including roof scape and details. These matters cannot reasonably be addressed by a condition of 
consent. The proposals do not comply with Policies PMD2 and HD2 nor our related SPGs.  
 
Regarding materials, slate roofs and timber windows and doors are proposed, as well as timber features. 
Render finishes were originally incorporated, though the applicants have responded positively to a request 
for stone. Provided the stone is complementary to the existing buildings this will greatly assist with the visual 
link between the proposals and existing buildings. Conditions should seek a detailed schedule of materials, 
including ground works, to ensure all colours and finishes are sympathetic, and also ensure glazing patterns 
and roof light specifications are implemented as proposed.   
 
 
 
 

Page 64



Boundary features 
 
In terms of boundary features, these comprise post and wire fencing, gabion baskets and beech hedging, as 
well as an unspecified entrance feature. It is recommended that boundary treatments reflect the existing 
houses, which comprise post and rail fencing and stone and rendered walls. This proposal lacks clarity 
regarding the extent of fencing and links of boundary treatments to existing, and does not adequately reflect 
the treatments around the existing group. A response from the applicant to these concerns has not 
addressed them. The fact the site is not physically attached to the nearest house curtilage will not be 
overcome by careful selection of boundary treatments, but ensuring their specifications are complementary 
would be recommended if this development were to be approved. This matter could be addressed by a 
condition of consent. 
 
Ecology 
 
There are no designations on or nearby that would be affected, and no building or mature tree removals. 
 
Air quality 
 
Stoves are incorporated, though if the appliances are less than 45kw, emissions should not be a concern. A 
standard informative note can apply 
 
Waste storage 
 
No bin storage is shown, though there is ample room. A condition should secure a scheme that 
demonstrates discrete storage that does not affect parking or access 
 
Contributions 
 
Contributions are required towards the Waverley railway, Galashiels Academy and affordable housing (from 
one of the units), in order to comply with Policies IS2, IS3 and HD1. A legal agreement would be necessary, 
in the event that consent were granted 
 
REASON FOR DECISION : 
 
The proposed development does not comply with Policies PMD2, HD2 and EP13 of the Local Development 
Plan 2016, or Supplementary Planning Guidance on New Housing in the Borders Countryside 2008, Trees 
and Development 2008 or Placemaking and Design 2010 in that the siting and design of the proposed 
development would have an adverse and unsympathetic impact on the landscape character of the site; 
sense of place of the existing group and its built form; and existing tree planting. Other material 
considerations do not outweigh these policy conflicts 
 
The proposed development does not comply with Policy PMD2 of the Local Development Plan 2016 or New 
Housing in the Borders Countryside Supplementary Planning Guidance 2008 in that it has not been 
demonstrated that the development can be provided with a safe means of vehicular access and would not 
adversely impact on the integrity of the public road and verge, therefore potentially leading to an adverse 
impact on road safety. Other material considerations do not outweigh these policy conflicts 
 
 
Recommendation:   Refused 
 
 1 The proposed development does not comply with Policies PMD2, HD2 and EP13 of the Local 

Development Plan 2016, or Supplementary Planning Guidance on New Housing in the Borders 
Countryside 2008, Trees and Development 2008 or Placemaking and Design 2010 in that the siting 
and design of the proposed development would have an adverse and unsympathetic impact on the 
landscape character of the site; sense of place of the existing group and its built form; and existing 
tree planting. Other material considerations do not outweigh these policy conflicts 

 
 2 The proposed development does not comply with Policy PMD2 of the Local Development Plan 2016 

or New Housing in the Borders Countryside Supplementary Planning Guidance 2008 in that it has 
not been demonstrated that the development can be provided with a safe means of vehicular 

Page 65



access and would not adversely impact on the integrity of the public road and verge, therefore 
potentially leading to an adverse impact on road safety. Other material considerations do not 
outweigh these policy conflicts 

 
“Photographs taken in connection with the determina tion of the application and any other 
associated documentation form part of the Report of  Handling”. 
 
 

Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells, MELROSE, Scottish Borders, TD6 0SA 
Customer Services:  0300 100 1800    www.scotborders.gov.uk  

 

PLANNING CONSULTATION 
 
To:        Education & Lifelong Learning (Neil Hastie) 
 
From:      Development  Management Date:   7th January 2019 
 
Contact:  Carlos Clarke       01835 826735  Ref:  18/01777/FUL 
  

PLANNING CONSULTATION 
 
Your observations are requested on the under noted planning application. I shall be glad to have 
your reply not later than 28th January 2019, If further time will be required for a reply please let me 
know. If no extension of time is requested and no reply is received by 28th January 2019, it will be 
assumed that you have no observations and a decision may be taken on the application. 
 
Please remember to e-mail the DCConsultees Mailbox when you have inserted your reply 
into Idox. 
 
Name of Applicant:  Mr Craig Dougall  
  
Agent:  Suzanne McIntosh Planning Limited 
    
Nature of Proposal:  Erection of two dwellinghouses 
Site:  Garden Ground Of 7 Heriot House Heriot Scottish Borders    
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 71

http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/


Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells, MELROSE, Scottish Borders, TD6 0SA 
Customer Services:  0300 100 1800    www.scotborders.gov.uk  

 

CONSULTATION RESPONSE TO 

PLANNING OR RELATED APPLICATION 

Comments provided 
by 

Officer Name and Post: Contact e-mail/number: 

 Education & Lifelong Learning (Neil 
Hastie) 
(Lesley Marshall) 

Lesley.Marshall@scotborders.gov.uk 

Date of reply  Consultee reference: DC19/003 

Planning Application 
Reference 

18/01777/FUL Case Officer: 
Carlos Clarke      

Applicant Mr Craig Dougall  

Agent Suzanne McIntosh Planning Limited 

Proposed 
Development 

Erection of two dwellinghouses 

Site Location Garden Ground Of 7 Heriot House Heriot Scottish Borders    
 

The following observations represent the comments of the consultee on the submitted application 
as they relate to the area of expertise of that consultee. A decision on the application can only be 
made after consideration of all relevant information, consultations and material considerations. 

Background and  
Site description 

 

Key Issues 
(Bullet points) 

  

Assessment I refer to your request for Educations view on the impact of this proposed 
development which is within the catchment area for Heriot Primary School, St 
Margaret’s RC Primary School and Galashiels Academy. 
 
A contribution of £3,720 per dwelling is sought for the Academy, making a total 
contribution of £7,440. 
 
Contributions are sought to raise capital to extend or improve schools or where 
deemed necessary to provide new schools in order to ensure that over capacity 
issues are managed and no reduction in standards is attributed to this within the 
Borders area. 
 
This contribution should be paid upon receipt of detailed planning consent but may 
be phased subject to an agreed schedule. 
 
Please note that the level of contributions for all developments will be reviewed at 
the end of each financial year and may be changed to reflect changes in the BCIS 
index, therefore, we reserve the right to vary the level of the contributions. 
 
If you require any further information please do not hesitate to contact me by 
emailing estatemanagement@scotborders.gov.uk 
 

Recommendation  Object  Do not object X  Do not object, 
subject to 
conditions 

 Further information 

required 

Page 72

http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/
mailto:estatemanagement@scotborders.gov.uk


Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells, MELROSE, Scottish Borders, TD6 0SA 
Customer Services:  0300 100 1800    www.scotborders.gov.uk  

 

Recommended 
Conditions 

 

Recommended 
Informatives 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 73

http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/


18/01777/FUL   Page 1 of 1 
 

CONSULTATION RESPONSE TO 

PLANNING OR RELATED APPLICATION 

Comments provided by Roads Planning Service 
 

Contact e-mail/number 

Officer Name and Post Alan Scott 
Senior Roads Planning Officer 

ascott@scotborders.gov.uk 
01835 826640 

Date of reply 11th February 2019 

Planning Application 
Reference 

18/01777/FUL Case Officer:     Carlos Clarke 

Proposed Development Erection of two dwellings 
Site Location Land at 7 Heriot House, Heriot 

The following observations represent the comments of the consultee on the submitted application as they 
relate to the area of expertise of that consultee. A decision on the application can only be made after 

consideration of all relevant information, consultations and material considerations. 

Background and  
Site description 

 

Key Issues 
(Bullet points) 

 

Assessment The submitted drawings have addressed most of the issues raised in my previous 
response to application 18/00520/FUL. However, I still require confirmation on 
the impact of the development on the adjacent road and verge. Due to the 
discrepancies between the submission and on-site measurements, I shall require 
further (more detailed) drawings confirming the extent of the works. The 
submission indicates that there will be no impact on the existing planting/verge, 
however on-site measurements indicate that the development will encroach into 
this area. I shall also require details of the access construction and levels. Until 
these details have been provided and approved, I am unable to offer support to 
the proposal. 
 

Recommendation ☒ Object ☐Do not object ☐Do not object, 
subject to conditions 

☒Further information 
required 

Reason for Refusal Insufficient details to confirm impact on adjacent public road. 
 
There are insufficient details to confirm the development shall be served by a 
satisfactory access. 
 

Recommended 
Informatives 

 

 

Signed: Alan Scott 

Page 74

mailto:ascott@scotborders.gov.uk


18/01777/FUL   Page 1 of 1 
 

CONSULTATION RESPONSE TO 

PLANNING OR RELATED APPLICATION 

Comments provided by Roads Planning Service 
 

Contact e-mail/number 

Officer Name and Post Alan Scott 
Senior Roads Planning Officer 

ascott@scotborders.gov.uk 
01835 826640 

Date of reply 6th August 2019 

Planning Application 
Reference 

18/01777/FUL Case Officer:     Carlos Clarke 

Proposed Development Erection of two dwellings 
Site Location Land at 7 Heriot House, Heriot 

The following observations represent the comments of the consultee on the submitted application as they 
relate to the area of expertise of that consultee. A decision on the application can only be made after 

consideration of all relevant information, consultations and material considerations. 

Background and  
Site description 

 

Key Issues 
(Bullet points) 

 

Assessment Due to discrepancies in the submitted drawings, I am unable to provide a 
recommendation at this stage. For example, Elevation 4 shows a 2m path then a 
1m gabion basket between the house and the embankment associated with 
Shoestanes Road, when this is measured on the plan for the same area, the path 
is only 1m. If you take the 3m shown on the elevation, the works go outwith the 
fenceline/boundary. Until such times as these issues are rectified, I am unable to 
offer support for the application. Given the issues regarding the roads 
perspective, I would recommend a meeting with the applicant and/or their agent 
prior to revised drawings being submitted. 
 
Furthermore, I note that a fence and planting is proposed along the northerly 
boundary of the site which would appear to close off the access associated with 
the stable block currently being considered via application 19/00836/FUL. 
Confirmation of how the stable block would be accessed if the dwellings are 
approved should be provided. 
 

Recommendation ☒ Object ☐Do not object ☐Do not object, 
subject to conditions 

☒Further information 
required 

Reason for Refusal Insufficient details to confirm impact on adjacent public road. 
 
There are insufficient details to confirm the development shall be served by a 
satisfactory access. 
 

Recommended 
Informatives 

 

 

Signed: Alan Scott 

Page 75

mailto:ascott@scotborders.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Comments for Planning Application 18/01777/FUL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 18/01777/FUL

Address: Garden Ground Of 7 Heriot House Heriot Scottish Borders

Proposal: Erection of two dwellinghouses

Case Officer: Carlos Clarke

 

Customer Details

Name: Mrs Helen Brinkworth

Address: 6 Heriot House, Heriot, Scottish Borders EH38 5YB

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer made comments neither objecting to or supporting the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Inadequate access

  - Inadequate drainage

  - Land affected

  - No sufficient parking space

  - Overlooking

  - Poor design

  - Privacy of neighbouring properties affec

  - Subsidence

  - Trees/landscape affected

Comment:Access and Road safety. The lower level of parking at the houses relative to the road

level creates a steep gradient access driveway which will be similar to the existing access at 1 to 6

Heriot House. During times of snow and ice the slope will be difficult to drive up. This results in

cars parked on the road. The road at this point is narrow, only enough for two cars to pass with

care, and is close to the junction which requires room for large vehicles to turn into the road.

Solutions would be to widen the road or increase the space for the access driveway to allow

parking at the top. Without widening, the road into Heriot Station may be blocked to large vehicles.

Drainage. There is no provision for a septic tank and soakaway in the plans. Mains sewage waste

is specified but not available in Heriot.

Land affected and Trees/landscape affected, Subsidence. The plans include a large area of steep

sloping land to the SE which is planted with young trees as part of BAM landscaping when the

new road was built for the trainline. I believe this land is owned by Scottish Borders Council. It

appears that levelling the land will take the ground up the slope into council property and destroy

trees. There is no information about protecting or replacing the trees. There is a drain outlet below

where the houses are planned with a very steep slope into it. Levelling the site will mean

increasing the height of the land next to the drain. The plans do not show the new gradient, the
Page 77



slope could become dangerous. The drain outlet itself needs to be protected from the slope

collapsing onto it.

Not sufficient parking space. Parking is not viable on the road. Cars parking in the main area in

front of the houses will block access to the garages and the sheltered parking. The plan needs to

show all parking areas and how the cars will be able turn around with room for deliveries and

visitors.

Poor design, overlooking, privacy. Garage parking is not normally used daily but parking outside

the garages will restrict access to the sheltered parking. The sheltered parking area needs to

incorporate space for a walkway between the houses, otherwise only one car can use it. The

sheltered parking has an apex roof with the result that snow will slide off to block access to the

space. Personally I think that the view of the roof for shelter parking with no building below will

seem very odd from the A7. The large window area of house 1 has a view along the side slope of

the new road, the drain by the tramline onto the trainline and large concrete tunnel structure and

then the A7 junction. It is northeast facing and will receive very little sun for solar heat gain. I feel

this is a poor position for a large window. Internally the properties have an excessive number of

bathrooms. There is space for garden area behind the properties to the northeast which will be in

partial or greater shade most of the day. My property has the same layout which means mostly we

use the front side of the house. With the position for the new houses I believe that they will use the

space to the front, this area being overlooked by the large window of 7 Heriot House and, in the

position of the planned houses, it is easy to look into the large room of 7 Heriot House.

Neighbour notification. The closest property to the planning area is Sandyknowe. It has not been

included on the notification list.

Location. The planning area is not within the garden area of 7 Heriot House. It is a field adjacent to

the garden.

Page 78



Comments for Planning Application 18/01777/FUL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 18/01777/FUL

Address: Garden Ground Of 7 Heriot House Heriot Scottish Borders

Proposal: Erection of two dwellinghouses

Case Officer: Carlos Clarke

 

Customer Details

Name: Mrs Julie Pirone

Address: The Byre, 3 Heriot House, Heriot, Scottish Borders EH38 5YB

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Neighbour

Stance: Customer made comments neither objecting to or supporting the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Inadequate access

  - Road safety

Comment:I don't have an issue with the development per se, but I have an issue about the access

to the new homes from Shoestanes Road and oncoming traffic, onto the only access road into the

village. The road at the proposed access is very tight and narrow and will not allow two cars to

pass at the same time, let alone with farm traffic or lorries. The Road will need to made larger to

accommodate. Our homes at Heriot House access join the road with a much wider access than is

currently at the new development site.

Page 79



Comments for Planning Application 18/01777/FUL

 

Application Summary

Application Number: 18/01777/FUL

Address: Garden Ground Of 7 Heriot House Heriot Scottish Borders

Proposal: Erection of two dwellinghouses

Case Officer: Carlos Clarke

 

Customer Details

Name: Mr John Williams

Address: Crookston Old Mill, Gilston Road, Heriot EH38 5YS

 

Comment Details

Commenter Type: Community Council

Stance: Customer made comments neither objecting to or supporting the Planning Application

Comment Reasons:

  - Inadequate access

  - Inadequate drainage

  - Land affected

  - Poor design

  - Road safety

Comment:The appearance of the houses do not conform with a typical 3 or 4 bedroom property in

the Heriot area. Primarily the double height feature windows which will be highly visible from the

A7 and the start of the B709. A typical Heriot 3 or 4 bed property being an old cottage with one

and a half levels/the first floor partially in the roof space, or a new house copying this layout, where

the windows are smaller and traditional. Many houses use a conservatory/summer room to create

an extra windowed space to be used in summer.

 

The only house to already have the large window, in a prominent position by the road into Heriot,

is 7 Heriot House, next to the planning application area. It is already a large feature of the

entrance into Heriot. Repeating this feature is not supported. These windows would allow visibility

into the properties from the A7 and the B709.

 

The large window at 7 Heriot House will face onto and overlook the entrance and parking area

shown on the planning application. When outside the properties, people will also be able to see

into 7 Heriot House. (As is currently possible from the B709.) The large window would permit light

pollution out of the property, something that should be discouraged in a rural environment. In this

case, the light spillage would be directly into the B709 and A7.

 

The Community Council supports environmentally friendly building design. As the large windows

are northeast facing they do not match this criterial.
Page 80



 

Winter parking will mean that cars park on the road to avoid becoming stuck in the gavel parking

area, which can not be snow shovelled, and to avoid the slope of the access way to the road.

Experience of parking at Heriot House is that 2 wheel drive cars are always parked on the road

when snow is forecast. Parking on the road, near to the junction turning, could deny access for

large vehicles such as farm vehicles, snow gritters, school bus, emergency services. This section

of the old B709 is too narrow and below modern standard for the volume of traffic it already

carries.

 

The parking layout does not allocate outside parking for each property. Cars parking outside

House 1 may block access to the covered parking for House 2.

 

We are generally concerned about the proliferation of residential access onto the road in this area,

as the gradual expansion of housing in this area occurs. It is expected (according to conversation

with the applicant) that further houses will be sought on this land. Given this is the case,

consideration should be given to creating a single adequate access road.

 

There is a large water drain which starts on the opposite side of the road above the planning area,

to the southwest, and discharges into the field approximately below the large window of House 1.

This was installed when BAM reconfigured the road. There is currently a very steep slope down to

this outlet. The plans show that the grounds will be built up for House 1, increasing the height

above the outlet and creating what looks like a vertical wall around the outlet. This might be a solid

structure several meters tall inside the garden area of House 1. This could have a very large visual

impact. The vertical wall is guaranteed to attract local children to climb it, thus creating a serious

hazard.

 

The application plan appears to show that raising the ground level for House 1 will cover part of

the landscaped slope up to the B709. This goes over the boundary onto Scottish Borders Council

land.

 

There are no septic tanks in the application.

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



List of Policies

Local Review Reference: 19/00029/RREF
Planning Application Reference: 18/01777/FUL
Development Proposal:  Erection of two dwellinghouses
Location: Garden ground of 7 Heriot House, Heriot
Applicant: Mr Craig Dougall

Scottish Borders Local Development Plan 2016

POLICY PMD1: SUSTAINABILITY

In determining planning applications and preparing development briefs, the Council will have 
regard to the following sustainability principles which underpin all the Plan’s policies and 
which developers will be expected to incorporate into their developments:

a) the long term sustainable use and management of land
b) the preservation of air and water quality
c) the protection of natural resources, landscapes, habitats, and species
d) the protection of built and cultural resources
e) the efficient use of energy and resources, particularly non-renewable resources
f) the minimisation of waste, including waste water and encouragement to its 

sustainable management
g) the encouragement of walking, cycling, and public transport in preference to the 

private car
h) the minimisation of light pollution
i) the protection of public health and safety
j) the support to community services and facilities
k) the provision of new jobs and support to the local economy
l) the involvement of the local community in the design, management and improvement 

of their environment

POLICY PMD2: QUALITY STANDARDS

All new development will be expected to be of high quality in accordance with sustainability 
principles, designed to fit with Scottish Borders townscapes and to integrate with its 
landscape surroundings.  The standards which will apply to all development are that:

Sustainability 
a) In terms of layout, orientation, construction and energy supply, the developer has 

demonstrated that appropriate measures have been taken to maximise the efficient 
use of energy and resources, including the use of renewable energy and resources 
such as District Heating Schemes and the incorporation of sustainable construction 
techniques in accordance with supplementary planning guidance.  Planning 
applications must demonstrate that the current carbon dioxide emissions reduction 
target has been met, with at least half of this target met through the use of low or 
zero carbon technology,

b) it provides digital connectivity and associated infrastructure,
c) it provides for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems in the context of overall 

provision of Green Infrastructure where appropriate and their after-care and 
maintenance,

d) it encourages minimal water usage for new developments,
e) it provides for appropriate internal and external provision for waste storage and 

presentation with, in all instances, separate provision for waste and recycling and, 
depending on the location, separate provision for composting facilities,

f) it incorporates appropriate hard and soft landscape works, including structural or 
screen planting where necessary, to help integration with its surroundings and the 

Page 83



List of Policies

wider environment and to meet open space requirements. In some cases 
agreements will be required to ensure that landscape works are undertaken at an 
early stage of development and that appropriate arrangements are put in place for 
long term landscape/open space maintenance,

g) it considers, where appropriate, the long term adaptability of buildings and spaces.

Placemaking & Design
h) It creates developments with a sense of place, based on a clear understanding of the 

context, designed in sympathy with Scottish Borders architectural styles; this need 
not exclude appropriate contemporary and/or innovative design,

i) it is of a scale, massing, height and density appropriate to its surroundings and, 
where an extension or alteration, appropriate to the existing building,

j) it is finished externally in materials, the colours and textures of which complement the 
highest quality of architecture in the locality and, where an extension or alteration, the 
existing building,

k) it is compatible with, and respects the character of the surrounding area, 
neighbouring uses, and neighbouring built form,

l) it can be satisfactorily accommodated within the site,
m) it provides appropriate boundary treatments to ensure attractive edges to the 

development that will help integration with its surroundings,
n) it incorporates, where appropriate, adequate safety and security measures, in 

accordance with current guidance on ‘designing out crime’.

Accessibility 
o) Street layouts must be designed to properly connect and integrate with existing street 

patterns and be able to be easily extended in the future where appropriate in order to 
minimise the need for turning heads and isolated footpaths,

p) it incorporates, where required, access for those with mobility difficulties,
q) it ensures there is no adverse impact on road safety, including but not limited to the 

site access,
r) it provides for linkages with adjoining built up areas including public transport 

connections and provision for buses, and new paths and cycleways, linking where 
possible to the existing path network; Travel Plans will be encouraged to support 
more sustainable travel patterns,

s) it incorporates adequate access and turning space for vehicles including those used 
for waste collection purposes.

Greenspace, Open Space & Biodiversity
t) It provides meaningful open space that wherever possible, links to existing open 

spaces and that is in accordance with current Council standards pending preparation 
of an up-to-date open space strategy and local standards. In some cases a 
developer contribution to wider neighbourhood or settlement provision may be 
appropriate, supported by appropriate arrangements for maintenance,

u) it retains physical or natural features or habitats which are important to the amenity or 
biodiversity of the area or makes provision for adequate mitigation or replacements.

Developers are required to provide design and access statements, design briefs and 
landscape plans as appropriate.

POLICY PMD4: DEVELOPMENT OUTWITH DEVELOPMENT BOUNDARIES

Where Development Boundaries are defined on Proposals Maps, they indicate the extent to 
which towns and villages should be allowed to expand during the Local Plan period.

Page 84



List of Policies

Development should be contained within the Development Boundary and proposals for new 
development outwith this boundary, and not on allocated sites identified on the proposals 
maps, will normally be refused.

Exceptional approvals may be granted provided strong reasons can be given that:

a) it is a job-generating development in the countryside that has an economic 
justification under Policy ED7 or HD2, OR
b) it is an affordable housing development that can be justified under in terms of Policy 
HD1, OR
c) there is a shortfall identified by Scottish Borders Council through the housing land 
audit with regard to the provision of an effective 5 year housing land supply, OR
d) it is a development that it is considered would offer significant community benefits 
that outweigh the need to protect the Development Boundary.

AND the development of the site:

a) represents a logical extension of the built-up area, and
b) is of an appropriate scale in relation to the size of the settlement, and
c) does not prejudice the character, visual cohesion or natural built up edge of the 
settlement, and
d) does not cause a significant adverse effect on the landscape setting of the settlement 
or the natural heritage of the surrounding area.

The decision on whether to grant exceptional approvals will take account of:

a) any indicators regarding restrictions on, or encouragement of, development in the 
longer term that may be set out in the settlement profile;
b) the cumulative effect of any other developments outwith the Development Boundary 
within the current Local Plan period;
c) the infrastructure and service capacity of the settlement.

POLICY HD1: AFFORDABLE AND SPECIAL NEEDS HOUSING

Where the Local Housing Strategy or local Housing Needs and Demands Assessment 
identifies a local affordable housing need, the Council will require the provision of a 
proportion of land for affordable or special needs housing, currently set at 25 percent, both 
on allocated and windfall sites. The final scale of such affordable and/or special needs 
housing will be assessed against:

a) ongoing local housing needs assessment work being carried out by the Council,
b) the location and size of the site, and
c) the availability of other such housing in the locality.

Developers may be required to make contributions through:

d) the provision of a proportion of the site for affordable housing in the form of land or 
built units, or
e) the provision of additional land elsewhere to accommodate the required number of 
affordable housing units, or
f) the provision of commuted payments.

POLICY HD2: HOUSING IN THE COUNTRYSIDE

The Council wishes to promote appropriate rural housing development:

Page 85



List of Policies

a) in village locations in preference to the open countryside where permission will only 
be granted in special circumstances on appropriate sites, 
b) associated with existing building groups where this does not adversely affect their 
character or that of the surrounding area, and
c) in dispersed communities in the Southern Borders housing market area.

These general principles in addition to the requirement for suitable roads access will be the
starting point for the consideration of applications for housing in the countryside, which will
be supplemented by Supplementary Planning Guidance / Supplementary Guidance on New
Housing in the Borders Countryside and on Placemaking and Design.

(A) BUILDING GROUPS

Housing of up to a total of 2 additional dwellings or a 30% increase of the building group,
whichever is the greater, associated with existing building groups may be approved provided
that:

a) the Council is satisfied that the site is well related to an existing group of at least 
three houses or building(s) currently in residential use or capable of conversion to residential 
use. Where conversion is required to establish a cohesive group of at least three houses, no 
additional housing will be approved until such conversion has been implemented,
b) the cumulative impact of new development on the character of the building group, 
and on the landscape and amenity of the surrounding area will be taken into account when 
determining new applications. Additional development within a building group will be refused 
if, in conjunction with other developments in the area, it will cause unacceptable adverse 
impacts,
c) any consents for new build granted under this part of this policy should not exceed 
two housing dwellings or a 30% increase in addition to the group during the Plan period. No 
further development above this threshold will be permitted.

In addition, where a proposal for new development is to be supported, the proposal should 
be appropriate in scale, siting, design, access, and materials, and should be sympathetic to 
the character of the group.

The calculations on building group size are based on the existing number of housing units
within the group as at the start of the Local Development Plan period. This will include those
units under construction or nearing completion at that point.

(B) DISPERSED BUILDINGS GROUPS

In the Southern Housing Market area there are few building groups comprising 3 houses
or more, and a more dispersed pattern is the norm. In this area a lower threshold may
be appropriate, particularly where this would result in tangible community, economic or
environmental benefits. In these cases the existence of a sense of place will be the primary
consideration.

Housing of up to 2 additional dwellings associated with dispersed building groups that meet
the above criteria may be approved provided that:

a) the Council is satisfied that the site lies within a recognised dispersed community in 
the Southern Borders housing market area,
b) any consents for new build granted under this part of this policy should not exceed 
two housing dwellings in addition to the group during the Plan period. No further 
development above this threshold will be permitted,

Page 86



List of Policies

c) the design of housing will be subject to the same considerations as other types of  
housing in the countryside proposals.

(C) CONVERSIONS OF BUILDINGS TO A HOUSE

Development that is a change of use of a building to a house may be acceptable provided 
that:

a) the Council is satisfied that the building has architectural or historic merit, is capable 
of conversion and is physically suited for residential use,
b) the building stands substantially intact (normally at least to wallhead height) and the 
existing structure requires no significant demolition. A structural survey will be required 
where in the opinion of the Council it appears that the building may not be capable of 
conversion, and
c) the conversion and any proposed extension or alteration is in keeping with the scale 
and architectural character of the existing building.

(D) RESTORATION OF HOUSES

The restoration of a house may also be acceptable provided that the walls of the former 
residential property stand substantially intact (normally at least to wallhead height). In 
addition:

a) the siting and design reflects and respects the historical building pattern and the 
character of the landscape setting,
b) any proposed extension or alteration should be in keeping with the scale, form and 
architectural character of the existing or original building, and
c) significant alterations to the original character will only be considered where it can be 
demonstrated that these provide environmental benefits such as a positive contribution to 
the landscape and/or a more sustainable and energy efficient design.

(E) REPLACEMENT DWELLINGS

The proposed replacement of an existing house may be acceptable provided that:

a) the siting and design of the new building reflects and respects the historical building 
pattern and the character of the landscape setting,
b) the proposal is in keeping with the existing/original building in terms of its scale, 
extent, form and architectural character,
c) significant alterations to the original character of the house will only be considered 
where it can be demonstrated that these provide environmental benefits such as a positive 
contribution to the landscape and /or a more sustainable and energy efficient design.

(F) ECONOMIC REQUIREMENT

Housing with a location essential for business needs may be acceptable if the Council is
satisfied that:

a) the housing development is a direct operational requirement of an agricultural, 
horticultural, forestry or other enterprise which is itself appropriate to the countryside, and it 
is for a worker predominantly employed in the enterprise and the presence of that worker on-
site is essential to the efficient operation of the enterprise. Such development could include 
businesses that would cause disturbance or loss of amenity if located  within an existing 
settlement, or

Page 87



List of Policies

b) it is for use of a person last employed in an agricultural, horticultural, forestry or other 
enterprise which is itself appropriate to the countryside, and also employed on the unit that is 
the subject of the application, and the development will release another house for continued 
use by an agricultural, horticultural, forestry or other enterprise which is itself appropriate to 
the countryside, and 
c) the housing development would help support a business that results in a clear social 
or environmental benefit to the area, including the retention or provision of employment or 
the provision of affordable or local needs housing, and
d) no appropriate site exists within a building group, and
e) there is no suitable existing house or other building capable of conversion for the 
required residential use.

In ALL instances in considering proposals relative to each of the policy sections above, there 
shall be compliance with the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance where it meets the 
terms of this policy and development must not negatively impact on landscape and existing 
communities. The cumulative effect of applications under this policy will be taken into 
account when determining impact.

POLICY HD3 : PROTECTION OF RESIDENTIAL AMENITY

Development that is judged to have an adverse impact on the amenity of existing or 
proposed residential areas will not be permitted. To protect the amenity and character of 
these areas, any developments will be assessed against:

a) the principle of the development, including where relevant, any open space that 
would be lost; and

b) the details of the development itself particularly in terms of:
(i) the scale, form and type of development in terms of its fit within a residential area,
(ii) the impact of the proposed development on the existing and surrounding properties 

particularly in terms of overlooking, loss of privacy and sunlighting provisions. These 
considerations apply especially in relation to garden ground or ‘backland’ 
development, 

(iii) the generation of traffic or noise,
(iv) the level of visual impact.

POLICY EP3: LOCAL BIODIVERSITY

Development that would have an unacceptable adverse effect on Borders Notable Species 
and Habitats of Conservation Concern will be refused unless it can be demonstrated that the 
public benefits of the development clearly outweigh the value of the habitat for biodiversity 
conservation.

Any development that could impact on local biodiversity through impacts on habitats and 
species should:

a) aim to avoid fragmentation or isolation of habitats; and
b) be sited and designed to minimise adverse impacts on the biodiversity of the site, 
including its environmental quality, ecological status and viability; and
c) compensate to ensure no net loss of biodiversity through use of biodiversity offsets 
as appropriate; and
d) aim to enhance the biodiversity value of the site, through use of an ecosystems 
approach, with the aim of creation or restoration of habitats and wildlife corridors and 
provision for their long-term management and maintenance.

POLICY EP7: LISTED BUILDINGS

Page 88



List of Policies

The Council will support development proposals that conserve, protect, and enhance the 
character, integrity and setting of Listed Buildings.

Internal or external alterations and extensions to Listed Buildings, or new developments 
within their curtilage, must meet the following criteria:

a) be of the highest quality,
b) respect the original structure in terms of setting, scale, design and materials, whilst 
not inhibiting contemporary and/or innovative design;
c) maintain, and should preferably enhance, the special architectural or historic quality 
of the building;
d) demonstrate an understanding of the building’s significance.

All applications for Listed Building Consent or applications affecting the setting of Listed 
Buildings will be required to be supported by Design Statements.

New development that adversely affects the setting of a Listed Building will not be permitted.

The demolition of a Listed Building will not be permitted unless there are overriding 
environmental, economic, social or practical reasons. It must be satisfactorily demonstrated 
that every effort has been made to continue the present use or to find a suitable new use.

POLICY EP13: TREES, WOODLANDS AND HEDGEROWS

The Council will refuse development that would cause the loss of or serious damage to the 
woodland resource unless the public benefits of the development clearly outweigh the loss of 
landscape, ecological, recreational, historical, or shelter value.

Any development that may impact on the woodland resource should:

a) aim to minimise adverse impacts on the biodiversity value of the woodland resource, 
including its environmental quality, ecological status and viability; and
b) where there is an unavoidable loss of the woodland resource, ensure appropriate 
replacement planting, where possible, within the area of the Scottish Borders; and
c) adhere to any planning agreement sought to enhance the woodland resource.

POLICY EP16: AIR QUALITY

Development proposals that, individually or cumulatively, could adversely affect the quality of 
air in a locality to a level that could potentially harm human health and wellbeing or the 
integrity of the natural environment, must be accompanied by provisions that the Council is 
satisfied will minimise such impacts to an acceptable degree. Where it is considered
appropriate the Council may request that an Air Quality Assessment is undertaken to assist 
determination of an application.

POLICY IS2: DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS

Where a site is otherwise acceptable in terms of planning policy, but cannot proceed due to 
deficiencies in infrastructure and services or to environmental impacts, any or all of which 
will be created or exacerbated as a result of the development, the Council will require 
developers to make a full or partial contribution towards the cost of addressing such 
deficiencies.  

Contributions may be required for one or more of the following:

Page 89



List of Policies

a) treatment of surface or foul waste water in accordance with the Plan’s policies on 
preferred methods (including SUDS maintenance);

b) provision of schools, school extensions or associated facilities, all in accordance with 
current educational capacity estimates and schedule of contributions; 

c) off-site transport infrastructure including new roads or road improvements, Safer 
Routes to School, road safety measures, public car parking, cycle-ways, bridges and 
associated studies and other access routes, subsidy to public transport operators; all 
in accordance with the relevant standards and the provisions of any Travel Plan;

d) leisure, sport, recreation, play areas and community facilities, either on-site or off-
site;

e) landscape, open space, allotment provision, trees and woodlands, including costs of 
future management and maintenance;

f) protection, enhancement and promotion of environmental assets either on-site or off-
site, having regard to the Local Biodiversity Action Plan and the Council’s 
Supplementary Planning Guidance on Biodiversity, including compensation for any 
losses and/or alternative provision;

g) provision of other facilities and equipment for the satisfactory completion of the 
development that may include: measures to minimise the risk of crime; provision for 
the storage, collection and recycling of waste, including communal facilities; provision 
of street furniture and digital connectivity with associated infrastructure.

Wherever possible, any requirement to provide developer contributions will be secured by 
planning condition.  Where a legal agreement is necessary, the preference for using an 
agreement under other legislation, for example the 1973 Local Government (Scotland) Act 
and the 1984 Roads (Scotland) Act will be considered.  A planning obligation will only be 
necessary where successors in title need to be bound by its terms. Where appropriate, the 
council will consider the economic viability of a proposed development, including possible 
payment options, such as staged or phased payments.

POLICY IS3: DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS RELATED TO THE BORDERS RAILWAY

In accordance with the provisions of the Waverley Railway (Scotland) Act 2006, the Council 
will seek developer contributions towards the cost of providing the Borders railway from any 
developments that may be considered to benefit from, or be enhanced by, the re-instatement 
of the rail link.

POLICY IS7: PARKING PROVISION AND STANDARDS

Development proposals should provide for car and cycle parking in accordance with 
approved standards. 

Relaxation of technical standards will be considered where appropriate due to the nature of 
the development and/or if positive amenity gains can be demonstrated that do not 
compromise road safety.

In town centres where there appear to be parking difficulties, the Council will consider the
desirability of seeking additional public parking provision, in the context of policies to  
promote the use of sustainable travel modes.

POLICY IS9: WASTE WATER TREATMENT STANDARDS AND SUSTAINABLE URBAN 
DRAINAGE

WASTE WATER TREATMENT STANDARDS

Page 90



List of Policies

The Council’s preferred method of dealing with waste water associated with new 
development will be, in order of priority:

a) direct connection to the public sewerage system, including pumping if necessary, or 
failing that:
b) negotiating developer contributions with Scottish Water to upgrade the existing 
sewerage network and/or increasing capacity at the waste water treatment works, or failing 
that:
c) agreement with Scottish Water and SEPA where required to provide permanent or 
temporary alternatives to sewer connection including the possibility of stand alone treatment 
plants until sewer capacity becomes available, or, failing that:
d) for development in the countryside i.e. not within or immediately adjacent to publicly 
sewered areas, the use of private sewerage treatment may be acceptable, providing it can 
be demonstrated that this can be delivered without any negative impacts to public health, the 
environment or the quality of watercourses or groundwater.

In settlements served by the public foul sewer, permission for an individual private sewage 
treatment system will normally be refused unless exceptional circumstances prevail and the 
conditions in criteria (d) above can be satisfied.

Development will be refused if:
a) it will result in a proliferation of individual septic tanks or other private water treatment 
infrastructure within settlements,
b) it will overload existing mains infrastructure or it is impractical for the developer to 
provide for new infrastructure.

SUSTAINABLE URBAN DRAINAGE
Surface water management for new development, for both greenfield and brownfield sites, 
must comply with current best practice on sustainable urban drainage systems to the 
satisfaction of the council, Scottish Environment Protection Agency (where required), 
Scottish Natural Heritage and other interested parties where required. Development will be 
refused unless surface water treatment is dealt with in a sustainable manner that avoids 
flooding, pollution, extensive canalisation and culverting of watercourses. A drainage 
strategy should be submitted with planning applications to include treatment and flood 
attenuation measures and details for the long term maintenance of any necessary features.

OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Placemaking & Design 2010
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Privacy and Sunlight  2006
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Development Contributions 2011
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on New Housing in the Borders Countryside 

2008
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Landscape and Development 2008
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Trees and Development 2008
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Waste Management 2015
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Affordable Housing 2015
 Scottish Planning Policy

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 93

Agenda Item 5a



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Erection of dwellinghouse, garages and associated 
access 
 
Planning Reference Number: 18/01194/FUL 
 
Grounds for Review Statement 

 

 
 
 

Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd 
February 2020 

 

 

Page 97



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

2 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

Responsibility Notice 
 
We accept no responsibility of whatsoever nature to third parties to whom this report, or any part thereof, is made 
known.  This Statement has been prepared by Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd with all reasonable skill, care and 
diligence within the terms of the contract with the client, incorporation of our General Terms and Condition of 
Business and taking account of the resources devoted to us by agreement with the client. 
Any such party relies on the report at its own risk. 
 
Copyright Notice  
 
This document is the property of Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd and may not be reproduced or used without 
permission  
 
 
Client: Mr Jamie Reddihough 

 
 
Author: Mark R Russell  
 
Approved for issue by Matthew Creedy 
 
Revision  
 
 

Version  Filename  Date  Author Approved for Issue 

V1  319_Grounds for 

Review_06022020 

06.02.2020 Mark R Russell Matthew Creedy 

V2 319_Grounds for 

Review_07022020 

07.02.2020 Mark R Russell Matthew Creedy 

V3 319_Grounds for 

Review13022020 

13.02.2020 Mark R Russell Matthew Creedy 

 
 
 
Ethical Planning (North East) is a limited company registered in England and Wales and trading as ethical partnership. 
 
 
 
Commission Notice  
We have been appointed by Mr Jamie Reddihough  
 

Contact for further information  

T:  00 44 191 209 2564 

E: planning@ethicalpartnership.co.uk 

 

 

Page 98

mailto:planning@ethicalpartnership.co.uk


  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

3 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

 

Contents 

Section 

1. Executive Summary and Introduction 5 

1.1 Executive Summary 5 

1.2 Introduction 12 

2. Background, Description of proposal and Planning History 14 

2.1 Introduction 14 

2.2 Background 14 

2.3 Description of Proposal 17 

2.4 Planning History 20 

3. Appellants response to Consultation responses 21 

3.1 Introduction 21 

4. Site and the Surrounding Area 24 

4.1 Site Location 24 

5. Decision Making Framework and Planning Policy 25 

5.1 Introduction 25 

5.2 Local Development Plan 26 

5.3 New Housing in the Borders Countryside SPG 29 

5.4 Place making and Design 2010 30 

6. Conformity with the Development Plan and NPF 31 

6.1 Introduction 31 

6.2 NPF 31 

6.3 Local Development Plan 32 

7. The Case for allowing the appeal 34 

7.1 Introduction 34 

7.2 The Case 34 

7.3 Principle of the Development 34 

8. Conclusion 38 

8.1 The Development of the Site 38 

 

  

Page 99



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

4 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

Table of Figures  

Figure 2.1 – Site Plan ........................................................................................................................................................ 16 
Figure 2.2 – Option 04 ...................................................................................................................................................... 17 
Figure 2.3 – Option 04 Birdseye View............................................................................................................................... 18 
Figure 2.4 – Option 04 View from the North .................................................................................................................... 19 
Figure 2.5 – Option 04 View from the East ....................................................................................................................... 19 
Figure 2.6 – Option 04 View from the Southeast ............................................................................................................. 19 
Figure 2.7 – Option 04 View from the Southwest ............................................................................................................ 19 
Figure 2.8 – Landscape Plan ............................................................................................................................................. 20 
Figure 3.1 – Additional Required Surveys ......................................................................................................................... 22 
Figure 4.1 – Aerial Photograph of the Site ....................................................................................................................... 24 

  

Page 100



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

5 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

1. Executive Summary and Introduction 
1.1 Executive Summary  

1.1.1 This Grounds of Review Statement is submitted by Mr Jamie Reddihough in respect of the refusal 

of planning permission (LPA 18/01194/FUL) for the Erection of dwellinghouse, garages and 

associated access, which was refused on the 13 November 2019 by Scottish Borders Council.  

1.1.2 The application was refused on the following grounds: 

• It is contrary to Adopted Local Development Plan Policies HD2 and PMD2, and to the guidance 

of the Supplementary Planning Guidance on New Housing in the Borders Countryside (2008) 

and Placemaking and Design (2010), in that the development would not in its layout, scale and 

design, respect the amenity and character of the site and surrounding area, principally in that: 

(a) it would be unnecessarily and unacceptably over-dominant both relative to the site 

(including the existing building), its surroundings, and also within the context of the wider 

landscape; and (b) it would be out-of-scale with the site, in that it would project outwith what 

is reasonably understood to be the most legible definition and setting of the farmyard site and 

building group, principally in that it would be accommodated over an existing farm track and 

would be accompanied by a new farm access in a location further to the southwest, without 

these resultant visual impacts being justified operationally, or acceptably mitigated within 

views from the public realm. 

• It is contrary to Adopted Local Development Plan Policy EP1 in that it has not been 

demonstrated to the Planning Authority's satisfaction that the proposal would not have a 

likely significant effect on a European Protected Species or its habitat 

1.1.3 This Grounds of Review Statement will seek to demonstrate that the proposal merits a grant of 

planning permission by the Local Review Body and that the development of the site for a house 

with ancillary buildings is compliant with those policies as outlined in chapters 5 and 6 of this 

statement. 

1.1.4 This statement will seek to set out why the proposal should be supported. The applicant considers 

that the proposed house with ancillary buildings has been designed based on discussions with the 

Council over a lengthy period of time and has succeeded in being able to now put forward a 

proposal for a modern family house which demonstrates the necessary respect for the site and 

the traditional building therein and the surrounding area. This combined with the applicant’s 

commitment to utilise renewable technologies including use solar photo voltaic panels and wind 

and ground source heat pumps, all of which would be fully integrated into the proposed scheme 

means that the proposal has the potential to be an exemplar proposal within the Scottish 

Borders.    

1.1.5 The principle of development of the site has been established through planning permission 

reference 15/01113/PPP – for the erection of dwellinghouse, which was granted planning 

permission on the 12.11.2015.  

1.1.6 The site subject of this review is the same as the one established through this permission. The 

applicant owns a significant land estate within the Scottish Borders in which he runs his 

Page 101



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

6 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

businesses from and so the house would be used better maintain and manage his land. The 

applicant does not currently reside in the Scottish Borders.  

1.1.7 Two full architectural and design and access statements were submitted in support of the 

application and now this review. In addition to this a full landscape appraisal was also submitted 

with the application and now this review.  

1.1.8 The Architectural and Access Statement submitted originally with the planning application sought 

to explain the principles and concepts behind the proposal. The second Architectural and Access 

Statement (September 2019) submitted as an addendum to the planning application and now for 

this review following comments from the planning officer explained the main changes and the 

evolution of ideas and options (1 to 4) leading to the proposal that is now before the Local Review 

Body.  

1.1.9 Options 1 to 4 (please see section 2 of this statement) were submitted to the Council for 

discussion but it was confirmed by the Planning Officer that none were acceptable.  The applicant 

requested several times to meet with the Planning Officer to discuss/contextualise the options, 

but these requests were declined. Following this the applicant decided to pursue option 4. A 

series of elevations relating to option 4 are set out below in the executive section of this 

statement.  

1.1.10 Turning to the landscape character of the surrounding area, the immediate landscape of Town-o’-

rule is defined to the north by the dense trees that line along both Hallrule Burn and the lane 

access to Hallrule Farm from the B6357 road. To the south tree plantations and hedgerows 

loosely define the gentle incline of the surrounding immediate context. Views within the 

immediate landscape to the agricultural and domestic structures are largely uninhibited due to 

tree cover being limited to various points along field boundaries and along a small burn running 

north east out from the centre of the hamlet. The ground levels across the site undulate and 

subsequently the buildings further to the west appear more prominent in views. 

1.1.11 We set out below a series of views of the site, which shows the context of the site set within the 

surrounding landscape including the buildings both agricultural and non-agricultural.  

Page 102



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

7 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

 

 
 

Page 103



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

8 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

1.1.12 The proposed site for the dwelling is characterised by a gently sloping plateau of mixed hard 

surfacing that rapidly falls past the edge of the north eastern line of buildings. The eastern edge of 

the plateau is defined by a gently curving dry stone wall that follows the course of the existing dry 

burn running north east and aligns the edge of the private access gravel track that adjoins the 

bend in the public access lane. A steel-clad L-shaped temporary storage structure of low 

architectural value rests in the eastern corner behind the stone wall. To the west is the slate roof 

stone barn that defines the edge of the original farm buildings.  

1.1.13 Below we set out more views of the site.  

 

 

Page 104



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

9 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

 

 

1.1.14 The proposed elevations (option 4) are set out below. It will be demonstrated in this statement 

that the proposal represents an acceptable development of the site and would not adversely 

impact on Town O’ Rule Farmstead, surrounding landscape or indeed the character of the 

countryside. The proposal would provide a cohesive scheme through its layout, design and 

materials for the house and ancillary buildings and will enhance the existing building group.  

1.1.15 The applicant has worked hard to amend the proposals in line with the Planning Officer’s 

comments and considers that the proposal would be a positive addition to the site and the wider 

area.  

1.1.16 We set out below the proposed elevations below.   

 

 

 

Page 105



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

10 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

 

 

 

 

 

1.1.17 In addition to the above the planning application received no letters of objection or support from 

the public and the following had no objection to the proposal: 

Education- no objection subject to appropriate conditions 

Road Planning – No objection subject to conditions 

Landscape Architect – No objections subject to conditions 

Page 106



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

11 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

Ecology Officer – Further information required 

Archaeology Officer – No objection subject to conditions 

1.1.18 In regard to the comments from the Council’s Ecology Officer a Preliminary Bat Roost Assessment 

and Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey, November 2019 has been carried out and is included within 

this review. This was not submitted with the application as the Council had already taken their 

decision. It is considered that this is sufficient to overcome the Council’s Ecologist concerns.  

  

Page 107



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

12 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

1.2 Introduction 

1.2.1 This Ground of Review is structured to provide a summary of the key material considerations 

associated with the application which is the subject of this review. It sets our clients case in 

respect of the principle of development and responds to the reasons for refusal as follows: 

• Chapter 1 – Executive Summary and Introduction 

• Chapter 2 - Background, Description of proposal and Planning History 

• Chapter 3 - Appellants response to Consultation responses 

• Chapter 4 - Site and the Surrounding Area 

• Chapter 5 – Decision making Framework and planning policy 

• Chapter 6 - Conformity with the Development Plan and NPPF 

• Chapter 7 - The Case for allowing the appeal 

• Chapter 8 – Conclusion 

1.2.2 This Grounds of Review Statement should be read alongside those documents as set out in the 

documents list submitted as part of this review and as set out below.  

• Grounds of Review Statement, February 2020 Ethical Partnership 

• 319_Arboricultural Impact Assessment_180418 

• 319_Bonchester Bridge Planning Statement_100818 

• 319_Bonchester Flood Risk Assessment_100818 

• 319_Contaminated Land Assessment_100818 

• 319_Planning, Application Covering Letter_040918 

• 319_Preliminary Ecological Appriasal_10081 

• AL(0)301 - Proposed Site Masterplan 

• AL(0)302 - Proposed Site Plan 

• AL(0) 303 - Proposed Ground Floor Plan 

• AL(0) 304- Proposed First Floor Plan 

• AL(0) 305 - Proposed Roof Plan 

• AL(0)306 - Proposed North West and South East Elevations 

• AL(0)307- Proposed North East and South West Elevations 

• AL(0) 308 - Proposed Cross Section 

• Proposed Dwelling at Town-o-Rule - Architectural Design and Access Statement 

Addendum 

• Dwelling at Town-o-rule_Architectural Design and Access Statement RevC 

Page 108



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

13 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

• Preliminary Bat Roost Assessment and Extended Habitat Survey November 2019 - 

Econorth.  

1.2.3 The following documents below were submitted with the original 2018 submission.  

• 1177-001Rev C Outline Landscape Masterplan 

• 1177100 RevA Existing Site Plan A1 

• 1177 Rev B General Arrangement A1 

• 1177-104 Typical Landscape Details A1 

• 1177-105 Proposed Landscape Visualisations A3 

• 5031-02_Farm Plan no grid_A3L_1000 

• A100-01_Location Plan 

• AL(0)100 Existing Site Plan Rev C 

• AL(0)Existing Ground Plan RevC 

• AL(0)102 Existing Stone Building Plans & Elevations RevA 

• AL(0)110 Proposed Ground &Site RevE 

• AL(0)201 Proposed Ground Floor RevL 

• AL(0)204 Proposed First Floor RevG 

• AL(0) 205 Proposed LGF Floor RevF 

• AL(0)206 Proposed Roof Plan RevB 

• AL(0)207 Proposed Elevations A&B RevB 

• AL(0) 208 Proposed Elevations C&D RevB 

• AL(0) 209 Proposed Sections A,B&C Rev B 

• AL(0) 210 Proposed Elevations E,F,G &H RevA 

• JN1565-Dwg-0003 Site Access Option 1 

• JN1565- Dwg-0004 Site Access Option 2 

1.2.4 The Local Review Body is asked to note the lengthy negotiations, where the proposal started and 

where it has got to; a significant improvement on the original ideas, no letters of objection and no 

objections from consultees save for matters relating to ecology which can be overcome.  

 

 

 

 

Page 109



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

14 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

2. Background, Description of proposal and 

Planning History 
2.1 Introduction  

2.1.1 This chapter describes the background to the proposal that was refused and is now before the 

Local Review Body.  

2.2 Background  

2.2.1 This section of the review statement describes the background to the proposal and places the 

executive summary in the necessary context. The applicant is the landowner of a large agricultural 

estate in Hawick, which encompasses a landholding in excess of that which forms the application 

site. 

2.2.2 From this dialogue it was agreed early on, with the Planning Officer that that the ‘horse-shoe’ 

layout of the proposals, utilising the existing stone building with a new ‘mirrored’ building facing 

and a central ‘main’ house section, was a suitable response to the site and manner in which the 

farmstead is set out. It was also agreed that the massing of the west elevation ‘wing’ was deemed 

to be a suitable response to the site.  

2.2.3 However, the authority still expressed concerns after and during a site visit with the planning 

officer in February 2019 without being addressed, would result in recommendation for refusal.  

2.2.4 A summary of the concerns raised are set out below:  

• Concerns over the overall massing and scale of the project which would prevent the 

planning officer supporting the scheme, particularly the central section of the horseshoe 

and its north elevation. 

• Concerns were discussed over the north elevation and it was suggested to break up the 

horizontal nature of this elevation by increasing the vertical elements within this elevation 

would hopefully help to break up the horizontally, and potentially this could be developed 

further via the introduction of a taller, vertically proportioned element. Breaking up or 

creating a step within the ridge line could also help to reduce the massing and horizontal 

language. 

2.2.5 Following the on-site discussion (01.02.2019) with the planning officer dialogue between the 

applicant and the local planning authority was kept reasonably frequent as the applicant wanted 

to keep the dialogue going in order to understand the planning officer’s concerns with regard to 

the overall massing and scale of the proposal. 

2.2.6 Following this the applicant submitted in August 2019 four options (please the Architectural 

Design and Access Statement Addendum September 2019 submitted as part of this review) with 

different massing arrangements in the form of 3D computer model images. The four options are 

set out below: 

Page 110



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

15 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

Option 01 - Massing that considers reducing the footprint of the central main house form with 

accommodation re-located in the west wing, which is extended northeast and split into three 

forms as opposed to two. 

Option 02 - A development on Option 01 with the west wing roof ridge arrangement re-organised 

into a ‘sawtooth’ formation. 

Option 03 - Development on Option 01 that reacts to the existing fall in topography; with the 

central form rotated off-axis to follow the line of the existing contours, resulting in perceivably 

reduced verticality to the north east elevation. The three forms of the west wing are pushed 

further south west as a result, with the southernmost form rotated through 90 degrees to enclose 

the central courtyard space. The central form roof ridge line is broken and stepped in height to 

visually break the massing. The lowermost accommodation is re-located by the existing stone 

building to be refurbished. 

Option 04 - Similar to Option 03 but without rotating any of the forms off-axis; the central form is 

pushed further south west to avoid resting over the steep drop in topography, resulting in 

perceivably reduced verticality to views from the north. Unlike Option 03 the three forms of the 

west wing are retained in a linear formation and the subterranean accommodation omitted. 

2.2.7 The Planning Authority reviewed the options and supplied a formal response. Despite the efforts 

of the design team to reduce the perceived scale without compromising the accommodation 

requirements, the Authority expressed that the central main house was still too large and out-of-

character with the site of the former farmyard. 

2.2.8 Given this the planning officer indicated that he would anticipate that each option would be 

recommended for refusal.  

2.2.9 In addition, the planning officer supplied a marked-up of the August 2018 planning application 

south and east elevations (please see Page 14 Architectural Design and Access Statement 

Addendum September 2019) to indicate the scale of the central main house form that he would 

accept as in-keeping with a ‘traditional rural farm building’. As can be seen this shows significantly 

reduced heights of the roof ridge line, eaves positions and footprint.  

2.2.10 The Planning Officer outlined a number of ways to amend the planning application including the 

option of proceeding with one of the massing options of the design team’s choice, highlighting 

the anticipation of a recommendation for refusal. A recommendation to withdraw the application 

was also put forward. 

2.2.11 This was at odds with what we had discussed with the planning officer. Of course the applicant 

understood that the Planning Officer had concerns with the overall massing and scale of the 

proposal but he had not up until this point alluded to the fact that what he was looking for to 

make the proposal acceptable was a development half the size of the proposed one. This was not 

acceptable to the applicant particularly given the overall massing and scale of the proposal and its 

subsequent amendments (option 4) is entirely in keeping with the immediate area and indeed the 

surrounding area.   

2.2.12 Following discussions with the applicant it was considered that Option 4 would be submitted to 

the Local Planning Authority as an amendment to the original planning application. A summary of 

the design changes is set out below: 

Page 111



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

16 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

• The north eastern edge of the proposed central main house section is moved further 

southwest away from the existing steep fall in topography to reduce the perceived 

verticality to views from the north. 

• The central main house form is shortened along the northwest-southeast axis with 

accommodation relocated in the west wing, which is extended northeast. The west wing is 

subsequently split into three forms with the new third form accommodating two levels 

under a newly proposed metal-finish standing seam roof (as opposed to timber). 

• The central main house roof line is split and stepped to further break-up and reduce the 

perceived horizontal aspect. The lower subterranean level is omitted along with the 

proposed exercise pool and sauna that were accommodated in this level. 

• The new position of the main house rests in front of the existing stone building to be 

renovated, located approximately in the centre of its elevation and is proposed to be 

separated by a larger lobby structure. 

• Balconies off the ground floor reception room and dining room are omitted. The gables of 

the central main house are proposed in stone rising to form two chimney structures either 

side to give a greater domestic feel, while in keeping with the materiality of the existing 

adjacent stone buildings. 

2.2.13 Figure 2.1 below is the site plan for the original proposed scheme submitted in 2018.  

 

Figure 2.1 – Site Plan    

 

2.2.14 Figure 2.2 below details option 4 which is now the subject of this review.  

 

Page 112



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

17 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

 

Figure 2.2 – Option 04    

2.3 Description of Proposal  

2.3.1 The application proposed the construction of a new dwelling and associated outbuildings on land 

to the northwest of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse. The aims for the development are to conserve and 

enhance the Special Landscape Area, create a high-quality, sustainable development which 

promotes the innovative use of renewable technologies, which are fully integrated in the 

scheme’s design and to retain high quality trees present on site. 

2.3.2 From the outset the applicant has always wanted to design a house that sensitively responds to 

the rural character of the site and the wider surrounding area. 

2.3.3 The proposed dwellinghouse would seek to replicate a traditional farm courtyard with buildings 

fronting onto an open central courtyard area. This would be in an L shaped plan. There would be 

three sets of adjoining new-build ancillary elements lining the northwest side of the courtyard 

area with the main dwellinghouse central to the overall location. The existing traditional stone-

built farm building would be retained to the southeast within this forecourt configuration.  

Page 113



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

18 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

2.3.4 Along the north west side of the forecourt there would be three ancillary elements. These 

ancillary elements step down to more ancillary structures, including a garage block. The access 

would be from a new junction which would be located to the south of the site.  

2.3.5 Below we set out a series of views of the proposal.  

 

Figure 2.3 – Option 04 Birdseye View  

Page 114



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

19 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

 

Figure 2.4 – Option 04 View from the North   

 

Figure 2.5 – Option 04 View from the East 

 

 

Figure 2.6 – Option 04 View from the Southeast 

 

Figure 2.7 – Option 04 View from the Southwest 

Page 115



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

20 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

 

2.3.6 Below we set out the landscaping plan for the proposal. 

 

 

Figure 2.8 – Landscape Plan  

2.4 Planning History  

2.4.1 The relevant planning history pertaining to the application site and adjacent land is detailed 

below: 

15/01113/PPP - Land North West of Town O Rule Farmhouse, Bonchester Bridge, Hawick, 

Scottish Borders, erection of dwellinghouse, granted 12.11.2015. 

12/012110/PPP - Land North West of Town O Rule Farmhouse, Bonchester Bridge, Hawick, 

erection of two dwellinghouses, withdrawn. 17.09.2015 

12/01209/FUL - Disused Agricultural Building North West of Town O Rule Farmhouse Bonchester 

Bridge, change of use from agricultural building and alterations to form dwellinghouse, 

withdrawn. 17.09.2015. 

05/01676/OUT - Site in Lambing Field No 9444 Town O' Rule Bonchester Bridge Scottish Borders 

TD9 8JB, erection of dwellinghouse, granted. 09.11.2005. 

06/01716/FUL - Site in Lambing Field No 9444 Town O' Rule Bonchester Bridge Scottish Borders 

TD9 8JB, erection of dwellinghouse, stables and kennels, granted. 30.10.2006. 

Page 116



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

21 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

3. Appellants response to Consultation 

responses 
3.1 Introduction  

3.1.1 This chapter of the describes those consultation responses received in respect of the proposal.  

3.1.2 In response to the planning application there were no letters of objection or support. The 

following had no objection to the proposal: 

• Education- no objection subject to appropriate conditions 

• Road Planning – No objection subject to conditions 

• Landscape Architect – No objections subject to conditions 

• Ecology Officer – Further information required 

• Archaeology Officer – No objection subject to conditions 

3.1.3 In regard to the comments from the Council’s Ecology Officer a Preliminary Bat Roost Assessment 

and Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey, November 2019 has been carried out and is included within 

this review.  

3.1.4 At the time of the planning application this survey was not received until after the decision notice 

was issued by the Local Planning Authority.  

3.1.5 EcoNorth Ltd undertook an extended Phase 1 habitat survey, a Preliminary Bat Roost Assessment 

(PBRA) and subsequent activity surveys of buildings and land to the north west of Town O’ Rule 

Farmhouse, Bonchester Bridge, Hawick, in the Scottish Borders. The initial survey was undertaken 

by Sarah Hawes GradCIEEM on 14th June 2019, with subsequent bat activity surveys undertaken 

in August and September 2019. These have been submitted as part of this review.  

3.1.6 Habitat maps were produced in accordance with the methodology described in the Handbook for 

Phase 1 Habitat Survey (JNCC, 2010), with the survey ‘extended’ to determine the potential 

suitability of the site for protected species. It is proposed to develop the site, which is currently 

used for agriculture purposes, into a residential property; this report is designed to inform the full 

planning application and assesses the potential impacts upon the ecological interests of the site. 

3.1.7 The impact of the development on statutory and non-statutory sites has already been considered 

within the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal carried out by Ethical Partnership LLP in August 2018 

(Ethical Partnership, 2018). The study also investigated the presence of protected species within 

2km of the site boundary. The following table highlights the key ecological features/species 

identified on Site and those which have the potential to be present, based on the information 

available to date. Requirements for further surveys are highlighted, while necessary mitigation 

measures are provided in chapter 7; further measures will be agreed as necessary following on 

from the completion of the additional surveys outlined below.  

 

Page 117



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

22 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 3.1 – Additional Required Surveys  

 

Page 118



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

23 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

3.1.8 Those protected species which were considered but ruled out due to the lack of suitable habitat 

on Site include otter, water vole, white-clawed crayfish, migratory fish, red squirrel and Schedule 

9 plant species. 

3.1.9 Those tables included earlier in the chapter outline that the site is of low ecological value and as 

such the comments from the Council’s Ecologist carry little weight relevant to the determination 

of this review. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 119



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

24 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

4. Site and the Surrounding Area 
4.1 Site Location  

4.1.1 The site to which this appeal relates can be seen in the aerial photograph at Figure 4.1 below. 

 

Figure 4.1 – Aerial Photograph of the Site  

4.1.2 The application site is located in Town O’ Rule, a farmstead off the B6357 road in the Scottish 

Borders. Town O’ Rule Farm is situated approximately 1.3 miles to the north of Bonchester Bridge, 

approximately 5 miles east of Hawick, 6 miles southwest of Jedburgh and 3 miles northwest of 

Chesters. The structures in the farmstead are a mixture of agricultural buildings and residential 

dwellings. 

4.1.3 The site is accessed by a minor public road from the B6357 Bonchester Bridge to Jedburgh Road. 

The existing site comprises a two-storey rendered farmhouse and a number of traditional stone 

and slate and more modern corrugated metal farm buildings.  

4.1.4 The site to which this application relates is situated to the northwest of the main steading. There 

are corrugated metal sheds on the site and an access onto the public road. There are fields to the 

north and east and the modern agricultural complex is to the north west. There is a stone wall on 

the western boundary with the road and access track to the modern steading.  

4.1.5 The farmhouse and a modern house, Town O’ Rule House, are situated to the southeast and there 

are three farm cottages on the opposite side of the public road to the southeast. 

4.1.6 The site is within the southern part of the Teviot Valleys Special Landscape Area. The Special 

Landscape Area runs between Hawick and Jedburgh and consists of three valleys characterised by 

visually prominent hills, with a number of landmark features with associated pastoral and 

woodland settings. 

Page 120



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

25 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

5. Decision Making Framework and Planning 

Policy 
5.1 Introduction 

5.1.1 This chapter sets out the decision-making framework and the planning policy relevant to this 

review.  

5.1.2 In Scotland, there is a hierarchical structure of policy covering national and local planning. At a 

national level the National Planning Framework (NPF3) sets out the Government’s long-term 

vision for development and investment across Scotland over the next 20 to 30 years. At a local 

level, strategic development plans and local development plans set out area-specific planning 

policies.  

5.1.3 Section 25(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 requires that applications for 

planning permission must be determined in accordance with the statutory development plan 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

5.1.4 The National Planning Framework (NPF) sets the context for development planning in Scotland 

and provides a framework for the spatial development of Scotland as a whole. 

5.1.5 Scotland’s third National Planning Framework (NPF3) is the spatial expression of the Scottish 

Government’s Economic Strategy – with a focus on supporting sustainable economic growth and 

the transition to a low carbon economy. NPF3 sets out the Government’s ambitions for Scotland 

as a whole. 

5.1.6 This premise of the plan led approach to the planning system is set out in sections 25 and 37 of 

the Act as: 

25 - Status of development plans. 

“Where, in making any determination under the planning Acts, regard is to be had to the 

development plan, the determination shall be made in accordance with the plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise…...” 

37 - Determination of applications: general considerations. 

“(1) Where an application is made to a planning authority for planning permission— 

(a)subject to sections 58 and 59, they may grant planning permission, either unconditionally or 

subject to such conditions as they think fit, or 

(b)they may refuse planning permission.  

(2) In dealing with such an application the authority shall have regard to the provisions of the 

development plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material 

considerations.” 

 

 

Page 121



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

26 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

5.2 Local Development Plan 

5.2.1 The application site lies out with any recognised settlement boundary, the proposed development 

must be assessed against the policies and guidance of the current statutory development plan 

(Scottish Borders Council Local Development Plan 2016) which relates to housing development in 

the countryside.  

5.2.2 There are a number of policies taken from this plan that are applicable here, which are set out 

below:  

• PMD1: Sustainability 

• PMD2: Quality Standards 

• HD2: Housing in the Countryside 

• HD3: Protection of Residential Amenity 

• EP1: International Nature Conservation Sites and Protected Species 

• EP2: National Nature Conservation Sites and Protected Species 

• EP3: Local Biodiversity 

• EP5: Special Landscape Areas 

• EP8: Archaeology 

• EP13: Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows 

• EP15: Development Affecting the Water Environment 

• IS2: Developer Contributions 

• IS7: Parking Provision and Standards 

• IS9: Wastewater Treatment 

5.2.3 In addition to those policies of the Local Development Plan the following are applicable: 

• Placemaking and Design (2010) 

• New Housing in the Borders Countryside (2008) 

5.2.4 The key policy relevant to this review is HD2: Housing in the Countryside. This policy is set out 

below: 

The Council wishes to promote appropriate rural housing development: 

a. in village locations in preference to the open countryside where permission will only be granted 

in special circumstances on appropriate sites 

b. associated with existing building groups where this does not adversely affect their character or 

that of the surrounding area, and 

c. in dispersed communities in the Southern Borders housing marker area. 

These general principles in addition to the requirement for suitable roads access will be the 

starting point for the consideration of applications for housing in the countryside, which will be 

Page 122



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

27 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

supplemented by Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Supplementary Guidance on New Housing 

in the Borders Countryside and on Placemaking and Design. 

A. BUILDING GROUPS 

Housing of up to a total of 2 additional dwellings or a 30% increase of the building group, 

whichever is the greater, associated with existing building groups may be approved provided that: 

a. The council is satisfied that the site is well related to an existing group of at least three houses 

or building(s) currently in residential use or capable of conversion to residential use. Where 

conversion is required to establish a cohesive group of at least three houses, no additional 

housing will be approved until such conversion has been implemented. 

b. The cumulative impact of new development on the character of the building group, and on the 

landscape and amenity of the surrounding area will be taken into account when determining new 

applications. Additional development within a building group will be refused if, in conjunction 

with other developments in the area, it will cause unacceptable adverse impacts. 

c. Any consents for new build granted under this part of this policy should not exceed two housing 

dwellings or a 30% increase in addition to the group during the Plan period. No further 

development above this threshold will be permitted. 

In addition, where a proposal for new development is to be supported, the proposal should be 

appropriate in scale, siting, design, access, and materials, and should be sympathetic to the 

character of the group. 

The calculations on building group size are based on the existing number of housing units within 

the group as at the start of the Local Development Plan period. This will include those units under 

construction or nearing completion at that point. 

B. DISPERSED BUILDING GROUPS 

In the Southern Housing Market area there are few building groups comprising 3 houses or more, 

and a more dispersed pattern is the norm. In this area a lower threshold may be appropriate, 

particularly where this would result in tangible community, economic or environmental benefits. 

In these cases, the existence of a sense of place will be the primary consideration. 

Housing of up to 2 additional dwellings associated with dispersed building groups that meet the 

above criteria may be approved provided that: 

a. The Council is satisfied that the site lies within a recognised dispersed community in the 

Southern Borders housing market area. 

b. Any consents for new build granted under this part of this policy should not exceed two 

housing dwellings in addition to the group during the Plan period. No further development above 

this threshold will be permitted. 

c. The design of housing will be subject to the same considerations as other types of housing in 

the countryside proposals. 

 

 

Page 123



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

28 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

C. CONVERSIONS OF BUILDINGS TO A HOUSE 

Development that is a change of use of a building to a house may be acceptable provided that: 

The council is satisfied that the building has architectural or historic merit, is capable of 

conversion and is physically suited for residential use 

b. The building stands substantially intact and the existing structure requires no significant 

demolition. A structural survey will be required where in the opinion of the Council it appears that 

the building may not be capable of conversion, and 

c. The conversion and any proposed extension or alteration is in keeping with the scale and 

architectural character of the existing building. 

In ALL instances in considering proposals relative to each of the policy sections above, there shall 

be compliance with the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance where it meets the terms of 

this policy and development must not negatively impact on landscape and existing communities. 

The cumulative effect of applications under this policy will be taken into account when 

determining impact. 

National Planning Framework 

5.2.5 The Scottish Government’s central purpose is outlined in paragraph 1.1. of the NPF: to create a 

more successful country, with opportunities for all of Scotland to flourish, through increasing 

sustainable economic growth. To achieve this, the Government Economic Strategy aims to share 

the benefits of growth by encouraging economic activity and investment across all of Scotland’s 

communities, whilst protecting our natural and cultural assets. 

5.2.6 NPF3 aims to facilitate new housing development, particularly in areas within our cities network 

where there is continuing pressure for growth, and through innovative approaches to rural 

housing provision. House building makes an important contribution to the economy. Planning can 

help to address the challenges facing the housing sector by providing a positive and flexible 

approach to development. In particular, provision for new homes should be made in areas where 

economic investment is planned or there is a need for regeneration or to support population 

retention in rural and island areas. 

5.2.7 The planning system should: 

• identify a generous supply of land for each housing market area within the plan area to 

support the achievement of the housing land requirement across all tenures, maintaining 

at least a 5-year supply of effective housing land at all times 

• enable provision of a range of attractive, well-designed, energy efficient, good quality 

housing, contributing to the creation of successful and sustainable places; and 

• have a sharp focus on the delivery of allocated sites embedded in action programmes, 

informed by strong engagement with stakeholders. 

5.2.8 At paragraph 2.2.6 the NPF states that “we do not wish to see development in our rural areas 

unnecessarily constrained. There will be a continuing need for new housing – we expect more 

people to live and work in Scotland’s rural areas as digital links and opportunities for remote 

working and new enterprises continue to grow”. 

Page 124



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

29 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

5.3 New Housing in the Borders Countryside SPG 

5.3.1 This Supplementary Planning Guidance provides advice and assistance with regard to the siting 

and design of new housing in the Scottish Borders countryside. 

Siting and Design  

5.3.2 The Council will encourage a full planning application in preference to an outline application for 

any housing in the countryside proposal – including rebuilding, conversions and mansion houses. 

5.3.3 It is particularly important to establish the relationship that the proposed housing will have with 

existing buildings, and with the wider countryside. It is also important to identify the cumulative 

impact of housing in the countryside has on the area. 

5.3.4 As a consequence, the main criticisms of new housing in the countryside have been: 

• the selection of obtrusive rather than sheltered sites; 

• the failure to integrate new housing with the surrounding landscape; 

• the introduction of suburban house types which are out of character with traditional rural 

building styles 

• the use of excessive underbuilding, particularly on sloping sites, resulting in buildings 

which are unrelated to the existing landform 

• the use of incongruous materials 

Siting  

5.3.5 Advice on siting is primarily concerned with ensuring that, by respecting the local landform, the 

pattern of fields and the distribution of tree and hedgerow cover, new housing is in harmony with 

its immediate and wider surroundings. If a site is selected which is unduly prominent on a ridge or 

in a skyline position, then the task of designing a house which does not look out of place is made 

extremely difficult. In order to allow a proper assessment of the suitability of countryside sites, 

applicants will be encouraged to submit indicative plans of site layout, house type, means of 

access, servicing and landscape proposals even at outline application stage. 

Design 

5.3.6 Of particular concern, in recent years, has been the considerable increase in the use of standard 

suburban designs which tend to ignore local building traditions. Irrespective of style, a house 

requires to be designed for its setting and the importation of standard suburban designs or the 

cosmetic modification of standard types, is never successful in a rural setting. 

5.3.7 For a new house to be successful, the designer should draw on the widely appreciated and 

accepted traditions of Border house design rather than models more suited to a suburban context 

or from designs which derive from other regions. It is therefore important to be aware of the key 

elements of building design which characterise the indigenous architectural form. 

5.3.8 This guidance should not, however, be applied unthinkingly nor across the board, as there will be 

circumstances where, with sound reasoned justification, a different solution, in terms of building 

form, proportion and materials, can legitimately be pursued. Innovative designs, therefore, which 

Page 125



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

30 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

are sympathetic to their setting and to the general principles in respect of siting set out above, 

will also be encouraged. 

5.4 Place making and Design 2010  

5.4.1 This Supplementary Planning Guidance highlights the strategic importance of well-designed 

places in the Scottish Borders, reflecting national policy and the policies within the Development 

Plan. It should be used as a tool to aid the design and development management process, to 

produce the highest quality of new development. It sets out the key sustainable placemaking 

objectives that any new development in the Scottish Borders should strive to achieve, as an aid to 

all stages in the complex process of new housing development. 

5.4.2 The guidance is structured round the process of placemaking and design. It is intended for use by 

all who are involved in new development in the Borders as a point of reference and as a basis for 

the planning, design and communication of new development proposals. It has been designed 

around the following subtitles: 

• Introduction 

• Design Policy 

• Achieving Good Design 

• Placemaking & Design Principles 

• Design Action Points 

• Glossary and Sourcebook 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 126



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

31 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

6. Conformity with the Development Plan and 

NPF 
6.1 Introduction  

6.1.1 This chapter of the Grounds of Review assesses the conformity of the appeal proposal against the 

development plan and other material considerations.  

6.1.2 At the heart of this appeal is that the proposed development would deliver an innovative, high-

quality dwelling that has taken on board the Planning Officer’s comments at every stage of the 

process, would encourage local economic activity and would have renewable energy fully 

integrated into the design.  

6.1.3 Planning permission has been granted in principle (reference number 15/01113/PPP) and that 

this demonstrates that the Local Planning Authority is satisfied that this site relates well to the 

existing group of buildings.  

6.2 NPF 

6.2.1 The NPF is underpinned by 4 aims which are: a successful, sustainable place, a low carbon place, a 

natural resilient place and a connected place.  

6.2.2 The proposal represents the opportunity to be able to deliver a successful sustainable place for 

the applicant to live and work from. The house and associated buildings will be of a high quality 

and will be combined with renewable technologies for energy generation. The applicant is very 

keen to harness the benefits of renewable technologies and contribute to a low carbon economy. 

He is committed to raising the standards by integrating these features into the house. This would 

be implemented after consent is granted and could be subject to conditions should the local 

review body see fit.  

6.2.3 It is considered by having these technologies within the buildings that this would raise the 

standard of architecture within the surrounding area in terms of how domestic buildings can be 

designed to be more energy efficient.   

6.2.4 Accompanying the planning application submission and now submitted to the review was a 

landscape appraisal. This included a thorough review of the landscape and character of the site 

and the surrounding area. The proposal has been designed to assimilate into the landscape and 

the surrounding area with as little impact as possible. The site is large and defined by a number of 

buildings. Through discussion with the Council the applicant has sought to lessen the proposals 

perceived impact on the landscape or any statutory designations such as the Teviot Valley’s 

Special Landscape Area. The planting scheme and palette of materials with the integration of 

renewables into the design would seek to ensure that the proposal is resilient to climate change. 

Pulling all this together it is considered that the proposal complies with the vision and spirit of 

NPF.  

6.2.5 It is acknowledged that the site is out with any defined settlement boundary and is within the 

countryside. It is though crucially set within a group of buildings as confirmed by the Local 

Planning Authority’s assessment of planning application 15/01113/PPP.  

Page 127



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

32 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

6.2.6 Chapter 2 of the NPF sets out the Governments policy to create high quality, diverse and 

sustainable places that promote wellbeing and attract investment. The proposal is of high quality, 

will be sustainable and will seek allow the applicant to live and further invest in the local area.  

We have taken on board the comments from the Planning Officer and it considered that the 

proposal would be able to contribute to the delivery of a successful and sustainable place.  

6.2.7 The proposal would allow the applicant to manage his agricultural estate more effectively, which 

would have social, environmental and economic benefits in terms of enabling the applicant to 

contribute to and play an active part in the local community, reducing the need to travel to the 

site from further afield, and better management of the agricultural estate could create local 

employment opportunities.  

6.3 Local Development Plan 

PMD1: Sustainability 

6.3.1 The proposed development would encourage the long-term sustainable use and management of 

the site, and the wider estate. The proposed development would enhance the landscape of the 

site, thereby creating improved habitats for wildlife and nesting opportunities for birds. The 

scheme would make innovative use of renewable technologies, and thereby serve as an exemplar 

for renewable energy generation and consumption systems in the domestic designs. 

PMD2: Quality Standards 

6.3.2 The proposed development is located on a site which has previously been accepted by the local 

planning authority as appropriate for residential development (ref: 15/01113/PPP).  

6.3.3 The proposed dwellinghouse has been designed to be sensitive to the site and surroundings in 

terms of its scale, siting, design, access and materials, and is therefore sympathetic to the 

character of the building group. 

6.3.4 The scheme has been designed having due regard to this policy and to the Planning Officers 

comments. The applicant has tried to ensure that the proposal will be integrated into the 

surrounding area and relate well to the existing buildings through a quality designed house and 

associated buildings.  

HD2: Housing in the Countryside 

6.3.5 It is considered that the relationship of the proposal to the existing buildings and site is positive 

and well related. It will be able to contribute positively to a further extended cohesive group of 

buildings that would not bring any harm in terms of residential amenity nor to the surrounding 

area. Moreover, it is considered that the cumulative impact of the proposal would not adversely 

impact on the group of buildings (only improve) or the landscape or the surrounding area.   

6.3.6 The proposal will be in scale, siting, design, access, and materials, sympathetic to the character of 

the group of buildings. 

HD3: Protection of Residential Amenity 

6.3.7 There would be no adverse impact on residents as a result of this proposal and is therefore in 

conformity with this policy.  

 

Page 128



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

33 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

EP3: Local Biodiversity 

6.3.8 Chapter 3 of this statement outlines the work undertaken to support the planning application in 

respect of this policy. It is considered that Preliminary Ecological Appraisals details the proposed 

impact of the scheme on biodiversity, which is considered to not be significant. 

6.3.9 The recommendations set out in both Appraisals will be implemented to ensure the development 

does not adversely affect local biodiversity.  

EP5: Special Landscape Areas 

6.3.10 The site is located within the Teviot Valleys Special Landscape Area. A thorough appraisal of the 

landscape has been undertaken and a landscape masterplan is submitted to demonstrate the 

sensitive improvements will be implemented to enhance the contribution of the site to the 

Special Landscape Area. Additionally, the Council’s Landscape Architect has commented they do 

not object subject to conditions. 

EP8: Archaeology 

6.3.11 The Council’s Archaeologist considers that there is a low to moderate potential for encountering 

buried archaeological features or deposits, and in the event of approval, requests a condition to 

require and regulate a scheme of archaeological works. 

EP13: Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows 

6.3.12 The Council’s Landscape Architect has commented they do not object subject to conditions. This 

is acceptable to the applicant.  

IS7: Parking Provision and Standards 

6.3.13 The Roads Planning Section, subject to its specific concerns being addressed to its satisfaction, is 

content that the proposed alternative access road could be accommodated appropriately in road 

safety terms. Additionally, converse to the Planning Officers comments in his report it is 

considered that the road access would not have an unacceptable impact upon the setting of the 

building group at Town O' Rule, and will in cumulative terms not adversely landscape or visual 

impact upon the sense of place of the building group or upon the wider landscape. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 129



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

34 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

7. The Case for allowing the appeal 
7.1 Introduction  

7.1.1 In this chapter of the review we set out the reasons why the appeal should be allowed. This will 

also have regard to the Planning Officers report in respect of 18/01194/FUL.  

7.2 The Case  

7.2.1 The applicant’s case is that the proposal wholly accords with the provisions of the Local 

Development Plan and, in particular, Policy HD2. The revised option 4 takes into account 

discussions with the Planning Officer and responds in a manner which not only sought further to 

comply with the Local Development Plan but also the NPF, Placemaking and Design (2010) and 

New Housing in the Borders Countryside (2008).  

7.2.2 It is of course accepted that the appeal site lies out with any recognised settlement envelope and 

such is located within the countryside. With this in mind it is considered that there are two main 

issues relevant to this appeal, which are; a) whether this is an appropriate site for a house 

notwithstanding those policies relating to houses in the countryside b) whether the design is 

compatible with the surrounding area and landscape.  

7.3 Principle of the Development 

7.3.1 The principle of development on the site has already been established on the 12.11.2015 through 

the granting of planning permission in principle, reference number 15/01113/PPP.   This 

application was approved on the basis that the Council considered that; the proposal complies 

with policy D2 of the Scottish Borders Consolidated Local Plan Adopted 2011 as the site is well 

related to an existing building group. Appropriate siting and design will ensure that the proposal 

would not affect the residential amenities of occupants of neighbouring properties or the visual 

amenities of the Special Landscape Area. Adequate access and on-site parking can be achieved. 

7.3.2 The appeal site relates to the same site as the approved permission in principle. The Council in its 

determination of the application refused it commenting (having regard to those policies as 

specified in paragraph 1.2.1 of this statement that the development would not in its layout, scale 

and design, respect the amenity and character of the site and surrounding area, principally in 

that: (a) it would be unnecessarily and unacceptably over-dominant both relative to the site 

(including the existing building), its surroundings, and also within the context of the wider 

landscape; and (b) it would be out-of-scale with the site.  

7.3.3 Town O' Rule itself is a building group based upon a group of traditional farm buildings including a 

farmhouse. There is reasonably loose configuration of buildings configured along the side of the 

road, which itself is on a slope, running downwards from northwest to southeast. 

7.3.4 The Planning Officer in his report states that the previous history of planning approvals, 

reasonably allows that a view has been taken that the majority of the area that would 

accommodate the dwellinghouse, has been accepted as being within the building group either in 

being within the farmyard area, or sufficiently well-related to it.  

7.3.5 He goes onto to comment that: 

Page 130



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

35 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

However, a strong feature within the definition of both the farmyard, and by extension the 

building group, is certainly the road and farm track to the southwest. Moreover, the current 

application site also includes areas that are beyond the farmyard, particularly to the 

northeast, where a large area of field downslope of the farmyard site is also included, albeit 

no longer identified for inclusion within the proposed house's footprint.   

7.3.6 The Planning Officer further states within his report that: 

I am content that both the section of the access track to the southwest, and the fields 

included within the current application site to the northeast, do not lie with the definition of 

the building group at Town O' Rule. These are more reasonably characterised as areas that 

are either within the setting of the building group (fields), if not in fact, as features which 

actually serve to define and delimit it (the existing farm road). Any development that were 

to go forward in these circumstances, would, I consider, certainly do so in very clear 

contradiction to this existing definition and present sense of containment of the building 

group at Town O' Rule. 

7.3.7 The Planning Officer’s report summarises that it is the ‘sheer scale’, ‘over dominance’ and the way 

in which the areas of land that would in his opinion should be considered within the existing limits 

of the buildings that would essentially ‘overwrite’ the exiting boundaries and limits of the building 

group at its north eastern and south west. It is his opinion therefore that this would be 

unsympathetic to the definition of the exiting building group and its landscape setting.    

7.3.8 The applicant would argue that the development of the site would still respect the boundaries of 

the site and would not extend in a way that would be disrespectful to the collection of buildings 

presently on site. Additionally, it would not be a pre cursor for further development as implied by 

the Planning Officer in his report. Indeed, on that last point the applicant has no intention to 

develop further beyond the proposed boundaries particularly to the north.  

7.3.9 The site is more than capable of being developed for a dwelling without being over dominant or 

visually intrusive to the site or the surrounding area whilst still being able to respond to the 

legible definition of the site. Of course, the applicant wishes to maximise the potential of the site, 

but this does not mean that the building group or indeed the site should be compromised. This is 

the case here. The proposal will not ‘overwrite’ the existing limits of the site. Nor would the 

proposal ‘spill out’ unnecessarily into the countryside as the Panning Officer has stated. This is a 

carefully considered proposal that has tried and succeeded to comply with local development 

plan policies and the NPF and the comments from the Local Planning Authority.  

7.3.10 In his report the Planning Officer states that I would draw attention to the difference in height 

between the proposed main dwellinghouse and the existing farm building. The latter currently 

dominates the site, and in itself, is not at all an insubstantial, structure. It is, and remains, a 

positive feature of the development, that the applicant is concerned to retain this existing building 

as part of the residential development.  

7.3.11 Having regard to this it is considered that the Planning Officer has failed to provide in his 

assessment of the proposal what he considers to be the hierarchy of the buildings on site. As such 

any statement such as the one he makes that the existing building being integral to the proposal 

in terms of scale and design being relegated to ancillary building does not make sense unless this 

Page 131



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

36 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

is put into the necessary context. The Planning Officer states that these buildings would be 

'swamped' by the proposed property, and relegated within any hierarchy of the site, to an almost 

incidental feature but given that the proper context has not been set out this does not carry the 

intended weight that the Planning Officer probably sought.  

7.3.12 The proposal has been designed in a manner that respects the buildings on site none of which are 

listed or have any other statutory status that would seek to limit development of the site overall. 

The applicant has always tried to ensure that the design of the proposal is sensitive to the 

surrounding area; its character and its distinctiveness. The proposal that is now the subject of this 

review will contribute positively to the distinctiveness of the area and will not contrary to the 

Planning Officers opinion ‘swamp’ the other buildings or the site to the detriment of the local 

character of the area.  

7.3.13 In his report the Planning Officer states that the design has been 'broken up' somewhat within the 

revised proposal, which I recognise, does try to respond to the concern that the house could, and 

should, be set out along the lines of a traditional farm courtyard, with the main farmhouse in the 

central location.  

7.3.14 The applicant acknowledges these comments and would further state as set out previously in this 

statement that he has worked hard to address the comments of the Planning Officer in a 

constructive and cooperative manner whilst trying to develop the site for his family home.  

7.3.15 The Planning Officer follows from above by commenting that  however, while the design of the 

revised proposal is relatively less institutional and/or industrial in its character and appearance 

than previous versions of the proposal, it is still an extremely large building that is not at all 

comfortably domestic in its appearance and scale, and which located at the higher end of the 

building group too, topographically speaking, would also see it be over-dominant both on the site, 

and relative to its surroundings including even the traditional farmhouse at Town O' Rule. 

7.3.16 The applicant does not agree with this statement. The design of the revised proposal utilises clean 

and simple lines to express its architectural vernacular which is more in keeping with the simple 

yet effective buildings on site. The architectural approach is further expressed in a modernist, 

contemporary architectural style, that will be an honest reflection of a building constructed in 

21st century using modern materials, construction methods and utilising the latest technology. 

7.3.17 In addition to the above comments the Planning Officers comments must be considered in 

context. To the north west of the site located on the track road form the B6357 road there are 

two very large agricultural buildings one of which is approximately 60 metres in length. Whilst 

these have a specific use, they undoubtedly have an impact on the surrounding area. The 

Planning Officer has described the house proposal as being extremely large. Set within the 

context of the site, the surrounding area and the agricultural buildings the proposed house is not 

considered to be extremely large. The applicant would agree that the house is large, but as stated 

this must be placed in the appropriate context. One which considers the perceived impact and 

harm that would bring.  

7.3.18 In this particular case the ‘harm’ to the surrounding area, landscape and other properties is such 

that it is considered this is not reason enough to refuse the planning application. The site is large 

with a collection of buildings. The surrounding area is characterised by open countryside 

Page 132



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

37 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

interspersed with large agricultural buildings and large houses. This must be factored in when 

considering the proposal, which has responded in a positive manner to the site and the 

surrounding area. Views into the site are limited and therefore the ‘impact’ of the proposal and in 

particular the house on the landscape and the surrounding area is considered not to be too great 

as to warrant refusal of planning permission.  

7.3.19 From the outset and throughout the process it has always been the intention of the applicant to 

create a strong relationship between the house and the surrounding landscape. It responds well 

to the setting and those existing landscape features that are present with merit. It is considered 

that the proposal has been able to respond positively to the existing buildings and surrounding 

landscape by utilising materials consistent with the local vernacular and planting to reinforce the 

overall character of the area.   

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 133



  

Bonchester  
Grounds for Review  

 

 

38 

 

© Ethical Planning (North East) Ltd. 

8. Conclusion  
8.1 The Development of the Site  

8.1.1 The proposal represents an acceptable development of the site and would not adversely impact 

on Town O’ Rule Farmstead, surrounding landscape or indeed the character of the countryside. 

The proposal would provide a cohesive scheme through its layout, design and materials for the 

house and ancillary buildings and will enhance the existing building group.  

8.1.2 The applicant has worked hard to amend the proposals in line with the Planning Officer’s 

comments and considers that the proposal would be a positive addition to the site and the wider 

area. It is therefore respectfully requested that the Local Review Body review the case and 

support the proposal. 

 

Document ends 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 
 

Construction of new dwelling and associated 
outbuildings 

 
Planning Statement 

 
 

 
 

 
Ethical Planning LLP 
August 2018 

 

 

Page 137



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

2 

 

Responsibility Notice 

 
We accept no responsibility of whatsoever nature to 

third parties to whom this report, or any part thereof, 

is made known.  

This Statement has been prepared by ethical 

partnership with all reasonable skill, care and diligence 

within the terms of the contract with the client, 

incorporation of our General Terms and Condition of 

Business and taking account of the resources devoted 

to us by agreement with the client. 

Any such party relies on the report at its own risk. 

 

Copyright Notice  

This document is the property of ethical partnership 

and may not be reproduced or used without 

permission of ethical partnership  

 

Client: Mr Jamie Reddihough 
Author: PG 
Approved for issue by: ARC 
Revision History  

Version  Title Date 

V4 Final 100818 

 
 

 
 
Ethical Planning LLP is a limited liability partnership 
registered in England and Wales under OC352734 and 
trading as ethical partnership.  VAT No: 937 5641 93 
A list of partners is available on request or at 
www.ethicalpartnership.co.uk   
 
Registered Office: 32 Portland Terrace, Newcastle 
upon Tyne, NE2 1QP 
© Ethical Planning LLP 2018 

All Rights Reserved. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Commission Notice  
We have been appointed by Mr Jamie Reddihough 
 

Contact for further information  

T;00 44 191 2846675 

M; 00 447845 709600 

E: enquiries@ethicalpartnership.co.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 138

http://www.ethicalpartnership.co.uk/
mailto:enquiries@ethicalpartnership.co.uk


Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

3 

 

Contents 

Section Page 

  

1. Introduction 6 

1.1 Applicant and Agent 6 

1.2 Pre-application 6 

1.3 Purpose of this statement 6 

1.4 Supporting Information 6 

1.5 Conditional Permission 6 

1.6 Structure of the Statement 7 

2. Background to the development 8 

2.1 Introduction 8 

2.2 Planning History 8 

2.3 Material Considerations 9 

2.4 Application Reference 15/01113/PPP 9 

2.5 Application Reference 12/01210/PPP 10 

2.6 Application Reference 06/1716/FUL 10 

2.7 Application Reference 05/01676/OUT 10 

2.8 Land ownership 10 

3. The Proposed Development 12 

3.1 Introduction 12 

3.2 Site Description 12 

3.3 Description of proposed development 13 

4. Sustainability and Innovation Concepts 14 

4.1 Introduction 14 

4.2 Assessment of Appropriate Technologies 14 

4.3 Energy Demands of Proposed Development 14 

4.4 Ground Source Heat Pump 14 

4.5 Detailed Design 15 

5. Design and Access Statement 16 

5.1 Introduction 16 

5.2 The Brief 16 

5.3 Access and Public Transport 16 

5.4 Buildings and Structures 16 

5.5 Use 16 

5.6 Site and Opportunities 17 

5.7 Site Visual Record 17 

5.8 Existing Structures Appraisal and Opportunities 17 

5.9 Design Concepts 18 

5.10 Architectural Style 18 

Page 139



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

4 

 

5.11 Visual Impact 18 

5.12 Scale and Massing 18 

5.13 Layout and Arrangement 19 

5.14 Appearance 19 

6. Landscape 21 

6.1 Introduction 21 

6.2 Landscape Masterplan 21 

7. Ecology 22 

7.1 Introduction 22 

7.2 Summary findings from the PEA 22 

7.3 Summary recommendations from the PEA 22 

8. Arboricultural Impact Assessment 24 

8.1 Introduction 24 

8.2 Summary of AIA 24 

8.3 Summary recommendations from the AIA 25 

9. Transport 27 

9.1 Introduction 27 

9.2 Review of Proposed Access Arrangements 27 

10. Land Contamination 29 

10.1 Introduction 29 

10.2 Summary of Contaminated Land Assessment 29 

10.3 Summary Recommendations from the Contaminated Land Assessment 29 

11. Flooding and Drainage 30 

11.1 Introduction 30 

11.2 Summary of FRA 30 

11.3 Summary recommendations from the FRA 30 

12. Heritage 32 

12.1 Introduction 32 

12.2 Listed Buildings 32 

12.3 Scheduled Monuments 32 

12.4 Conservation Areas 32 

12.5 Archaeology 32 

13. Planning Context 33 

13.1 Introduction 33 

13.2 National Planning Framework 33 

13.3 Scottish Planning Policy 35 

13.4 Strategic Development Plan 35 

13.5 Scottish Borders Local Development Plan 37 

13.6 New Housing in the Borders Countryside SPG 40 

13.7 Local Landscape Designations SPG 42 

13.8 Landscape and Development SPG 43 

Page 140



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

5 

 

13.9 Trees and Development SPG 44 

13.10 Placemaking and Design SPG 44 

14. Case for the development 46 

14.1 Introduction 46 

14.2 Compliance with national planning policies 46 

14.3 Scottish Planning Policy 48 

14.4 Strategic Development Plan 48 

14.5 Scottish Borders Local Development Plan 49 

15. Conclusions 51 

15.1 Introduction 51 

15.2 Accordance with National and Local Planning Policies 51 

15.3 Planning permission 51 

15.4 Additional information 51 

 
 
 

Figure 2.1 Planning History 8 

Figure 2.2 Location Plan 11 

Figure 3.1 Proposed Site Plan 13 

Figure 6.1 Landscape Masterplan 21 

Figure 9.1 Dwelling Access Visibility Splay 27 

Figure 9.2 New Agricultural Access Track Visibility Splay 28 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 141



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

6 

 

1. Introduction 
1.1 Applicant and Agent 

1.1.1 Ethical Partnership (the Agent) has been instructed on behalf of Mr Jamie Reddihough 

(the Applicant) to prepare a planning application for the construction of a new dwelling, 

associated outbuildings and a new access track on land to the northwest of Town O’ Rule 

Farmhouse.  

1.2 Pre-application 

1.2.1 A pre-application enquiry was submitted to the local planning authority and a response 

was received on 10th of August 2017 which stated; “At the present time, the Council’s 

Development Management Service is currently unable to provide advice as to whether or 

not Planning Permission or a related consent will be granted for your proposed 

development. This is because of current limitations on resources, and to allow planning 

officers to most efficiently process formal applications.” 

1.3 Purpose of this statement  

1.3.1 As part of the commission to prepare this planning application, Ethical Partnership has 

prepared this planning statement. 

1.3.2 The purpose of this statement is to test the application against section 25(1) of the Town 

and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 which requires its determination in accordance 

with the statutory development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

1.3.3 As such, this planning statement assesses the proposals against the development plan 

and other material considerations which include the National Planning Framework.  

1.3.4 This statement forms part of the application for planning permission submitted to Scottish 

Borders Council as the local planning authority.   

1.4 Supporting Information 

1.4.1 The local planning authority does not publish a validation checklist and advised that it was 

unable to provide pre-application advice for the proposed development. As such, the 

application is accompanied by the information which is considered necessary for the local 

planning authority to assess and approve the application. The supporting information is 

summarised in this statement. 

1.4.2 If the local planning authority are of the view that additional information is required to 

inform the determination of the application, then this will be provided as quickly as 

possible. 

1.4.3 The applicant wishes to assist the local planning authority to determine the application as 

expeditiously as possible and to this end will attend meetings as required.   

1.5 Conditional Permission 

1.5.1 The local planning authority is requested, wherever possible, to minimise the imposition of 

pre-commencement conditions to allow for the discharge of conditions in a phased 

manner. 

1.5.2 The applicant wishes to work with the local planning authority to discuss the wording of 

conditions during the determination of the application.  

Page 142



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

7 

 

1.6 Structure of the Statement 

1.6.1 This statement is structured as follows; 

• Section 2 sets out the background to the development and highlights the relevant 

planning history for the site and adjacent land 

• Section 3 introduces the application site and describes the proposed development 

• Section 4 outlines the sustainability and innovation concepts for the proposed 

development 

• Section 5 summarises the submitted Design and Access Statement   

• Section 6 describes the submitted Landscape proposals 

• Section 7 summarises the submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 

• Section 8 summarises the submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

• Section 9 outlines the proposed access arrangements to the dwellinghouse and 

existing agricultural buildings to the west of the site 

• Section 10 summarises the submitted Contaminated Land Desk Study 

• Section 11 outlines the flood risk and drainage considerations pertaining to the 

application site 

• Section 12 presents the heritage considerations pertaining to the application site 

• Section 13 sets out the planning policies which are relevant to the determination of 

this planning application 

• Section 14 demonstrates how the proposed development accords with the 

relevant national and local planning policies 

• Section 15 provides a summary and conclusions for the approval of this planning 

application 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 143



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

8 

 

2. Background to the development 
2.1 Introduction 

2.1.1 The applicant is the landowner of a large agricultural estate in Hawick, which 

encompasses a landholding in excess of that which forms the application site.  

2.1.2 The application site is situated within the heart of the applicant’s estate. The applicant 

proposes the construction of a high-quality, sustainable dwellinghouse with ancillary 

buildings, associated landscaping and a new access track to facilitate access to his 

existing agricultural buildings to the west of the proposed dwellinghouse.  

2.1.3 The applicant does not currently have a residence within his agricultural estate. It is 

anticipated that the proposed development will be used as a family home by the applicant, 

and will enable him to better maintain and manage his land.  

2.2 Planning History  

2.2.1 A desk-based review of the planning applications which have been submitted to and 

either: consented, refused or withdrawn on the land which comprises the application site 

and land adjacent to the application site has been undertaken. 

2.2.2 The relevant planning history pertaining to the application site and adjacent land is 

detailed in the Figure 2.1 below. 

Figure 2.1 Planning History 

Reference  Address Description  Decision  Date 

15/01113/PPP Land North West Of 
Town O Rule 
Farmhouse 
Bonchester Bridge  
Hawick 
Scottish Borders 

Erection of 
dwellinghouse 

Granted 12.11.2015 

12/01210/PPP  Land North West Of 
Town O Rule 
Farmhouse 
Bonchester Bridge 
Scottish Borders 

Erection of two 
dwellinghouses 

Withdrawn 17.09.2015 

12/01209/FUL Disused Agricultural 
Building North West 
Of Town O Rule 
Farmhouse 
Bonchester Bridge 

Change of use 
from agricultural 
building and 
alterations to form 
dwellinghouse 

Withdrawn 17.09.2015 

05/01676/OUT Site In Lambing 
Field No 9444 Town 
O' Rule Bonchester 
Bridge Scottish 
Borders TD9 8JB 

Erection of 
dwellinghouse 

Granted 09.11.2005 

06/01716/FUL Site In Lambing 
Field No 9444 Town 
O' Rule Bonchester 
Bridge Scottish 
Borders TD9 8JB 

Erection of 
dwellinghouse, 
stables and 
kennels 

Granted 30.10.2006 

 

 

Page 144



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

9 

 

2.3 Material Considerations 

2.3.1 The site abuts land used for largely agricultural purposes, with some residential uses 

located nearby, with Town O’ Rule Farmhouse and Town O’ Rule Cottages located 

approximately 200m to the east of the site. 

2.3.2 A review of planning applications on land adjacent to the site (both determined and in the 

process of being determined) has been undertaken to identify any consented 

developments which may be a material consideration in the determination of this planning 

application. An overview of each of those developments which are likely to be relevant to 

this application is provided in the following sections.  

2.4 Application Reference 15/01113/PPP 

2.4.1 This Planning Permission in Principle application was approved in November 2015.  

2.4.2 The officer’s report confirms that the principle of residential development on the site has 

been supported by the Council in the past and policies on housing in the countryside have 

not changed since that decision.  

2.4.3  The officer’s report states; “It is accepted that there is a building group at Town O Rule 

comprising of the farmhouse, Town O Rule House to the south east of the farmhouse and 

the three Town O Rule Cottages.  Planning permission for additional housing in this 

building group has been granted in the past; permission was granted for Town O Rule 

House in 2005 as it was considered then that there was a building group in this location 

and the site for the proposed house was midway between the cottages and farmhouse. 

2.4.4 It is considered that this site is well related to the existing building group, being part of the 

existing steading, and within the area defined by the sense of place.  There are no 

significant boundaries between the existing houses and the site.  The proposed 

dwellinghouse would be within a reasonable distance of the farmhouse.  The proposal 

would represent an appropriate addition to the building group. 

2.4.5 There have been no other approvals for dwellinghouses within or adjacent to this building 

group in the current Local Plan period, as the previous application for two dwellinghouses 

has been withdrawn, and so there would be no conflict with this aspect of the policy.” 

2.4.6 The officer’s report confirmed that the site is within the Special Landscape Area, as 

designated in the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance: Local Landscape 

Designations August 2012. The report states; “The proposal would involve the removal of 

the redundant agricultural buildings on the site, which have no architectural merit, and 

their demolition would improve the appearance of the site. The plot is well related to the 

existing traditional farm buildings to the north east. These would act as a backdrop and a 

screen. It is considered that the development would not be unduly prominent in the 

landscape. It is considered that with appropriate scale, design and materials the proposal 

would not harm the special characteristics of the Special Landscape Area.” 

2.4.7 The application was approved on the basis that the Council considered that; “the proposal 

complies with policy D2 of the Scottish Borders Consolidated Local Plan Adopted 2011 as 

the site is well related to an existing building group.  Appropriate siting and design will 

ensure that the proposal would not affect the residential amenities of occupants of 

neighbouring properties or the visual amenities of the Special Landscape Area.  Adequate 

access and on-site parking can be achieved.” 

Page 145



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

10 

 

2.4.8 This application relates to the same site as the approved Permission in Principle 

application. It is therefore considered reasonable that many of the same conclusions 

could be reached for this application as for the previously consented application.  While 

the Permission in Principle and this application would be approved within the same Local 

Plan period, the previous permission was not fully detailed and therefore could not be 

implemented without further details being submitted to the local planning authority. This 

permission has now since lapsed and therefore the approval of this planning application 

would not exceed two approved new build dwellings in addition to the group during the 

Plan period, in accordance with Policy HD2.  This application should therefore, as with the 

previous application, be approved.  

2.5 Application Reference 12/01210/PPP 

2.5.1 Written correspondence between the applicant and the local planning authority regarding 

this application confirms that the Planning Permission in Principle application for the 

erection of two dwellinghouses was approved by the Planning and Building Standards 

Committee on 10th December 2012 subject to the completion of a Section 75 Agreement 

and conditions.  

2.5.2 However, the applicant decided that they did not wish to proceed with the application and 

it was therefore withdrawn on 17th September 2015, which included the section 75 

agreement.  

2.6 Application Reference 06/1716/FUL  

2.6.1 The officer’s report confirms that this application was for the development of a site granted 

outline consent for one dwellinghouse in November 2005.  

2.6.2 The report states; “The principle is agreeable, and no policy changes apply which would 

require that this application be treated differently to the outline application in principle.” 

2.6.3 On this basis, the application was approved.  

2.7 Application Reference 05/01676/OUT 

2.7.1 This outline application was approved on 9th November 2005. A full application pursuant 

to the outline (ref: 06/1716/FUL) was subsequently submitted and approved on 30th 

October 2006.  

2.8 Land ownership 

2.8.1 The land within the red line boundary (as shown on Figure 2.2) is owned by the applicant. 

The applicant’s wider land ownership is shown on the submitted Farm Plan (drawing 

number: 5031-1052738/02).  

Page 146



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

11 

 

Figure 2.2 Location Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 147



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

12 

 

3. The Proposed Development 
3.1 Introduction 

3.1.1 This section provides an overview of the site and a description of the proposed 

development. 

3.2 Site Description 

3.2.1 The application site is located in Town O’ Rule, a farmstead off the B6357 road in the 

Scottish Borders. 

3.2.2 Town O’ Rule Farm is situated approximately 1.3 miles to the north of Bonchester Bridge, 

approximately 5 miles east of Hawick, 6 miles southwest of Jedburgh and 3 miles 

northwest of Chesters. The structures in the farmstead are a mixture of agricultural 

buildings and residential dwellings.  

3.2.3 The site is accessed by a minor public road from the B6357 Bonchester Bridge to 

Jedburgh Road. The existing site comprises a two-storey rendered farmhouse and a 

number of traditional stone and slate and more modern corrugated metal farm buildings.  

3.2.4 The site to which this application relates is situated to the northwest of the main steading. 

There are corrugated metal sheds on the site and an access onto the public road. There 

are fields to the north and east and the modern agricultural complex is to the north west. 

There is a stone wall on the western boundary with the road and access track to the 

modern steading.  

3.2.5 The farmhouse and a modern house, Town O’ Rule House, are situated to the southeast 

and there are three farm cottages on the opposite side of the public road to the southeast.  

3.2.6 The site is within the southern part of the Teviot Valleys Special Landscape Area. The 

Special Landscape Area runs between Hawick and Jedburgh and consists of three valleys 

characterised by visually prominent hills, with a number of landmark features with 

associated pastoral and woodland settings.  

3.2.7 The Valley associated with Town O’ Rule is Rule Water and has its own distinctive 

character; 

3.2.8 It is densely wooded with beech trees along the road. It is an intimate, picturesque valley 

with traditional stone buildings and bridges, and intriguing gateways into estates. There is 

evidence of management which suggests a well-established and well-maintained 

landscape. 

3.2.9 The hills that have a strong relationship with Rule Water include Rubers Law to the north 

and Bonchester Hill to the south. Both hills have a distinct craggy summit with Rubers 

Law the more prominent of the two.  

3.2.10 The immediate landscape of Town O’ Rule is defined to the north by the dense trees that 

line along both Hallrule Burn and the lane access to Hallrule Farm from the B6357 road. 

To the south, tree plantations and hedgerows loosely define the gentle incline of the 

surrounding immediate context. Views within the immediate landscape to the agricultural 

and domestic structures are largely uninhibited due to tree cover being limited to various 

points along field boundaries and along a small burn running north east out from the 

centre of the hamlet. The ground levels across the site undulate and subsequently the 

buildings further to the west appear more prominent in views.  

Page 148



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

13 

 

3.3 Description of proposed development 

3.3.1 The application proposes the construction of a new dwelling and associated outbuildings 

on land to the northwest of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse. The application also proposes the 

construction of a new access track. 

3.3.2 The aims for the development are: 

• to conserve and enhance the Special Landscape Area 

• create a high-quality, sustainable development which promotes the innovative use 

of renewable technologies, which are fully-integrated in the scheme’s design 

• retain high quality trees  

3.3.3 The proposals have been designed to sensitively respond to the rural character of the 

site. This has been achieved by designing the building in a form which relates to the 

adjacent agricultural buildings in terms of scale and massing. 

3.3.4 The building has been designed based on a sound understanding of the landscape 

features and value of the site. The building has been sited to ensure that it does not 

appear overly-prominent or visually obtrusive.  

3.3.5 The agricultural store on the site is to be demolished. This is considered to be of limited 

architectural merit, and this is considered to improve the appearance of the site.  

3.3.6 A sensitive landscape scheme is to be implemented which will enhance the setting in 

which the dwelling is located; positively contributing to the character and appearance of 

the site and surrounding area.  

Figure 3.1 Proposed Site Plan 

 

 

Page 149



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

14 

 

4. Sustainability and Innovation Concepts 
4.1 Introduction  

4.1.1 The client aspires to establish a high-quality, sustainable dwellinghouse with all of its 

energy needs met by renewable sources. The intention is that the dwelling house is to Net 

Carbon in so far as its energy needs over the course of the year will be met from on site 

sources. Photovoltaic panels are to be installed on the existing agricultural buildings to the 

west of the site This will provide the necessary power for a ground source heat pump to 

meet the heat demands of the proposed dwellinghouse. The electricity demands of the 

dwellinghouse will be met by the photovoltaic panels. Surplus power from the panels will 

be stored in batteries or exported to the grid.  

4.2 Assessment of Appropriate Technologies 

4.2.1 An initial assessment has been carried out to ensure that the solution meets the thermal 

energy demands of the new dwelling. The recommendations are designed to ensure the 

approach meets as much demand as possible. 

4.2.2 The supporting energy usage data and assumptions have been based upon the electrical 

usage patterns of similar sized buildings and estimation of peak thermal demand based 

upon total kWh and calculated using client-approved energy performance data. All of 

these are subject to further refinement, full building performance analysis, FSAP and 

room-by-room heat loss calculations, which would be undertaken at a detailed design 

stage. 

4.3 Energy Demands of Proposed Development 

4.3.1 The energy demands of the proposed development have been assumed as follows; 

• 800sq/m property - 32kW Load 

• 80 cubic metre swim pool - 16kW load (TBC) 

• De-humidification load 8kW (TBC) 

• Total load 56kW 

• 2 x 30kW Compact twins cascaded together (3 phase will be required) 

• 20 x 50mtr slinkies - 5000sq/m of land required 

• 2 x 10 way manifolds 

• 1 x 2 way splitter manifold 

• 2 x 305 litre cylinders - 50°C potable hot water, would suggest zip tap at kitchen sink 

4.4 Ground Source Heat Pump 

4.4.1 GSHPs are designed to extract heat energy from the ground via an array of collectors in 

the form of slinky pipes in the soil which are connected to a heat pump above ground. 

4.4.2 The heat pump performs the same role as that of a traditional boiler in a central heating 

system, but using ambient temperature in the ground rather than burning fuel to generate 

heat. 

Page 150



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

15 

 

4.4.3 Heat energy is stored in the ground at a constant temperature all year round. The network 

of ground collectors (or ground arrays), consisting of a series of pipes, is buried in the 

ground in trenches to a depth of 1 – 2m where the ground temperature remains a fairly 

constant 8-10°C all year round. 

4.4.4 Ground source heat pumps are extremely energy efficient, with every unit of electricity 

used (to drive the pump and compressor), producing between three and four units of heat 

4.5 Detailed Design 

4.5.1 Full details of the system for heat and power generation will be refined at a detailed 

design stage, following a grant of planning permission for the scheme.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 151



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

16 

 

5. Design and Access Statement 
5.1 Introduction 

5.1.1 A Design and Access Statement has been prepared by Sadler Brown Architecture. The 

Design and Access Statement is submitted as a standalone document to support this 

planning application for the construction of a new dwellinghouse and associated works at 

the site.  

5.1.2 The Design and Access Statement explains the architectural design principles and 

concepts behind the proposed new family home.  

5.2 The Brief 

5.2.1 The client’s wishes are to create a modern family home that is sensitive to the site and its 

local character; and their desire is for a sustainably responsible home that serves the land 

and generations to come. 

5.2.2 The proposed family dwelling aims to be sensitive to the defining characteristics of the 

local area, but also provide a modern and future proof house. Its architectural language 

takes inspiration from the surrounding stone buildings and aims to blend the extension 

into its setting, being sympathetic to the existing coastal vernacular in terms of form and 

materiality. 

5.3 Access and Public Transport 

5.3.1 It takes approximately 1 hour and 30 minutes to travel to Edinburgh, 1 hour 15 minutes to 

travel to Carlisle and 1 hour and 20 minutes to travel to Newcastle upon Tyne by road. 

The nearest railway station is at the terminus of the Borders Railway line located in 

Tweedbank, 14 miles north that connects to Edinburgh. 

5.3.2 The nearest station with connections to the East Coast Main Line is in Berwick upon 

Tweed, 35 miles north east, and the nearest station with connections to the West Coast 

Main Line is Lockerbie, 35 miles south west. There are regular bus connections to railway 

stations from Hawick. 

5.3.3 The Scottish Borders Council operate a bus service between Chesters, Bonchester 

Bridge and Hawick once a day, four days a week in both directions and the nearest stop is 

located 1 mile away from the site in Bonchester Bridge. 

5.4 Buildings and Structures 

5.4.1 The original historic farm buildings located at the centre of the farmstead are stone wall / 

slate roof construction that uphold the traditional farmstead aesthetic of the local area. In 

terms of materiality the later constructed agricultural storage buildings to the east and 

west are less sensitive to the traditional aesthetic, with corrugated metal and timber 

cladding the predominant materials. The later permanent structures are notably larger in 

scale than the original farmstead structures. 

5.5 Use 

5.5.1 The buildings and structures in Town O’ Rule are a mixture of agricultural sheds and 

barns used for storage together with residential structures and their associated domestic 

curtilage. The residential properties predominantly address the eastern lane approach 

from the B6357 road, these consist of the original farm house, the cottages (3 units) and 

Page 152



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

17 

 

more recently constructed house with stables opposite the cottages. There is evidence of 

3 timber framed agricultural sheds that were recently dismantled due to partial and full 

collapse during severe weather. 

5.6 Site and Opportunities 

5.6.1 The preferred site for the new dwelling lies within the historic curtilage of the original 

farmstead. The choice of site is informed by the following reasons:  

• To reinforce and consolidate the nucleated pattern of domestic curtilages 

addressing the eastern lane approach.  

• The opportunity to restore and enhance the historic structures in disrepair.  

• To capitalise on the desirable panoramic views over the surrounding valleys and 

hills to the north and south.  

5.7 Site Visual Record 

5.7.1 The proposed site for the dwelling is characterised by a gently sloping plateau of mixed 

hardsurfacing that rapidly falls past the edge of the northeastern line of buildings. The 

eastern edge of the plateau is defined by a gently curving dry stone wall that follows the 

course of the existing dry burn running north east and aligns the edge of the private 

access gravel track that adjoins the bend in the public access lane. A steel-clad L-shaped 

temporary storage structure of low architectural value rests in the eastern corner behind 

the stone wall. To the west is the historic slate roof stone barn that defines the historic 

edge of the original farm buildings. The barn has a stone wall / corrugated metal roof lean-

to structure along the western elevation that is of low architectural value. The access to 

the plateau is from the bend on the adjacent public access tarmacadum lane. 

5.8 Existing Structures Appraisal and Opportunities 

5.8.1 The site contains various existing structures of varying scale and quality. 

1. Single Storey Timber Store/ Shed to the South 

5.8.2 At the south of the site near to the proposed access driveway there is a low-quality timber 

and corrugate metal open storage structure. This poor-quality building has little 

architectural value and is proposed to be demolished as part of the new development. 

2. Two Storey Stone Building to the West 

5.8.3 Located along the eastern boundary of the proposed site there sits an existing two storey 

stone building with a pitched tile roof. The building has been used for agricultural storage 

with a variety of poor quality alterations made to accommodate equipment. This building 

provides an opportunity to mediate between the new structures and the existing buildings 

to the west. 

5.8.4 The western elevation of the contains a single storey timber and corrugated extension to 

provide additional storage. This addition is in a state of disrepair and provides little or no 

architectural value. As part of the regeneration of the existing stone building this would be 

removed, existing stonework retained and repaired; and a new extension added to 

connect the stone building with the new build construction. 

 

 

Page 153



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

18 

 

3. Single Storey Stone Store to the North 

5.8.5 Adjoining the north gable of the existing two storey stone building a single storey open 

store has been added. This does not appear on historic maps and can be assumed to 

have been added relatively recently to the two storey building. As part of the proposed 

new dwelling this store is to be carefully demolished and the stone retained for proposed 

and repair work across the site. 

5.9 Design Concepts 

5.9.1 The principle concept behind the design of the new dwelling is considered in terms of the 

layout and scale; and is intended to be a sensitive intervention that sympathises and gives 

reference to the local vernacular of rural building typologies: The rural landscape is 

characterised with clusters of linear forms typically one and two storey that have dual 

pitched roof structures that form gable ends. 

5.10 Architectural Style 

5.10.1 The architectural approach to the design terms of the materiality and architectural 

detailing is expressed in a modernist, contemporary architectural style, that will be a 

honest reflection of a building constructed in 21st century using modern materials, 

construction methods and utilising the latest technology. 

5.11 Visual Impact 

5.11.1 The proposals have been developed from an analysis and understanding of the site 

where the new home acknowledges that it will have a visual presence within it’s 

immediate setting and therefore seeks to be sensitive and sympathetic to the surrounding 

context. Due to the visibility views of the building are carefully considered so that they are 

celebrated. 

5.12 Scale and Massing 

5.12.1 The proposed house massing consists of a U-shape that through the use of glazing and 

recesses is articulated into three volumes of similar size in plan. These three volumes 

reflect the scale and massing of the existing built forms of Hall’O’Rule and their 

arrangement takes inspiration from the historic grouping of agricultural buildings and 

farmsteads. The eastern and northern elements of the massing are created by proposed 

new build volumes with the eastern mass consisting of the existing stone building on the 

site. To the northern end of the existing two storey stone building there is an adjoining 

open agricultural shelter. It is proposed that this unused storage building will be 

demolished and the material retained for repairs and refurbishment works for the 

proposed house. 

5.12.2 Each of the three volumes has an elongated rectilinear form with the width and length 

proportions of the two proposed elements reflecting that of the existing stone building. The 

height, massing and forms of the proposed volumes take inspiration from the surrounding 

rural and agricultural buildings in the landscape. The roofs of the proposed structures are 

pitched along the length of the rectilinear forms to match the existing stone building, 

characteristic of the rural massing that has been driven by the practicalities of the 

vernacular construction techniques. 

5.12.3 The rectilinear forms and pitched roofs utilised within the proposed massing are 

consistent between all the volumes but differ in scale to reflect the hierarchy of 

accommodation contained within. The more important accommodation is within the north 

Page 154



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

19 

 

volume and therefore has a larger, longer and wider, footprint; and is taller at two storeys 

to signify it as the main living accommodation of the house. The proposed massing of the 

western volume is single storey with the ridge and eaves sitting lower than both the 

existing stone building and northern volume to reflect its reduced importance. This also 

ensures that the massing steps down and reduces down in scale as it moves further away 

from the collective built forms of the east out towards the surrounding rural land to the 

west. 

5.12.4 The proposed massing for the house also reflects the topography of the site as it falls 

from south to north as the most northern volume takes opportunity of this change in level 

to steps down creating a semi buried level of accommodation. This lower ground floor 

provides a retaining structure to the historically made-ground and resulting slope; and is 

not visible from the south or east. 

5.13 Layout and Arrangement 

5.13.1 The arrangement of proposed house accommodation within the U-shape massing creates 

a central, south facing courtyard and defines its domestic curtilage. This south facing 

courtyard creates an external area for the occupants that is sheltered from the prevailing 

winds, whilst visually screening the domestic parking and ancillaries from the longer rural 

views in from the north of the site. The open courtyard space sits between the main living 

accommodation and the access road creating a separating buffer between the rural 

landscape and the house. The courtyard also allows vehicular access to safely 

manoeuvre within the dwelling curtilage before re-joining the highway. 

5.13.2 The ground floor of the central larger massing volume to the north contains the main 

family living accommodation consisting of the main entrance hallway; open plan kitchen 

dining; formal sitting; entrance hall; utility; and gun room. At first floor there is the master 

bedroom with accompanying dressing room and bathroom; and 4no. double bedrooms 

with en-suites. The lower, semi subterranean accommodation contains a home exercise 

pool and sauna benefitting from increased privacy and surrounding thermal mass to retain 

heat from the pool. 

5.13.3 The converted existing stone building connected to the east of the main entrance contains 

a home office; and children’s bunk house accommodation at first floor; whilst ground floor 

contains a tv room and home gym space. The home office can be accessed separately 

from the family accommodation for the client to meet privately with his agricultural tenants. 

5.13.4 To the west of the main accommodation the single storey volume contains a 3no. car 

garage; dog kennel; and a multi-purpose family / play room accommodation with 

generous sliding doors connecting it to the central courtyard. 

5.14 Appearance 

5.14.1 The materials for the proposed house take inspiration from the surrounding utilitarian 

agricultural structures within the area but combine this with contemporary detailing and 

fenestration so that the building reflects modern 21st Century architecture of which it is 

being built. The proposed materials of stone and timber can be seen on various structures 

within the immediate locale of the area as well as the wider rural setting of the Scottish 

Borders. The materials utilised within the area are robust to withstand the harsh 

environment and mainly include stone walling; tile and slate roofing; sheet metal; and 

timber. 

Page 155



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

20 

 

5.14.2 The use of traditional agricultural materials of timber, stone and metal roofing will be 

visually sympathetic to the existing stone building but through contemporary detailing will 

ensure that the new architecture is clearly articulated from the old. The proposed 

materials will have natural untreated finishes that will weather into the setting and soften 

alongside the existing buildings. 

5.14.3 The western, existing stone building is proposed to be refurbished with the existing 

stonework and tiled roof retained. Poor quality additions generally made using corrugated 

metal will be stripped back to enable the new additions for the gym and glazed link to be 

added. The new extension and connection link to the existing stone is to be finished in 

untreated open jointed cedar timber cladding. This use of timber cladding with open 

jointing and contemporary detailing is to be continued across all the proposed new 

elevations. The link connections between the three volumes are articulated by recesses in 

facades and are further accentuated through the use of vertical timber cladding to 

juxtapose the horizontal boards on the primary elevations. 

5.14.4 The hierarchical distinction of the accommodation by enlarging the more important 

volumes is seen in historic farms and the materiality also generally reflects the 

significance of the spaces within. To continue the visual distinction of the volumes by size, 

it is proposed that the proposed materials subtly reflect this change in hierarchy by 

changing the appearance of the roof finishes, whilst leaving the elevations treatments 

consistent; timber for new and coursed stone for existing. The introduction of a zinc 

standing seam roof finish to the main central volume reaffirms it as the entrance and main 

accommodation presence, whilst the proposed garage and informal accommodation 

volume to the west has a timber finish to signify its reduced status. 

5.14.5 The fenestration proportions of the new build accommodation are enlarged from the 

traditional buildings with floor to ceiling height windows to allow maximum daylight and 

reflect the 21st Century construction available. Insulated sliding shutters are proposed to 

the areas of large sliding glass doors of the gym and informal accommodation to allow 

these areas to be closed off and heat loss reduced when not in use. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 156



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

21 

 

6. Landscape 
6.1 Introduction 

6.1.1 The landscape proposals seek to embrace the uniqueness and special qualities of the site 

to provide a masterplan which improves the established setting through a series of 

considered enhancements that enhance the landscape quality and create a setting worthy 

of an outstanding dwellinghouse.  

6.2 Landscape Masterplan 

6.2.1 The landscape masterplan proposes a series of simple and soft landscape improvements 

such as sensitive tree planting. The proposals have been designed to respect the site’s 

location with the Teviot Valleys Special Landscape Area, while enhancing the immediate 

setting in which the proposed dwellinghouse would be experienced.  

6.2.2 The landscape proposals have been designed to satisfy the relevant national and local 

planning policies – with regard had to the Supplementary Planning Guidance published by 

Scottish Borders Council.  

Figure 6.1 Landscape Masterplan 

 

 

 

 

Page 157



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

22 

 

7. Ecology 
7.1 Introduction 

7.1.1 A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal at the site of the proposed dwellinghouse was 

undertaken by Kayleigh Houlsby BSc MSc and quality assured by Allen Creedy MRTPI 

FIEMA. As part of this, an ecological desk study and a walkover survey (in accordance 

with Phase 1 Habitat Survey Methodology) were undertaken.  

7.2 Summary findings from the PEA 

7.2.1 The desk study exercise identified there is one statutory site within 2km of the study area 

and one non-statutory site within 1km of the study area. 

7.2.2 The statutory site, River Tweed Special Area of Conservation (SAC) is a strictly protected 

site designated under the EC Habitats Directive. The SAC is located approximately 500m 

to the south east of the proposed development site. It is considered unlikely that the 

proposed development will impact on the SAC due to the separation distance between the 

conservation site and the proposed development site, the lack of connectivity and the 

small-scale nature of the development.  

7.2.3 The non-statutory site, Teviot Valleys Special Landscape Area, encompasses the study 

area. The Special Landscape Area has been designated to draw together a number of 

landmark features with their pastoral and woodland settings. The Special Landscape Area 

is unlikely to be impacted due to the small scale nature of the development, no negative 

change in land use or management and will not be developed on a hilltop that would 

visually affect the designation.  

7.2.4 The desk study also provided records of protected and notable species including squirrels 

and birds. 

7.2.5 The walkover survey was undertaken on 16th March 2018. The survey area comprises an 

area of agricultural land with various buildings approximately 7.4 miles to the east of 

Hawick town centre.  

7.2.6 No habitat noted by the walkover survey is listed as a Habitat of Principal Importance in 

Scotland. The key ecological features on site in relation to the works proposed included 

the presence of notable habitats, including scattered trees and semi-improved grassland 

and the suitability of the habitats on site to support notable species including house 

sparrows.  

7.3 Summary recommendations from the PEA 

7.3.1 In order to ensure compliance with wildlife legislation and relevant planning policy, 

recommendations have been made regarding the following; 

7.3.2 River Tweed – risks associated with the development relate directly to water quality due 

to the proposal being located in close proximity to a stream, likely feeding into the river 

catchment. Risk is associated with the drainage of the dwelling. Appropriate measures 

should be undertaken such as the installation of septic tanks and petrol interceptors in 

accordance with the Water Environment (Controlled Activities) (Scotland) Regulations 

2011.  

7.3.3 Teviot Valley – the site lies within the Special Landscape Area, however, the proposed 

development is unlikely to affect the designation. Guidance on development in the 

Page 158



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

23 

 

landscape can be found within the Supplementary Planning Guidance published by 

Scottish Borders Council.  

7.3.4 Habitat Loss and Enhancement – biodiversity enhancement measures should be 

incorporated into the landscaping scheme of any proposed works to maximise the 

ecological value of the site. 

7.3.5 Water Bodies – all works should be undertaken in accordance with best practice e.g. 

NetRegs Guidance for Pollution Prevention (GPPs) to ensure that the waterbodies and 

watercourses within the survey area are not adversely impacted by the proposed works.  

7.3.6 Scattered Trees – any trees that are removed should be mitigated within the landscaping 

design, through the inclusion of replacement planting of appropriate native or wildlife 

attractive species of adequate size.  

7.3.7 Birds – construction works should begin after the breeding bird season. Provision of 

nesting/roosting habitat, such as installation of nest boxes for species such as house 

sparrow, should be installed.  

7.3.8 Bats – prior to any works commencing, construction workers should be given a ‘toolbox’ 

talk by a suitably qualified ecologist to ensure their compliance with bat regulations and to 

ensure awareness of signs indicating bat usage. No Breathable Roof Membranes (BRMs) 

are to be used as roof linings in the roof of the refurbished stone cottage. Continued 

monitoring and maintenance post development will be required and should be outlined 

within a management plan. Should bats be discovered at any time during the 

development, works must be stopped immediately.  

7.3.9 Terrestrial Mammals – any excavations that need to be left overnight should be covered 

or fitted with mammal ramps to ensure that any animals that enter can safely escape. Any 

open pipework must be covered at the end of each work day to prevent animals entering 

and becoming trapped.  

7.3.10 Aquatic Fauna – a reasonable avoidance method statement should be compiled detailing 

how the proposed works will be undertaken in a sensitive manner to avoid any potential 

breach of legislation. This document should describe working methods, timings and 

should detail any ecological control measures that will be implemented e.g. maintaining 

habitat connectivity.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 159



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

24 

 

8. Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
8.1 Introduction 

8.1.1 An Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) at the site of the proposed dwellinghouse was 

undertaken by Kayleigh Houlsby BSc MSc and quality assured by Allen Creedy MRTPI 

FIEMA. As part of this a site walkover was undertaken.  

8.2 Summary of AIA 

8.2.1 There are no Tree Preservation Orders, listed buildings or Conservation Areas within or 

closely surrounding the study area. This was confirmed by Simon Wilkinson, Tree Officer 

at Scottish Borders Council on 12th March 2018. 

8.2.2 The prioritisation for tree retention should be based upon the guidance contained within 

BS5837:2012. Category A trees should be seen as the highest priority for retention and 

Category C the lowest. Category U trees have no retention value and in most 

circumstances such specimens will not be considered for retention within new 

development.  

8.2.3 In order to accommodate the proposed development it will ne necessary to remove 3 

trees within the site, all of which are Category C trees.  

8.2.4 The trees identified for removal are deemed to be of low retention value and the loss of 

these trees will not result in a significant impact on the visual amenity of the site. 

Furthermore, two of the trees were relatively immature specimens and can easily be 

replaced in the short-term. It is understood that provision is already included within the 

landscaping scheme for replacement tree planting throughout the site and as such the 

loss of these trees should not be considered a significant constraint to the proposed 

development.  

8.2.5 There are no areas on site where the demolition of existing buildings is required within 

close proximity to retained trees. As such no impact from this aspect of the development 

is considered likely. 

8.2.6 There are no areas on site where the removal of existing hardstanding will be required 

within the RPA of any retained trees. As such impacts to retained trees from this aspect of 

development is not expected. 

8.2.7 There are no areas on site where the removal of existing underground services is likely to 

require works within the RPA of retained trees. As such impacts to retained trees from this 

aspect of development is not expected. 

8.2.8 The previous usage of the site is considered unlikely to have resulted in areas of soil 

contamination that would require excavation and disposal, or treatment works, to be 

undertaken. As such impacts to retained trees from this aspect of development is not 

expected. 

8.2.9 The proposed development has been designed to ensure that works are not required 

within the RPAs of retained trees. 

8.2.10 There are no aspects of the proposed development expected to require works within the 

canopy spread of retained trees. To minimise the potential for branch damage to occur 

the adoption of an appropriate working methodology will ensure that harm to the retained 

tree is avoided. 

Page 160



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

25 

 

8.3 Summary recommendations from the AIA 

8.3.1 In order to ensure compliance with wildlife legislation and relevant planning policy, 

recommendations have been made. 

8.3.2 The following site-specific recommendations have been made; 

• The retention of Category B trees should be considered where possible but where 

this cannot be achieved compensatory planting will need to be undertaken. It is 

understood that two Category B trees will be retained.  

• The retention of the Category C trees should be considered where possible though 

it must be noted that these specimens have a low retention value and are likely to 

only offer a temporary contribution to the landscape character of the site.  

• Any proposed new planting should consist of native and wildlife attracting species 

with a robust five year management plan to assist with the development proposal 

and to offer mitigation for tree loss. 

• In general all new development shall be located outside of the RPA or canopy 

spread of any retained tree. 

• Where any new development is proposed within the RPA or canopy spread of a 

retained tree it must be constructed in such a way that damage of the trees root 

system or crown can be avoided. 

• Should new development require works within the RPA of any retained tree an 

Arboricultural Method Statement should be prepared to set out what steps are to 

be taken to protect the trees during the course of development. 

• Prior to development, a plan should be prepared detailing the locations in which 

activities related to the establishment of a site compound, contractors car parking 

areas, material storage areas and associated works are to occur. All of which 

should be located outside of the RPAs of retained trees.  

8.3.3 The following generic guidance should also be taken into account during the construction 

phase of any development, or significant engineering; 

• Any trees or groups that are to be retained should be adequately protected by 

Heras fencing, in line with BS5837:2012, extending at least to the Root Protection 

Radius, to prevent accidental damage by vehicles or contractors (see Table 3 for 

RPA data for each tree). Within these areas no construction works, or related 

activities, will be undertaken. 

• All tree works are to be carried out by a competent and qualified arborist to 

BS3998:2010 standards.  

• Tree protection should be included in the induction and/or briefing sessions by the 

contractors to site personnel.  

• Soil compaction, from the storage of large quantities of materials and plant 

tracking, may result in changes to soil permeability and local drainage. This may 

lead to waterlogging or loss of soil crumb structure. These effects may in turn lead 

to root asphyxiation and root death, a cause of instability and or mortality in trees. 

For this reason, heavy machinery, excavation of bare ground and the storage of 

Page 161



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

26 

 

materials should be excluded from the crown and Root Protection Radius of all 

trees.  

• The recommendations of BS5837:2012 and National Joint Utilities Group Volume 

4 (Guidelines for the Planning, Installation and Maintenance of Utility Services in 

Proximity to Trees) (as appropriate to operations) should be followed when 

working close to trees.  

• If works take place during the bird breeding season, usually from March to 

September inclusive, trees and hedgerows should be checked for nesting birds.  If 

any trees are to be removed this should be done outside the breeding season or in 

the presence of a suitably qualified ecologist.  

• Mature trees often contain cavities, hollows, peeling bark or woodpecker holes 

which provide potential roosting locations for bats. Bats and the places they use 

for shelter or protection (i.e. roosts) receive European protection under The 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010, as amended (Habitats 

Regulations 2010, as amended).  They receive further legal protection under the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act (WCA) 1981, as amended. Consequently, causing 

damage to a bat roost constitutes an offence. As such prior to undertaking works 

to trees a check to see if they are being used for bat roosting should be 

undertaken by a suitably qualified and experienced ecologist. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 162



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

27 

 

9. Transport 
9.1 Introduction 

9.1.1 A review of the proposed new agricultural access track has been undertaken by SAJ 

Transport Consultants.  

9.2 Review of Proposed Access Arrangements 

9.2.1 It is understood that the existing access will be retained and revised to serve the 

dwellinghouse. The access is served directly from the D63 and will be widened. The 

existing visibility from this position is good as it is on the corner. 

Figure 9.1 Dwelling Access Visibility Splay 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 163



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

28 

 

9.2.2 With regard to the access track, it is understood that this will be used for agricultural 

vehicles only to access the agricultural buildings and the existing agricultural track will no 

longer be used. Based on the position of the access, the highways authority may request 

that the visibility requirements associated with the D63 are met.  

9.2.3 The D63 is subject to a 60mph speed limit with visibility requirements of 215m in both 

directions, although speeds are unlikely to be 60mph. Only 60m to the left (northeast) is 

achievable due to the bend in the road. Given that actual speeds on this stretch of road 

are likely to be lower than 60mph, it is considered that the 60m visibility splay to the 

northeast would be acceptable.  

Figure 9.2 New Agricultural Access Track Visibility Splay 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 164



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

29 

 

10. Land Contamination 
10.1 Introduction 

10.1.1 A Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment at the site of the proposed 

dwellinghouse has been undertaken. In order to assess the potential contamination of the 

site, a desk study was carried out in addition to a walkover of the site.   

10.2 Summary of Contaminated Land Assessment 

10.2.1 The site is situated in a predominantly rural environment with little change to its land use 

historically. The site has remained largely unchanged with the exception of the erection of 

Town O’ Rule cottages approximately 195m to the southeast of the site and a storage 

tank being developed directly on site in 1899. The site then went unchanged until 2001 

where historical mapping shows the erection of two further buildings. 

10.2.2 The areas surrounding the site in all directions have mainly been associated with large 

vegetation plantations, isolated dwellings and infrastructure associated with rural 

residential living and agricultural uses such as storage tanks, farms and mills. The site 

shows signs of small industrial and residential expansion such as the erection of a post 

office, reservoir and quarries between 1899 and 1923 but has otherwise remained largely 

unchanged. 

10.2.3 Considering the site to be largely undeveloped and the likely characteristics of any made 

ground present, the risk associated with the site is generally considered to be low, 

although there is considered to be a Low/Moderate risk associated with the potential for 

contamination to enter the water environment, given that the proposed development is 

located adjacent to a small stream and the aquifer having been identified as highly 

permeable. It is considered unlikely that the site would constitute Contaminated Land, as 

defined in Part IIa of the Environmental Protection Act. 

10.2.4 The proposed use of the site is consistent with the current residential and agricultural 

operations that are undertaken currently on and adjacent to the site. The risk associated 

with the site is considered to be Low/Moderate, associated with risks to the water 

environment, and the current agricultural use. This is mainly due to the geological 

characteristics on site in addition to the close proximity of the development to a small 

flowing water body. 

10.3 Summary Recommendations from the Contaminated Land Assessment 

10.3.1 In order to ensure compliance with legislation and relevant planning policy, the following 

recommendations have been made; 

10.3.2 It is recommended that all works and future development should be undertaken in 

accordance with best practice, e.g. NetRegs Guidance for Pollution Prevention (GPPs) to 

ensure that the waterbodies and watercourses within the site area are not adversely 

impacted by the proposed works. 

 

 

 

Page 165



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

30 

 

11. Flooding and Drainage 
11.1 Introduction 

11.1.1 A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) at the site of the proposed dwellinghouse has been 

undertaken. In order to assess the potential contamination of the site, a desk study was 

carried out in addition to a walkover of the site.   

11.2 Summary of FRA 

11.2.1 The proposed development site is located 2.1km north of Bonchester Bridge and consists 

of agricultural land with a small watercourse to the west of the site. There are a number of 

existing agricultural buildings on the site.  

11.2.2 A small stream is located approximately 35m west of the site but the flood outline for the 

stream shown on the SEPA online flood maps confirms that this watercourse will not 

impact on the proposed development site.  

11.2.3 The site is located approximately 88km inland from the coast. There is therefore no risk of 

coastal flooding. 

11.2.4 Fluvial flooding is flooding originating from a watercourse. The nearest watercourse is a 

small stream, approximately 35m to the west of the site. The SEPA Flood Map (2015) 

indicates that the site is not at risk from fluvial flooding. 

11.2.5 Groundwater flooding is flooding that is caused by unusually high groundwater levels or 

flow rates. During flooding, groundwater can emerge at the ground surface or within man-

made underground structures such as basements. There are various mechanisms of 

groundwater flooding, including clearwater flooding due to prolonged heavy rainfall on 

distant connected geology alluvial and coastal groundwater flooding, and that associated 

with minewater rebound or ground subsidence. The site is located outside the area of 

groundwater influenced flooding shown on the SEPA map. 

11.2.6 Surface water (pluvial) flooding occurs from intense rainfall related overland flows and 

ponding in localised depressions. The SEPA Flood Map (2015) indicates that the site is 

not at risk from surface water flooding. 

11.3 Summary recommendations from the FRA 

11.3.1 The Water Environment (Controlled Activities) (Scotland) Regulations 2005 (CAR) 

requires all new developments to employ Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) to 

control and treat surface water runoff. The following recommendations are made with 

respect to SuDS options for this site and should be considered further at detailed design 

stage: 

11.3.2 CAR Binding Rules – SuDS should comply with the relevant binding rules described 

within the Water Environment (Controlled Activities) (Scotland) Regulations 2005 – 

GBR10: Discharge of surface water run-off from a surface water drainage system to the 

water environment from construction sites, buildings, roads, yards and any other built up 

areas and GBR11: Discharge into a surface water drainage system. Any design should be 

undertaken with reference to the C697 CIRIA SuDS Manual. 

11.3.3 Water Quality – SEPA WAT-RM-08 defines the number of treatment levels required. 

Based on the information currently available for this development, it is anticipated that one 

level of treatment would be required based on the proximity of the development to areas 

Page 166



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

31 

 

with designated SAC and SSSI status. This may change depending upon the size of the 

final development. 

11.3.4 SuDS Options – Any designed SuDS should have a neutral or better effect on surface 

water flooding at the site. The following high level options are suggested, but further 

investigation of appropriate methods should be undertaken in the detailed design stages: 

a. Infiltration basin or soakaway – this would discharge surface water directly to the 

ground via infiltration. It is recommended that an analysis of soil and ground 

conditions are undertaken if this option is to be considered.  

b. Dry or wet swale – these strips of vegetated land allow collection of surface water 

from impermeable surfaces and intercept silt and pollution, allowing cleaner water 

to be discharged to the ground or a waterbody. This option would require 

consultation with SEPA and a CAR licence following consolation.  

c. Detention basin – these are used to store and treat water and consist of commonly 

grassed areas to store runoff from higher storm durations prior to discharge. Flow 

control is required. As above, consideration of the levels of treatment appropriate 

for discharge to the ground or waterbody should be undertaken.  

11.3.5 Changes to Flood Risk outwith the Site – Given the scale of the development and that 

the site is at low risk of flooding, there should be no change to flood risk outwith the site 

over the existing pre-development condition. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 167



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

32 

 

12. Heritage 
12.1 Introduction 

12.1.1 A desk-based review of the relevant heritage resources has been undertaken. This 

included identifying the proximity of heritage assets to the site in order to ascertain the 

potential for the proposed development to impact on their significance.  

12.2 Listed Buildings 

12.2.1 The nearest listed buildings are;  

• Weens farmhouse (Category B) approximately 571m to the southeast of the site 

• Hobsburn farmhouse (Category B) approximately 1.88km to the south of the site 

12.2.2 Given the distance between the site and the above referenced statutorily listed buildings, 

it is considered that the scheme would not impact on the significance of any of those listed 

buildings.  

12.3 Scheduled Monuments 

12.3.1 There are 2 Scheduled Monuments within 2km of the site. These are;  

• Rubers Law fort and Roman signal station approximately 2km to the northwest of 

the site 

• Bonchester Hill fort and earthworks approximately 1.6km to the southeast of the 

site 

12.3.2 Given the distance between the site and the above referenced Scheduled Monuments, it 

is considered that the scheme would not impact on the significance of any of those 

Scheduled Monuments.  

12.4 Conservation Areas 

12.4.1 The site is outside of any designated Conservation Areas within the Scottish Borders.  

12.4.2 Given the distance between the site and designated Conservation Areas, it is considered 

that the scheme would not impact on the significance of any Conservation Areas.  

12.5 Archaeology 

12.5.1 The comments from the Council’s Archaeology Officer regarding the previous approval at 

the site (application ref: 15/01113/PPP) confirmed that there are potential archaeological 

implications for development at the site. There is a medieval village or town which may, 

potentially, have been located on the site of Town O’ Rule Farm. There is also a possible 

prehistoric settlement in the vicinity of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse, though the comments 

from the Archaeology Officer states that nothing of this settlement now remains.  

12.5.2 As with the previous application, and given the two potential archaeological sites, it is 

recommended that a condition is imposed on an approval for an aracheological watching 

brief to take place following all demolitions on site and during excavations for the new 

build. This will ensure the identification and mitigate the loss of archaeological deposist 

during development. 

 

 

Page 168



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

33 

 

13. Planning Context 
13.1 Introduction 

13.1.1 This chapter outlines the principal planning policies that pertain to the proposed scheme. 

It is important to note that the thematic survey reports and assessments submitted in 

support of this application contain further details of relevant other policies (e.g. ecology 

etc.). 

13.1.2 In Scotland, there is a hierarchical structure of policy covering national and local planning. 

At a national level the National Planning Framework (NPF3) sets out the Government’s 

long-term vision for development and investment across Scotland over the next 20 to 30 

years. At a local level, strategic development plans and local development plans set out 

area-specific planning policies.  

13.1.3 Section 25(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 requires that 

applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the statutory 

development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

13.2 National Planning Framework  

13.2.1 The National Planning Framework (NPF) sets the context for development planning in 

Scotland and provides a framework for the spatial development of Scotland as a whole. 

13.2.2 Scotland’s third National Planning Framework (NPF3) is the spatial expression of the 

Scottish Government’s Economic Strategy – with a focus on supporting sustainable 

economic growth and the transition to a low carbon economy. NPF3 sets out the 

Government’s ambitions for Scotland as a whole. 

13.2.3  A successful, sustainable place 

13.2.4 The NPF aims to ensure that all parts of Scotland make best use of their assets to build a 

sustainable future. Planning will help to create high quality, diverse and sustainable 

places that promote wellbeing and attract investment. 

13.2.5 The NPF states at paragraph 2.7 that local planning authorities “must ensure that 

development facilitates adaptation to climate change, reduces resource consumption and 

lowers greenhouse gas emissions.” 

13.2.6 Paragraph 2.10 of the NPF states that: “Flexibility is required to allow for different 

approaches to housing provision that respond to varying local requirements. Planning 

should focus its efforts particularly on areas where the greatest levels of change are 

expected and where there is pressure for development.” 

13.2.7 We will have vibrant rural areas 

13.2.8 Paragraph 2.26 of the NPF states that: “We do not wish to see development in our rural 

areas unnecessarily constrained. There will be a continuing need for new housing – we 

expect more people to live and work in Scotland’s rural areas as digital links and 

opportunities for remote working and new enterprises continue to grow. The Scottish 

Planning Policy sets out a framework for planning for rural housing which reflects the 

varying characteristics and pressures of rural communities. It highlights that careful 

planning is required to manage demand in our most accessible countryside around towns 

and cities. Remote areas are likely to benefit from a more flexible approach, particularly 

where it helps to sustain fragile communities. Facilitating the delivery of affordable rural 

Page 169



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

34 

 

housing remains a priority to support community vitality and increase population growth. 

Design solutions will ensure that affordability need not be at odds with achieving more 

ambitious emissions standards.” 

13.2.9 The NPF outlines at paragraph 2.27 that, nationally, the Scottish Government will 

continue to work with the housing sector to identify innovative approaches to rural 

housing, including assisting rural enablers to support individual house building and, as in 

all of Scotland, to ensure a sufficient supply of new and affordable housing for both rent 

and ownership. This is a significant factor in sustaining rural communities, and there are 

particular housing support mechanisms available in crofting communities.  

13.2.10 Paragraph 2.28 states that rural areas will be a focus for new technologies, including low 

carbon and renewable heat and digital connectivity.  

13.2.11 A low carbon place 

13.2.12 The NPF states that the Government’s ambition is to achieve at least an 80% reduction in 

greenhouse gas emissions by 2050.  

13.2.13 Paragraph 3.5 advises that: “Heating and cooling constitutes around half of our total 

demand for energy, and our renewable heat infrastructure is growing. The distribution of 

new and planned district heating schemes is broadening from small-scale, rural 

installations towards larger projects across our towns and cities. Both will be required if 

we are to meet our target for renewable heat.” 

13.2.14 The NPF details at paragraph 3.8 that by 2020, the Government aims to reduce total final 

energy demand by 12%. To achieve this, and maintain secure energy supplies, improved 

energy efficiency and further diversification of supplies will be required. We want to meet 

at least 30% of overall energy demand from renewables by 2020 – this includes 

generating the equivalent of at least 100% of gross electricity consumption from 

renewables, with an interim target of 50% by 2015. Heat accounts for a significant share 

of our energy consumption, and by 2020 we are aiming to source 11% of heat demand 

and 10% of transport fuels from renewable sources. 

13.2.15 Rural communities will benefit from well-planned renewable energy development 

13.2.16 Paragraph 3.26 of the NPF states: “Given the relatively high energy costs for households 

in rural Scotland, there will be particular benefits from improving the energy efficient of 

homes and businesses. The lower density of development in much of the rural area will 

need new approaches to heating including microgeneration – individual small-scale heat 

projects can collectively help to reduce fuel costs for homes and businesses. Planning of 

rural towns and their surrounding areas must support low carbon living, decarbonisation of 

heat and transportation.” 

13.2.17 A natural, resilient place 

13.2.18 The NPF states that Scotland’s environment needs to be protected, recognising that it is a 

dynamic resource rather than a fixed asset. To better reflect this, more proactive and 

innovative environmental stewardship is required. A planned approach to development 

helps to strike the right balance between safeguarding assets which are irreplaceable and 

facilitating change in a sustainable way.  

 

 

Page 170



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

35 

 

13.3 Scottish Planning Policy 

13.3.1 The Scottish Planning Policy (SPP) sets out national planning policies which reflect 

Scottish Ministers’ priorities for operation of the planning system and for the development 

and use of land. The SPP sits alongside the National Planning Framework. 

13.3.2 Promoting Rural Development 

13.3.3 NPF3 sets out a vision for vibrant rural, coastal and island areas with growing, sustainable 

communities supported by new opportunities for employment and education. The 

character of rural and island areas and the challenges they face vary greatly across the 

country, from pressurised areas of countryside around towns and cities to more remote 

and sparsely populated areas.  

13.3.4 The planning system should; 

• in all rural and island areas promote a pattern of development that is appropriate 

to the character of the particular rural area and the challenges it faces 

• encourage rural development that supports prosperous and sustainable 

communities and businesses whilst protecting and enhancing environmental 

quality; and 

• support an integrated approach to coastal planning 

13.3.5 Enabling Delivery of New Homes 

13.3.6 NPF3 aims to facilitate new housing development, particularly in areas within our cities 

network where there is continuing pressure for growth, and through innovative 

approaches to rural housing provision. House building makes an important contribution to 

the economy. Planning can help to address the challenges facing the housing sector by 

providing a positive and flexible approach to development. In particular, provision for new 

homes should be made in areas where economic investment is planned or there is a need 

for regeneration or to support population retention in rural and island areas. 

13.3.7 The planning system should: 

• identify a generous supply of land for each housing market area within the plan 

area to support the achievement of the housing land requirement across all 

tenures, maintaining at least a 5-year supply of effective housing land at all times 

• enable provision of a range of attractive, well-designed, energy efficient, good 

quality housing, contributing to the creation of successful and sustainable places; 

and 

• have a sharp focus on the delivery of allocated sites embedded in action 

programmes, informed by strong engagement with stakeholders.  

13.4 Strategic Development Plan 

13.4.1 The strategic development plan (SDP) sets out the long-term vision for development of 

the south east of Scotland area. The plan is produced by SESplan and covers the 

Scottish Borders, East Lothian, the City of Edinburgh, Midlothian, West Lothian and 

southern Fife. 

Page 171



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

36 

 

13.4.2 The current SDP covers the period to 2032 and was approved by Scottish Ministers in 

June 2013. The Scottish Ministers made various modifications to the SDP, including an 

increase in the overall number of new houses to be delivered. 

13.4.3 Scottish Borders Council is an SESplan member authority and there are a number of 

strategic policies which are relevant to this application: 

13.4.4 Placemaking 

13.4.5 The SDP2 sets out a series of placemaking principles that are important considerations 

for local planning authorities; 

13.4.6 Distinctive 

• Areas important for maintaining the character, landscape setting and distinctive 

identify of existing and proposed settlements should be protected and enhanced, 

particularly where they are needed to avoid the coalescence of settlements 

• The contribution of the natural and historic environment to making distinctive 

places should be maximised. Key views of the surrounding landscape should be 

integrated into developments to provide a sense of place and identity 

• Views of the Southern Uplands, the Lammermuir Hills, the Firth of Forth, the 

Pentland Hills, the Lomond Hills, the Bathgate Hills and the key landmarks of 

Edinburgh are particularly important in supporting a sense of place and making 

settlements distinctive 

13.4.7 Safe and Pleasant 

• Public spaces should be free from excessive traffic noise and air pollution and the 

needs of people should be considered before the movement of motor vehicles 

• Public spaces should be overlooked by housing, so that the people who use them 

feel safe, and the people who live nearby feel a sense of ownership 

• It should be easy for people to access green/ open space, including places where 

they can enjoy nature 

• Developments should be located within a network of green and blue infrastructure 

that provides a pleasant outlook for the people living and working there 

13.4.8 Welcoming 

• Gateways into settlements and extensions to existing settlements should be 

interesting, memorable and contribute to local distinctiveness 

• A wide range of public spaces of different types and character, accessible to all, 

should be provided that appeal to people of different ages and with different 

interests 

• Neighbourhood centres should include attractive and safe indoor and outdoor 

spaces where people can interact 

13.4.9 Adaptable 

• Development should be located where a wide range of densities, tenures and uses 

can be supported to meet the changing needs of the community into the future 

Page 172



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

37 

 

• Green networks should be multi-functional. They should comprise infrastructure 

that provides a range of benefits and can be adapted and enhanced depending on 

the local need for growing spaces, play spaces, natural spaces, public parks, 

sustainable drainage and the need to adapt to climate change 

13.4.10 Resource Efficient 

• New development should be near existing public transport hubs, or in locations 

where there are planned infrastructure projects to enable easy access to the public 

transport network 

• The re-use or re-development of brownfield land should be considered before new 

development takes place on greenfield land, including Prime Agricultural Land and 

other land important for food production 

• Development should be located and orientated to maximise passive solar heating 

and opportunities for solar power generation 

• Heat mapping and other approaches should be used to identify opportunities to 

co-locate sources of high heat demand (e.g. housing) with sources of heat supply 

(e.g. biomass power plants) 

• Development should be located away from functional flood plains and areas of 

medium to high flood risk 

• Development should be designed to minimise the area of impermeable surface 

and incorporate sustainable drainage systems as appropriate 

13.4.11 Easy to Move Around 

• There should be good walking and cycling networks close to where people live, 

providing safe and convenient access to local facilities and to public transport 

stops 

• Development should integrate with, and contribute to, the enhancement of walking 

and cycling networks 

13.4.12 Rural Economy 

13.4.13 Paragraph 4.12 of SDP2 states that: “SESplan member authorities will therefore support 

the continued operation, diversification and expansion of rural businesses.” 

13.4.14 A Low Carbon Economy 

13.4.15 Paragraph 4.25 states that: “Local Development Plans will identify, as appropriate, 

opportunities to co-locate sources of high heat demand (e.g. housing) with sources of 

heat supply (e.g. biomass power plants), and to locate new development where passive 

solar heating and solar power generation can be maximised.” 

13.5 Scottish Borders Local Development Plan 

13.5.1 The Development Plan for the Scottish Borders Council will consist of the aforementioned 

SESplan Strategic Development Plan (SDP) and the Local Development Plan (LDP). The 

Scottish Borders LDP was adopted on 12th of May 2016 and sets out the Council’s 

policies on development and land use within the Scottish Borders. 

 

Page 173



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

38 

 

13.5.2 PMD1 Sustainability 

13.5.3 In determining planning applications and preparing development briefs, the Council will 

have regard to the following sustainability principles which underpin all the Plan’s policies 

and which developers will be expected to incorporate into their developments; 

a. the long term sustainable use and management of land 

b. the preservation of air and water quality 

c. the protection of natural resources, landscapes, habitats, and species 

d. the protection of built and cultural resources 

e. the efficient use of energy and resources, particularly non-renewable resources 

f. the minimisation of waste, including waste water and encouragement to its 

sustainable management 

g. the encouragement of walking, cycling, and public transport in preference to the 

private car 

h. the minimisation of light pollution 

i. the protection of public health and safety 

j. the support to community services and facilities 

k. the provision of new jobs and support to the local economy 

l. the involvement of the local community in the design, management and 

improvement of their environment 

13.5.4 PMD2 Quality Standards 

13.5.5 All new development will be expected to be of high quality in accordance with 

sustainability principles, designed to fit with Scottish Borders townscapes and to integrate 

with its landscape surroundings.  

13.5.6 Developers are required to provide design and access statements, design briefs and 

landscape plans as appropriate. 

13.5.7 HD2 Housing in the Countryside 

13.5.8 The Council wishes to promote appropriate rural housing development: 

a. in village locations in preference to the open countryside where permission will 

only be granted in special circumstances on appropriate sites 

b. associated with existing building groups where this does not adversely affect their 

character or that of the surrounding area, and 

c. in dispersed communities in the Southern Borders housing marker area. 

13.5.9 These general principles in addition to the requirement for suitable roads access will be 

the starting point for the consideration of applications for housing in the countryside, which 

will be supplemented by Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Supplementary Guidance on 

New Housing in the Borders Countryside and on Placemaking and Design. 

 

 

Page 174



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

39 

 

A. BUILDING GROUPS 

13.5.10 Housing of up to a total of 2 additional dwellings or a 30% increase of the building group, 

whichever is the greater, associated with existing building groups may be approved 

provided that: 

a. The council is satisfied that the site is well related to an existing group of at least 

three houses or building(s) currently in residential use or capable of conversion to 

residential use. Where conversion is required to establish a cohesive group of at 

least three houses, no additional housing will be approved until such conversion 

has been implemented. 

b. The cumulative impact of new development on the character of the building group, 

and on the landscape and amenity of the surrounding area will be taken into 

account when determining new applications. Additional development within a 

building group will be refused if, in conjunction with other developments in the 

area, it will cause unacceptable adverse impacts.  

c. Any consents for new build granted under this part of this policy should not exceed 

two housing dwellings or a 30% increase in addition to the group during the Plan 

period. No further development above this threshold will be permitted.  

13.5.11 In addition, where a proposal for new development is to be supported, the proposal 

should be appropriate in scale, siting, design, access, and materials, and should be 

sympathetic to the character of the group.  

13.5.12 The calculations on building group size are based on the existing number of housing units 

within the group as at the start of the Local Development Plan period. This will include 

those units under construction or nearing completion at that point.  

B. DISPERSED BUILDING GROUPS 

13.5.13 In the Southern Housing Market area there are few building groups comprising 3 houses 

or more, and a more dispersed pattern is the norm. In this area a lower threshold may be 

appropriate, particularly where this would result in tangible community, economic or 

environmental benefits. In these cases the existence of a sense of place will be the 

primary consideration.  

13.5.14 Housing of up to 2 additional dwellings associated with dispersed building groups that 

meet the above criteria may be approved provided that: 

a. The Council is satisfied that the site lies within a recognised dispersed community 

in the Southern Borders housing market area. 

b. Any consents for new build granted under this part of this policy should not exceed 

two housing dwellings in addition to the group during the Plan period. No further 

development above this threshold will be permitted.  

c. The design of housing will be subject to the same considerations as other types of 

housing in the countryside proposals. 

C. CONVERSIONS OF BUILDINGS TO A HOUSE 

13.5.15 Development that is a change of use of a building to a house may be acceptable provided 

that: 

Page 175



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

40 

 

a. The council is satisfied that the building has architectural or historic merit, is 

capable of conversion and is physically suited for residential use 

b. The building stands substantially intact and the existing structure requires no 

significant demolition. A structural survey will be required where in the opinion of 

the Council it appears that the building may not be capable of conversion, and 

c. The conversion and any proposed extension or alteration is in keeping with the 

scale and architectural character of the existing building.  

13.5.16 In ALL instances in considering proposals relative to each of the policy sections above, 

there shall be compliance with the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance where it 

meets the terms of this policy and development must not negatively impact on landscape 

and existing communities. The cumulative effect of applications under this policy will be 

taken into account when determining impact.  

13.5.17 HD3 Protection of Residential Amenity 

13.5.18 Development that is judged to have an adverse impact on the amenity of existing or 

proposed residential areas will not be permitted. 

13.5.19 EP3 Local Biodiversity 

13.5.20 Development that would have an unacceptable adverse effect on Borders Notable 

Species and Habitats of Conservation Concern will be refused unless it can be 

demonstrated that the public benefits clearly outweigh the value of the habitat for 

biodiversity conservation.  

13.5.21 EP5 Special Landscape Area 

13.5.22 In assessing proposals for development that may affect Special Landscape Areas, the 

Council will seek to safeguard landscape quality and will have particular regard to the 

landscape impact of the proposed development, including the visual impact.  

13.5.23 EP8 Archaeology 

13.5.24 Development proposals which will adversely affect an archaeological asset of regional or 

local significance will only be permitted if it can be demonstrated that the benefits of the 

proposal will clearly outweigh the heritage value of the asset. 

13.5.25 EP13 Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows 

13.5.26 The Council will refuse development that would cause the loss or serious damage to the 

woodland resource unless the public benefits of the development clearly outweigh the 

loss of landscape, ecological, recreational, historical or shelter value. 

13.5.27 IS2 Developer Contributions 

13.5.28 Where a site is otherwise acceptable in terms of planning policy, but cannot proceed due 

to deficiencies in infrastructure and services or to environmental impacts, any or all of 

which will be created or exacerbated as a result of the development, the Council will 

require developers to make a full or partial contribution towards the cost of addressing 

such deficiencies.  

13.6 New Housing in the Borders Countryside SPG 

13.6.1 This Supplementary Planning Guidance provides advice and assistance with regard to the 

siting and design of new housing in the Scottish Borders countryside.  

Page 176



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

41 

 

13.6.2 Siting and Design 

13.6.3 The Council will encourage a full planning application in preference to an outline 

application for any housing in the countryside proposal – including rebuilding, conversions 

and mansion houses.  

13.6.4 It is particularly important to establish the relationship that the proposed housing will have 

with existing buildings, and with the wider countryside. It is also important to identify the 

cumulative impact of housing in the countryside has on the area. 

13.6.5 As a consequence, the main criticisms of new housing in the countryside have been; 

• the selection of obtrusive rather than sheltered sites; 

• the failure to integrate new housing with the surrounding landscape; 

• the introduction of suburban house types which are out of character with traditional 

rural building styles 

• the use of excessive underbuilding, particularly on sloping sites, resulting in 

buildings which are unrelated to the existing landform 

• the use of incongruous materials 

13.6.6 Siting 

13.6.7 Advice on siting is primarily concerned with ensuring that, by respecting the local 

landform, the pattern of fields and the distribution of tree and hedgerow cover, new 

housing is in harmony with its immediate and wider surroundings. If a site is selected 

which is unduly prominent on a ridge or in a skyline position, then the task of designing a 

house which does not look out of place is made extremely difficult. In order to allow a 

proper assessment of the suitability of countryside sites, applicants will be encouraged to 

submit indicative plans of site layout, house type, means of access, servicing and 

landscape proposals even at outline application stage.  

13.6.8 Design 

13.6.9 Of particular concern, in recent years, has been the considerable increase in the use of 

standard suburban designs which tend to ignore local building traditions. Irrespective of 

style, a house requires to be designed for its setting and the importation of standard 

suburban designs or the cosmetic modification of standard types, is never successful in a 

rural setting.  

13.6.10 For a new house to be successful, the designer should draw on the widely appreciated 

and accepted traditions of Border house design rather than models more suited to a 

suburban context or from designs which derive from other regions. It is therefore 

important to be aware of the key elements of building design which characterise the 

indigenous architectural form.  

13.6.11 This guidance should not, however, be applied unthinkingly nor across the board, as there 

will be circumstances where, with sound reasoned justification, a different solution, in 

terms of building form, proportion and materials, can legitimately be pursued. Innovative 

designs, therefore, which are sympathetic to their setting and to the general principles in 

respect of siting set out above, will also be encouraged.  

 

 

Page 177



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

42 

 

13.7 Local Landscape Designations SPG 

13.7.1 The site is located within Special Landscape Area 5: Teviot Valleys. The Local Landscape 

Designations SPG provides a Statement of Importance for each of the Special Landscape 

Areas (SLAs). The Statement of Importance for the Teviot Valleys Special Landscape 

Area reads as follows; 

13.7.2 Location and boundaries 

13.7.3 This area covers sections of the Teviot, Jed and Rule valleys as they converge to the 

north-east of Hawick. It is located between Hawick and Jedburgh, with boundaries formed 

by ridges which contain the valleys, and by the A6088 to the south. 

13.7.4 To the south the boundary forms an A road, and to the south-east a forest edge. The 

eastern boundary is formed by minor roads and forest edges above the Jed, and by the 

settlement boundary of Jedburgh. The boundary follows the A68 north of Jedburgh, and 

then mirrors the Monteviot designed landscape boundary to the north-east. The north and 

north-west boundary follows roads and tracks and a disused railway to Hawick, which 

forms the western edge. These boundaries were selected as they visually contain the 

valleys and their settings in this area.  

13.7.5 Designation statement 

13.7.6 This area has been defined to draw together a number of landmark features with their 

pastoral and woodland settings. Visually prominent hills include Minto Crags, Peniel 

Heugh, Dunion Hill, Minto Hills and Rubers Law, each of which has a strong relationship 

with the adjacent valleys and the wider landscape. The three valleys each have their own 

distinctive character and scale.  

13.7.7 Minto Crags are a dramatic feature contrasting strongly with the gentle farmed valley 

Teviot below. Long views along the Teviot valley are terminated by the monument on 

Peniel Heugh. The romantic setting of Fatlips Castle is a reminder of a historic past, when 

the landscape was dominated by wealthy landowning and military classes, and extensive 

designed landscapes make a positive contribution. The smooth, rounded grassy Minto 

Hills contrast with the rugged, wooded Minto Crags. 

13.7.8 Rubers Law has a distinctive craggy summit, dissected and rocky. Bonchester Hill is 

almost a reduced version of the same, while Dunion Hill is a landmark above Jedburgh.  

13.7.9 The Jed valley is important as a key gateway into the Borders along the A68, including the 

sense of sudden arrival at Jedburgh after the scenic drive through the wooded valley. 

Rocky cliff features of red sandstone along the Jed are particularly attractive against 

spring green of trees.  

13.7.10 The Rule Water is smaller in scale than the Jed valley, and is densely wooded with beech 

trees along the road. It is an intimate, picturesque valley with traditional stone buildings 

and bridges, and intriguing gateways into estates. There is evidence of management 

which suggests a well-established and well-loved landscape.  

13.7.11 Forces for change 

• Changes in agricultural practices, crops and methods 

• Farm diversification 

• Changes in management of hedges and hedgerow trees 

Page 178



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

43 

 

• Introduction of new woodlands 

• Potential for visual impact of development on hills outside the SLA 

• Development of wind farms and wind turbines, and associated works 

13.7.12 Management and recommendations 

• Continue to promote sustainable land management to balance the needs of 

biodiversity, recreation and tourism 

• Encourage the sustainable management of hedges, and where possible seek the 

reinstatement of hedges and hedgerow trees 

• Promote the restructuring of forests, and the sue of forest design plans for new 

areas of afforestation 

• Consider the effects of development on hilltops, such as masts or windfarms, 

which may be visible within the valleys 

13.8 Landscape and Development SPG 

13.8.1 The landscape information provided in support of applications should include where 

appropriate; 

• Survey information on a separate drawing showing details of existing and 

proposed boundary treatments, including materials, height and location.  

• Existing and proposed levels, including information on any surplus materials to be 

taken off site, or fill material to be imported. 

• Existing trees including their species and condition and other soft landscape 

features to be removed and those to be retained, and methods of protection during 

construction.  

• Details of all existing and proposed hard landscape materials, and their location.  

• Species, numbers (or planting density), distribution and sizes of proposed new 

planting and mixes for grass and wildflower seeding.  

• The location of any existing or proposed underground or overhead services which 

could affect existing or proposed planting including power, communications, water, 

sewerage and lighting proposals.  

• Any areas which are required for adoption by the Council. Developers should refer 

to other planning guidelines for standards of public open space provision in new 

housing schemes. 

13.8.2 Design Statements 

13.8.3 A Design Statement for more complex sites, should include a site analysis and should set 

out the design principles, justify the design solution, and show how it responds to the 

wider context as well as the characteristics of the site. The format and level of detail 

required will depend on the scale and likely impact of the development, but written 

material would not normally exceed two sides of A4. Plans and diagrams can be included 

where helpful. Preparation of a Design Statement may help to reduce delays in 

processing applications. 

 

Page 179



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

44 

 

13.8.4 Sustainable Landscapes 

13.8.5 The Council welcomes landscape design which incorporates principles of sustainability 

such as an ecological concept of design, use of local materials, low energy consumption 

for construction and maintenance, composting, and good pedestrian links/ cycle facilities 

to reduce car use. Sustainable urban drainage systems (SUDS) should be incorporated 

as part of any large built development to provide surface water treatment and to attenuate 

rapid surface water run-off. They should be considered at the same stage and integrated 

into the overall landscape proposal for the site. The extent of hard surface should be 

minimised and porous concrete block paving is preferred where hard surfaces are 

required. SUDS ponds and wetlands must be incorporated where required and should be 

designed to complement the surrounding landscape context. 

13.9 Trees and Development SPG 

13.9.1 Before submitting planning applications for land in close proximity to trees, or on which 

trees are growing, a developer should commission detailed tree and land surveys, the 

requirements of which are outlined below; 

• In the case of a full planning application, all sites with trees on or near them should 

first be evaluated prior to trees being identified for removal or final layouts decided. 

• Where woodland is within a site, the woodland should be accurately plotted with all 

boundary trees shown indicating tree position and crown spread. If development is 

proposed within the woodland area, it will be necessary to plot all the trees.  

• If woodlands are outside the site boundary, then the woodland edge (including the 

four principal points of crown spread) should be shown. Hedgerows should also be 

accurately plotted. Certain shrubs may be of sufficient interest as to merit plotting 

where they provide valuable shelter, interest, colour or wildlife habitat.  

• An accurate land and tree survey with any topographical survey to allow the 

production of an Arboricultural Implication Assessment, (AIA) should be produced. 

This document must be produced in conjunction with the development proposals 

and after consultation (including a possible site visit) with the local planning 

authority. 

13.10 Placemaking and Design SPG 

13.10.1 Good design is at the heart of sustainable communities. They are places that 

acknowledge; 

• the social function of the built environment 

• the cultural context of our communities 

• the need to be long-lasting and adaptable in our ever changing environment 

• the importance of local distinctiveness to creating places that will be valued and 

cared for 

• the most efficient way to use our resources 

13.10.2 The Council requires that development proposals demonstrate how the following criteria 

have been addressed; 

• Impact of the development on the wider area context in terms of; 

Page 180



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

45 

 

o Landscape character 

o Views 

o Settlement pattern 

o Infrastructure 

• Impact of the development on the local area context in terms of; 

o Built character 

o Siting of development 

o Sustainable development 

o Density and use 

o Open space 

o Layout and legibility 

• Building design; 

o Energy efficient design 

o Relating to the site 

o Relating to the townscape 

o Scale, massing and form 

o Proportion 

o Materials and colour 

o Details  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 181



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

46 

 

14. Case for the development  
14.1 Introduction 

14.1.1 The application for planning permission is accompanied by the supporting information 

believed to be required by the local planning authority in order to consider and consent to 

the proposed development. 

14.1.2 The design of the scheme and scope of the submitted proposals has been conceived with 

the ambition of satisfying all of the relevant national and local planning policies.  

14.1.3 This section demonstrates how the proposal, the subject of this application, complies with 

the statutory development plan for Scottish Borders Council and as such should be 

supported. 

14.2 Compliance with national planning policies  

14.2.1 Scottish Planning Policy (SPP) is Scottish Government policy on how nationally important 

land use planning matters should be addressed across the country. As a statement of 

Ministers’ priorities, it is expected to carry significant weight in the preparation of 

development plans and to be a material consideration in planning decisions. 

14.2.2 The National Planning Framework (NPF) is a long-term strategy for Scotland. It is the 

spatial expression of the Government Economic Strategy, and of the Government’s plans 

for development and investment in infrastructure.  

14.2.3 Together, NPF and SPP, applied at the national, strategic and local levels, will help the 

planning system to deliver the Government’s vision and outcomes for Scotland, and will 

contribute to the Scottish Government’s central purpose. 

14.2.4 The Scottish Government’s central purpose is outlined in paragraph 1.1. of the NPF: “to 

create a more successful country, with opportunities for all of Scotland to flourish, through 

increasing sustainable economic growth. To achieve this, the Government Economic 

Strategy aims to share the benefits of growth by encouraging economic activity and 

investment across all of Scotland’s communities, whilst protecting our natural and cultural 

assets.” 

14.2.5 The proposed development would deliver an innovative, high-quality dwelling within a 

location where the principle of new housing development has been established by virtue 

of planning permission ref: 15/01113/PPP.   

14.2.6 The proposed development would encourage economic activity (i.e. the creation of 

employment opportunities during the construction phase and would enable the applicant 

to manage his land more effectively). The scheme has been designed to conserve and 

enhance natural and cultural assets, including the Teviot Valleys Special Landscape Area.  

14.2.7 The NPF sets out a vision for Scotland which is: 

• a successful sustainable place.  

• a low carbon place. 

• a natural, resilient place. 

• a connected place.  

14.2.8 The proposed development would positively contribute to the delivery of this vision. 

Page 182



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

47 

 

14.2.9 A successful, sustainable place. The proposed development is of a high-quality, 

innovative design with renewable energy fully integrated into the design. The use of 

renewable technologies for energy generation and consumption will ensure the proposed 

dwelling contributes to the realisation of a low carbon economy, and the innovative 

integration of technologies in the design of the dwelling can help to raise standards of 

architecture more widely, in terms of the relationship between buildings and renewables 

and contribute to the delivery of a successful, sustainable place.  

14.2.10 A low carbon place. The proposed development takes a fully integrated approach to the 

utilisation of renewable technologies in the design of the dwelling. This could perhaps 

raise the standard of architecture more widely in terms of how domestic buildings can be 

designed to be more energy efficient and contribute to the delivery of a low carbon place.  

14.2.11 A natural, resilient place. The proposed development is based on a thorough appraisal 

of the landscape character of the site and surroundings, to ensure that the special 

qualities and features of the Teviot Valleys Special Landscape Area are conserved and, 

wherever possible, enhanced by the proposed development. The integration of 

renewables in the design will ensure the proposed development is resilient to climate 

change. The proposed development would therefore contribute to the delivery of a 

natural, resilient place.  

14.2.12 A successful, sustainable place 

14.2.13 Chapter 2 of the NPF sets out the Government’s policies to “create high quality, diverse 

and sustainable places that promote wellbeing and attract investment.” 

14.2.14 Paragraph 2.7 states that development should facilitate adaptation to climate change, 

reduce resource consumption and lower greenhouse gas emissions.  

14.2.15 The proposed development has been designed to fully utilise renewable technologies in 

the heat and power generation requirements of the new dwelling. It is considered that the 

proposed development can drive up the standards for new development in the Scottish 

Borders, particularly in rural areas in terms of fully integrating renewable technologies in 

the design of new housing.  

14.2.16 The site of the proposed dwelling and associated outbuildings has been established as 

suitable for new housing development, as confirmed by planning permission ref: 

15/01113/PPP.  

14.2.17 The applicant is a local business owner, and the new dwelling would enable him to live 

and further invest in the local area. 

14.2.18 Based upon the established principle of a new dwelling on the site, and that the proposed 

scheme would fully integrate renewables in the design of the dwelling, it is considered that 

the proposed development would positively contribute to the delivery of a successful, 

sustainable place.  

14.2.19 A vibrant rural area 

14.2.20 It is acknowledged that the site is within a rural area, but forms part of a building group as 

confirmed by the local planning authority in their assessment of application ref: 

15/01113/PPP. The design of the scheme has been based on a thorough understanding 

and appraisal of the unique characteristics and special qualities of the site, to sensitively 

respond to the site’s location within the Teviot Valleys Special Landscape Area.  

Page 183



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

48 

 

14.2.21 The provision of a high-quality, sustainable dwellinghouse on the site would enable the 

applicant to manage his agricultural estate more effectively, which would have social, 

environmental and economic benefits in terms of enabling the applicant to contribute to 

and play an active part in the local community, reducing the need to travel to the site from 

further afield, and better management of the agricultural estate could create local 

employment opportunities.  

14.2.22 A low carbon place 

14.2.23 It is the applicant’s aspiration for the scheme to fully utilise renewable resources, with 

photovoltaics to be installed on the existing agricultural buildings to the west of the site 

supplying electricity to the dwellinghouse and powering a ground source heat pump. The 

ground source heat pump will be used to generate the heat requirements of the house. 

This innovative use of renewables will ensure the scheme helps to deliver the 

Government’s ambition to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. 

14.3 Scottish Planning Policy 

14.3.1 The Scottish Planning Policy (SPP) sets out national planning policies which reflect 

Scottish Ministers’ priorities for operation of the planning system and for the development 

and use of land. The SPP sits alongside the National Planning Framework. 

14.3.2 Promoting Rural Development 

14.3.3 The proposed development would follow a pattern of development that is appropriate to 

the character of this rural area, as confirmed by the approval of application ref: 

15/01113/PPP.  

14.3.4 The applicant is the owner of a vast agricultural estate and a local business owner. The 

proposed development will enable the applicant to live on-site, thereby encouraging 

further investment in the local area and helping to deliver prosperous and sustainable 

communities through the creation of local employment opportunities and providing a 

residence on-site to enable the applicant to better manage his estate. 

14.3.5 Enabling Delivery of New Homes 

14.3.6 The delivery of a dwellinghouse on this site where residential development has previously 

been approved, and therefore the principle of residential development has been 

established, would assist in the delivery of new homes in this rural location. The SPP 

encourages innovative approaches to rural housing; the high-quality, sustainable design 

of the proposed dwellinghouse would be an “innovative approach” to rural housing 

development, and should therefore be supported. 

14.4 Strategic Development Plan 

14.4.1 The strategic development plan (SDP) sets out the long-term vision for development of 

the south east of Scotland area. The plan is produced by SESplan and covers the 

Scottish Borders, East Lothian, the City of Edinburgh, Midlothian, West Lothian and 

southern Fife. 

14.4.2 Placemaking 

14.4.3 The design of the scheme takes due cognisance of the distinctiveness of the site and its 

surroundings, ensuring the scheme in terms of scale, massing, form, materials and height 

appears as an appropriate intervention into the landscape. The proposed development 

Page 184



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

49 

 

would make a positive contribution to the local area, and the innovative design would help 

to serve as an exemplar to drive up the standards of new build housing in rural areas. 

14.4.4 Rural Economy 

14.4.5 The application proposes the creation of a dwellinghosue for the applicant (and owner of 

the agricultural estate) to live on the land in order to manage his estate more effectively 

and proactively. This would thereby support the growth and expansion of the applicant’s 

business, helping to encourage the growth of the rural economy. 

14.5 Scottish Borders Local Development Plan 

14.5.1 The Development Plan for the Scottish Borders Council will consist of the aforementioned 

SESplan Strategic Development Plan (SDP) and the Local Development Plan (LDP). The 

Scottish Borders LDP was adopted on 12th of May 2016 and sets out the Council’s 

policies on development and land use within the Scottish Borders. 

14.5.2 PMD1 Sustainability 

14.5.3 The proposed development would encourage the long-term sustainable use and 

management of the site, and the wider estate. The proposed development would enhance 

the landscape of the site, thereby creating improved habitats for wildlife and nesting 

opportunities for birds. The scheme would make innovative use of renewable 

technologies, and thereby serve as an exemplar for renewable energy generation and 

consumption systems in the domestic designs. 

14.5.4 HD2 Housing in the Countryside 

14.5.5 The proposed development is located on a site which has previously been accepted by 

the local planning authority as appropriate for residential development, as per the 

previous approval (ref: 15/01113/PPP). It has been established by the previous approval 

that the local planning authority is satisfied that the site is well related to an existing group 

of houses or buildings currently in residential use or capable of conversion to residential 

use.  

14.5.6 The proposed dwellinghouse has been designed to be sensitive to the site and 

surroundings in terms of its scale, siting, design, access and materials, and is therefore 

sympathetic to the character of the building group.  

14.5.7 The scheme has been designed having due regard to this policy, and to ensure 

compliance with the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance, in terms of 

safeguarding the special qualities of the Teviot Valleys Special Landscape Area and 

ensuring that the scheme will make a positive contribution to the local area.  

14.5.8 It is therefore considered that the scheme accords with this policy and should therefore be 

supported. 

14.5.9 HD3 Protection of Residential Amenity 

14.5.10 The scheme has been designed to ensure that there is no detrimental impact on the 

occupiers of neighbouring properties in terms of loss of light or privacy.  

14.5.11 The scheme has been designed to safeguard the amenity of neighbouring occupiers and 

should therefore be supported. 

 

 

Page 185



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

50 

 

14.5.12 EP3 Local Biodiversity 

14.5.13 The submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal details the proposed impact of the 

scheme on biodiversity, which is considered to not be significant.  

14.5.14 The recommendations of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal will be implemented to 

ensure the development does not adversely affect local biodiversity. The scheme should 

therefore be supported. 

14.5.15 EP5 Special Landscape Area 

14.5.16 The site is located within the Teviot Valleys Special Landscape Area. A through appraisal 

of the landscape has been undertaken and a landscape masterplan is submitted to 

demonstrate the sensitive improvements will be implemented to enhance the contribution 

of the site to the Special Landscape Area.  

14.5.17 The scheme would therefore make a positive contribution to the Special Landscape Area 

and should therefore be supported. 

14.5.18 EP8 Archaeology 

14.5.19 The comments from the Council’s Archaeology Officer regarding the previous approval at 

the site (application ref: 15/01113/PPP) confirmed that there are potential archaeological 

implications for development at the site. There is a medieval village or town which may, 

potentially, have been located on the site of Town O’ Rule Farm. There is also a possible 

prehistoric settlement in the vicinity of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse, though the comments 

from the Archaeology Officer states that nothing of this settlement now remains.  

14.5.20 As with the previous application, and given the two potential archaeological sites, it is 

recommended that a condition is imposed on an approval for an archaeological watching 

brief to take place following all demolitions on site and during excavations for the new 

build. This will ensure the identification and mitigate the loss of archaeological deposits 

during development. 

14.5.21 This would ensure that the proposed development would not adversely affect 

archaeological deposits and should therefore be supported.  

14.5.22 EP13 Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows 

14.5.23 The submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment details the proposed impact of the 

development on trees, which is considered to be negligible.  

14.5.24 The scheme would necessitate the removal of 3 Category C trees, sensitive planting is 

proposed as part of the landscaping scheme and therefore there would be a net benefit in 

terms of the quality of trees at the site and their contribution to the setting of the Special 

Landscape Area.  

14.5.25 The proposed development would therefore not adversely affect the woodland resource 

and should therefore be supported. 

 

 

 

 

Page 186



Land North West of Town O’ Rule Farmhouse 

Planning Statement 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

51 

 

15. Conclusions 
15.1 Introduction 

15.1.1 This section brings together the information presented within this planning statement and 

provides a reasoned conclusion for the approval of this application.  

15.2 Accordance with National and Local Planning Policies 

15.2.1 This planning statement has demonstrated that the proposed development of the site, as 

set out in this planning statement and detailed within the other drawings and documents 

submitted in support of this planning application, would accord with the relevant national 

and local planning policies.  

15.2.2 The scheme will deliver economic, social and environmental benefits and will encourage 

the delivery of a high-quality dwellinghouse, to enable the applicant to better manage his 

agricultural estate.  

15.2.3 The scheme represents a sustainable development. Within national planning policy there 

is a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  

15.2.4 It is requested that the scheme which is the subject of this planning application therefore 

be approved as submitted. 

15.3 Planning permission  

15.3.1 Section 25(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 requires local 

planning authorities to determine applications for planning permission in accordance with 

the statutory development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

15.3.2 The applicants have provided evidence of the material considerations that pertain to the 

application. This has included demonstrating how the proposed development will accord 

with the relevant policies and legislation, and as such the local planning authority is 

requested to grant consent for the scheme as submitted. 

15.3.3 This statement makes reference to the willingness of the applicants to engage in a 

dialogue to agree a conditional permission. 

15.3.4 The application is for full planning permission, with full details being submitted. On this 

basis the applicant requests the council to grant permission for the proposed development 

with the minimum of pre-commencement conditions. The applicant is content for 

compliance and operational conditions to be imposed where these reflect the proposals.  

15.4 Additional information  

15.4.1 In the event that additional information, clarification or further details concerning the 

proposed development is required during the determination period the applicant is 

prepared to provide this on request.  

 

 

 
Document ends 

Page 187



This page is intentionally left blank



Please ask for:


Stuart Herkes
01835 825039

Our Ref: 18/01194/FUL
Your Ref:
E-Mail: sherkes@scotborders.gov.uk

Mr Jamie Reddihough
per Ethical Partnership
Per Allen Creedy
28 South Gosforth
South Gosforth
Newcastle Upon Tyne

Date: 14th November 2019

Dear Sir/Madam

PLANNING APPLICATION AT Land North West Of Town O Rule Farmhouse Bonchester 
Bridge  Hawick  Scottish Borders  

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT: Erection of dwellinghouse, garages and associated access

APPLICANT: Mr Jamie Reddihough

Please find attached the formal notice of refusal for the above application.

Drawings can be found on the Planning pages of the Council website at 
https://eplanning.scotborders.gov.uk/online-applications/.  

Your right of appeal is set out within the decision notice.

Yours faithfully

John Hayward

Planning & Development Standards Manager

Page 189

https://eplanning.scotborders.gov.uk/online-applications/


                                                                                                                                                                              

                  Regulatory Services

Visit http://eplanning.scotborders.gov.uk/online-applications/

        

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (SCOTLAND) ACT 1997 (as amended)

Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2013

Application for Planning Permission Reference : 18/01194/FUL

To : Mr Jamie Reddihough per Ethical Partnership Per Allen Creedy 28 South Gosforth South 
Gosforth Newcastle Upon Tyne United Kingdom NE3 1YL

With reference to your application validated on 5th September 2018 for planning permission under the Town 
and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (as amended) for the following development :-

Proposal : Erection of dwellinghouse, garages and associated access

at : Land North West Of Town O Rule Farmhouse Bonchester Bridge Hawick Scottish Borders  

The Scottish Borders Council hereby refuse planning permission for the reason(s) stated on the attached 
schedule.

Dated 13th November 2019
Regulatory Services
Council Headquarters
Newtown St Boswells
MELROSE
TD6 0SA

                
John Hayward
Planning & Development Standards Manager

Page 190

http://eplanning.scotborders.gov.uk/online-applications/


                                                                                                                                                                              

                  Regulatory Services

Visit http://eplanning.scotborders.gov.uk/online-applications/

        

APPLICATION REFERENCE :  18/01194/FUL

Schedule of Plans and Drawings Refused:

Plan Ref Plan Type Plan Status

AL(0)306 Proposed Elevations Refused
AL(0)307 Proposed Elevations Refused
AL(0)308 Proposed Sections Refused
A100-01 Location Plan Refused
AL(0)101 C Existing Site Plan Refused
AL(0)100 C Existing Site Plan Refused
AL(0)102 A Existing Elevations Refused
AL(0)304 Proposed Plans Refused
AL(0)301 Proposed Site Plan Refused
AL(0)302 Proposed Site Plan Refused
AL(0)303 Proposed Plans Refused
AL(0)305 Proposed Roof Plan Refused

 REASON FOR REFUSAL

 1 It is contrary to Adopted Local Development Plan Policies HD2 and PMD2, and to the guidance of 
the Supplementary Planning Guidance on New Housing in the Borders Countryside (2008) and 
Placemaking and Design (2010), in that the development would not in its layout, scale and design, 
respect the amenity and character of the site and surrounding area, principally in that:
(a) it would be unnecessarily and unacceptably over-dominant both relative to the site (including the 
existing building), its surroundings, and also within the context of the wider landscape; and
(b) it would be out-of-scale with the site, in that it would project outwith what is reasonably 
understood to be the most legible definition and setting of the farmyard site and building group, 
principally in that it would be accommodated over an existing farm track and would be accompanied 
by a new farm access in a location further to the southwest, without these resultant visual impacts 
being justified operationally, or acceptably mitigated within views from the public realm.

 2 It is contrary to Adopted Local Development Plan Policy EP1 in that it has not been demonstrated to 
the Planning Authority's satisfaction that the proposal would not have a likely significant effect on a 
European Protected Species or its habitat.

FOR THE INFORMATION OF THE APPLICANT
 
If the applicant is aggrieved by the decision of the Planning Authority to refuse planning permission for or 
approval required by a condition in respect of the proposed development, or to grant permission or approval 
subject to conditions, the applicant may require the planning authority to review the case under Section 43A 
of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (as amended) within three months from the date of 
this notice. 

The notice of review must be submitted on the standard form and addressed to the Clerk of The Local 
Review Body, Democratic Services, Scottish Borders Council, Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells. 
TD6 0SA or sent by email to localreview@scotborders.gov.uk. The standard form and guidance notes can 
be found online at Appeal a Planning Decision. Appeals to the Local Review Body can also be made via the 
Scottish Government Planning and Environmental Appeals Division by clicking on the following link PEAD

Page 191

http://eplanning.scotborders.gov.uk/online-applications/
mailto:localreview@scotborders.gov.uk
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/info/20050/planning_applications/533/appeal_a_planning_decision
https://www.dpea.scotland.gov.uk/


                                                                                                                                                                              

                  Regulatory Services

Visit http://eplanning.scotborders.gov.uk/online-applications/

        

If permission to develop land is refused or granted subject to conditions, whether by the Planning Authority 
or by the Scottish Ministers, and the owner of the land claims that the land has become incapable of 
reasonably beneficial use in its existing state and cannot be rendered capable of reasonably beneficial use 
by the carrying out of any development which has been or would be permitted, the owner may serve on the 
Planning Authority a purchase notice requiring the purchase of his interest in the land in accordance with the 
provisions of Part 5 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (as amended).

 

Page 192

http://eplanning.scotborders.gov.uk/online-applications/


SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL 
 

APPLICATION TO BE DETERMINED UNDER POWERS DELEGATED TO  
CHIEF PLANNING OFFICER 

 
PART III REPORT (INCORPORATING REPORT OF HANDLING) 

 
REF :     18/01194/FUL 
 
APPLICANT :    Mr Jamie Reddihough 

 
AGENT :   Ethical Partnership 
 
DEVELOPMENT :  Erection of dwellinghouse, garages and associated access 
 
LOCATION: Land North West Of Town O Rule Farmhouse Bonchester Bridge  

Hawick 
 
Scottish Borders 
 
 

 
TYPE :    FUL Application 
 
REASON FOR DELAY:   
______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
DRAWING NUMBERS: 
 
Plan Ref      Plan Type  Plan Status 

        
AL(0)306  Proposed Elevations Refused 
AL(0)307  Proposed Elevations Refused 
AL(0)308  Proposed Sections Refused 
A100-01  Location Plan Refused 
AL(0)101 C  Existing Site Plan Refused 
AL(0)100 C  Existing Site Plan Refused 
AL(0)102 A  Existing Elevations Refused 
AL(0)304  Proposed Plans Refused 
AL(0)301  Proposed Site Plan Refused 
AL(0)302  Proposed Site Plan Refused 
AL(0)303  Proposed Plans Refused 
AL(0)305  Proposed Roof Plan Refused 
 
NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIONS: 0  
SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS: 
 
No representations. 
 
All consultees summarised below, were responding to the first, and now superseded version of the 
proposal, and responded as follows: 
 
Roads Planning Section: no objections in principle to this development. The proposed access for the 
residential plot would need to be surfaced to an appropriate specification. It is noted that there are 
plans to provide a new access to the southwest of the development site for agricultural traffic. It should 
be noted that this would not be a requirement of the Roads Planning Service. However, Roads would 
have no objections to the existing junction area being surfaced to an extent which covers both the 
residential access and the agricultural access. Should the Applicant insist on a new access for 
agricultural traffic, Roads would not have any preference over either Option 1 or 2, as shown on the 
associated plans. Conditions are proposed to require the submission and agreement of the access 

Page 193



details to the house and any alternative agricultural track. An appropriate specification is identified; and 
advice recommended with respect to contractors working in the public road boundary. 
 
Environmental Health Section: seeks a condition to require and regulate a land contamination 
assessment. 
 
Archaeology Section: considers that there is a low to moderate potential for encountering buried 
archaeological features or deposits, and in the event of approval, requests a condition to require and 
regulate a scheme of archaeological works. 
 
Ecology Section: seeks further information, prior to the determination of the planning application 
specifically a survey for bats by a suitably qualified person, addressing specific and stated points.  
However, in addition to this, recommended conditions are also identified, specifically to protect 
breeding birds; require a Construction Method Statement (CMS) to protect the water environment; and 
require a Habitat Enhancement and Management Plan (HEMP) setting out measures to enhance local 
biodiversity and the ecological network through planting native species.  The Ecology Section has also 
provided a subsequent response directly to an ecologist confirming that the latter's outlined scope of 
works would likely be sufficient to guide the required bat survey work. 
 
Landscape Section: considers the principle of a dwellinghouse in this location has been established. 
Landscape's concern is with the impact on the existing tree and hedge resource on or immediately 
adjacent to the site. An Arboricultural Impact Assessment has been submitted but fails to provide the 
associated Tree Survey information which is detailed in Section 4.4 of BS5837:2012.  There is no 
definitive plan showing the trees on site (which it is acknowledged, are relatively few in number), with 
numbering to identify each tree surveyed. Landscape advises that the purpose of an Arboricultural 
Impact Assessment (AIA) is to assess the impact of the development on the trees surveyed: 'that 
evaluates the direct and indirect effects of the proposed design and where necessary recommends 
mitigation.' (Section 5.4 of BS5837) Tree constraints (5.2 od BS5837) should be plotted on proposed 
site plan and this may demonstrate while a particular tree(s) require removal. A Tree Protection Plan 
(Section5.5 of BS) should be required, when the design has been approved to indicate the locations of 
protective fencing and extent of any ground protection required to protect any retained trees on site. 
This would likely be conditioned as part of and detailed consent. The Landscape Section would want 
the Tree Survey information submitted to support a revised AIA, which clearly demonstrates the impact 
of the development on every tree on or adjacent to the site. However, it is advised that any consent of 
the proposed development should be conditional on a detailed Landscape scheme being submitted.  
This should pay particular attention to the external parts of the site, such as tree and hedge planting to 
the boundaries and planting to external areas that would mitigate the visual impact and help to achieve 
a landscape fit in this very rural landscape. Conditions to require and regulate these matters are 
identified. 
 
Education and Lifelong Learning: advises that a contribution is required towards Denholm Primary 
School. 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS AND POLICIES: 
 
STATUTORY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
Adopted Scottish Borders Local Development Plan (2016) 
 
PMD1: Sustainability 
PMD2: Quality Standards  
HD2: Housing in the Countryside 
HD3: Protection of Residential Amenity 
EP1: International Nature Conservation Sites and Protected Species 
EP2: National Nature Conservation Sites and Protected Species 
EP3: Local Biodiversity 
EP5: Special Landscape Areas 
EP8: Archaeology 
EP13: Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows 
EP15: Development Affecting the Water Environment 

Page 194



IS2: Developer Contributions 
IS7: Parking Provision and Standards 
IS9: Waste Water Treatment and Sustainable Urban Drainage 
IS13: Contaminated Land 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE 
 
Placemaking and Design (2010)  
New Housing in the Borders Countryside (2008) 
Development Contributions (2016) 
Waste Management (2015) 
  
Recommendation by  - Stuart Herkes  (Planning Officer) on 12th November 2019 
 
This detailed planning application proposes a new dwellinghouse, associated outbuildings and a new access 
road, on land within and around the farmyard at Town O' Rule Farmhouse at Town O' Rule, which lies 1km 
to the north of Bonchester Bridge. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
This application was originally made in 2018.  At that time, and since the submission pre-dated the expiry of 
an earlier planning permission in principle for a new house on part of the site, the Applicant was advised that 
the Planning Department anticipated remaining supportive of the principle of a new house being developed 
on the site; at least the relevant part of the site, which had previously been the subject of the aforementioned 
planning consent. However, the Planning Department also advised at that time, that it was not supportive of 
the specific proposal. This was based upon concerns with respect the specific siting, scale and design and 
layout of the proposed dwellinghouse itself, and also with respect to the proposed new farm access track.  
Furthermore, the Applicant was also advised that there was a need for a bat survey to be carried out and 
reported to the Planning Authority prior to the application's determination, as per the advice of the Ecology 
Section.  Given all of these circumstances, the Applicant was strongly advised to withdraw the application, 
and make a new (successor) application at a later point in time, within which - or at least within a revised 
proposal - it might then have the opportunity to respond directly to the objections and concerns of the 
Planning Department, as well as to prepare and provide a report of the requisite bat survey (which it was 
apparent could only be conducted in the spring of 2019 at the very earliest). 
 
The Applicant however, was - and has remained - concerned that the existing application should not be 
withdrawn, but should instead be maintained while he has taken the opportunity to consider his response, 
and provide a revised proposal with updated information, to address the concerns and deficits identified by 
the Planning Department. To this end, and until recently, the original application - 18/01194/FUL - has been 
maintained under a Planning Processing Agreement (PPA), to give an opportunity for this information to be 
provided. Both the Applicant and Planning Department have been content to address matters on this basis. 
 
At earlier points this year (2019), the Applicant was initially concerned to explore the potential to substitute 
the original scheme for one or other of a number of sketched up alternative options and approaches to the 
design and accommodation of the proposed dwellinghouse. These were presented together (rather than 
successively within any evolving dialogue with the Planning Department). Unfortunately none of these were 
considered by the Planning Department to be capable of addressing sufficiently, the substance of the 
Planning Department's original concerns. Accordingly, the Planning Department has not been in a position 
to encourage the working up and substitution of any of these potential alternative schemes. The Applicant 
was however, given advice as to what aspects of the proposed scheme required to be addressed in order 
for it to be supportive. More recently, the Applicant has provided a new and coherent, fully detailed 
alternative proposal, which he has explicitly asked should now be substituted directly for the original 
scheme, and made the subject of Planning Application 18/01194/FUL. It is this new scheme which is the 
subject of this current Report of Handling.   
 
This revised scheme is accompanied by an updated supporting statement.  This documents the evolution of 
the design, including the Applicant and agents' efforts to accommodate both the Applicant's needs, while 
considering the concerns raised by the Planning Department, both in its response to the original scheme, 
and to the various alternatives depicted by the sketched options presented earlier this year.  

Page 195



While I would note some concerns about how the Planning Department's position is represented, the 
supporting statement ultimately acknowledges that the Planning Department has maintained its objections 
with respect to the schemes it reviewed. The supporting statement notes some concern to move towards the 
Planning Department's position, but  in others, it acknowledges that this has either not occurred, or has 
occurred only on an incremental or more limited basis than the Planning Department had been seeking.   
 
In the most recent advice given to the Applicant (further to the various options having been presented), the 
Applicant was in essence being asked to make significant changes to the design in order to progress the 
proposal positively. The Applicant does acknowledge this, but seeks to justify the proposal in its current 
form, based on what he considers the scheme is required to achieve. 
 
Since the surrounding land is within the Applicant's own control, and given that the proposal maintains the 
original site boundary, I am content that there is no requirement or necessity for the revised proposal to be 
referred back to public consultation, or to any or all of the various consultees. Given that the salient details 
and impacts of the proposal are, or would be, either the same as, or very similar to, those that were 
assessed in relation to the original proposal, I am content that the further advice of consultees would not be 
necessarily or usefully sought or provided in response to the revised, and now current, scheme.  As such, I 
consider that the Planning Department has sufficient information to consider and determine the planning 
application with the recently provided substitute scheme in place of that which was originally provided in 
September 2018. 
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
The boundaries of the application site remain unchanged from the description of the original scheme.  While 
the revised proposal does still broadly inhabit the same footprint as before, one critical difference is a 
revision to the footprint of the dwellinghouse, which now no longer extends so far to the northeast.  
However, the site boundary has not been revised or reduced to reflect this particular revision, and the 
original site boundary is fully maintained. 
 
The land within the application site includes a number of different components, although the primary and 
central element, is part of the traditional and established farmyard at Town O' Rule. This is occupied by 
traditional and non-traditional farm sheds and associated structures. 
 
While this land lies upslope from the remainder of the traditional farmyard and farmhouse at Town O' Rule 
(which all lie downslope to the southeast), the land then falls away quite markedly both to the immediate 
northwest and northeast, such that this area of the traditional farmyard is notably more elevated than the 
land in three different directions (to the southeast; northeast; and northwest).  The application site extends 
into and over, these falls in levels; that is, onto, and essentially over, land that currently lies out with the 
existing farmyard area, downslope within neighbouring fields. The Applicant has noted a concern to 
minimise this drift within the footprint of the house at least, and the footprint of the revised dwellinghouse 
does not largely agree with the existing traditional farmyard area. However, there is one critical exception to 
this, which is that within the revised proposal, the footprint of the proposed dwellinghouse would now also 
extend onto and over, a section of the existing farm track to the immediate southwest of the existing 
farmyard. 
 
Beyond the site of the proposed dwellinghouse, the application site also includes the route of a completely 
new farm road access, which would run through nearby fields to the southwest of the farmyard. At one point, 
the Applicant had considered omitting this new access, but this element is retained within the current version 
of the proposal. This is at least, inherently logical in that there is now the aforementioned concern to 
accommodate a building on land that is itself, within a section of the existing access track. 
 
The land within the existing farmyard includes a traditional stone-built farm building along the southeastern 
boundary. It is proposed that this would be retained within the proposed development. All other structures 
within the site are modern structures, which are shown as being removed from the site; primarily to make 
way for the new house and/or the forecourt area around which it would be structured. At present it is this 
stone-built farm building which is the most salient building on the site, and it dominates views from the public 
road, particularly from the southwest. 
 
 
 

Page 196



PLANNING HISTORY 
 
While the land that would be required to accommodate the new farm access road, does not have any known 
planning history at all, the land that is proposed to accommodate the siting of the new house has previously 
been the subject of an approved Planning Permission in Principle.  This specifically related to the site of the 
traditional farmyard, which was the subject of a Planning Permission in Principle (15/01113/PPP) for the 
erection of a new dwellinghouse.  As noted above, an acceptance of the principle of a new house being 
accommodated within the traditional farmyard, takes account of this recent planning history. 
 
Planning Consent 15/01113/PPP was consented on 06 November 2015, subject to sixteen planning 
conditions, including conditions to require and/or regulate the following matters: (i) to require the 
investigation and remediation of historic land contamination; (ii) to require and regulate an archaeological 
Watching Brief; (iii) to protect breeding birds; (iv) to ensure agricultural activities should cease ahead of 
development; (v) to require a slated roof; (vi) to regulate the operation of a private water supply; (vii) to 
regulate the details of surface and foul water drainage; (viii) to require and regulate the details of the 
landscaping and boundary treatments of the site (including any gates); (ix) to regulate the construction of the 
site access; (x) to require on-site parking and turning provision; and (xi) to require and regulate provision of 
a passing space on the D63/3 public road.  No development contributions were required at that time, and 
therefore consent was not subject to any legal agreement to secure any contributions.  Although current at 
the time that the current planning application was received in September 2018, the aforementioned Planning 
Permission in Principle, has itself now expired unimplemented (at 06 November 2015), and without any 
ulterior AMC Consent first having been issued. 
 
The aforementioned PPP consent itself largely superseded an earlier proposal that was the subject of a 
previous PPP application (12/01210/PPP) which proposed two new houses on essentially the same site as 
that which was ultimately the subject of Planning Consent 15/01113/PPP.  However, this earlier PPP 
application was ultimately withdrawn (shortly before 15/01113/PPP was approved, in fact).  The part of the 
current application site that contains the traditional farm building was also the subject of a previous, but 
ultimately withdrawn, planning application (12/01209/FUL) to change the use of this aforementioned building 
to residential use.  As the numerical sequence suggests, this was a related proposal to the above noted 
proposed two new-build properties, and both were ultimately withdrawn at the same time, and ahead of the 
issue of Planning Consent 15/01113/PPP.  Both Planning Application 12/01210/PPP and 12/01209/FUL had 
been supported by the Planning Authority, subject to the conclusion of a legal agreement to secure the 
requisite development contributions.  However, since the legal agreement was ultimately not concluded, 
neither of these consents were issued, and were ultimately withdrawn in September 2015 ahead of the issue 
of Planning Consent 15/01113/PPP. 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
The proposal is a detailed design for a new dwellinghouse that would be accommodated substantially within 
the existing farmyard at Town O' Rule Farm. This essentially takes in the application sites of the two 
previously withdrawn applications for residential development (two new-build and one conversion) on the 
site (12/01210/PPP and 12/01209/FUL, respectively) along with a much larger area, supplemented as it is, 
by additional areas to the northeast, northwest and southwest. However, it is important to stress that further 
to the Applicant's revised design, the footprint of the current proposal does now substantially adhere both to 
the traditional farmyard area itself and to the land that was the subject of the previous applications and PPP 
consent. The only exception, as noted, is that it would extend onto and over the existing farm access to the 
southwest. 
 
In its layout, the proposed dwellinghouse would seek to replicate a traditional farm courtyard with buildings 
fronting onto an open central courtyard area. However, rather than a more traditional 'C-shaped' 
configuration, the dominant sense would certainly be more of an 'L-shaped' plan due to a pronounced 
exaggeration of the structures along the northwest side of the forecourt. There would in fact be three sets of 
adjoining new-build ancillary elements lining the northwest side of the 'forecourt', while the main 
dwellinghouse would dominate the northeast side in the 'central' farmhouse location. The existing traditional 
stone-built farm building would be retained to the southeast within this forecourt configuration.  However, in 
its more limited projection, it would not counteract the sense of this being a predominantly 'L-shaped' 
footprint. The latter would register strongly within views into and of the site, from the public road, from the 
southwest and southeast. 
 

Page 197



The proposed main dwellinghouse would be over 11m in height; that is, from its foundation (185.000) to its 
roof ridge (196.105). It has been conceived as an interpretation of a traditional farmhouse, employing non-
traditional materials and design elements, but in its scale, it is a significantly larger structure than the existing 
traditional stone building which is described as being conserved authentically to the southeast. 
 
The proposal drawings describe levels, which indicate areas of notably significant make up of levels from the 
existing to the proposed, particularly along the northwest boundary of the traditional farmyard area, and to a 
now reduced extent along the northeast boundary of the farmyard area. It is noted but not actually fully 
detailed in any section or elevation drawing that the northeast and northwest limits of the dwellinghouse 
would be delimited for the most part, by retaining walls and features; and changes in levels would be 
negotiated by various flights of steps around the northwest and northeast perimeters. 
 
A series of three ancillary elements are included extending along the northwest side of the forecourt, 
stepping down to more ancillary structures, including a garage block, which would itself be accommodated 
over a section of an existing agricultural access. The latter is not a designated Right of Way, but is the main 
access to existing agricultural buildings to the west of the site. As noted, the proposal includes an ulterior 
concern to provide a new access road to these buildings. The junction of this new road, would be located at 
a point to the south of the site and incorporates land that is currently a field and road verge. There are 
hedging and trees near this proposed new junction. 
 
PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT 
 
Since the application site lies out with the Development Boundary, the proposed development must be 
assessed against the policies and guidance of the current statutory development plan (Scottish Borders 
Council Local Development Plan 2016) which relates to housing development in the countryside. The 
present rural housing policy principally comprises Policy HD2 of the adopted Local Development Plan, with 
reference to the guidance of the Council's adopted SPGs on new Housing in the Borders Countryside (2008) 
and Placemaking and Design (2010). These then constitute the planning policy context within which the 
proposal requires to be assessed unless any material considerations dictate otherwise. 
 
The proposed dwellinghouse would be new-build and is not justified by any economic need (which is to say 
that no supporting business case has been provided to justify any business' need for a new dwellinghouse in 
this specific location). Support for the principle of the development would therefore be dependent upon it 
being accepted that the application site is well-related to an existing building group that is capable of 
augmentation to include a new dwellinghouse. 
 
There is a building group at Town O Rule which is comprised of more than three houses, and there is 
capacity in theory at least, for the principle of this proposal, which is to say, the addition of a new 
dwellinghouse to the building group at Town O Rule (in point of fact, it can be substituted directly for the 
house that could have been built under Planning Consent 15/01113/PPP, which has now expired). 
 
Accordingly, it is accepted that in principle at least, there are no concerns that the building group is both 
existing and capable of being augmented by one additional dwellinghouse during the current local plan 
period.  However, planning policy also requires that the specific site be well-related to that building group, 
and requires that account be taken of the cumulative impact of any new development upon the character of 
the building group and the amenity of the surrounding area.  Further, and in addition to the requirements of 
the Council's rural housing policy itself, it is also necessary that the proposal should have no unacceptable 
impacts upon the environment and/or amenity of the site and surrounding area in accordance with the 
requirements of other policies within the Local Development Plan. As such, the specific site, and whether or 
not that specific site would be appropriately developed in these terms, requires further consideration. 
 
PLANNING PRINCIPLE 
 
With respect to the assessment of the principle of the current proposal, it is a significant material 
consideration that a part of the site has recently had - even in fact, at the time that that the current 
application was made - planning consent for a single dwellinghouse; and that this site is substantially that 
which would accommodate the proposed new house in this case too. 
 
With respect to the principle of the land within the application site that was the subject of Planning 
Application 15/01113/FUL being developed, I am content that the situation both on the ground and in 

Page 198



planning policy and guidance, remains substantially the same as at the time of the assessment of that 
previous application, and that no different view would reasonably be taken with respect to the acceptability 
of the principle of the development of this land to accommodate a new dwellinghouse.   
 
This having been noted, it must be observed that this site is not commensurate with the current application 
site, which not only contains the site of the now expired Planning Consent 15/01113/FUL (not to mention 
those of Planning Applications 12/01210/PPP and 12/01209/FUL), but also includes other areas of land that 
are beyond the recognisable limits of the traditional existing farmyard site; including as it does, land in fields 
downslope of the farmyard and a section of the existing access road. As such, while I am content that the 
assessment of the potential to accommodate a new-build house on the existing farmyard site is only 
reasonably considered to remain essentially as it was assessed to be back in 2015, no direct equation 
should be made between this position, and the assessment of the principle of the current proposal. As such, 
the current proposal - with its inclusion of the additional areas - needs to be assessed on its own planning 
merits. 
 
RELATIONSHIP OF SITE TO BUILDING GROUP 
 
Town O' Rule is a building group based upon a group of traditional farm buildings including a farmhouse.  It 
has a somewhat linear form, being a group of buildings arranged along, and essentially configured in 
relation to, the side of the road, which itself negotiates a pronounced slope, running downwards from 
northwest to southeast. The existing traditional farmyard is both adjacent to the farmhouse (to the 
southeast).  It is not an especially well-defined and contained area of land, in that there are notable falls in 
levels to the northeast and northwest. However, the previous history of planning approvals, reasonably 
allows that a view has been taken that the majority of the area that would accommodate the dwellinghouse, 
has been accepted as being within the building group either in being within the farmyard area, or sufficiently 
well-related to it.  However, a strong feature within the definition of both the farmyard, and by extension the 
building group, is certainly the road and farm track to the southwest. Moreover, the current application site 
also includes areas that are beyond the farmyard, particularly to the northeast, where a large area of field 
downslope of the farmyard site is also included, albeit no longer identified for inclusion within the proposed 
house's footprint. 
 
I am content that both the section of the access track to the southwest, and the fields included within the 
current application site to the northeast, do not lie with the definition of the building group at Town O' Rule.  
These are more reasonably characterised as areas that are either within the setting of the building group 
(fields), if not in fact, as features which actually serve to define and delimit it (the existing farm road).  Any 
development that were to go forward in these circumstances, would, I consider, certainly do so in very clear 
contradiction to this existing definition and present sense of containment of the building group at Town O' 
Rule.   
 
In particular, I would note that there would be two obvious and deleterious effects, specifically in that 
development in these areas would remove - essentially 'overwrite' - the existing boundaries and limits of the 
building group at its northeastern and southwestern extremities; seeing it 'spill out' of its existing limits, into 
the surrounding countryside.  This would in itself, be unsympathetic to the definition of the existing building 
group and its landscape setting.  Moreover, in its introduction of development into areas that are clearly 
extrinsic to the building group, including undeveloped fields, it would be liable to promote further 
development beyond the existing and otherwise perfectly defensible boundaries of the building group in 
these different directions; particularly; to the southwest and northeast; and to even greater and even more 
unacceptably adverse effect, with respect to the impacts upon the character and setting of the building 
group, and the latter's sense of place as a group based on a traditional farm steading. 
 
I would note that the part of the current application site which would be used to accommodate the  proposed 
new farm access road, is also a consideration here, in terms of the impacts of this proposal upon the wider 
character and setting of the building group at Town O' Rule. While it is being proposed directly as a new 
access for the other operational farm buildings to the northwest (as such, as an agricultural development 
rather than a residential one), it has ulterior potential to allow or become, now or later in time, a substitute 
limit or arrest of development to the southwest, at least where the proposed dwellinghouse were to be 
realised over the existing southwestern boundaries of the farmyard. In point of fact, beyond the current 
proposal's own inherent logic (that there should be a replacement access to the one the Applicant wants to 
develop over), there is otherwise no obvious or natural requirement for there to be any new ulterior 'limit' to 
the building group to be established in this direction, at least not where the building group could more 

Page 199



reasonably be expected to be accommodated within the limits of the existing traditional farmyard area; 
bounded by the existing access track along its southeastern boundary. There is no obvious or reasonable 
requirement to supersede or overwrite the existing farm access, which appears perfectly serviceable as an 
access, and perfectly defensible as an existing limit to the traditional farmyard area, and by extension to the 
building group, to the southwest. 
 
I consider that the principle of a new house could, as before, be supported where this would be entirely 
within, and confined to, the existing definition of the farmyard (or at least within areas that were within the 
development site that was subject to Planning Consent 15/01113/PPP).  However, with the inclusion of 
areas that are obviously extrinsic to the traditional farmyard, I am obliged to take the view that the larger site 
- the current application site - when considered on its own planning merits, is not reasonably assessed as 
being within the existing sense of place of the building group at Town O' Rule, and that the extension and 
development of the building group in these ways, and (literal) directions, would have an unacceptably 
adverse impact upon the sense of place of the building group, its character and landscape setting.  I 
consider that within this assessment, the current application site is not reasonably accepted as a suitable 
addition to the building group, and the proposal should be refused on this basis. 
 
I am content that there are no material considerations that would otherwise justify any concern to augment 
the land within the farmyard for the purpose of accommodating a new residential property; and that the 
specific proposal is simply excessive in its concern to use and involve wider areas of land around, and out 
with, the farmyard.  In point of fact, the 'spill out' and over, clear changes in levels to the northeast, as well 
as into and over the existing access track to the southwest, is only a response to the Applicant's particular 
concern to accommodate a specific bespoke proposal, including a very large dwellinghouse which is itself, 
fundamentally out-of-scale with the site.  In this sense, the form and definition of the application site is not in 
fact, any considered or reasonable response to the actual boundaries, landscape context (or even planning 
history) of the existing farmyard site within which the Applicant might reasonably be expected to work; let 
alone, being any considered attempt to accommodate a new house within the established boundaries and 
sense of place of the building group.  Instead, it seems to be a simple case of 'the coat not being cut to the 
cloth'; with the definition of the current application site being dictated wholly by the concern to accommodate 
this particular design and layout of dwellinghouse.   
 
I do not consider that the current application site - with its incorporation of areas of land that clearly lie out 
with the existing farmyard at Town O' Rule - is reasonably assessed as being encompassed within the 
existing sense of place of the building group at Town O' Rule.  On the contrary, it appears to lie in an 
obvious contradiction - even challenge - to the sense of place of the building group as this is reasonably 
understood to prevail on the ground.  It would be liable to 'push' the building group over its existing limits and 
even into its own setting, without there being any clear need for this to occur, other than the physical inability 
to accommodate the proposal within the existing confines of the traditional farmyard area.  The definition of 
the application site is not supported. 
 
For the above noted reasons, I do not consider that the application site is well-related to the sense of place 
of the building group at Town O' Rule and its development would have an unacceptable and significantly 
adverse impact upon the character and setting of the building group at Town O' Rule, being tantamount to 
an overwrite of the obvious and natural sense of containment of the building group, and in ways that would 
also be liable to appear, obviously contrived and unsympathetic. 
 
PROPOSED LAYOUT OF DWELLINGHOUSE 
 
As noted above, the proposed layout and design of the specific proposed dwellinghouse and residential 
property, is apparently the most dominant consideration informing the definition of the application site. In 
planning terms, the Applicant would more reasonably have designed and laid out his proposed 
dwellinghouse to respect the existing character and setting of the building group. The house and 
outbuilding(s) at least, would more reasonably have been confined to, and contained within, the existing 
traditional farmyard, without there being any part of any proposed structure spilling out into, or over, the land 
within surrounding fields or across the existing farm road. 
 
There is no requirement to consider the revised proposal relative to the original proposal in the way that the 
supporting statement is concerned to frame its assessment (since the original proposal was not something 
that the Applicant was able to progress). However, even in its own terms, I would note that while the removal 
of the footprint of the proposed house from the fields to the northeast, is certainly a relatively positive 

Page 200



revision, the accommodation of garages over a section of the existing farm track, is not. This is a particularly 
clumsy, unfortunate and unsympathetic aspect of the proposal, which could easily have been avoided within 
a more modest and compact design, tailored to the confines of the traditional farmyard area. In its layout, the 
proposal is a highly unsympathetic form of development in landscape and visual terms; it is simply too large 
and sprawling to be sympathetically accommodated in this location, and in any terms that are sympathetic to 
the character of the site or the surrounding area, including the building group. 
 
As an additional point with respect to the proposed layout, the proposal to accommodate the garages over a 
section of the existing farm access road would also see this highly ancillary element occupy a very dominant 
position within the local landscape, essentially at the top of the crest of the hill, from which the public road 
descends, such that the garages would confront any road users climbing the hill. As far as reasonably 
possible, garages and outbuildings should be accommodated in secondary and ancillary locations, which 
agree with their function. They should not be dominant elements. However, sited and operated as proposed, 
the garages in this case, would have an unfortunate prominence, even over-dominance over the site and 
surrounding area, which is simply not necessary or justifiable in any landscape or operational terms. 
 
Although potentially something that might in other circumstances, have been regulated by a planning 
condition in the event of approval, I would also note the extent of hard standing that would be 
accommodated to the front of the house.  In addition to the farm courtyard, there is also a 'parking court' to 
the southeast. While the detailing may itself help, and while opportunities to reduce or 'break up' this impact, 
could be explored, there would be a risk that as described, this could result in an unsightly and highly 
suburban expanse of hard standing 'front and centre' within views from the public road, undermining any 
sense of an agricultural forecourt.  Such an impact would be highly detrimental to the site and its setting. 
 
PROPOSED DESIGN OF DWELLINGHOUSE 
 
Within the most recent supporting statement, the Applicant has sought to show how he has responded to the 
concerns of the Planning Department (see principally, Section 3.1, page 17, which itemises the changes 
made from the original to the current version of the proposal). While the house design has changed and 
some alterations have been made in response to some of the concerns raised by the Planning Department, 
what has not changed significantly, is the sheer scale and dominance - over-dominance - of the proposed 
dwellinghouse, and the incongruous and highly detrimental visual appearance that the accommodation of 
such a large, out-of-scale building would have upon this site. 
 
With respect to this scale and the proposal drawings, I would draw particular attention to the difference in 
height between the proposed main dwellinghouse and the existing farm building. The latter currently 
dominates the site, and in itself, is not at all an insubstantial, structure.  It is, and remains, a positive feature 
of the development, that the Applicant is concerned to retain this existing building as part of the residential 
development. However, rather than this existing building being integral to the proposal in terms of scale and 
design, it would in fact be relegated to ancillary building, with no particularly recognisable context or setting.  
It would be 'swamped' by the proposed residential property, and relegated within any hierarchy of the site, to 
an almost incidental feature. The Northeast Elevation Drawing in particular, describes the existing/retained 
building and the proposed building side-by-side with one another. This shows that the existing building 
would be only around half the height of the proposed new main dwellinghouse.   
 
The Applicant was asked, as he acknowledges, to ensure that the proposed new-build elements were no 
higher than this existing building in order to keep the proposed house in scale with the site, and farmyard 
context. I would continue to maintain the concern that any new-build on the site should not be higher 
(certainly not notably higher) than the existing building, and I would look for any new-build to be, and to 
remain in scale, with the existing building. The existing retained steading building, is simply overwhelmed by 
the scale of the proposed house, and in particular, the main section of it. It is to be noted that the sheer 
dominance of this building is to be further exaggerated, firstly, by the site's natural prominence within the 
surrounding landscape; and secondly, by the pronounced fall away in levels to the northeast and northwest, 
which give the site added salience in views from these directions. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 201



I would add that while there may be a relative improvement in the design of the main house compared to the 
design of the house within the original proposal; this improvement is not sufficiently substantial to have 
addressed acceptably, the concerns raised with respect to the character and scale of the house proposed.  
The design has been 'broken up' somewhat within the revised proposal, which I recognise, does try to 
respond to the concern that the house could, and should, be set out along the lines of a traditional farm 
courtyard, with the main farmhouse in the central location. However, while the design of the revised proposal 
is relatively less institutional and/or industrial in its character and appearance than previous versions of the 
proposal, it is still an extremely large building that is not at all comfortably domestic in its appearance and 
scale, and which located at the higher end of the building group too, topographically speaking, would also 
see it be over-dominant both on the site, and relative to its surroundings including even the traditional 
farmhouse at Town O' Rule. The proposed dwellinghouse is, and would remain, a very bad fit in its scale 
and design, both with the site, with the building group, and with its landscape setting. The poor fit of the 
specific design of the dwellinghouse, is, I consider, another reason for refusal of this application. 
 
The design of the two outermost (southwestern) ancillary sections of the dwellinghouse along the northwest 
side of the forecourt does not raise any particular concerns, in that these at least, do have some potential to 
have the general character and form of farm steading buildings and are in scale with the existing building.  
This though, does not negate the concerns, indeed objections, I have noted above, with respect to these 
extending out and over the route of the existing farm access road. However, I am content that the basic 
simple, single storey form of the structures could within an alternative design, have worked relatively well, 
subject to the materials and finishes being regulated to ensure a sympathetic finished appearance. 
 
Given the relatively open nature of the site, and the artificially raised ground required to accommodate it, 
there is no reasonable prospect either that any landscaping or materials or finishes could allow for this 
proposal to be accommodated acceptably. On a technical point only, in the event of approval, such matters 
could though be conditioned, and further details about the specifics of both the finishes, materials and 
landscaping might have been provided, for prior approval. 
 
ACCESS AND PARKING 
 
I note that the Roads Planning Section, subject to its specific concerns being addressed to its satisfaction, is 
content that the proposed alternative access road could be accommodated appropriately in road safety 
terms. However, notwithstanding this, I would be concerned that the need for a new farm access road has 
not been appropriately substantiated, particularly where the loss of the existing farm track appears to be a 
concomitant only of the Applicant's concern to extend the footprint of the dwellinghouse beyond, and out of 
the farmyard site; and to remove farm traffic from the immediate vicinity of the site. Neither of these points 
appears to be necessary or essential in operational terms for either the farm or for the dwellinghouse.   
 
Taking account of the lack of justification for it, I would consider that this proposed new access road is 
objectionable, and as noted above, I consider that it would have an unacceptable impact upon the setting of 
the building group at Town O' Rule, and that it would contribute, along with the proposed dwellinghouse, to a 
cumulative but highly significant and unacceptably adverse landscape and visual impact upon the sense of 
place of the building group, and upon the wider landscape.  
 
TREES, HEDGES, LANDSCAPING AND LEVELS 
 
Amongst the adverse impacts upon the local landscape and setting of the building group, that would be 
liable to occur, would be the potential for impacts upon existing trees and hedges, which I note the 
Landscape Section does not consider have been appropriately addressed within the supporting details.  Had 
the proposal otherwise been justified operationally, it may have been appropriate to have accepted that a 
certain amount of disruption and disturbance to a roadside hedge at least, was necessary. However, without 
that justification, it can only be considered to add to the wider and unacceptably detrimental landscape and 
visual impacts of this aspect of the proposals. 
 
In the event of approval, it would be appropriate to seek to regulate finished levels and landscaping 
treatments to ensure an acceptable finished appearance. Although both landscaping and levels details are 
given on the Proposal Drawings, these are not especially clear as to how the site would be finished and 
additional and more detailed information, would otherwise have been appropriately sought in both cases, in 
the event of planning approval. I am aware however, that since much of the dwellinghouse site does 
coincide with that which was the subject of the previous Planning Permission in Principle, there was already 

Page 202



an acceptance on the part of the Planning Authority that there was inevitably to have been some 
considerable remodelling ground works required. Accordingly, I am content that the extent of works to 
accommodate the dwellinghouse is not objectionable, even if there is a reasonable concern to ensure that 
these should not be exaggerated beyond that which is necessary to accommodate the house. 
 
However, notwithstanding that these matters - landscaping and levels - could be addressed by conditions in 
the event of approval, I would be clear that I do not consider that the potential to regulate levels and 
landscaping, would reasonably address the concerns already noted with regard to the potential for 
significantly adverse and unacceptable landscape and visual impacts upon the sense of place of the building 
group, and wider landscape, as a consequence of this proposal. 
 
The revised proposals I note, now include a proposed orchard to the northwest. However, this could be 
established without planning approval (provided the land were for horticulture, and were not intended as a 
new private garden). The establishment of smaller fruit trees would not provide any particularly effective 
screen in landscape and visual terms, particularly since the views from the road, in which the house would 
be especially dominant, would remain unmitigated. 
 
ECOLOGY 
 
The Applicant has been made aware of the Ecology Section's concern to review a bat survey of the existing 
farmyard and buildings on the site, ahead of the determination of the application. Indeed, the Applicant's 
agent presented a description of the proposed scope of survey works that they were proposing to carry out.  
However, no such survey has subsequently been presented. 
 
While it may have been possible for a survey and report of the same, to have provided sufficient 
reassurance to the Ecology Section that the impacts were not objectionable, or were capable of being 
mitigated appropriately, no such reassurance has been provided. Accordingly the potential for unacceptably 
adverse impacts upon bats, a Protected Species, would in these circumstances, also necessarily need to be 
included amongst the reasons for refusal of the current application. Had it been the only potential point of 
objection, it would have been appropriate to have referred this matter back to the Applicant, but given the 
Applicant's concern to progress the current proposal, and given that this is a long-term application, I am 
content that the application is now reasonably presented and determined in the form in which it currently 
exists. 
 
CULTURAL HERITAGE 
 
The existing traditional stone-built building is described within the Proposal Drawings as being conserved 
fairly authentically. In so far as the principle of this proposal, does not rely on the conversion of a traditional 
stone building, there is no necessity to require that the building should be conserved (as opposed to re-
built). 
 
The retention of the existing building is a positive element, but again, is not a factor that would otherwise 
outweigh the harm that the proposal would otherwise have upon the site, its setting, the building group and 
wider landscape. As noted, the existing building would simply be overwhelmed by the substantially larger 
house, and would lose any meaningful historic context. 
 
OTHER CONCERNS 
 
I am content that the matters raised by the Archaeology Section and Contaminated Land Section would be 
capable of being met under appropriately worded planning conditions, along the lines that these consultees 
have identified. 
 
Given that the site and surrounding land - including the nearest existing residential properties - are owned by 
the Applicant, and given the distances involved, I am content that the proposal would not reasonably have 
any unacceptable impacts upon the amenity of any neighbouring dwellinghouses.   
 
Taking account of the amenity of the wider area (including local road network), as well as that of surrounding 
properties, I would be concerned that some regard, is necessarily had to the appearance and operation of 
the ancillary sections to the proposed dwellinghouse and large areas of hard standing described; in that in 
the event of approval, there would be a reasonable concern to require that the site - at least the ancillary 

Page 203



sections and forecourt - should only be operated for private domestic purposes, and not for any business 
use of the premises.  
 
CONCLUSION 
 
For the reasons set out in the Report of Handling above, I am not supportive of the planning application, and 
would recommend that it is refused on account of its incongruous design, its unacceptably adverse 
landscape and visual impacts upon the site, and upon the character and setting of the building group at 
Town O' Rule.  While the lack of any appropriate assessment of its impacts upon bats, is also only 
reasonably included amongst the reasons for refusal. 
 
 
REASON FOR DECISION : 
 
The proposal should be refused, because: 
 
It is contrary to Adopted Local Development Plan Policies HD2 and PMD2, and to the guidance of the 
Supplementary Planning Guidance on New Housing in the Borders Countryside (2008) and Placemaking 
and Design (2010), in that the development would not in its layout, scale and design, respect the amenity 
and character of the site and surrounding area, principally in that: 
(a) it would be unnecessarily and unacceptably over-dominant both relative to the site (including the existing 
building), its surroundings, and also within the context of the wider landscape; and 
(b) it would be out-of-scale with the site, in that it would project outwith what is reasonably understood to be 
the most legible definition and setting of the farmyard site and building group, principally in that it would be 
accommodated over an existing farm track and would be accompanied by a new farm access in a location 
further to the southwest, without these resultant visual impacts being justified operationally, or acceptably 
mitigated within views from the public realm; and 
 
It is contrary to Adopted Local Development Plan Policy EP1 in that it has not been demonstrated to the 
Planning Authority's satisfaction that the proposal would not have a likely significant effect on a European 
Protected Species or its habitat. 
 
Recommendation:  Refused 
 
 1 It is contrary to Adopted Local Development Plan Policies HD2 and PMD2, and to the guidance of 

the Supplementary Planning Guidance on New Housing in the Borders Countryside (2008) and 
Placemaking and Design (2010), in that the development would not in its layout, scale and design, 
respect the amenity and character of the site and surrounding area, principally in that: 

 (a) it would be unnecessarily and unacceptably over-dominant both relative to the site (including the 
existing building), its surroundings, and also within the context of the wider landscape; and 

 (b) it would be out-of-scale with the site, in that it would project outwith what is reasonably 
understood to be the most legible definition and setting of the farmyard site and building group, 
principally in that it would be accommodated over an existing farm track and would be accompanied 
by a new farm access in a location further to the southwest, without these resultant visual impacts 
being justified operationally, or acceptably mitigated within views from the public realm. 

 
 2 It is contrary to Adopted Local Development Plan Policy EP1 in that it has not been demonstrated to 

the Planning Authority's satisfaction that the proposal would not have a likely significant effect on a 
European Protected Species or its habitat. 

 
 

“Photographs taken in connection with the determination of the application and any other 
associated documentation form part of the Report of Handling”. 
 

 

Page 204



P
age 205



P
age 206



P
age 207



P
age 208



P
age 209



P
age 210



P
age 211



P
age 212



ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN AND ACCESS STATEMENT 
 June 2018

Proposed New Dwelling 
at Town-o’-rule

Page 213



Introduction

Appraisal & Principals

Design Proposal

1

2

3

 

Purpose and Structure of the Statement 

Client and the Brief

Physical Context

Analysis

Design Concept

Proposed Design

1.1

1.2

2.1

2.2

3.1

3.1

7

9

13

23

31

35

page

2.0 CONTENTS 

3

Panorama of the Site from the North West Corner 

This document is intended for borderless, double-sided, 
left-hand-bound, A4 portrait, colour print. 

This document forms part of a planning application 
submission for a new dwelling at Town-o’-rule near 
Bonchester Bridge, dated June 2018.  This document 
should be read in conjunction with the formal drawings 
and accompanying reports submitted as part of the full 
planning application.

All rights reserved.  No part of this publication may be 
reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by 
any means, including photocopying, recording, or other 
electronic or mechanical methods, without prior written 
permission of the publisher, except in the case of brief 
quotations embodied in critical reviews and certain other 
noncommercial uses permitted by copyright law.  For 
permission requests, write to the publisher, addressed 
“Attention: Permissions Coordinator,” at the address 
below:

11/12 Riverside Studios
Amethyst Road
Newcastle upon Tyne
NE4 7YL

e: info@sadlerbrown.co.uk
w: www.sadlerbrown.co.uk

Newcastle (head office): 0191 265 7080

Planning Issue: Revision - B

P
age 214



SECTION 1.0 
INTRODUCTION

P
age 215



1.1 Purpose and Structure of the Statement
 

1.1.01

This Design and Access Statement has been prepared on 
behalf of Mr J Reddihough, the landowner of the proposed 
site for development located approximately 1 mile north of 
Bonchester Bridge off the B6357 in the Scottish borders.  
It accompanies a full planning application to erect a new 
dwelling to be used as a family home for Mr Reddihough. 
The Design and Access Statement has been prepared by 
Sadler Brown Architecture and Ethical Partnership. 

1.1.02 

This Statement responds to the requirements of the Town 
and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (amended by 
the Planning etc. (Scotland) Act 2006) and the South East 
Scotland (SES) Strategic Development Plan (June 2013) 
for planning applications (with some exceptions) to be 
accompanied by a Design and Access Statement. The 
requirement for planning applications to be supported by 
a Design & Access Statement is referenced in: Regulation 
13 of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2012; and 
Scottish Planning Series Circular 4 2009: Development 
Management Procedures.

Section 32 of the Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 
(applications for planning permission) states that the 
regulations:

(a)

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1.03

This Design and Access Statement has been clearly 
structured to comply with the requirements as set out 
in planning Series Circular 4 2009 and Planning Advice 
Note 68: Design Statements.  The guidance recommends 
statements address the site and area appraisals; key 
design principles and concepts relating to the following 
aspects of the development; and provide explanation of the 
design solution. 

The statement is structured as follows:

• Section 1: Introduction - overview of the site and 
background information. 

• Section 2: Appraisal and Principals - this sets out the 
physical, historic, social and economic context of the 
Site.   

• Section 3: Design Proposals - Sets out the design 
principles that are appropriate for the development 
of the site based on an understanding of the existing 
site context, the brief and the development of the 
design. Provides a description of the proposals in 
terms of use, amount, layout, access, materials scale, 
landscape and appearance. 

1.1.04   Planning and Landscape Information

This statement explains the architectural design 
principles and concepts behind the proposed new family 
home.  The statement should also be read in conjunction 
with the Planning Statement, produced by Ethical 
Partnership, which sets out in detail how the design 
satisfies national and local planning policy; and with 
reference to accompanying planning information provided 
by Landscape Architects, the Landscape Agency, which 
provide details for the landscape strategy.  

Development sketch of the proposed dwelling

require that an application for planning permission 
of such description as is specified in the regulations 
or order is to be accompanied by a statement (either 
or both and if both then either in one document or 
in two)—

(i) about the design principles and concepts applied 
to the development,

(ii) about how issues relating to access for the 
disabled to the development have been dealt with,

76

P
age 216



1.2 The Client and the Brief
 

1.2.01   The Client

Our Client, Mr J. Reddihough, is the current landowner 
of the agricultral estate and has expressed a desire to 
develop a new five bedroom house for his family.  The new 
home will be sited in the land in the heart of the ownership 
of the applicant so as to encourage the perpetual upkeep 
and maintenance of the land and ultimately, help preserve 
the landscape for posterity.  The applicant does not 
currently have a residence within his land ownership.

1.2.02   The Brief

The applicant’s intentions are to create a high-quality, 
sustainable, environmentally-conscious home that is 
sensitive to the special landscape qualities of the site and 
its surroundings, and the distinctive character and identity 
of the local area. The intention is that the energy demands 
of the dwelling will be met entirely by renewable sources.

The proposed family dwelling has been sensitively 
designed to respond to the character and appearance of 
the local area, while providing a dwelling which is able to 
meet the needs of modern family life. Its design is based 
upon a detailed appraisal of existing buildings on and 
adjacent to the site, and aims to blend the development 
into its setting, being sympathetic to the existing 
vernacular in terms of form and materials.

A brief summary of the desired accommodation for the 
family home is as follows:
- Entrance Hall
- Open Plan Kitchen / Dining
- Formal Reception Room
- Informal Snug
- Informal Games Room and Family Social Space
- Utility & Boot Room
- Discreet Gun Room
- Home Office
- Kids Bunk Room
- Gym
- Master Bedroom with Ensuite & Dressing
- 4no. Double Bedrooms with Ensuite
- Cinema TV Room
- Exercise Pool with Sauna
- 3no. Car Garage

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 

9

P
age 217



SECTION 2 
APPRAISAL & PRINCIPLES

P
age 218



2.0 APPRAISAL & PRINCIPLES 

 

2.1 Physical Context
 

This section of the statement provides a detailed 
assessment of the site’s context. The contextual analysis 
provides an appraisal of the site’s physical, social, historic 
and economic context as advised by Planning Advice Note 
68: Design Statements. 

2.1.01  Location

The proposed site for development is located in Town-
o’-rule - a farmstead off the B6357 road in the Scottish 
borders.  The farmstead is located approximately 1 mile 
north of Bonchester Bridge, approximately 5 miles east of 
Hawick, 6 miles south west of Jedburgh and 3 miles north 
west of Chesters. The structures in the farmstead are a 
mixture of agricultural buildings and residential cottages.

1.2.02  Access and Public Transport

It takes approximately 1 hour and 30 minutes to travel 
to Edinburgh, 1 hour 15 minutes to travel to Carlisle 
and 1 hour and 20 minutes to travel to Newcastle upon 
Tyne by road connection.  The nearest railway station is 
at the terminus of the Borders Railway line located in 
Tweedbank, 14 miles north that connects to Edinburgh.  
The nearest station with connections to the East Coast 
Main Line is in Berwick upon Tweed, 35 miles north east, 
and the nearest station with connections to the West Coast 
Main Line is Lockerbie, 35 miles south west.  There are 
regular bus connections to railway stations from Hawick. 
The Scottish Borders Council operate a bus service 
between Chesters, Bonchester Bridge and Hawick once 
a day, four days a week in both directions and the nearest 
stop is located 1 mile away from the site in Bonchester 
Bridge.  

Hawick

Jedburgh

Tweedbank

Town-o’-rule

Bonchester Bridge

Satellite Photo of the South Scottish Borders Showing the Site Location - Source: Google Maps - Not to Scale

13

P
age 219



2.0 APPRAISAL & PRINCIPLES 
 
 

2.1 Physical Context
 

2.1.03  Wider Landscape Description 

The site is located in the southern part of a local 
designation area (Special Lanscape Area 5) ‘Teviot Valley’, 
which runs between Hawick and Jedburgh and consists 
of three valleys characterised by visually prominent hills, 
with a number of landmark feautures with associated 
pastoral and woodland settings.  

The valley associated with Town-o’-rule is Rule Water and 
has it’s own distinctive character: 

“It is densely wooded with beech trees along the road. It 
is an intimate, pitcuresque valley with traditional stone 
buildings and bridges, and intriguing gateways into 
estates.  There is evidence of management which suggests 
a well-established and well-loved landscape.”

The hills that have a strong relationship with Rule Water 
include Rubers Law to the north and Bonchester Hill to 
the south.  Both hills have a distinct craggy summit with 
Rubers Law the more prominent of the two.

A detailed description of the landscape is included in the 
Landscape Statement produced by the Landscape Agency 
that accompanies this application.

2.1.04  Ownership Boundary

The area of land in ownership (the blue line boundary) is 
approximately 241.96ha. The land rises to the north west 
to the hilltop of Rubens Law, increasing in elevation by 
approximately 230 meters over a distance 2.1km from 
Town-o’-rule.  The boundary is irregular in shape and is 
bounded to the east by Rule Water, by agricultural land to 
the north and west, by open mixed braken and grassland 
to the south.  Hallrule burn cuts west-east through the 
centre of the estate.  The majority of the land in ownership 
comprises of open and managed grassland and pockets of 
densely planted wood.

Bonchester Bridge

Town-o’-rule

Satellite Photo of the Site Area with Boundaries - Source: Bing Maps - Not to Scale

Denholm

Rubers Law

Rule W
ater

Ru
le

 W
at

er

R
ule W

ater

Bonchester Hill

Dunion Hill

B6
35

7

A698

Je
dburg

h R
d

B63
57

A6088

A6088

Doorpool Hill

15

P
age 220



2.0 APPRAISAL & PRINCIPLES 
 
 

Satellite Photo of the Site Area with Boundaries - Source: Bing Maps - Not to Scale

Town-o’-rule

Town-o’-rule 
Cottages

Hallrule Burn

Hallrule Farm

Hallrule House

Hallrule Mill 

Kay Wood

Weens House

B63
57

2.1 Physical Context
 

2.1.05  Immediate Landscape Description

The immediate landscape of Town-o’-rule is defined to the 
north by the dense trees that line along both Hallrule Burn 
and the lane access to Hallrule Farm from the B6357 road.   
To the south tree plantations and hedgerows loosly define 
the gentle inclie of the surrounding immediate context.  
Views within the immediate landscape to the agricultural 
and domestic structures are largely uninhibited due to 
tree cover being limited to various points along field 
boundaries and along a small burn running north east out 
from the centre of the hamlet.  The ground levels across 
the site undulate and subsequently the buildings further to 
the west appear more prominent in views.  

Ru
le

 W
at

er

La
ne

Positio
n of B

urn

17

P
age 221



1

2

3

4

4. View of the Central and Western Buildings in Town-o’-rule as seen from the North East

3. View of the Buildings on the Western Edge of Town-o’-rule

2. View of the Larger Agricultural Buildings on the Eastern Edge of Town-o’-rule

Viewpoint Positions

1. View of Town-o’-rule from the South West A6088 Road Approach

2.0 APPRAISAL & PRINCIPLES 

 

2.1 Physical Context
 

2.1.06    Buildings and Structures

The original historic farm buildings located at the centre 
of the farmstead are stone wall / slate roof construction 
that uphold the traditional farmstead aesthetic of the 
local area.  In terms of materiality the later constructed 
agricultural storage buildings to the east and west are 
less sensitive to the traditional aesthetic, with corrugated 
metal and timber cladding the predominant materials.  
The later permanent structures are notably larger in scale 
than the original farmstead structures. 

P
age 222



Key

Agricultural Structure
Residential Properties
Residential Curtilage

Diagram Plan of Town-o’-rule - Source: Bing Maps - Not to Scale Scottish Ordinance Survey Six-Inch First Edition, 1843-1882 Scottish Ordinance Survey Six-Inch Second Edition 1899

1770: Matthew Stobie Map of Roxburghshire 1832: John Thompson’s Atlas of Scotland

2.0 APPRAISAL & PRINCIPLES 
 

2.1 Physical Context
 

2.1.07    Use

The buildings and structures in Town-o’-rule are a mixture 
of agricultural sheds and barns used for storage together 
with residential structures and their associated domestic 
curtilage.  The residential properties predominantly 
address the eastern lane approach from the B6357 road, 
these consist of the original farm house, the cottages (3 
units) and more recently constructed house with stables 
opposite the cottages.  There is evidence of 3 timber 
framed agricultural sheds that were recently dismantled 
due to partial and full collapse during severe weather.  

2.1.08    Historic Record

A record of the prescence of structures in Town-o’-rule can 
be dated as far back as 1770 on ‘A map of Roxburghshire 
or Tiviotdale’ by Matthew Stobie.  A detailed record of the 
farmstead is found in the Ordnance Survey first edition 
(1882) showing a building layout identical to the present 
centrally located buildings in Town-o’-rule.  The cottages 
appear between the first and second editions of the 
Ordnace Survey maps dating them between 1882 and 
1899. 

Town-o’-rule 
Cottages

Public Access 
Tarmacadum Lane 
connecting to the 

B6357

Private Access Gravel 
Track with Access 
to Fields Beyond 

Hallrule Burn

Private Access 
Gravel Track

Hallru
le Burn

Sm
all

 B
urn

Public Access 
Tarmacadum Lane 
connecting to the 

A6088

Steel Frame 
Agricultural 

Sheds

Steel Frame 
Agricultural 

Shed

Steel Frame 
Agricultural 

Shed

Temporary Timber 
Agricultural 
Structures

Temporary 
Agricultural 
Structures

Position of Former 
Temporary Timber 
Frame Agricultural 

Sheds

Temporary 
Timber Frame 

Agricultural 
Shed

Sluice

Mixture of Historic 
Stone Wall / 

Temporary Timber  
Framed Agricultural 

Structures

Stables
Town-o’-rule 
Farm House

Town-o’-rule 
House

2120

P
age 223



Key

Existing Structures
Potential New Residential Curtilage
Existing Residential Curtilages

Diagram Plan of Town-o’-rule - Source: Bing Maps - Not to Scale 2. View Towards Bonchester Hill with Wolfelee Hill Behind

1. View Towards Rubers Law Hill with Dunion Hill in the Distance 

Panorama View 
Across Valley and 
of Rubers Law Hill

Panorama View 
Across Valley and 
of Bonchester Hill

Potential New 
Domestic 
Curtilage

2.0 APPRAISAL & PRINCIPLES 
 
 

2.2 Analysis

2.2.01    Site and Opportunities 

The preferred site for the new dwelling lies within the 
historic curtilage of the original farmstead.  The choice of 
site is informed by the following reasons: 

• To reinforce and consolidate the nucleated pattern 
of domestic curtilages addressing the eastern lane 
approach.  

• The opportunity to restore and enhance the historic 
structures in disrepair.  

• To capitalise on the desirable panoramic views over 
the surrounding valleys and hills to the north and 
south. 

12

2322

P
age 224



1

2

3

4

4. View of the Eastern Edge of the Site and Existing Access from the B6357 Road

3. View of the Timber Frame Sheds and Burn on the Western Edge of the Site

2. View of the Existing Stone Wall Agricultural Building on The Eastern Edge of the Site

Viewpoint Positions

1. View of the Western Edge of the Site Defined by the Existing Stone Wall

2.2 Analysis
 

2.2.02  Site Visual Record

The proposed site for the dwelling is characterised by a 
gently sloping plateu of mixed hardsurfacing that rapidly 
falls past the edge of the northeastern line of buildings.  
The eastern edge of the plateau is defined by a gently 
curving dry stone wall that follows the course of the 
existing dry burn running north east and aligns the edge 
of the private access gravel track that ajoins the bend in 
the public access lane.  A steel-clad L-shaped temporary 
storage structure of low architectural value rests in the 
eastern corner behind the stone wall.   To the west is the 
historic slate roof stone barn that defines the historic edge 
of the original farm buildings.  The barn has a stone wall / 
corugated metal roof lean-to structure along the western 
elevation that is of low architectural value.  The access to 
the plateau is from the bend on the adjacent public access 
tarmacadum lane. 

2.0 APPRAISAL & PRINCIPLES 

 

P
age 225



2.2 Analysis 

2.2.03  Existing Structures Apraisal and Opportunities

The site contains various existing structures of varying 
scale and quality.

1. Single Storey Timber Store/Shed to the South

At the south of the site near to the proposed access 
driveway there is a low quality timber and corrugate metal 
open storage structure. This poor quality building has little 
architectural value and is proposed to be demolished as 
part of the new development.

2. Two Storey Stone Building to the West

Located along the eastern boundary of the proposed 
site there sits an existing two storey stone building 
with a pitched tile roof. The building has been used 
for agricultural storage with a variety of poor quality 
alterations made to accommodate equipment. This 
building provides an opportunity to mediate between the 
new structures and the existing buildings to the west. 

The western elevation of the contains a single storey 
timber and corruage extension to provide additonal 
storage. This addition is in a state of disrepair and provides 
little or no architectural value. As part of the regenration 
of the existing stone building this would be removed, 
existing stonework retained and repaired; and a new 
extension added to connect the stone building with the 
new build construction.

3. Single Storey Stone Store to the North

Adjoining the north gable of the existing two storey stone 
building a single storey open store has been added. This 
does not appear on historic maps and can be assumed 
to have been added relatively recently to the two storey 
building. As part of the proposed new dwelling this store 
is to be carefully demolished and the stone retained for 
proposed and repair work across the site. 

Key

Existing Structures
Existing Structures to be Demolished
Existing Structure to be Converted
New Domestic Curtilage

Diagram Plan of Town-o’-rule - Source: Bing Maps - Not to Scale

Proposed 
Demolition of 

Existing Single 
Storey Stone Wall 

Sheds North in 
Poor Condition

Existing Stone 
Wall Retained

Proposed 
Demolition of 

Existing Single 
Storey Stone 

Wall Shed of Low 
Architectural 
Value in Poor 

Condition

Proposed Retention 
and Conversion of 

Existing Two Storey 
Stone Wall Shed of 
High Architectural 

Value

Proposed 
Enhanced 

Access 
Driveway

Access from 
Existing 

Tarmacadum 
Road

Proposed New 
Domestic Curtilage 

Defined by the Line of 
Existing Buildings

Proposed New 
Domestic Curtilage 

Defined by the Line of 
Former Buildings

Proposed 
Demolition of 

Existing Single 
Storey Timber 

Frame Shed of Low 
Architectural Value 
in Poor Condition

2.0 APPRAISAL & PRINCIPLES 
 
 

2726

P
age 226



SECTION 3
THE DESIGN PROPOSAL

P
age 227



Key

Existing Structures
Existing Structures to be Demolished
Proposed New Dwelling
Existing Structure to be Converted
New Domestic Curtilage

Diagram Plan of Town-o’-rule - Source: Bing Maps - Not to Scale Sketch Concept Drawings of the Proposals

Proposed 
Demolition of 
Existing Stone 

Wall Sheds 
North

Existing Stone 
Wall Retained

Proposed Part 
Demolition of 
Existing Stone 

Wall Shed West

Proposed 
Retention and 
Conversion of 
Existing Stone 

Wall Shed

Proposed 
Enhanced Access 

Driveway

Access from 
Existing 

Tarmacadum 
Road

Proposed New 
Sheltered Private 

Courtyard 
Defined by New 

and Existing 
Structures

Proposed New 
Dwelling Structure 
Defined by Edge of 
Existing Buildings

Proposed 
Demolition of 

Existing Timber 
Frame Shed 

West

This section highlights the key architectural design 
proposals.

3.1 Design Concepts

3.1.01 Principal Design Concepts
The principal concept behind the design of the new 
dwelling is considered in terms of the layout and scale; 
and is intended to be a sensitive intervention that 
sympathises and gives reference to the local vernacular 
of rural building typologies: The rural landscape is 
characterised with clusters of linear forms typically one 
and two storey that have dual pitched roof structures that 
form gable ends.   

3.0 DESIGN PROPOSAL 
 

3130

P
age 228



3.1.02  Architectural Style

The architectural approach to the design terms of the 
materiality and architectural detailing is expressed in a 
modernist, contemporary architectural style, that will be a 
honest reflection of a building constructed in 21st century 
using modern materials, construction methods and 
utilising the latest technology.

3.1.03  Visual Impact

The proposals have been developed from an analysis 
and understanding of the site where the new home 
aknowledges that it will have a visual prescence within 
it’s immediate setting and therefore seeks to be sensitive 
and sympathetic to the surrounding context.  Due to the 
visibility views of the building are carefully considered so 
that they are celebrated.   

3.0 DESIGN PROPOSAL  

4. View of the Northern Edge of the adjacent buildings. 

5. Precedent image of proposed modern vernacular architectural language.

1. View of the South Gable of the existing building. 2. View of the North Gable of the existing 
building.

3. View of the west elevation of the existing 
building.

3332

P
age 229



3.2 Design Proposals

3.2.01  Scale & Massing

The proposed house massing consists of a U-shape that 
through the use of glazing and reccesses is articulated into 
three volumes of similar size in plan. These three volumes 
reflect the scale and massing of the existing built forms 
of Hall’O’Rule and their arrangement takes inspiration 
from the historic grouping of agricultural buildings and 
farmsteads. The eastern and northern elements of the 
massing are created by proposed new build volumes with 
the eastern mass consisting of the existing stone building 
on the site. To the northern end of the existing two storey 
stone building there is an adjoining open agricultural 
shelter. It is proposed that this unused storage building 
will be demolished and the material retained for repairs 
and refurbishment works for the proposed house. 

Each of the three volumes has an elongated rectilinear 
form with the width and length proportions of the two 
proposed elements reflecting that of the existing stone 
building. The height, massing and forms of the proposed 
volumes take inspiration from the surrounding rural and 
agricultural buildings in the landscape. The roofs of the 
proposed structures are pitched along the length of the 
rectilinear forms to match the existing stone building, 
characteristic of the rural massing that has been driven 
by the practicalities of the vernacular construction 
techniques.

The rectilinear forms and pitched roofs utilised within 
the proposed massing are consistent between all the 
volumes but differ in scale to reflect the hierarchy of 
accommodation contained within. The more important 
accommodation is within the north volume and therefore 
has a larger, longer and wider, footprint; and is taller at 
two storeys to signify it as the main living accommodation 
of the house. The proposed massing of the western 
volume is single storey with the ridge and eaves sitting 
lower than both the existing stone building and northern 
volume to reflect its reduced importance. This also 
ensures that the massing steps down and reduces down 
in scale as it moves further away from the collective built 
forms of the east out towards the surrounding rural land 
to the west. 

The proposed massing for the house also reflects the 
topography of the site as it falls from south to north 
as the most northern volume takes opportunity of this 
change in level to steps down creating a semi buried level 
of accommodation. This lower ground floor provides a 
retaining structure to the historically made-ground and 
resulting slope; and is not visible from the south or east. 

 

3.0 DESIGN PROPOSAL  

2. Photo showing rectilinear stone building and pitched roofscape.1. Photo showing use of timber cladding on existing agricultural 
building on the north west of the site.

3. Precedent image showing use of contemporary detailing and  fenestration 
proportions within traditional rural architectural massing.

4. Precedent image showing how contemporary 
detailing and structure will be continued internally.

3534

P
age 230



3.2.02  Layout & Arrangement

The arrangement of proposed house accommodation 
within the U-shape massing creates a central, south 
facing courtyard and defines its domestic curtilage. This 
south facing courtyard creates an external area for the 
occupants that is sheltered from the prevailing winds, 
whilst visually screening the domestic parking and 
ancillaries from the longer rural views in from the north 
of the site. The open courtyard space sits between the 
main living accommodation and the access road creating 
a separating buffer between the rural landscape and the 
house. The courtyard also allows vehicular access to safely 
manoeuvre within the dwelling curtilage before rejoining 
the highway.

The ground floor of the central larger massing volume to 
the north contains the main family living accommodation 
consisting of the main entrance hallway; open plan 
kitchen dining; formal sitting; entrance hall; utility; and 
gun room. At first floor there is the master bedroom 
with accompanying dressing room and bathroom; and 
4no. double bedrooms with en-suites. The lower, semi-
subterranean accommodation contains a home exercise 
pool and sauna benefitting from increased privacy and 
surrounding thermal mass to retain heat from the pool. 

The converted existing stone building connected to the 
east of the main entrance contains a home office; and 
children’s bunk house accommodation at first floor; whilst 
ground floor contains a tv room and home gym space. The 
home office can be accessed separately from the family 
accommodation for the client to meet privately with his 
agricultural tenants. 

To the west of the main accommodation the single 
storey volume contains a 3no. car garage; dog kennel; 
and a multi-purpose family / play room accommodation 
with generous sliding doors connecting it to the central 
courtyard. 

3.2.03 Access

The existing vehicular entrance from the southern 
boundary is to be retained for access to the house. It 
is proposed that this access point will be improved by 
reclocating the agricultural access track which currently 
shares the same vehicle assess from the highway  further 
to the west of the proposed house. This will provide 
separation between domestic and argriculural traffic, with 
the larger argriculural vehicles benefiting from the new 
access point and improved visibility. 

3.0 DESIGN PROPOSAL  

EP

EP

Stay

Post

Post

183.67

183.85

189.25

185.98

181.07
180.66

181.09

181.48

182.23

188.37

185.01

185.02

185.39

Stone

Gravel Track

Dela
pidate

d St
one

 Re
tain

ing
 Wall

Po
st 

& W
ire

 1.
10

m

Rid
ge

 18
9.3

9m

Ea
ve

 18
9.2

7m

Eave 186.12m

Ea
ve

 18
6.9

8m

Eave 186.06m

Ridge 188.93m

Ridge 188.86mEa
ve

 18
9.2

5m

186.0

184.0
184.0

184.0

182.0 182.0

182.0

182.0

18
0.

0

180.0

Grass

O/H Line

O/H
 Li

ne

sitting /
snug /

tv

gym

12x2.4m astro

paved terrace

lin
e of

 de
moli

sh
ed

ou
tbu

ild
ing

line of demolished

outbuilding

plant
store

FFL
+185.00

FFL
+184.980

FFL
+185.35

sh
utt

ers

sh
utt

ers

paved terrace

hall/
lobby

daybed

dining

kitchen

fish tank

balcony

entrance /hallway

boot /utility

fire

tv

gunroom

living

balcony

FF

LGF

FFL+184.495cbd.

laundry

pantry

w/c

gu
es

t

co
at

gla
ss

 ba
lus

tra
de

garages

terrace &
garden access

sli
din

g s
hu

tte
rs

Acc
es

s

FFL
+184.845

FFL
+185.700

w/c

family
entertaining

store

kennels

kennel /
dog wash

Plant

lobby

JOB No DRAWING No

PROJECT

DRAWING

CLIENT

REVISION

SCALE DRAWNSHEET SIZE CHECKED DATE

STATUS

@

DATEREV. DRN CHKD.

11 - 12  Riverside  Studios       Amethyst  Road       Newcastle  upon  Tyne       NE4  7YL

SADLER BROWN ARCHITECTURE

T :  0191  265 7080       E :  info @ sadlerbrown. co. uk       W :  www. sadlerbrown. co. uk

DESCRIPTION

SADLER BROWN LIMITED

CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE.

DRAWING NOT TO BE SCALED.

THE AUTHOR  OF THIS DESIGN.

REPORT ERRORS & OMISSIONS TO ARCHITECT.

ELECTRONIC, WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF 
REPRODUCE THIS DRAWING,   BY WHATEVER MEANS, INCLUDING 
SADLER BROWN LIMITED. IT IS AN INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT TO 
THIS DRAWING IS THE SUBJECT OF COPYRIGHT WHICH VESTS IN 

SADLER BROWN LIMITED ASSERTS ITS RIGHTS TO BE IDENTIFIED AS 

c

DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 
PLAN AND ALL RELEVANT RISK ASSESSMENTS.

SADLER BROWN LIMITED WHICH RESERVES ALL ITS RIGHTS. 

A1

PJL --Design updated.26/07/2017A

Proposed Ground Floor Plan

Mr J. Reddihough

Private House at Town-O-Rule,
near Bonchester Bridge

1:100 JD KB 08/09/17

PLANNING

21723 LAL(0)201

JD --Drawing revised.31/07/2017B

JD --Drawing revised to client comments08/09/2017C

JD KBDrawing revised to client comments.
Issued for comment.

16/01/2018D

JD KBDrawing revised to client comments02/02/2018E

JD KBWindow locations revised.23/02/2018F

JD KBDraft Issue to Design Team27/02/2018G

JD KBClient issue for comment05/03/2018H

JD KBClient issue.09/03/2018J

JD KBPlanning issue.05/04/2018K

JD KBRevised to client comments for planning.21/05/2018L

N.B. Indicative Landscaping 
Proposals provided by others.
For detailed landscaping and vehicle 
access proposals refer to drawings by 
Landscape Architect. 

5 m0 10 m 20 mElevation C   P r o p o s e d   N o r t h   E l e v a t i o n   DATUM 177.50

+184.500

+187.880

+180.345

+190.895

VERTICAL
TIMBER

CLADDING GLAZED LINK

Existing FFL
+187.80

Existing FFL [2]
+185.27

Eaves
+189.25

Ridge
+191.86

Eaves
+188.86

Eaves
+186.12

Ridge
+190.04

Ridge
+189.39

Existing FFL [1]
+185.00

TIMBER FRAME
BALCONY

SLIDING
GLAZED
DOORS

ADJACENT STONE
& SLATE

AGRICULTURAL
BUILDING

HORIZONTAL 
BOARD 
TIMBER 
CLADDING

GLASS
BALUSTRADE

ALUMINIUM 
FRAMED 
WINDOWS

GREY METAL 
STANDING 
SEAM ROOF

STONE
CLADDING

STONE
CHIMNEY

TIMBER
CLAD

ORIEL
WINDOW

JOB No DRAWING No

PROJECT

DRAWING

CLIENT

REVISION

SCALE DRAWNSHEET SIZE CHECKED DATE

STATUS

@

DATEREV. DRN CHKD.

11 - 12  Riverside  Studios       Amethyst  Road       Newcastle  upon  Tyne       NE4  7YL

SADLER BROWN ARCHITECTURE

T :  0191  265 7080       E :  info @ sadlerbrown. co. uk       W :  www. sadlerbrown. co. uk

DESCRIPTION

SADLER BROWN LIMITED

CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE.

DRAWING NOT TO BE SCALED.

THE AUTHOR  OF THIS DESIGN.

REPORT ERRORS & OMISSIONS TO ARCHITECT.

ELECTRONIC, WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF 
REPRODUCE THIS DRAWING,   BY WHATEVER MEANS, INCLUDING 
SADLER BROWN LIMITED. IT IS AN INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT TO 
THIS DRAWING IS THE SUBJECT OF COPYRIGHT WHICH VESTS IN 

SADLER BROWN LIMITED ASSERTS ITS RIGHTS TO BE IDENTIFIED AS 

c

DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 
PLAN AND ALL RELEVANT RISK ASSESSMENTS.

SADLER BROWN LIMITED WHICH RESERVES ALL ITS RIGHTS. 

A1

Proposed Elevations C & D

Mr J. Reddihough

Proposed House at Town-O-Rule,
near Bonchester Bridge

1:100 JD KB 22/02/18

PLANNING

21723 BAL(0)208

JD KBPlanning Issue.05/04/2018A

JD KBRevised for Planning Issue.11/06/2018B

+184.500

+187.880

+180.345

+190.895

Elevation D   P r o p o s e d   W e s t   E l e v a t i o n   DATUM 175.00

+191.655

+185.700

ALUMINIUM 
FRAMED 
WINDOWS

GLASS
BALUSTRADE

HORIZONTAL 
TIMBER 
BOARD  
CLADDING

HORIZONTAL TIMBER 
BOARD ROOF FINISH

GLAZED 
SLIDING 
DOOR

R.L R.L R.L

VERTICAL 
TIMBER BOARD STONE

VERTICAL
TIMBER
BOARD

STONE
CLADDING

CANTILEVERED
BALCONY

GALVANISED 
STEEL MESH

+188.680

N.B. PRPOPOSED LANDSCAPING 
INDICATIVE.
For landscaping proposals refer to 
drawings by Landscape Architect 

0 1M 2M 3M 4M 5M 10M

2. Proposed Western Elevation

1. Proposed Ground Floor Plan

3736

P
age 231



3.2.04  Appearance 

The materials for the proposed house take inspiration 
from the surrounding utilitarian agricultural structures 
within the area but combine this with contemporary 
detailing and fenestration so that the building reflects 
modern 21st Century architecture of which it is being 
built. The proposed materials of stone and timber can be 
seen on various structures within the immediate locale of 
the area as well as the wider rural setting of the Scottish 
Borders. The materials utilised within the area are robust 
to withstand the harsh environment and mainly include 
stone walling; tile and slate roofing; sheet metal; and 
timber.

The use of traditional agricultural materials of timber, 
stone and metal roofing will be visually sympathetic to the 
existing stone building but through contemporary detailing 
will ensure that the new architecture is clearly articulated 
from the old. The proposed materials will have natural 
untreated finishes that will weather into the setting and 
soften alongside the existing buildings.

The western, existing stone building is proposed to be 
refurbished with the existing stonework and tiled roof 
retained. Poor quality additions generally made using 
corrugated metal will be stripped back to enable the new 
additions for the gym and glazed link to be added. The new 
extension and connection link to the existing stone is to be 
finished in untreated open jointed cedar timber cladding.  
This use of timber cladding with open jointing and 
contemporary detailing is to be continued across all the 
proposed new elevations. The link connections between 
the three volumes are articulated by recesses in facades 
and are further accentuated through the use of vertical 
timber cladding to juxtapose the horizontal boards on the 
primary elevations

The hierarchical distinction of the accommodation 
by enlarging the more important volumes is seen 
in historic farms and the materiality also generally 
reflects the significance of the spaces within. To 
continue the visual distinction of the volumes by size, 
it is proposed that the proposed materials subtly 
reflect this change in hierarchy by changing the 
appearance of the roof finishes, whilst leaving the 
elevations treatments consistent; timber for new and 
coursed stone for existing. The introduction of a zinc 
standing seam roof finish to the main central volume 
reaffirms it as the entrance and main accommodation 
presence, whilst the proposed garage and informal 
accommodation volume to the west has a timber finish 
to signify its reduced status. 

The fenestration proportions of the new build 
accommodation are enlarged from the traditional 
buildings with floor to ceiling height windows to 
allow maximum daylight and reflect the 21st Century 
construction available. Insulated sliding shutters are 
proposed to the areas of large sliding glass doors of 
the gym and informal accommodation to allow these 
areas to be closed off and heat loss reduced when not 
in use. 

3.0 DESIGN PROPOSAL  

+184.850

+188.680

+191.655

Elevation B   P r o p o s e d   W e s t   E l e v a t i o n   DATUM 180.00

hallway

+184.500

+187.880

VELUX ROOF 
LIGHT

TIMBER GARAGE
DOORS

TIMBER SLIDING
DOORS/SHUTTERS

SLIDING GLASS
DOORS

HORIZONTAL
BOARD TIMBER

CLADDING

HORIZONTAL 
TIMBER 
BOARD ROOF 
FINISH

VERTICAL 
TIMBER 
CLADDING

GLAZED 
DOORS

GLAZED
DOORS

HORIZONTAL 
BOARD 
TIMBER 
CLADDING

+191.655

VERTICAL TIMBER
CLADDING

HORIZONTAL
BOARD TIMBER

CLADDING

entrance /
hallway

Elevation A   P r o p o s e d   S o u t h   E l e v a t i o n   

+184.500

+195.295

+190.895

+187.880

DATUM 180.00

VERTICAL 
TIMBER 
CLADDING

HORIZONTAL 
BOARD 
TIMBER 
CLADDING

GLASS
BALUSTRADE

GLAZED
DOORS

GREY METAL
STANDING

SEAM ROOF
OUTLINE OF

ADJOINING GABLE

GLAZED
MAIN 
ENTRANCE
DOOR

VERTICAL
TIMBER

CLADDING GLAZED LINK

OUTLINE OF 
ADJOINING 
BUILDING

JOB No DRAWING No

PROJECT

DRAWING

CLIENT

REVISION

SCALE DRAWNSHEET SIZE CHECKED DATE

STATUS

@

DATEREV. DRN CHKD.

11 - 12  Riverside  Studios       Amethyst  Road       Newcastle  upon  Tyne       NE4  7YL

SADLER BROWN ARCHITECTURE

T :  0191  265 7080       E :  info @ sadlerbrown. co. uk       W :  www. sadlerbrown. co. uk

DESCRIPTION

SADLER BROWN LIMITED

CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE.

DRAWING NOT TO BE SCALED.

THE AUTHOR  OF THIS DESIGN.

REPORT ERRORS & OMISSIONS TO ARCHITECT.

ELECTRONIC, WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF 
REPRODUCE THIS DRAWING,   BY WHATEVER MEANS, INCLUDING 
SADLER BROWN LIMITED. IT IS AN INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT TO 
THIS DRAWING IS THE SUBJECT OF COPYRIGHT WHICH VESTS IN 

SADLER BROWN LIMITED ASSERTS ITS RIGHTS TO BE IDENTIFIED AS 

c

DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 
PLAN AND ALL RELEVANT RISK ASSESSMENTS.

SADLER BROWN LIMITED WHICH RESERVES ALL ITS RIGHTS. 

A1

Proposed Elevations A & B

Mr J. Reddihough

Proposed House at Town-O-Rule,
near Bonchester Bridge

1:100 JD KB 22/02/18

PLANNING

21723 BAL(0)207

JD KBPlanning Issue.05/04/2018A

JD KBRevised for Planning Issue.11/06/2018B

0 1M 2M 3M 4M 5M 10M

N.B. PRPOPOSED LANDSCAPING 
INDICATIVE.
For landscaping proposals refer to 
drawings by Landscape Architect 

+184.850

+188.680

+191.655

Elevation B   P r o p o s e d   W e s t   E l e v a t i o n   DATUM 180.00

hallway

+184.500

+187.880

VELUX ROOF 
LIGHT

TIMBER GARAGE
DOORS

TIMBER SLIDING
DOORS/SHUTTERS

SLIDING GLASS
DOORS

HORIZONTAL
BOARD TIMBER

CLADDING

HORIZONTAL 
TIMBER 
BOARD ROOF 
FINISH

VERTICAL 
TIMBER 
CLADDING

GLAZED 
DOORS

GLAZED
DOORS

HORIZONTAL 
BOARD 
TIMBER 
CLADDING

+191.655

VERTICAL TIMBER
CLADDING

HORIZONTAL
BOARD TIMBER

CLADDING

entrance /
hallway

Elevation A   P r o p o s e d   S o u t h   E l e v a t i o n   

+184.500

+195.295

+190.895

+187.880

DATUM 180.00

VERTICAL 
TIMBER 
CLADDING

HORIZONTAL 
BOARD 
TIMBER 
CLADDING

GLASS
BALUSTRADE

GLAZED
DOORS

GREY METAL
STANDING

SEAM ROOF
OUTLINE OF

ADJOINING GABLE

GLAZED
MAIN 
ENTRANCE
DOOR

VERTICAL
TIMBER

CLADDING GLAZED LINK

OUTLINE OF 
ADJOINING 
BUILDING

JOB No DRAWING No

PROJECT

DRAWING

CLIENT

REVISION

SCALE DRAWNSHEET SIZE CHECKED DATE

STATUS

@

DATEREV. DRN CHKD.

11 - 12  Riverside  Studios       Amethyst  Road       Newcastle  upon  Tyne       NE4  7YL

SADLER BROWN ARCHITECTURE

T :  0191  265 7080       E :  info @ sadlerbrown. co. uk       W :  www. sadlerbrown. co. uk

DESCRIPTION

SADLER BROWN LIMITED

CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE.

DRAWING NOT TO BE SCALED.

THE AUTHOR  OF THIS DESIGN.

REPORT ERRORS & OMISSIONS TO ARCHITECT.

ELECTRONIC, WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF 
REPRODUCE THIS DRAWING,   BY WHATEVER MEANS, INCLUDING 
SADLER BROWN LIMITED. IT IS AN INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT TO 
THIS DRAWING IS THE SUBJECT OF COPYRIGHT WHICH VESTS IN 

SADLER BROWN LIMITED ASSERTS ITS RIGHTS TO BE IDENTIFIED AS 

c

DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 
PLAN AND ALL RELEVANT RISK ASSESSMENTS.

SADLER BROWN LIMITED WHICH RESERVES ALL ITS RIGHTS. 

A1

Proposed Elevations A & B

Mr J. Reddihough

Proposed House at Town-O-Rule,
near Bonchester Bridge

1:100 JD KB 22/02/18

PLANNING

21723 BAL(0)207

JD KBPlanning Issue.05/04/2018A

JD KBRevised for Planning Issue.11/06/2018B

0 1M 2M 3M 4M 5M 10M

N.B. PRPOPOSED LANDSCAPING 
INDICATIVE.
For landscaping proposals refer to 
drawings by Landscape Architect 

3938

1. Proposed Horizontal Timber Cladding and Sliding Shutters 2. Precedent Image showing proposed combination of natural 
untreated timber cladding and standing seam roofing. 

3. Proposed South Elevation

4. Proposed East Elevation

P
age 232



11/12 Riverside Studios
Amethyst Road
Newcastle upon Tyne
Tyne and Wear
NE4 7YL

T: +44 (0) 191 265 7080
E: info@sadlerbrown.co.uk
www.sadlerbrown.co.uk

Page 233



This page is intentionally left blank



ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN AND ACCESS STATEMENT
ADDENDUM 
 September 2019

Proposed New Dwelling 
at Town-o’-rule

Page 235



This document is intended for borderless, double-sided, 
left-hand-bound, A4 portrait, colour print. 

This document supplements a planning application 
submission for a new dwelling at Town-o’-rule near 
Bonchester Bridge, dated June 2018 (ref 18/01194/FUL).  
This document should be read in conjunction with the 
Architectural Design and Access Statement, the formal 
drawings and accompanying reports submitted as part of 
the full planning application.

All rights reserved.  No part of this publication may be 
reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by 
any means, including photocopying, recording, or other 
electronic or mechanical methods, without prior written 
permission of the publisher, except in the case of brief 
quotations embodied in critical reviews and certain other 
noncommercial uses permitted by copyright law.  For 
permission requests, write to the publisher, addressed 
“Attention: Permissions Coordinator,” at the address 
below:

11/12 Riverside Studios
Amethyst Road
Newcastle upon Tyne
NE4 7YL

e: info@sadlerbrown.co.uk
w: www.sadlerbrown.co.uk

Newcastle (head office): 0191 265 7080

Planning Issue 

Page 236



Introduction

Proposed Options

Amended Scheme

1

2

3

 

Purpose and Structure of the Statement 

Additional and Existing Planning Information

Four Massing Options

Planning Authority Response

Development of Option 04

Curtilage

Landscaping

Access

1.1

1.2

2.1

2.2

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

5

7

9

15

17

19

19

21

page

2.0 CONTENTS 

3Page 237



2018 Application Scheme (Not to Scale)

4

West Wing

Central ‘Main House’ Section

Existing Stone Building

Courtyard

Page 238



1.1 Purpose of the Statement Addendum
 

This addendum to the Architectural Design and Access 
Statement for the application to construct a new dwelling 
house in Town-O’-Rule near Bonchester Bridge, submitted 
in September 2018, has been prepared following a post-
planning application submission dialogue between the 
Design Team and the Scottish Borders Council.  

From the dialogue it was agreed, from the perspective 
of the Planning Authority, that the ‘horse-shoe’ layout of 
the proposals, utilising the existing stone building with 
a new ‘mirrored’ building facing and a central ‘main’ 
house section, was a suitable response to the site and 
farmstead language.  It was also agreed that the language 
and massing employed in the design of the west elevation 
‘wing’ was deemed to be a suitable response to the site.  
The Planning Authority however, expressed concerns that, 
without being addressed, would result in recommendation 
for refusal.  A summary of the concerns raised, taken from 
the Design Teams notes in February 2019, are as follows:

• Concerns over the massing and scale of the project 
which would prevent them from supporting the 
scheme, particularly the central section of the horse-
shoe and its north elevation.

• Concerns were discussed over the north elevation 
and it was suggested to break up the horizontally of 
the elevation. Increasing the vertical elements within 
the elevation would help to break up the horizontally, 
and potentially this could be developed further via 
the introduction of a taller, vertically proportioned 
element.  Breaking up or creating a step within the 
ridge line could also help to reduce the massing and 
horizontal language.

• It was felt that there should be a more domestic 
feeling to the main house block, particularly the north 
elevation, as it is felt that the current approach is 
more commercial in its language.

The Planning Authority welcomed a submission of 
alternate massing and elevations options (particularly 
relating to the north elevation) for review with the aim of 
working with the Design Team to alleviate the concerns.  
The Design Team subsequently developed a series of 3D 
massing options that were tabled to the Planning Authority 
in August 2019.  

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 

5Page 239



6

2018 Application Scheme (Above) and 2019 Amended Scheme House Plans (Below) (Not to Scale)

Page 240



1.2 Additional & Existing Planning Information
 

This addendum statement should be read in conjunction 
with the existing Design and Access Statement (Dwelling 
at Town-o-rule Architectural Design and Access 
Statement) submitted in August 2018, alongside the 
following new plans that are intended to replace several of 
the existing, previously submitted, plans:

• AL(0)301 - Proposed Site Masterplan
• AL(0)302 - Proposed Site Plan
• AL(0)303 - Proposed Ground Floor Plan
• AL(0)304 - Proposed First Floor Plan
• AL(0)305 - Proposed Roof Plan
• AL(0)306 - Proposed North West and South East 

Elevations
• AL(0)307 - Proposed North East and South West 

Elevations
• AL(0)308 - Proposed Cross Sections

These drawings replace the following drawings:

• 1177-001 Rev C Outline Masterplan A1
• 1177-101 Rev B General Arrangement A1
• 1177-103 Rev B CDM Proposed Site A1
• 1177-104 Typical Landscape Details A1
• 1177-105 Proposed Landscape Visualisations A3
• AL(0)200 - Proposed Site Plan Rev E
• AL(0)201 - Propsoed Ground Floor Plan Rev L
• AL(0)204 - Proposed First Floor Rev G
• AL(0)205 - Proposed LGF Floor Rev F
• AL(0)206 - Proposed Roof Plan Rev B
• AL(0)207 - Proposed Elevations A&B Rev B
• AL(0)208 - Proposed Elevations C&D Rev B
• AL(0)209 - Proposed Sections A, B & C Rev B
• AL(0)210 - Proposed Elevations E, F, G & H Rev A

The plans from August 2018 submission the that are still 
valid to the application, to be read alongside the new 
information include:

• 1177 RP001 Rev B Bonchester Bridge Landscape 
Appraisal - Planning LR

• 1177-100 Rev A Existing Site Plan A1
• 1177-102 Rev A CDM Existing Site A1
• AL(0)100 - Existing Site Plan Rev C
• AL(0)101 - Existing Ground Plan Rec C
• AL(0)102 - Existing Stone Building Plans & Elevations 

Rev A

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 

7Page 241



2018 Application Scheme

Option 01

Option 03

Option 02

Option 04

Page 242



2.1 Four Massing Options 

A total of four options with different massing 
arrangements were supplied to Planning Authority in 
August 2019 in the form of 3D computer model images 
taken from various key viewpoints.  All of the options 
retain the previous proposed accommodation with the 
exception of Options 01, 02 and 04 that omit the home 
exercise pool and sauna, previously located on the 
subterranean level.  In addition to the proposed changes 
to the massing, each of the options has included either 
one or two additional chimneys to the central main house 
section to address the requirement of achieving a greater 
overall domestic feel. 

The four options are described as follows:

Option 01 

Massing that considers reducing the footprint of the 
central main house form with accommodation re-located 
in the west wing, which is extended northeast and split into 
three forms as opposed to two.

Option 02

A development on Option 01 with the west wing roof ridge 
arrangement re-organised into a ‘sawtooth’ formation.

Option 03

Development on Option 01 that reacts to the existing fall in 
topography; with the central form rotated off-axis to follow 
the line of the existing contours, resulting in perceivably 
reduced verticality to the north east elevation.  The three 
forms of the west wing are pushed further south west 
as a result, with the southernmost form rotated through 
90 degrees to enclose the central courtyard space.  The 
central form roof ridge line is broken and stepped in 
height to visually break the massing.  The lowermost 
accommodation is re-located by the existing stone building 
to be refurbished.

Option 04

Similar to Option 03 but without rotating any of the forms 
off-axis; the central form is pushed further south west to 
avoid resting over the steep drop in topography, resulting 
in perceivably reduced verticality to views from the 
north.  Unlike Option 03 the three forms of the west wing 
are retained in a linear formation and the subterranean 
accommodation omitted.

2.0 PROPOSED OPTIONS 
 

9Page 243



Option 01: Birdseye View

Option 01: View from the North

Option 01: View from the East

Option 01: View from the Southeast Along the Existing Access Track

Option 01: View from the Southwest Along the Existing Access Track

2.1 Four Massing Options: Option 01

Page 244



Option 02: Birdseye View

Option 02: View from the North

Option 02: View from the East

Option 02: View from the Southeast Along the Existing Access Track

Option 02: View from the Southwest Along the Existing Access Track

2.1 Four Massing Options: Option 02

Page 245



Option 03: Birdseye View

Option 03: View from the North

Option 03: View from the East

Option 03: View from the Southeast Along the Existing Access Track

Option 03: View from the Southwest Along the Existing Access Track

2.1 Four Massing Options: Option 03

Page 246



Option 04: Birdseye View

Option 04: View from the North

Option 04: View from the East

Option 04: View from the Southeast Along the Existing Access Track

Option 04: View from the Southwest Along the Existing Access Track

2.1 Four Massing Options: Option 04

Page 247



14

Mark-up of the August 2018 Planning Application South and East Elevations (Not to Scale)

Page 248



2.2 Planning Authority Response

The Planning Authority reviewed the options and supplied 
a formal response in July 2019:  Despite the efforts of 
the design team to reduce the perceived scale without 
compromising the accommodation requirements, the 
Authority expressed that the central main house was still 
‘too large and out-of-character with the site of the former 
farmyard’.  As a result the Authority would anticipate that 
each option would be recommended for refusal. 

In addition, the Authority supplied a mark-up of the August 
2018 planning application south and east elevations to 
indicate the scale of the central main house form that they 
would accept as in-keeping with a ‘traditional rural farm 
building’ (opposite), showing significantly reduced heights 
of the roof ridge line, eaves positions and footprint.

The Authority outlined a number of ways to amend the 
planning application including the option of proceeding 
with one of the massing options of the design teams 
choice, highlighting the anticipation of a recommendation 
for refusal.  A recommendation to withdraw the application 
was also put forward.

2.0 PROPOSED OPTIONS 
 

15Page 249



16

Amended Elevations (Not to Scale)

Page 250



3.1 Development of Option 04 

The team, alongside the client, decided that pursuing the 
development of Option 04 would be the preferred route to 
amend the design and re-submit to the Planning Authority.  
A summary of the design changes from the development 
of Option 04 are as follows:

• The northeastern edge of the proposed central main 
house section is moved further southwest away from 
the existing steep fall in topography to reduce the 
perceived verticality to views from the north.  

• The central main house form is shortened along the 
northwest-southeast axis with accommodation re-
located in the west wing, which is extended northeast.  
The west wing is subsequently split into three forms 
with the new third form accommodating two levels 
under a newly proposed metal-finish standing seam 
roof (as opposed to timber).

• The central main house roof line is split and stepped 
to further break-up and reduce the perceived 
horizontal aspect.

• The lower subterranean level is omitted along with 
the proposed exercise pool and sauna that were 
accommodated in this level.

• The new position of the main house rests in front of 
the existing stone building to be renovated, located 
approximately in the centre of its elevation and is 
proposed to be separated by a larger lobby structure.  

• Balconies off the ground floor reception room and 
dining room are omitted.

• The gables of the central main house are proposed 
in stone rising to form two chimney structures either 
side to give a greater domestic feel, while in keeping 
with the materiality of the existing adjacent stone 
buildings.

3.0 AMENDED SCHEME 
 

17Page 251



18

2018 Application Scheme (Above) and 2019 Amended Scheme (Below) Site Plans (Not to Scale)

Page 252



3.2 Curtilage  

The proposed domestic curtilage of the amended design 
varies in position to the previous 2018 proposals as a 
result of moving the northeastern edge of the proposed 
central main house section further southwest.  In principle 
the area of curtilage does not vary.

3.3 Landscaping  

The landscaping proposals in the amended design have 
been pared-down in comparison with the 2018 scheme, 
with the intention of being more conservative in creating 
the sense of a traditional farm steading.  Changes include: 

• All external water features have been removed, 
including the natural swimming pond, jacuzzi and 
plunge pool.

• The courtyard is reduced to a single datum of natural 
stone paving replacing the stepped terraced spaces. 
Structural planting offer visual interest to the 
southernmost edge of the courtyard.

• High quality lawn adjoins the building and associated 
stepped path low natural stone retaining wall edge 
to the north, blending outward into the native rough 
grass context.

• The kitchen garden inside the existing stone wall 
structure is maximised and domestic features such as 
the pergola, timber decking and ornamental planting 
are removed.

• A terrace of timber decking with views north adjoins 
the internal dinning and kitchen spaces along the 
north edge.

3.0 AMENDED SCHEME 
 

19Page 253



20

Bonchester Bridge
Outline Landscape MasterplanDwg no: 1177/001

Date: 24.05.2018
Scale: 1:500 @A1
Rev: C

Orchard

Natu
ral in

finity
 

sw
im

ming pool 

19m x5m
Terraced 
Kitchen Garden 

Contemporary 
pergola and seating 

Retain exsiting access to 
wider landscape 

Grass verge

Existing Agricultural Field 

Existing Agricultural Field 

Existing Agricultural Field 

Courtyard

KEY 

APPLICATION BOUNDARY 

KEY VIEWS 

HARD

ASPHALT ACCESS TRACK 

HIGH QUALITY SURFACE TREATMENT 

SOFT

EXISTING TREES 

PROPOSED ORCHARD TREES 

PROPOSED ORNAMENTAL TREES 

ORNAMENTAL PLANTING 

NATURAL SWIM POOL

EXISTING BURN 

LAWN

KEY

Ground Floor Views 

1st Floor Views 

Lower Ground Views 

Landscape Views 

PROPOSED VIEWS

PROPOSED ACCESS

KEY

Pedestrain Route 

Dwelling Vehicular Route 

Agricultural Route 

Views t
o Blac

k L
aw

 an
d al

ong th
e Rule Vall

ey 

View
s to Rubers Law

 

Proposed agricultural access track 

Pro
pose

d agric
ultu

ra
l a

cc
ess 

tra
ck

 

2018 Application Scheme (Above) and 2019 Amended Scheme (Below) Site Plans (Not to Scale)

Page 254



3.4 Access  

The access arrangements between the 2018 proposals 
and the 2019 amended proposals do not change with 
the exception of the removal of the existing informal 
agricultural access track located off the bend in the 
existing lane: Access to the agricultural sheds located 
northwest is still intended to be accessed from the 
proposed agricultural track further southwest to separate 
agricultural from domestic traffic.

3.0 AMENDED SCHEME 
 

21Page 255



11/12 Riverside Studios
Amethyst Road
Newcastle upon Tyne
Tyne and Wear
NE4 7YL

T: +44 (0) 191 265 7080
E: info@sadlerbrown.co.uk
www.sadlerbrown.co.uk

Page 256



T: 01904 691630
www.landscapeagency.co.uk
enquiries@landscapeagency.co.uk

BONCHESTER BRIDGE, SCOTTISH BORDERS
Landscape Appraisal

 November 2017

RP1177 RP001 REV A

P
age 257



Rev Date Description Initials Checked

/ 30.11.2017 For comment LH MJ

A 17.05.2018 Updated for planning LH MJ

B 28.08.2018 Application boundary updated MJ MJ

Document prepared for on behalf of: Mr J Reddihough

Project Number:  1177

Document Status:  For Comment

File Path:   M:\JOBS\1177 Bonchester Bridge, Hawick\GRA - Graphics\Indesign

Printing Note:                       This document should be printed in landscape orientation in full colour on A4 paper size for optimum viewing

T: 01904 691630

landscapeagency.co.uk

enquiries@landscapeagency.co.uk

© The Landscape Agency 2017
This document and its content is copyright of The Landscape Agency - © The Landscape Agency Ltd. 2017. All rights reserved.

Any redistribution or reproduction of part or all of the contents of this document in any form is prohibited. You may not, except with our express written permission, distribute or commercially 
exploit the content. Nor may you transmit it in any form or by means electronically, photocopying, mechanically or otherwise, or store the information in any web site or other form of electronic 
retrieval system.

This document has been designed and produced by The Landscape Agency Ltd. All images are copyright of The Landscape Agency unless stated otherwise.

P
age 258



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency 33

 Contents

3

1.0 INTRODUCTION 04

1.1 Introduction 05

1.2 The site 07

1.3 Design Aspirations 09

2.0 LANDSCAPE CONTEXT 10

2.1 Landscape Designations 11

2.2 Topography & Views 14

3.0 SITE APPRAISAL 18

3.1 Key Landscape Features 19

3.2 Access, Boundaries and surrounding built form 22

3.3 Localised Views  24

3.6 Summary Constraints 27

3.7 Summary Opportunities 28

4.0 DESIGN CONCEPT 30

4.1 Design Concept 31

4.2 Character Areas 33

4.3 Courtyard 34

4.4 Immediate Setting 36

P
age 259



41 Introduction

P
age 260



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency 5

1.0 Introduction

1.1  INTRODUCTION 

The Landscape Agency has been commissioned to undertake an initial Landscape Appraisal 

for a site located west of the B6357 and approximately 2 miles north of Bonchester Bridge 

within the Scottish Borders.

The site known as Town-o’-Rule covers an area of 5 acres and consists of several agricultural 

buildings surrounded by agricultural land. Aspirations are to convert the collection of 

buildings into a single dwelling and unify the surrounding landscape. 

The main aims of this report are to: 

• Develop an understanding of the context, including any landscape  designations 

in and around the site;

• Carry out an initial site appraisal of the landscape, documenting existing site 

features such as key views, structures, access and vegetation;

• Develop early concepts for the landscape and develop distinct character areas 

within the site working closely with architects Sadler Brown Architecture.

A site visit was conducted in November 2017 in order to gather information and carry out 

on site analysis.

▲Bonchester Bridge 

P
age 261



N

RUBERS LAW

BONCHESTER 
HILL 

SWINNIE 
PLANTATION

RU
LE

 W
AT

ER
 

TOWN ‘O’ RULE

B6357

B6357

B6357

A6088

A
6088

BLACK LAW

HALLRULE

KEY

              Application Boundary

               Water Body 

               Main Road 

               Access Road 

BONCHESTER 
BRIDGE 

FAW HILL

P
age 262



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency 7

1.0 Introduction

Scottish Border
7.0 miles

SITE

Jedburgh
6 miles

Hawick
5 miles

Kirkton
3 miles

Bonchester 
Bridge

SCOTLAND

ENGLAND

1.2  THE SITE 

Bonchester Bridge is a village located just north of the Scottish boarder between Hawick 

and Jedburgh. The village originally received its name from the bridge which runs over 

Rule Water. Situated west of the river, the proposal is located within the river valley of Rule 

and is surrounded by several hills including Rubers Law and Bonchester Hill. These local 

landmarks are designated locations of former Roman signal stations with an elevated 

position of 424m and 323 AOD. These landmarks will have clear intervisibility with the site 

and require consideration.

The site lies upon a steady slope which rises from the north east to the south west boundary 

and contains locatised undulations. As an exposed site in an elevated location, climate 

conditions will heavily influence the landscape proposals.

KEY

              Application Boundary

               Water Body 

               Main Road 

               Access Road 

▲Site context schematic

P
age 263



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency8

“

▲ View from the site to Rubers Law

P
age 264



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency 09

1.0 Introduction

• Create a strong relationship between the house and landscape responding to 
place and existing best remaining landscape features.

• Sensitively respond to and retain views and vistas.

• Respect the surrounding designations.

• Use vernacular materials and planting to respond to and reinforce the  

surrounding landscape character and enhance existing biodiversity.

• Restore, maintain and manage existing planting. 

• Create new spaces and characters to give the landscape relevance to the 

proposed uses. 

1.3  DESIGN ASPIRATIONS

Aspirations of this project are to convert the collection of agricultural buildings into a single 

dwelling and provide a landscape proposal that ties in the new house with surrounding 

setting and existing outbuildings. The proposed house will have two key landscape 

components which include:

1. A central south facing courtyard which provides protection and enclosure from the 

extreme weather. Within the courtyard the private domestic uses are contained, proposed 

uses include a natural swim pool, lawns, planting, seating areas and potential space for a 

hot tub.

2. A large natural landscape and setting which extends north of the property. This setting 

forms a key visual vista from the primary living, sleeping and indoor pool spaces, with 

panoramic views to the wider landscape beyond.

A future phase of the wider landscape setting will also requires leisure development which 
will include stables, a tennis court and paddock. 

Proposals could bring about significant enhancement of the immediate setting as 

follows:

P
age 265



2 Landscape Context

P
age 266



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency 11

2.0 Landscape Context 

2.1 LANDSCAPE DESIGNATIONS

There are a number of statutory landscape designations in close proximity to the site which 

should be considered during subsequent design development work. 

Scheduled Ancient Monument

        Rubers Law, Fort & Roman signal station - (SM2129)

        Bonchester Hill, Fort - (SM2173)

        Bonchester Hill, Earthworks - (SM2172)

Listed Buildings/Features
There are no Listed Buildings or features within the site however there are a number             of 
Listed Buildings and features which surround the site and sit within the wider vicinity 
including:

       Weens - Category B Georgian Mansion (LB10791)

        Hobsburn - Category B building (LB8367)

        Abbotrule Church - Category B building (LB15457)

It is important to consider any visual impact upon the surrounding Scheduled Monument  

and Listed Buildings. Proposals should aim to preserve the rural nature of these views. There 

is the potential to enhance the setting, with positive development and sensitive design. 

Special Area of Conservation (SAC)- River Tweed

A Special Area of Conservation is a statutory designation given to prime wildlife conservation 

areas considered important on a European level. The extent of the SAC is limited to the 

River Tweed itself. This particular SAC has been identified as a wildlife site of international 

importance due to its ecological diversity and range of habitats due to the variation in 

geology within its catchment. Any design impacts upon Rule water should be considered. 

BONCHESTER 
HILL 

RUBERS LAW

KEY

              Application Boundary

               Scheduled Monument

                Listed Building

                Special Area of 
                Conservation (SAC)

1

4

2

5

6

1

2

3

4

5

6

3

RULE W
ATER 

RIV
ER TW

EED 

SACS

P
age 267



P
age 268



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency 13

2.0 Landscape Context 

Special Landscape Area (SLA)5 - Teviot Valleys

An SLA is a local designation that intends to protect against inappropriate development 

and encourage landscape enhancement. Based upon an assessment of landscape qualities 

within the Scottish Boarders, 9 SLA’s were identified. The site is located within a Special 

Landscape area 5 - Teviot Valley, which runs between Hawick and Jedburgh and covers 

sections of the Teviot, Jed and Rule Valleys. Key landscape qualities which define the SLA 

should be considered and may inform landscape design and management.

Special Landscape Area (SLA) 5 - Teviot Valleys | Designation statement of 
importance: 

(Text highlighted in green italics indicates Key Characteristics of the Teviot Valley SLA 

relevant to the site. Text highlighted in green italics underlined indicates suggested 

Management recommendations of the Teviot Valley SLA relevant to the site.)

• This area covers a series of distinctive Borders valleys and hills, and has been 

defined to draw together a number of landmark features with their pastoral and 

woodland settings. Visually prominent hills include Minto Crags, Peniel Heugh, 

Dunion Hill, Minto Hills and Rubers Law, each of which has a strong relationship 

with the adjacent valleys and the wider landscape. The three valleys each have 

their own distinctive character and scale.  

• Rubers Law has a distinctive craggy summit, dissected and rocky. Bonchester Hill 

is almost a reduced version of the same, while Dunion Hill is a landmark above 

Jedburgh.  

• The Rule Water is smaller in scale than the Jed valley, and is densely wooded with 

beech trees along the road. It is an intimate, picturesque valley with traditional 

stone buildings and bridges, and intriguing gateways into estates. There is evidence 

of management which suggests a well‐established and well‐loved landscape.

Special Landscape Area (SLA) 5 - Teviot Valleys  | 
Suggested management recommendations: 
• Continue to promote sustainable land management to balance the needs of 

biodiversity, recreation and tourism.
• Encourage the sustainable management of hedges, and where possible seek the 

reinstatement of hedges and hedgerow trees.
• Promote the restructuring of forests, and the use of forest design plans for new 

areas of afforestation
• Consider the effects of development on hilltops, such as masts or wind farms, 

which may be visible within the valleys

▲ Special Landscape Areas within the Local Development Plan Policy Map 2016

      Site Location

P
age 269



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency14

N2.2 TOPOGRAPHY & VIEWS

As the site sits within the Rule Valley topography varies greatly. Summits of surrounding hills 

stand 200m+ taller than the ground levels found on site. The following section documents  

views towards the site from local statutory designations and key public routes in order to 

appreciate intervisibility with surrounding sensitive receptors. 

Views were taken from designations within a 2.5km radius of the site with the exception 

of views taken from the Borders Abbeys Way. Views beyond 2.5km become difficult to 

clarify however the elevated profile of Black Law and relationship to the site along the Rule 

Valley allows for views from the Boarders Abbeys Way. This particular route is considered a 

significant circular route of the Scottish Boarders. 

1. View looking south towards the site from Rubers Law

Views of the Site could be obtained from certain locations within the Scheduled Monument 

area of Rubers Law however these were highly limited by difference in elevation as well as 

the vegetative northern boarder of the Site. 

2. View looking north towards the site from Bonchester Hill

Views of the Site could be obtained from the Scheduled Monument area of Bonchester Hill 

however these were limited by the neighbouring property and south-eastern facade of the 

remaining stone barn. 

3. View looking north towards the site southern access road

Views of the Site could be obtained from the high point of the southern access road 

however this was limited  by the Beech tree avenue. 
BONCHESTER 

HILL 

2.5km RUBERS LAW

BLACK LAW

RU
LE

 V
AL

LE
Y1

4

2

3

5

6

7

8

KEY

Application Boundary

Scheduled Monument

Listed Building

Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC)

Borders Abbeys Way 

Views from statutory                                                     
designations

Views from key public 
routes

No views obtained from 
statutory designations                                        

No views obtained from 
key public routes

Hallrule

▲ Wider landscape views      *Numbers reference photographs on subsequent pages

P
age 270



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency 15

2.0 Landscape Context 

▲ 1. View looking south towards the site from Rubers Law 

▲ 2. View looking north towards the site from Bonchester Hill 

▲ 3. View looking north towards the site southern access road Site location

P
age 271



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency16

▲ 4. View looking south towards the site from Borders Abbeys Way (Note view is taken with a 55mm 

focal length)

Site location

▲ 5. View looking south towards the site from the Hallrule road

4. View looking south towards the site from Borders Abbeys Way
Views of the Site could be obtained from the Borders Abbeys Way however these were highly 

limited due to distance. Surrounding dwellings and out buildings were clearer due to scale and lack 

of tree cover. 

5. View looking south towards the site from the Hallrule Road
Views of the Site could be obtained from the Hallrule Road however these were limited due to tree 

cover. Surrounding dwellings and out buildings were clearer due to scale and lack of tree cover. 

6. Rule Water
No views of the Site could be obtained from Rule Water due to dense tree cover and level change 

between the Site and river. 

7. Hobsburn Listed Building
As Hobsburn is located within a small valley its anticipated no views of the site could be obtained.

8. Loaning public footpath
No views of the Site could be obtained from the Loaning footpath due to rolling fields and 

woodland between the public route and the Site. 

No views could be obtained of the Site from either the Listed Abbotrule Church or the Weens 

Georgian Mansion due to either dense woodland or topography. 

P
age 272



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency 17

2.0 Landscape Context 

▲ 6. Rule Water 

▲ 7. Hobsburn Listed Building ▲ 8. Loaning public footpath

P
age 273



3 Site Appraisal

P
age 274



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency 19

3.0 Site Appraisal

3.1 KEY LANDSCAPE FEATURES

• The landscape is primarily composed of open agricultural fields used for livestock and 

worn hard standing. 

• A burn lined with overgrown scrub planting runs through the site and out to the north. 

• Tree cover is limited to various boundaries and along the burn leaving much of the 

wider landscape open and exposed to views and the elements. 

• Tree species on site is primarily Beech which carries on within the hedging and tree 

avenues along both access roads. 

• Boundary treatment is primarily post and wire fence and Beech & Hawthorn hedging. 

• Ground level across the site is currently uneven and undulating with the private 

paddock sloping down towards the burn and northern boundary. 

▲ Key landscape features        *Numbers reference photographs on subsequent pages

N

3.2 EXISTING BUILDINGS & STRUCTURES

• The Sites current character is defined by its functional history as a farmstead. 

• There is a combination of derelict stone buildings belonging to the original farmstead 

and temporary storage facilities surrounding the site. 

• Various storage buildings which are currently in the process of being taken down, 

appear to be built with practicalities in mind as appose to architecture aesthetics. The 

stone barn itself however has more traditional farmstead aesthetic qualities. 

Buildings and structures which contribute to the existing character include:

1. The old stone barn 

2. Large timber clad storage barns 

3. Mixed material temporary storage structures

4. Neighbouring stone farmhouse 

5. Dry stone walls (refer to key)

KEY

Application Boundary 

Private Paddock

Farming paddock 

Mixed Hard standing 

Silo

Dry Stone Wall

Spot height

Public Access Road 

Private Access Track 

Access road hedging

Paddock Hedging

Tree Avenue 

Burn

Burn Scrub Planting 

X 170

X 190

X 180

X 170

43
3

2

2

X 170

X 180

1

P
age 275



P
age 276



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency 21

3.0 Site Appraisal

▲ Existing stone barn ▲ Eastern facade of stone barn ▲ Existing storage shelter

▲ Dry stone wall ▲ Large storage Barn ▲ Assorted storage facilities

▲ Existing stone barn and auxiliary buildings 

1 1

1323 4

2 3

P
age 277



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency22

3.3 ACCESS, BOUNDARIES AND SURROUNDING BUILT FORM

ACCESS
• Vehicular access to the Site can be obtained from the A6088 along the southern access 

road  or from the B6357 along the eastern access road. The access road itself is a single 

lane lined with Hawthorn, Beech and Gorse mixed hedgerows and Beech tree avenues.

• Two tracks used for farming purposes run through the site and lead to the fields 

beyond. One access track to the north-west runs between two large storage barns and 

out to the surrounding fields and a second small track runs through the site, over the 

local burn and to the fields beyond.

• The main point of entry to the site is located where the two access roads and access 

track converge.

BOUNDARIES 
• Site boundaries are post and wire fence throughout with the exception of beech 

hedging along the eastern edge of the private paddock to the north.  

• The burn acts as boundary however this is also lined with dense scrub and post and 

wire fencing. 

SURROUNDING BUILT FORM
• Neighbouring built forms are all of similar architectural style and scale to one another.

• Views of the site from the neighbouring dwellings are likely to be limited to the private 

paddock due to topography and existing surrounding buildings. 

2

3

1

KEY

Application Boundary

Main Road 

Access Road 

Access Track 

Informal Track 

Hedging

Tree Avenue

Burn

B6357

P
age 278



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency 23

3.0 Site Appraisal

▲ Southern access road

▲ Eastern access road looking away from the Site ▲ Eastern access road looking towards the Site 

▲ 1. Neighbouring dwelling ▲ 2. Property along eastern access track ▲ 3. Properties along eastern access track 

P
age 279



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency24

3.4 LOCALISED VIEWS

Due its location within the Rule Valley the Site has panoramic views to the surrounding hills 

including Rubers Law and Bonchester Hill. These views are a defining characteristic of the 

site and should be incorporated appropriately. 

1. Panoramic views from the Site to the south look over the Rule Water Valley towards 

Bonchester Hill and the rolling fields surrounding Bonchester Bridge. 

2. Panoramic views from the Site to the south-east look over the Rule Water Valley to 

the rising profile of Bonchester Hill and hills beyond.

3. Glimpsed views from the Site to the south-west look down towards the southern 

access road through the Beech tree avenue. Glimpses of higher ground can be seen 

through various pockets of woodland. 

4. Panoramic views from the Site to the north west are dominated by Rubers Law 

along with some glimpses across the burn to surrounding storage barns. 

5. Panoramic views from the Site to the north look along the Rule Valley and its 

peripheral hills including Faw Hill and Black Law. 

6. Panoramic views from the Site to the north-east look along the Rule Valley and its 

peripheral hills including Faw Hill and Black Law. Various types of farm storage such as 

silos can be seen within the foreground of this particular view. 

7. Direct views towards the Site from the south-east access road are limited by the 

topography found on site. As the steading is at the top of a hill even views of the site 

entrance are limited. 

1

N

7

KEY

4
6

5

ApplicationBoundary

Panoramic Views 

Direct Views

Glimpsed Views

Limited Views 

▲ Key views        *Numbers reference photographs on subsequent pages

3

2

P
age 280



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency 25

3.0 Site Appraisal

▲ 1. Views south

▲ 2. Views south-east

▲ 3. Views south-west

Bonchester Hill

Bonchester Hill

Southern access Road

P
age 281



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency26

▲ 5. Views north

▲ 4. Views north west

▲ 6. Views north-east ▲ 7. Views towards the site Site from the south-east

Black Law Faw Hill 

Rubers Law Black LawStorage Barns

Black Law Faw Hill Silos Site

P
age 282



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency 27

4.0 Constraints & Opportunities

▲ 7. Views towards the site Site from the south-east

3.5   CONSTRAINTS 

1. Visual connection to surrounding sensitive landscape designations - Although 
these are very much limited and effected currently by other larger buildings, views 
should be considered when producing a proposal.

2. Visual connection to neighbouring dwellings - Views to the exiting stone barn from 
surrounding buildings are currently limited due to the topographical context however 
views of the private paddock are likely to be visible. Landscape proposals should 
consider how the wider setting may be overlooked. 

3. Neighbouring Boundary - It is intented for a new boundary to be introduced to the 
neighbouring settlement which was once part of the same farmstead however this is 
currently a seperate private dwelling. This will limit privacy along the eastern edge.

4. Accessibility - Accessibility is limited to a single carriageway.
5. Burn - The effects of a water body limits planting typology and has potential to flood.  

Any proposed planting should consider soil conditions surrounding the burn. 
6. Topography - The site consists of uneven ground which slopes quite dramatically 

toward the burn and northern boundary. Appropriate accessibility and landscape 
features within these areas should be well considered. 

7. Utilities (telegraph pole) - Currently a telegraph pole is a visual and physical barrier.
8. Visual impact of agricultural activity - Views of surrounding agricultural buildings 

can be obtained throughout the site. It is important proposals try to minimise any 
views to agricultural buildings such as the silos to the north-east of the site. 

9. Light pollution - Due to its exposure proposals within this location are likely to be seen 
at distance. Light at night is clearer than during the day therefore lighting proposals 
within the landscape should be kept within the immediate setting of the house to 
minimise wider landscape effects. 

10. Microclimate - Due to the Sites location on higher levels of the Rule Valley and lack of 
tree cover, the land is exposed to high winds which limits what is likely to grow on site. 

V
IEW

S TO
 BO

N
CH

ESTER H
ILL

V
IE

W
S 

TO
 R

U
BE

RS
 L

AW

N

KEY

Application Boundary

Access Road 

Burn

Views to designations

Views from surrounding dwellings

Telegraph pole

Agricultural buildings 

▲ Landscape Constraints

P
age 283



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency28

KEY

Application Boundary

Access Road 

Burn

Views to designations

Views from surrounding dwellings

Telegraph Pole

Mixed Hedging with Beech 

Beech Tree Avenue

28

3.6   OPPORTUNITIES

1. Redevelop a brown field site - The proposal gives the opportunity to enhance a 
currently worn landscape as well as clearing a series of temporary storage buildings. 

2. Views - As well as being a limitation for consideration, panoramic views surrounding 
the site are a great opportunity that could drive design composition.

3. Accessibility - Existing accessibility consists of well maintained established planting 
which is characteristic of the Teviot Valley Special Landscape area. Planting materials 
should seek to compliment and reinforce existing vegetation significant to the area.  
Access roads are also strong view lines which can be used to frame site access. 

4. Burn - Opportunity to link any proposed water features into an existing drainage 
system. Soil conditions provide the conditions to introduce aquatic planting. 

5. Topography - Undulating topography across the site provides the opportunity to 
conceal and reveal landscape elements. 

6. Existing materials palette - The site currently contains various materials found 
traditionally within a farm setting such as dry stone walls. Proposals should aim to 
compliment the existing palette and tie in with any planting characteristic of this 
landscape such as Beech hedge and tree planting and biodiversity enhancements. 

7. Bury Utilities - Opportunity to bury the existing telegraph pole which currently limits 
views and act as a physical barrier within the landscape. 

8. Site boundaries - Redefining and clarifying new boundaries to provide formal and 
aesthetically appropriate boarders to a house setting.

9.  Sustainability - Opportunity to integrate sustainable drainage solutions and increase  
native flora and fauna species diversity appropriate to localised microclimates. 

10. Microclimate - Due to the sites exposure much of the land will have sun light for most 
of the day with the exception of areas in close proximity of any buildings. Creation 
of south facing enclosed courtyard spaces will create a more sheltered and warmer 
climate. 

V
IEW

S TO
 BO

N
CH

ESTER H
ILL

V
IE

W
S 

TO
 R

U
BE

RS
 L

AW

VIEWS ALONG THE RULE VALLEY TO THE 

       W
INTER SUN PATHSUMMER SUN PATH

N

▲ Landscape Opportunities

P
age 284



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency 29

4.0 Constraints & Opportunities

29

3.7   LANDSCAPE RECOMMENDATIONS

The following  recommendations are offered to guide the masterplan as architectural 
proposals evolve.  

• Provide a landscape design which enhances the Site and respects views from 

surrounding historical designations. 
• Use views to the surrounding landscape as a key design driver. Introduce design 

strategies which build up to and frame key views. 

• Utilise existing access and introduce a circulation strategy which identifies a hierarchy 

of paths and vehicular routes. 

• Use topographical opportunities on site to create a variety of interesting spaces 

which conceal and reveal landscape elements and architectural form as you navigate 
throughout the Site. 

• Integrate the external landscape with internal spaces in order to unify overall 
aesthetics.

• Use existing materiality on site and within the local context to inform colour, texture 
and form of any proposed materials such as the use of dry stone walls 

• Reference and complement plant species which are characteristic of this landscape 
such as Beech hedge and tree planting. 

• Sensitive placement of vegetation to limit visibility of the proposed dwelling from 

neighbouring dwellings as well as limiting views from the proposed building to 

surrounding agricultural buildings such as the Silos. 

• Enhance the Burn both ecologically and aesthetically by clearing invasive species and 

planting appropriate riparian species as well as providing a sustainable solution to 

drainage on site. 

• Introduce planting species which are appropriate to the various microclimates found 

on site. Vegetation should provide year round interest and respond to colours and 

texture within the surrounding context. 
• Redefine and clarifying new boundaries to provide formal and aesthetically 

appropriate boarders to a house setting.

P
age 285



4 Design Concepts

P
age 286



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency 31

5.0 Design Concepts

4.1   DESIGN CONCEPTS

Design concepts are driven by inherent landscape assets found on site including panoramic 
views to the surrounding Rule Valley and rural characteristics of the Scottish Borders such 
as colours textures and patterns within the landscape. 

Due to the Sites exposure to the surrounding rural setting any proposal will be visually 
connected to the wider landscape. It is intended that the landscape proposals draw in the 
textures, colours and field patterns and respond to this within planting, materiality and 
composition. 

As the architectural proposal is likely to be a contemporary interpretation on farm steading 
buildings, it is intended that the landscape diffuses contemporary style in order to integrate 
the dwelling appropriately within its rural context. Landscape proposals surrounding the 
proposed dwelling will initially be contemporary and in keeping with proposed architectural 
form. The further you travel from the dwelling the more informal the setting will become in 
order for landscape to naturally bleed into the surrounding rural context. 

▲ Concept Diagram 

CONTEMPORARY 

RURAL

P
age 287



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency32

P
age 288



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency 33

5.0 Design Concepts

4.2   INDICATIVE LANDSCAPE CHARACTER AREAS

The plan illustrates the proposed Landscape Character Areas for the site. 
Each character area will have unique values and features which contribute 
to creating a rich and varied landscape.  

Key Character Areas to include:

Courtyard

Immediate Setting

▲  Proposed indicative character areas

N

P
age 289



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency34

▲ Location of Courtyard

4.3   CHARACTER AREA 1 | COURTYARD

DESCRIPTION

A contemporary partially enclosed formal courtyard which 

frames the architectural proposal and combines the function 

of accessibility with social spaces in a high quality landscape 

setting.  

KEY RECOMMENDATIONS

• Create space for vehicular use which sets the tone of a high quality private setting. 

Ensure this area does not impede upon privacy within courtyard social spaces.

• Circulation and spatial composition to respond to the internal uses of the property. 

• Introduce a contemporary natural pool which provides visual interest within the 

courtyard and utilises potential reflection of its context.

• Introduce a mixture of structured planting and ornamental grasses suited to partial 

shade. These should provide contrast and year round interest. 

• Use of consistent planting and materials to unify the house and landscape setting.  

Materials used to define thresholds and provide leading lines across the courtyard. 

• Reinstate a formal access and entrance boundary to the site using appropriate 

materials.  

• Utilise views out to Bonchester Hill and along tree avenues at the courtyard point 

of entry.

P
age 290



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency 35

5.0 Design Concepts

▲  Indicative images of proposed character

P
age 291



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency36

4.4   CHARACTER AREA 2 | IMMEDIATE SETTING

DESCRIPTION

The immediate setting to the house excluding the courtyard 

space. This landscape will be less formal in content than the 

courtyard however still provide a structured complementary 

setting to the architectural proposal. ▲ Location of Immediate Setting

KEY RECOMMENDATIONS

• A private garden setting which compliments panoramic views to the wider 

landscape. 

• A combination of ornamental grasses and perennial planting which reference 

texture and colours within the wider landscape and frame key views. Structured 

planting to be robust in order to withstand exposure while providing year round 

interest. 

• Introduce informal access routes which lead you to smaller private spaces within 

the wider setting. These may be a combination of mown paths and steps which 

integrate seamlessly with undulations in the landscape. 

• Immediate setting west of the dwelling to integrate the natural setting of the burn  

with more formal structure surrounding the property. Use of riparian species which 

treat any surface water run off before entering the burn. 

• Reinforce visual barriers to the surrounding agricultural buildings using vegetative  

boarders. 

P
age 292



Bonchester Bridge | Landscape Appraisal

The Landscape Agency 37

5.0 Design Concepts

▲  Indicative images of proposed character

P
age 293



38

T: 01904 691630
landscapeagency.co.uk
enquiries@landscapeagency.co.uk

P
age 294



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Bonchester Bridge 
 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
Ethical Planning LLP 
April 2018 

 

 

Page 295



Bonchester Bridge 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

2 

 

Responsibility Notice 

 
We accept no responsibility of whatsoever nature to 

third parties to whom this report, or any part thereof, 

is made known.  

This Statement has been prepared by ethical 

partnership with all reasonable skill, care and diligence 

within the terms of the contract with the client, 

incorporation of our General Terms and Condition of 

Business and taking account of the resources devoted 

to us by agreement with the client. 

Any such party relies on the report at its own risk. 

 

Copyright Notice  

This document is the property of ethical partnership 

and may not be reproduced or used without 

permission of ethical partnership  

 

Client: Mr Jamie Reddihough 
Author: KH 
Approved for issue by: ARC 

Revision History  

Version  Title Date 

V4 Final 180418 

 

 
 
 
Ethical Planning LLP is a limited liability partnership 
registered in England and Wales under OC352734 and 
trading as ethical partnership.  VAT No: 937 5641 93 
A list of partners is available on request or at 
www.ethicalpartnership.co.uk   
 
Registered Office: 32 Portland Terrace, Newcastle 
upon Tyne, NE2 1QP 
© Ethical Planning LLP 2018 

All Rights Reserved. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Commission Notice  
We have been appointed by Mr Jamie Reddihough 
 

Contact for further information  

T;00 44 191 2846675 

M; 00 447845 709600 

E: enquiries@ethicalpartnership.co.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 296

http://www.ethicalpartnership.co.uk/
mailto:enquiries@ethicalpartnership.co.uk


Bonchester Bridge 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

3 

 

Contents 

Section Page 

  

1. Introduction 5 

1.1 Project Background 5 

1.2 Site Description 5 

1.3 Development Proposal 5 

2. Statutory Protection 6 

2.1 Tree Preservation Order, Listed Building and Conservation Area Designations 6 

2.2 Protected Species 6 

3. Methodologies 7 

3.1 Desk Study 7 

3.2 Condition Status 7 

3.3 Root Protection Area (RPA) 7 

4. Results 8 

4.1 Desk Study 8 

4.2 Weather Conditions and Personal 8 

4.3 Survey Results 8 

5. Discussion 10 

5.1 Desk Study 10 

5.2 Tree Quality 10 

6. Arboriculture Design Guidance 12 

6.1 Tree Constraints Plan 12 

6.2 Tree Retention/ Removal 12 

6.3 Below Ground Constraints 12 

7. Arboriculture Impact Assessment 14 

7.1 Building Demolition 14 

7.2 Removal of Hard Surfaces 14 

7.3 Removal of Services 14 

7.4 Ground Remediation 14 

7.5 Work within RPAs 14 

7.6 Works within Canopy Spreads 14 

7.7 Site Access 14 

7.8 Delivery and Storage of Materials 14 

7.9 Site Compound and Parking 15 

7.10 Shading 15 

7.11 Privacy and Screening 15 

7.12 Damage to Structures 15 

7.13 Seasonal Nuisance 15 

Page 297



Bonchester Bridge 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

4 

 

8. Recommendations 16 

9. Tree Constraints Plan 18 

10. References 19 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 298



Bonchester Bridge 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

5 

 

1. Introduction 
1.1 Project Background 

1.1.1 This Arboricultural Impact Assessment has been prepared to support a planning 

application for the proposed development of a dwellinghouse, associated outbuildings and 

a revised access to the existing farm buildings on land at, and adjacent to, Town O’ Rule 

Farm, Bonchester Bridge, Hawick in the Scottish Borders. 

1.1.2 To assess the current condition and constraints of the trees on the site a desk study was 

carried out in addition to a walkover of the site which was undertaken on 16th March 2018. 

This report details the impact that the proposed development will have upon the site’s 

existing tree stock and sets out recommendations for the subsequent mitigation or 

avoidance of impact. The study has been completed in accordance with guidance 

contained within British Standard BS5837:2012 ‘Trees in relation to design, demolition 

and construction – Recommendations.’  

1.2 Site Description 

1.2.1 The site under consideration is a sizeable area of land approximately 0.58 hectares in 

size. The site is located to the northwest of Town O’ Rule Farm near Bonchester Bridge, 

Hawick at Ordnance Survey Grid Reference NT 58810 13374.   

1.2.2 The study area is located within a predominantly rural area and comprises farmland, 

agricultural buildings with a number of residential properties also located nearby. 

1.2.3 The area is dominated by semi improved grassland, agricultural land and a small stream 

is located approximately 35m to the west of the site. The majority of notable vegetative 

features are located adjacent to or beyond the boundaries of the application site. The site 

features include a small stream flowing north, areas of bare ground likely caused by 

vehicles accessing the site, scattered trees and man-made infrastructure. Two agricultural 

buildings which appear to be used for housing sheep are located to the west of the site, a 

timber framed open-sided structure which appears to be used as a cover for vehicles and 

agricultural equipment was located on the site and , a two-storey stone cottage with a 

single storey extension is also located on the site.  

1.3 Development Proposal 

1.3.1 The proposed development of the site is the construction of a new dwellinghouse, 

associated outbuildings and a revised access to the existing farm buildings, on land to the 

northwest of Town O’ Rule Farm. 

1.3.2 The proposed development has been designed so that safe and healthy existing trees are 

retained wherever possible and that those trees to be retained are not significantly 

impacted upon by the development. 

  

Page 299



Bonchester Bridge 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

6 

 

2. Statutory Protection 
2.1 Tree Preservation Order, Listed Building and Conservation Area 

Designations 

2.1.1 There are no Tree Preservation Orders, listed buildings or conservation areas within or 

closely surrounding the study area. 

2.2 Protected Species 

2.2.1 Bats 

2.2.2 Mature trees often contain cavities, hollows, peeling bark or woodpecker holes which 

provide potential roosting locations for bats. Bats and the places they use for shelter or 

protection (i.e. roosts) receive European protection under The Conservation of Habitats 

and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010, as amended). They receive 

further legal protection under the Wildlife and Countryside Act (WCA) 1981, as amended. 

Consequently causing damage to a bat roost constitutes an offence. 

2.2.3 Generally should the presence of a bat roost be suspected whilst completing works on 

any trees on site then an appropriately licensed bat worker should be consulted for 

advice. 

2.2.4 Birds 

2.2.5 Trees and hedgerows offer potential habitat for nesting birds which are protected under 

the Wildlife and Countryside Act WCA 1981 (as amended). Some species (listed in 

Schedule 1 of the WCA) are protected by special penalties. This legislation makes it an 

offence to intentionally or recklessly damage or destroy an active bird nest or part thereof. 

2.2.6 As the trees on, and adjacent, to the site provide potential habitat for nesting birds all tree 

work should ideally be completed outside the nesting bird season (Generally March to 

September). 

2.2.7 If this is not possible then the vegetation should be subject to a nesting bird inspection by 

a suitably experienced ecologist prior to commencement of works. If any active nests are 

identified then the vegetation, and a defined buffer zone, will need to remain in place until 

the young have naturally fledged. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 300



Bonchester Bridge 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

7 

 

3. Methodologies 
3.1 Desk Study 

3.1.1 A desk study was undertaken to identify if any of the trees present within or in close 

proximity to the site are covered by section 160 of the Town and Country Planning 

(Scotland) Act 1997, the Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation Order and Trees 

in Conservation Areas) (Scotland) Regulations 2010 (the 2010 Regulations) and Scottish 

Government Circular 1/2011 Tree Preservation Orders. 

3.2 Condition Status 

3.2.1 To determine the status of the trees within the site a full arboricultural survey has been 

undertaken, assessing the species and status of all trees present.  This survey has been 

carried out in accordance with British Standard 5837:2012 ‘Trees in relation to design, 

demolition and construction – Recommendations’. 

3.2.2 The trees were visually assessed and a schedule prepared listing: tree number, species, 

trunk diameter at 1.5 m above ground level (or in accordance with Annex C of 

BS5837:2012), tree height, crown spread (cardinal points), height of first branch and 

growth direction, age class and estimated remaining life expectancy in years. 

Measurements for tree height, first branch height, and crown spread were taken to an 

accuracy of 0.5 m. Stem diameter measurements were recorded to the nearest 10 mm. 

Any specific observations or recommendations with regard to management were also 

noted. All these observations and measurements are summarised in Section 3.3.    

3.2.3 Each tree was assessed and assigned to one of the following categories:  

• Category A: Those trees of high quality and value with an estimated remaining life 

expectancy of at least 40 years.    

• Category B: Those trees of moderate quality and value with an estimated 

remaining life expectancy of at least 20 years.    

• Category C: Those trees of low quality and value with an estimated remaining life 

expectancy of at least 10 years or young trees with a stem diameter below 150 

mm.    

• Category U: Trees in such a condition that they cannot realistically be retained as 

living trees in the context of the current land use for longer than 10 years. 

3.3 Root Protection Area (RPA) 

3.3.1 In order to avoid damage to the roots or rooting environment of retained trees, the RPA 

has been calculated for each of the Category A, B and C trees.  This is a minimum area 

around a tree which is deemed to contain sufficient roots and rooting volume to maintain 

the tree’s viability. Protection of the roots and soil structure in this area should be treated 

as a priority.  

3.3.2 These figures have been calculated utilising the formulas within Section 4.6 and Annex D 

of British Standard 5837:2012. 

 

Page 301



Bonchester Bridge 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

8 

 

4. Results 
4.1 Desk Study 

4.1.1 Simon Wilkinson (Tree Officer at Scottish Borders Council) confirmed via email on 12th 

March 2018 that there are no tree preservation orders or statutory protection at Town 

O’Rule, Hawick. 

4.2 Weather Conditions and Personal 

4.2.1 Kayleigh Houlsby BSc MSc completed the survey on 16th March 2018. The weather 

conditions at the time of the survey are shown in Table 1. 

4.2.2 Table 1: Weather conditions on the date of the site survey 

Conditions Result 

Temperature (°C) 4 

Cloud Cover (%) 100 

Precipitation Nil 

Wind Speed (mph) 15 

 

4.3 Survey Results 

4.3.1 The full results of the Arboricultural Assessment are detailed in Table 2. 

4.3.2 Table 2: Results of the full arboriculture assessment for the proposed development 

site 

Tree 

No.  

Tree Species Stems Diameter 

(mm) 

Height 

(m) 

Height 

1st 

Branch 

(m) 

Crown 

Spread 

(m) 

Age 

Class 

Condition Category 

1 Beech 
 
Fagus 
sylvatica 

1 590 10.5 2 N 3.5 
E 4.5 
S 4.5 
W 4.5 

Y Moss present. 
Good structural 
condition. No 
sign of 
ecological use. 

B 

2 Beech 
 
Fagus 
sylvatica 

1 600 11 2 N 4.5 
E 4.5 
S 5.0 
W 3.0 

Y Moss present. 
Good structural 
condition. 
Constrained 
crown. The tree 
is surrounded by 
a small hedge. 
No sign of 
ecological use. 

B 

3 Elder 
 
Sambucus 
Nigra 

1 400 2.5 0.0 N 1.5 
E 1.5 
S 1.5 
W 1.5 

SM Fungus/ moss 
present. Minor 
deadwood 
present. 
Forks in stem. 
No sign of 
ecological use. 

C 

4 Grey Willow 
 

3 410 3.5 0.5 N 2.5 
E 2.5 

Y Multi-stemmed. 
Good structural 

C 

Page 302



Bonchester Bridge 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

9 

 

Salix cinerea S 2.5 
W 2.5 

condition. 
No sign of 
ecological use. 

5 Sycamore 
 
Acer 
pseudoplatanus 

2 550 7.5 1.0 N 4.0 
E 4.5 
S 4.5 
W 3.5 

Y Isolated. 
Multi-stemmed. 
Fungus/moss 
present. No sign of 
ecological use. 

C 

 

4.3.3 Table 3 provides details of the Root Protection Area (RPA) of all trees or groups 

surveyed. This table also gives an approximate root protection radius for these trees. 

4.3.4 Table 3: RPA and approximate Root Protection Radius of Category A, B and C 

Trees 

Tree No.  Species Life 
Expectancy 
(years) 

Diameter 
(mm) 

Approximate 
Root 
Protection 
Radius (m) 

Root 
Protection 
Area (m2) 

1 Beech 40+ 590 6.90 150 

2 Beech 40+ 600 7.20 163 

3 Elder 20+ 400 4.80 72 

4 Grey Willow  410 4.80 72 

5 Sycamore 40+ 550 6.60 137 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 303



Bonchester Bridge 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

10 

 

5. Discussion 
5.1 Desk Study 

5.1.1 The desk study identified that no trees within the study area are subject to Tree 

Preservation Orders (TPO), and that the study area is not situated within a Conservation 

Area. 

5.2 Tree Quality 

5.2.1 Retention Value 

5.2.2 The initial stage of a tree survey in accordance to BS5837:2012 looks at the trees on the 

site in terms of life expectancy and condition. Trees are then categorised according to 

their retention value. 

5.2.3 Category A trees are those that have been assessed as being of a high quality and value; 

significant amendments to the proposed scheme should be considered in preference to 

their removal. 

5.2.4 Category B trees are those that have been assessed as being of a moderate quality and 

value; amendments to the proposed scheme should be considered in preference to their 

removal. 

5.2.5 Category C trees are those that have been assessed as being of a low quality and value; 

the loss of these specimens should not necessarily be considered as a constraint to 

development. 

5.2.6 Category U trees are those that have been assessed as having no retention value; these 

trees should not be a material consideration in the planning process. 

5.2.7 Category A, B or C trees are those that should be a material consideration in the planning 

process whilst Category U trees are those which would be lost in the short term for 

reasons connected to their physiological or structural condition and hence they should not 

be a consideration in the planning process. 

5.2.8 Physiological Condition 

5.2.9 Trees considered to be in a good physiological condition are those with crown density and 

shoot extension growth levels within the expected ranges for their age and species. 

Generally, these trees, subject to being of a suitable structural condition, can be expected 

to make a lasting contribution to the site.  

5.2.10 Trees considered to be in a fair physiological condition are those specimens exhibiting 

lower shoot extension growth and reduced crown density than would typically be 

expected. These specimens have a lower life expectancy than those within the good 

condition class and will not tolerate significant changes as a result of development as well 

as those in the good condition class. 

5.2.11 Trees considered to be in a poor physiological condition are those exhibiting crown and 

shoot dieback and significantly reduced crown density. Trees of a poor physiological 

condition are not likely to make a lasting contribution to the site. 

 

 

Page 304



Bonchester Bridge 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

11 

 

5.2.12 Age Distribution 

5.2.13 Those trees assessed as being young (Y) in age can generally be considered to have 

significant growth potential. Whilst these specimens are not likely to make a substantial 

contribution to the landscape character of the site at present they will, if retained, provide 

succession for the eventual removal of mature or over mature trees as a result of 

declining physiological or structural condition. 

5.2.14 Early mature trees (EM) will generally make a significant contribution to the landscape 

character and appearance of the site and their retention will provide more immediate 

succession. These trees will also have significant growth potential.  

5.2.15 Mature trees (M) are not considered to have significant future growth potential and have 

generally reached their maximum expected size for the location. These trees will generally 

make the highest contribution to the landscape contribution of the site. 

5.2.16 Over-mature trees (OM) do not have the potential to increase in size and may in fact 

reduce in size as their crowns begin to break up. These trees will often make a significant 

contribution to the landscape character of the site and are likely to have ecological value. 

However, the retention of these trees within new development must be carefully planned 

as they are approaching the end of their useful life expectancy and they will often have 

structural defects.  

5.2.17 Veteran trees (V) are those that show features of biological, cultural or aesthetic value 

that are characteristic of an individual surviving beyond the typical age range for the 

species. These trees have negligible potential to increase in size. Veteran trees are 

usually of a high ecological value and they will require sensitive management where they 

are to be retained in new development. 

5.2.18 Visual Amenity 

5.2.19 The scattered location of the trees, making them isolated individuals, are not prominent 

features of the local landscape and have low visual amenity. The ages of the trees also 

limit the ability to make substantial contribution to the landscape character. 

5.2.20 Ecological Value 

5.2.21 Generally speaking it is known that trees are of ecological value and that they fulfil an 

important role in the urban landscape. In particular it should be noted that trees may 

provide habitat for protected species, notably for birds and bats. It is unlikely that the trees 

present on site provide suitable habitat for protected species as they are singular 

specimens and no features of importance were noted during the survey. Nearby woodland 

plantations likely act as a more suitable habitat for protected species. Full details of the 

ecological value of trees present within the study area can be found in the Preliminary 

Ecological Appraisal for this site. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 305



Bonchester Bridge 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

12 

 

6. Arboriculture Design Guidance 
6.1 Tree Constraints Plan 

6.1.1 The Tree Constraints Plan (contained within Section 9 of this report) is designed to show 

the influence that the trees have upon the site by virtue of their size and position.  

6.1.2 The plan seeks to act as a design tool that shows both the above and below ground 

constraints presented by the trees. 

6.2 Tree Retention/ Removal 

6.2.1 The prioritisation for tree retention should be based upon the guidance contained within 

BS5837:2012. Category A trees should be seen as the highest priority for retention and 

Category C the lowest. Category U trees have no retention value and in most 

circumstances such specimens will not be considered for retention within new 

development. 

6.2.2 In order to accommodate the proposed development it will be necessary to remove 2 

trees within the site shown in Table 4 below. 

6.2.3 Table 4: Trees identified for removal within the proposed development site 

Tree Number Species Category 

3 Elder C 

4 Grey Willow C 

 

6.2.4 The two trees identified for removal were deemed to be of low retention value and the loss 

of these trees will not result in a significant impact on the visual amenity of the site. 

6.2.5 Furthermore, one of the trees was a relatively immature specimen and can easily be 

replaced in the short-term. It is understood that provision is already included within the 

landscaping scheme for replacement tree planting throughout the site and as such the 

loss of these trees should not be considered a significant constraint to the proposed 

development. 

6.3 Below Ground Constraints 

6.3.1 Root Protection Areas 

6.3.2 Root Protection Areas for each tree and group of trees surveyed have been determined in 

accordance with BS5837:2012 and a schedule of Root Protection Areas is detailed within 

this Report in Table 3.  

6.3.3 Initial Root Protection Areas (RPA’s) for the trees have been plotted onto the Tree 

Constraints Plan as circles, with the tree located centrally, extending to encompass the 

area of ground, and thus the rootable soil volume, required for protection.  

6.3.4 Where possible all development, including new hard landscaping, shall be situated 

outside of the retained trees designated Root Protection Areas. 

 

 

 

Page 306



Bonchester Bridge 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

13 

 

6.3.5 New Hard Surfaces and Buildings within Root Protection Areas 

6.3.6 The construction of new hard surfaces and buildings around trees has the potential to 

cause soil compaction, to cause root damage and to reduce nutrient and moisture 

availability to tree roots to the detriment of tree health and vitality.  

6.3.7 To minimise harm occurring as a result of such works, where installation of new hard 

surfacing is proposed within the Root Protection Areas of retained trees, it must be 

installed in accordance with no-dig principles. 

6.3.8 Building Foundations 

6.3.9 Any structures built on the site should comply with the foundation depths for buildings 

near or adjacent to trees and allow for the potential size of the trees at maturity. The soil 

types throughout the site will need investigating and appropriate measures taken. 

6.3.10 Service Runs 

6.3.11 All service runs, utilities and similar infrastructure should take note of trees and allow for 

working methods that will minimise damage to trees. 

6.3.12 Existing Canopy Spreads 

6.3.13 The current spread of a tree is a constraint due to its dominance, size and movement in 

strong winds. It will typically be unacceptable to design any built development within the 

current spread of a tree. Where built development is proposed in close proximity to 

existing trees consideration should be given to the amount of working space required to 

allow its construction. Additionally, where development is proposed in close proximity to 

the existing canopy spread of a tree the likelihood of leaf or fruit fall or an accumulation of 

honeydew causing nuisance must be given.  

6.3.14 It should also be noted that where the Root Protection Areas for retained trees do not 

extend to the edge of existing canopy spreads it is possible that those parts of the trees 

extending beyond the RPA may sustain damage during construction. 

6.3.15 Future Tree Growth 

6.3.16 Some of the trees surveyed are not yet mature and they have the potential for future 

growth. Where these are to be retained consideration of their ultimate crown spread 

should be given as future branch growth may result in interference with the proposed 

development, damage to branches and the need for a tree pruning regime.  

6.3.17 Within the area of maximum branch spread, construction activities should be restricted for 

the long-term health and vigour of the trees. It is considered that within the area of 

maximum branch spread single storey buildings and the installation of hard surfaces 

would be an appropriate form of construction, however should car parking be proposed 

beneath the ultimate spread of trees the likelihood of fruit fall, leaf litter or sap exudation 

causing a nuisance must be considered.  

6.3.18 In addition, it is important to consider the likelihood of damage to trees or structures that 

may be caused by continuous whipping of branches in windy conditions. In such 

circumstances branches may have to be repeatedly cut back which will introduce wounds 

in the tree and may spoil its form or shape. In general terms trees should not be retained 

upon the basis that their ultimate branch spread can be significantly controlled by periodic 

pruning. 

Page 307



Bonchester Bridge 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

14 

 

7. Arboriculture Impact Assessment 
7.1 Building Demolition 

7.1.1 There are no areas on site where the demolition of existing buildings is required within 

close proximity to retained trees. As such no impact from this aspect of the development 

is considered likely. 

7.2 Removal of Hard Surfaces 

7.2.1 There are no areas on site where the removal of existing hardstanding will be required 

within the RPA of any retained trees. As such impacts to retained trees from this aspect of 

development is not expected. 

7.3 Removal of Services 

7.3.1 There are no areas on site where the removal of existing underground services is likely to 

require works within the RPA of retained trees. As such impacts to retained trees from this 

aspect of development is not expected. 

7.4 Ground Remediation 

7.4.1 The previous usage of the site is considered unlikely to have resulted in areas of soil 

contamination that would require excavation and disposal, or treatment works, to be 

undertaken. As such impacts to retained trees from this aspect of development is not 

expected. 

7.5 Work within RPAs 

7.5.1 The proposed development has been designed to ensure that works are not required 

within the RPAs of retained trees. 

7.6 Works within Canopy Spreads 

7.6.1 There are no aspects of the proposed development expected to require works within the 

canopy spread of retained trees. To minimise the potential for branch damage to occur 

the adoption of an appropriate working methodology will ensure that harm to the retained 

tree is avoided. 

7.7 Site Access 

7.7.1 It is understood that construction access to the site will be provided from the existing 

vehicular access to the site. It may be necessary to undertake some access facilitation 

pruning works to minimise the potential for branch damage to occur due to the passage of 

construction plant. It may also be necessary to ensure retained trees adjacent to the 

access route are protected from potential impact damage by the installation of tree 

protection barriers prior to the commencement of development. 

7.8 Delivery and Storage of Materials 

7.8.1 Material deliveries to the site will utilise the existing access track. Retained trees will be 

protected from harm by the prior installation of tree protection barriers and the completion 

of access facilitation pruning works. Areas for materials storage will need to be identified, 

however, the nature of the site provides many opportunities for such use in a way that will 

not affect retained trees. 

Page 308



Bonchester Bridge 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

15 

 

7.9 Site Compound and Parking 

7.9.1 The locations for the contractors compound and parking will need to be identified, 

however, the nature of the site provides many opportunities for such use in a way that will 

not affect retained trees. 

7.10 Shading 

7.10.1 The nature of the proposed development is such that shading of primary living spaces 

from retained trees is generally considered unlikely to occur. As such, conflicts between 

retained trees and the proposed development resulting in further pressure from tree 

removal are not expected. 

7.11 Privacy and Screening 

7.11.1 The proposed development has been designed so that the majority of the trees adjacent 

to the site boundaries are retained to provide privacy and screening. Additionally, 

vegetation to the southern and western boundaries will be retained and supplemented 

with new planting. 

7.12 Damage to Structures 

7.12.1 There are no areas on site where retained trees will be in such close proximity to the new 

development that direct damage, through branch whipping or root growth, are considered 

likely to occur. 

7.13 Seasonal Nuisance 

7.13.1 It is not anticipated that any seasonal nuisance is likely to occur. Notwithstanding this, it 

may prove appropriate in certain areas to use gutter guards, or otherwise enclosed 

gutters, to minimise the potential for lead fall to cause blockage and an ongoing nuisance.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 309



Bonchester Bridge 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

16 

 

8. Recommendations 
8.1.1 The following site-specific recommendations are made:  

• The retention of Category B trees should be considered where possible but where 

this cannot be achieved compensatory planting will need to be undertaken. It is 

understood that two Category B trees will be retained.  

• The retention of the Category C trees should be considered where possible though 

it must be noted that these specimens have a low retention value and are likely to 

only offer a temporary contribution to the landscape character of the site.  

• Any proposed new planting should consist of native and wildlife attracting species 

with a robust five year management plan to assist with the development proposal 

and to offer mitigation for tree loss. 

• In general all new development shall be located outside of the RPA or canopy 

spread of any retained tree. 

• Where any new development is proposed within the RPA or canopy spread of a 

retained tree it must be constructed in such a way that damage of the trees root 

system or crown can be avoided. 

• Should new development require works within the RPA of any retained tree an 

Arboricultural Method Statement should be prepared to set out what steps are to 

be taken to protect the trees during the course of development. 

• Prior to development, a plan should be prepared detailing the locations in which 

activities related to the establishment of a site compound, contractors car parking 

areas, material storage areas and associated works are to occur. All of which 

should be located outside of the RPAs of retained trees.  

8.1.2 The following generic guidance should also be taken into account during the construction 

phase of any development, or significant engineering:  

• Any trees or groups that are to be retained should be adequately protected by 

Heras fencing, in line with BS5837:2012, extending at least to the Root Protection 

Radius, to prevent accidental damage by vehicles or contractors (see Table 3 for 

RPA data for each tree). Within these areas no construction works, or related 

activities, will be undertaken. 

• All tree works are to be carried out by a competent and qualified arborist to 

BS3998:2010 standards.  

• Tree protection should be included in the induction and/or briefing sessions by the 

contractors to site personnel.  

• Soil compaction, from the storage of large quantities of materials and plant 

tracking, may result in changes to soil permeability and local drainage. This may 

lead to waterlogging or loss of soil crumb structure. These effects may in turn lead 

to root asphyxiation and root death, a cause of instability and or mortality in trees. 

For this reason, heavy machinery, excavation of bare ground and the storage of 

materials should be excluded from the crown and Root Protection Radius of all 

trees.  

Page 310



Bonchester Bridge 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

17 

 

• The recommendations of BS5837:2012 and National Joint Utilities Group Volume 

4 (Guidelines for the Planning, Installation and Maintenance of Utility Services in 

Proximity to Trees) (as appropriate to operations) should be followed when 

working close to trees.  

• If works take place during the bird breeding season, usually from March to 

September inclusive, trees and hedgerows should be checked for nesting birds.  If 

any trees are to be removed this should be done outside the breeding season or in 

the presence of a suitably qualified ecologist.  

• Mature trees often contain cavities, hollows, peeling bark or woodpecker holes 

which provide potential roosting locations for bats. Bats and the places they use 

for shelter or protection (i.e. roosts) receive European protection under The 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010, as amended (Habitats 

Regulations 2010, as amended).  They receive further legal protection under the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act (WCA) 1981, as amended. Consequently, causing 

damage to a bat roost constitutes an offence. As such prior to undertaking works 

to trees a check to see if they are being used for bat roosting should be 

undertaken by a suitably qualified and experienced ecologist. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 311



Bonchester Bridge 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

18 

 

9. Tree Constraints Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 312



Bonchester Bridge 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

19 

 

10. References 
Arboricultural Advisory Information Services. (2007). ‘Practice Note 12. Through Trees to 

Development’. 

 

British Standards Institution. (2012). British Standard 5837:2012, Trees in relation to 

design, demolition and construction – recommendations. British Standards Institution, 

London.  

 

British Standards Institution. (2010). British Standard 3998:2010, Trees work– 

recommendations. British Standards Institution, London 

 

Johnson, O. and More, D. (2004). Tree Guide. Collins, London. 

 

National Joint Utilities Group. (2007). Volume 4: NJUG Guidelines for the Planning, 

Installation and Maintenance of Utility Services in Proximity to Trees. NJUG, London. 

 

 

 

 

Document ends 

Page 313



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Bonchester Bridge 
 

Flood Risk Assessment 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
Ethical Planning LLP 
August 2018 

 

 

Page 315



Bonchester Bridge 

Flood Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

2 

 

Responsibility Notice 

 
We accept no responsibility of whatsoever nature to 

third parties to whom this report, or any part thereof, 

is made known.  

This Statement has been prepared by ethical 

partnership with all reasonable skill, care and diligence 

within the terms of the contract with the client, 

incorporation of our General Terms and Condition of 

Business and taking account of the resources devoted 

to us by agreement with the client. 

Any such party relies on the report at its own risk. 

 

Copyright Notice  

This document is the property of ethical partnership 

and may not be reproduced or used without 

permission of ethical partnership  

 

Client: Mr Jamie Reddihough 
Author: PG 
Approved for issue by: ARC 

Revision History  

Version  Title Date 

V3 Final 100818 

 

 
 
 
Ethical Planning LLP is a limited liability partnership 
registered in England and Wales under OC352734 and 
trading as ethical partnership.  VAT No: 937 5641 93 
A list of partners is available on request or at 
www.ethicalpartnership.co.uk   
 
Registered Office: 32 Portland Terrace, Newcastle 
upon Tyne, NE2 1QP 
© Ethical Planning LLP 2018 

All Rights Reserved. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Commission Notice  
We have been appointed by Mr Jamie Reddihough 
 

Contact for further information  

T;00 44 191 2846675 

M; 00 447845 709600 

E: enquiries@ethicalpartnership.co.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 316

http://www.ethicalpartnership.co.uk/
mailto:enquiries@ethicalpartnership.co.uk


Bonchester Bridge 

Flood Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

3 

 

Contents 

Section Page 

  

1. Introduction 5 

1.1 Background 5 

1.2 Reporting Guidelines 5 

2. Site Details and Location 6 

2.1 Overview 6 

2.2 Sources of Flood Risk 6 

2.3 Coastal Flooding 7 

2.4 Fluvial Flooding 7 

2.5 Groundwater Flooding 7 

2.6 Surface Water (Pluvial) Flooding 7 

3. Site Walkover 9 

3.1 Introduction 9 

3.2 Site Topography 9 

3.3 Watercourses 9 

3.4 Land Use 10 

3.5 Historical Flooding 11 

3.6 Site Access 11 

3.7 Historical Flooding 11 

4. Surface Water Management 12 

4.1 Introduction 12 

4.2 SuDS Recommendations 12 

4.3 CAR Binding Rules 12 

4.4 Water Quality 12 

4.5 SuDS Options 12 

4.6 Changes to Flood Risk outwith the Site 13 

5. Conclusions 14 

5.1 Introduction 14 

5.2 Summary 14 

 
 
 

Figure 2.1 Extract from Proposed Site Plan 6 

Figure 2.2 Extract from Envirocheck Groundwater Flooding Map 7 

Figure 2.3 Extract from Envirocheck Surface Water Flooding Map 8 

Figure 2.4 Extract from SEPA Flood Map (2015) 8 

Figure 3.1 Topography of existing site as observed from access road on 16.03.2018 9 

Figure 3.2 Nearest watercourse as observed on 16.03.2018 10 

Figure 3.3 Agricultural buildings to the west of the site as observed on 16.03.2018 10 

Page 317



Bonchester Bridge 

Flood Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

4 

 

Figure 3.4 Site access as observed on 16.03.2018 11 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 318



Bonchester Bridge 

Flood Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

5 

 

1. Introduction 
1.1 Background 

1.1.1 This Flood Risk Assessment has been prepared by Allen Creedy MRTPI FIEMA to assess 

the flood risk associated with the proposed development on land to the northwest of Town 

O’ Rule Farmhouse, near Bonchester Bridge in the Scottish Borders. 

1.1.2 The study is necessary to meet the requirements of Scottish Planning Policy, June 2014 

(SPP) and SEPA Policy 41. 

1.1.3 The study comprised the following; 

• Site walkover 

• Consideration of sources of flood risk 

• Consideration of flood mitigation options 

• Preparation of a report to meet the requirements of Scottish Planning Policy (SPP) 

and SEPA protocol 

1.2 Reporting Guidelines 

1.2.1 This Flood Risk Assessment is consistent with the reporting requirements detailed within 

SEPA’s ‘Technical Flood Risk Guidance for Stakeholders’, which supersedes Annex B of 

SEPA Policy 41. The aim of this document is to ensure that relevant information is 

presented in a clear format that can be reviewed by the Planning Authority and SEPA and 

is consistent with SPP. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 319



Bonchester Bridge 

Flood Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

6 

 

2. Site Details and Location 
2.1 Overview 

2.1.1 The proposed development site is located 2.1km north of Bonchester Bridge, Ordnance 

Survey National Grid Reference (OS NGR) NT 58810 13374 and consists of agricultural 

land with a small watercourse to the west of the site. There are a number of existing 

agricultural buildings on the site. The site has an area of approximately 0.58 hectares. 

2.1.2 A small stream is located approximately 35m west of the site but the flood outline for the 

stream shown on the SEPA online flood maps confirms that this watercourse will not 

impact on the proposed development site. 

Figure 2.1 Extract from Proposed Site Plan 

 

2.2 Sources of Flood Risk 

2.2.1 Scottish Planning Policy, June 2014 (SPP) highlights that there are a number of potential 

sources of flooding that could impact any site, these are fluvial (origination from a 

watercourse), coastal, groundwater, surface water (pluvial), sewers and blocked culverts. 

The purpose of this report is to provide an assessment of flood risk to the site from those 

sources. 

 

Page 320



Bonchester Bridge 

Flood Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

7 

 

2.3 Coastal Flooding 

2.3.1 The site is located approximately 88km inland from the coast. There is therefore no risk of 

coastal flooding. 

2.4 Fluvial Flooding 

2.4.1 Fluvial flooding is flooding originating from a watercourse. The nearest watercourse is a 

small stream, approximately 35m to the west of the site. The SEPA Flood Map (2015) 

indicates that the site is not at risk from fluvial flooding. 

2.5 Groundwater Flooding 

2.5.1 Groundwater flooding is flooding that is caused by unusually high groundwater levels or 

flow rates. During flooding, groundwater can emerge at the ground surface or within man-

made underground structures such as basements. There are various mechanisms of 

groundwater flooding, including clearwater flooding due to prolonged heavy rainfall on 

distant connected geology alluvial and coastal groundwater flooding, and that associated 

with minewater rebound or ground subsidence. The site is located outside the area of 

groundwater influenced flooding shown on the SEPA map. 

2.5.2 Envirocheck records confirm that the site is in an area where there is limited potential for 

groundwater flooding to occur. 

Figure 2.2 Extract from Envirocheck Groundwater Flooding Map 

 

 

2.6 Surface Water (Pluvial) Flooding 

2.6.1 Surface water (pluvial) flooding occurs from intense rainfall related overland flows and 

ponding in localised depressions. The SEPA Flood Map (2015) indicates that the site is 

not at risk from surface water flooding. 

Page 321



Bonchester Bridge 

Flood Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

8 

 

2.6.2 Envirockeck records confirm that the site is not at risk from surface water (pluvial) 

flooding. 

Figure 2.3 Extract from Envirocheck Surface Water Flooding Map 

 

 

Figure 2.4 Extract from SEPA Flood Map (2015) 

 

 

 

  

Page 322



Bonchester Bridge 

Flood Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

9 

 

3. Site Walkover 
3.1 Introduction 

3.1.1 In order to gain a better understanding of potential flood risk to the site, a site visit was 

conducted on Friday 16th of March 2018. The weather conditions were cold, damp and 

windy with good visibility. 

3.2 Site Topography 

3.2.1 The site covers a section of land which includes a terrace at a higher level (which covers 

the site of an existing open-sided, L-shaped timber structure and stone outbuilding) that 

slopes steeply down to the northwest, towards the small stream which runs parallel to the 

site and flows in a northerly direction. The site levels fall from 186.83mAOD at the site 

access, down to 181.48mAOD beyond the terrace upon which the proposed dwelling 

would be constructed. The rest of the site is relatively even with small hummocks and 

undulations. 

Figure 3.1 Topography of existing site as observed from access road on 16.03.2018 

 

3.3 Watercourses 

3.3.1 The nearest watercourse, a small stream, is located approximately 35 metres to the west 

of the site of the proposed dwelling. The stream flows in a northerly direction and the 

topography of the site (where the development site sits at a higher level than the stream) 

means that there is no risk of the stream overflowing and presenting a flood risk to the 

proposed dwelling. 

3.3.2 The site walkover on Friday 16th of March was undertaken during rainy, wet and cold 

conditions where it would be expected that any drainage and/ or flood risk issues would 

become more obvious. However, no risk of flooding or drainage issues were observed. 

Page 323



Bonchester Bridge 

Flood Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

10 

 

Figure 3.2 Nearest watercourse as observed on 16.03.2018 

 

3.4 Land Use 

3.4.1 The site and surroundings consist of land which is used largely for agricultural purposes. 

The site is located to the east of a small stream and land use consists of existing buildings 

and hardstanding with a greenfield area. There are residential dwellings to the east of the 

site. There are agricultural buildings, including two large sheds located to the west of the 

site. 

Figure 3.3 Agricultural buildings to the west of the site as observed on 16.03.2018 

 

 

Page 324



Bonchester Bridge 

Flood Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

11 

 

3.5 Historical Flooding 

3.5.1 No evidence of past flooding events on or adjacent to the site has been identified. 

3.6 Site Access 

3.6.1 Access to the site is gained from the D63. There is an existing agricultural track adjacent 

to the site which provides access to the agricultural buildings to the west. The track is not 

at risk from fluvial flooding due to the difference in elevation between the access and the 

watercourse. No evidence of surface water (pluvial) flooding was observed during the site 

walkover, which was undertaken in rainy conditions.   

Figure 3.4 Site access as observed on 16.03.2018 

 

3.7 Historical Flooding 

3.7.1 Readily available archives including the internet based British Hydrological Society 

Chronology of British Hydrological Events was searched but no specific information for 

this area was available. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 325



Bonchester Bridge 

Flood Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

12 

 

4. Surface Water Management 
4.1 Introduction 

4.1.1 SuDS design has not been finalised at this stage. However, it is recommended that any 

SuDS be situated outside the functional floodplain, including areas of indicative surface 

water flooding, and that existing overland flow pathways be maintained or enhanced. High 

level recommendations for SuDS options are provided below. 

4.2 SuDS Recommendations 

4.2.1 The Water Environment (Controlled Activities) (Scotland) Regulations 2005 (CAR) 

requires all new developments to employ Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) to 

control and treat surface water runoff. The following recommendations are made with 

respect to SuDS options for this site and should be considered further at detailed design 

stage: 

4.3 CAR Binding Rules 

4.3.1 SuDS should comply with the relevant binding rules described within the Water 

Environment (Controlled Activities) (Scotland) Regulations 2005 – GBR10: Discharge of 

surface water run-off from a surface water drainage system to the water environment from 

construction sites, buildings, roads, yards and any other built up areas and GBR11: 

Discharge into a surface water drainage system. Any design should be undertaken with 

reference to the C697 CIRIA SuDS Manual. 

4.4 Water Quality 

4.4.1 SEPA WAT-RM-08 defines the number of treatment levels required. Based on the 

information currently available for this development, it is anticipated that one level of 

treatment would be required based on the proximity of the development to areas with 

designated SAC and SSSI status. This may change depending upon the size of the final 

development. 

4.5 SuDS Options 

4.5.1 Any designed SuDS should have a neutral or better effect on surface water flooding at the 

site. The following high level options are suggested, but further investigation of 

appropriate methods should be undertaken in the detailed design stages: 

a. Infiltration basin or soakaway – this would discharge surface water directly to the 

ground via infiltration. It is recommended that an analysis of soil and ground 

conditions are undertaken if this option is to be considered.  

b. Dry or wet swale – these strips of vegetated land allow collection of surface water 

from impermeable surfaces and intercept silt and pollution, allowing cleaner water 

to be discharged to the ground or a waterbody. This option would require 

consultation with SEPA and a CAR licence following consolation.  

c. Detention basin – these are used to store and treat water and consist of commonly 

grassed areas to store runoff from higher storm durations prior to discharge. Flow 

control is required. As above, consideration of the levels of treatment appropriate 

for discharge to the ground or waterbody should be undertaken.  

 

Page 326



Bonchester Bridge 

Flood Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

13 

 

4.6 Changes to Flood Risk outwith the Site 

4.6.1 Given the scale of the development and that the site is at low risk of flooding, there should 

be no change to flood risk outwith the site over the existing pre-development condition. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 327



Bonchester Bridge 

Flood Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

14 

 

5. Conclusions 
5.1 Introduction 

5.1.1 The FRA has been prepared in accordance with Scottish Planning Policy, June 2014 

(SPP) for the proposed development on land to the northwest of Town O’ Rule 

Farmhouse. It is understood that the site will be used for the development of a 

dwellinghouse.  

5.2 Summary 

5.2.1 The site lies outside the indicative limits of groundwater influenced flooding shown upon 

the SEPA Flood Map (2015). The site is not identified as being at high risk from fluvial 

flooding or other sources of flooding. 

5.2.2 Post-development water levels are estimated to be unchanged on land surrounding the 

site.  

5.2.3 In summary, the site is at low risk of flooding from all sources.  

5.2.4 The proposed development in terms of surface water is deemed to be sustainable and all 

Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) options will be implemented wherever possible.  

5.2.5 Drainage details are yet to be finalised and it is requested that drainage details be the 

subject of a condition attached to a planning permission. 

 

Document ends 

Page 328



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Bonchester Bridge 
 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk 
Assessment 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
Ethical Planning LLP 
August 2018 

 

 

Page 329



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

2 

 

Responsibility Notice 

 
We accept no responsibility of whatsoever nature to 

third parties to whom this report, or any part thereof, 

is made known.  

This Statement has been prepared by ethical 

partnership with all reasonable skill, care and diligence 

within the terms of the contract with the client, 

incorporation of our General Terms and Condition of 

Business and taking account of the resources devoted 

to us by agreement with the client. 

Any such party relies on the report at its own risk. 

 

Copyright Notice  

This document is the property of ethical partnership 

and may not be reproduced or used without 

permission of ethical partnership  

 

Client: Mr Jamie Reddihough 
Author: KH 
Approved for issue by: ARC 

Revision History  

Version  Title Date 

V5 Final 100818 

 

 
 
 
Ethical Planning LLP is a limited liability partnership 
registered in England and Wales under OC352734 and 
trading as ethical partnership.  VAT No: 937 5641 93 
A list of partners is available on request or at 
www.ethicalpartnership.co.uk   
 
Registered Office: 32 Portland Terrace, Newcastle 
upon Tyne, NE2 1QP 
© Ethical Planning LLP 2018 

All Rights Reserved. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Commission Notice  
We have been appointed by Mr Jamie Reddihough 
 

Contact for further information  

T;00 44 191 2846675 

M; 00 447845 709600 

E: enquiries@ethicalpartnership.co.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 330

http://www.ethicalpartnership.co.uk/
mailto:enquiries@ethicalpartnership.co.uk


Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

3 

 

Contents 

Section Page 

  

1. Introduction 5 

1.1 Project Background 5 

1.2 Information Sources 5 

1.3 Scope of Works 5 

2. Geographical Characteristics 7 

2.1 Location 7 

2.2 General Area Description and Adjacent Land Uses 7 

2.3 Walkover Survey 7 

2.4 Site Topography and Drainage 8 

3. Site History 10 

3.1 General 10 

3.2 Summary of Site History 11 

3.3 Potential Contamination Sources 11 

4. Environmental Setting 12 

4.1 Introduction 12 

4.2 SEPA Consultation 12 

4.3 Local Authority 12 

4.4 Sensitive Land Use 13 

4.5 Geology and Mining 13 

4.6 Hydrology and Hydrogeology 13 

4.7 Landfill Sites and Waste Management 13 

4.8 Industrial Land Use 14 

4.9 Soil Chemistry 14 

4.10 Radon 14 

5. Site Conceptual Model 15 

5.1 Introduction 15 

5.2 Sources of Contamination 15 

5.3 Pollution Pathways 15 

5.4 Key Receptors 15 

5.5 Risk Assessment 16 

6. Conclusions and Recommendations 18 

6.1 Conclusions 18 

6.2 Environmental Protection Act (1990) Part IIa 18 

6.3 Proposed Use 18 

6.4 Recommendations 18 

7. Appendix 1: Site Walkover Photographs 19 

Page 331



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

4 

 

7.1 Photograph 1 19 

7.2 Photograph 2 19 

7.3 Photograph 3 20 

7.4 Photograph 4 20 

7.5 Photograph 5 21 

7.6 Photograph 6 21 

7.7 Photograph 7 22 

7.8 Photograph 8 22 

7.9 Photograph 9 23 

8. Appendix 2: Historical Maps 24 

8.1 Roxburghshire (1863) 24 

8.2 Roxburghshire (1899) 25 

8.3 Roxburghshire (1923 – 24) 26 

8.4 Roxburghshire (1951) 27 

8.5 Ordnance Survey (1957) 28 

8.6 Ordnance Survey (1970 – 75) 29 

8.7 Ordnance Survey (1990) 30 

8.8 10k Raster Mapping (2001) 31 

8.9 10k Raster Mapping (2006) 32 

8.10 VectorMap Local (2018) 33 

9. Appendix 3: Consultee Responses 34 

9.1 SEPA Response 34 

9.2 Local Authority Response 34 

 
 
 

Figure 1.1 Location Plan 6 

Figure 2.1 Existing Site Plan 8 

Figure 2.2 Proposed Site Plan 9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 332



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

5 

 

1. Introduction 
1.1 Project Background 

1.1.1 A Contaminated Land desk study was undertaken of the site of a proposed development 

at the Land North West of Town O’Rule Farmhouse Bonchester Bridge Hawick Scottish 

Borders. The site location is shown on Figure 1.1.  

1.1.2 This assessment is required to inform a planning application associated with the 

construction of a new dwellinghouse and associated outbuildings, including a revised 

access road to the farm buildings.  

1.1.3 To assess the potential contamination of the site a desk study was carried out in addition 

to a walkover of the site which was undertaken on 16th March 2018.  

1.2 Information Sources 

1.2.1 All information contained within this report has been compiled through a review of data 

gathered from the following sources: 

• Regulatory and government bodies, e.g. Scottish Environment Protection Agency, 

British Geological Survey. 

• Historical mapping 

• Envirocheck environmental data 

• Site walkover observations 

1.3 Scope of Works 

1.3.1 The works which were undertaken to inform the preparation of this contaminated land 

preliminary risk assessment were as follows: 

1. Review the development history of the site from the available historical maps, to 

identify previous uses which might result in contamination issues; 

2. Undertake an environmental database search to assess the environmental setting 

of the site; 

3. Undertake a site walkover survey of the site and its surroundings to assess 

existing conditions in terms of topography, ecology, evidence of surface water or 

groundwater, evidence of surface contamination, access issues and evidence of 

buried or overhead services, noting pertinent features identified from the 

Envirocheck report and historical review; 

4. Undertake an environmental database search to assess the environmental setting 

of the site. The report identifies potentially sensitive receptors and collates 

information on the environmental setting; 

5. Undertake a qualitative risk assessment of potential contamination issues at the 

site. The qualitative risk assessment includes the development of a conceptual 

model for the site and identifies any Significant Pollutant Linkages which may be 

present; 

6. Draw conclusions from the study and provide recommendations on further actions 

and investigations which are likely to be required. 

Page 333



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

6 

 

Figure 1.1 Location Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 334



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

7 

 

2. Geographical Characteristics 
2.1 Location 

2.1.1 The study area, hereinafter referred to as ‘the site’, is approximately 0.58 hectares in size 

and is located approximately 7.4 miles to the east of Hawick town centre, in the Scottish 

Borders. The site is predominantly comprised of disused agricultural buildings, areas of 

grassland and agricultural machinery. There is an private, unadopted agricultural access 

track which provides access to the farm buildings from the D63.Hallrule Burn, a tributary 

of the River Teviot, runs parallel to the proposed development site and flows in a northerly 

direction. The approximate National Grid Reference for the site centre is 358710, 613550. 

2.2 General Area Description and Adjacent Land Uses  

2.2.1 The surrounding area is comprised majorly of residential and agricultural land uses. To 

the north of the site are areas of open grassland as well as small pockets of tree 

plantations that can also be seen in the distance in all cardinal directions. Agricultural 

operations associated with the site are located to the south and west of the proposed 

development and include agricultural fields and sheep barns. Two residential houses are 

located east of the site when exiting the site using the gravel access road onto the D63. 

The table below summarises the land use in each direction of the site. 

Direction Use 

North Sheep barns associated with Town O’ Rule 

Farm. Open grasslands and plantations in the 

distance. 

East Small group of residential units. 

South Agricultural fields and access to a main road. 

West Agricultural fields associated with Town O’ 

Rule Farm. 

 

2.3 Walkover Survey 

2.3.1 A site walkover was undertaken on the 16th March 2018 by Kayleigh Houlsby BSc MSc 

and Peter Gillan MA. The report has been Quality Assured by Allen Creedy MRTPI 

FIEMA. Photographs from the walkover are included in Appendix A. 

2.3.2 The access track onto the site (Photograph 1) splits into three roads with one option 

leading to the proposed development site north east of the track. This area predominantly 

comprises of bare earth (Photograph 2) likely due to the use of the track by agricultural 

vehicles accessing into/ egressing from the site. The stone cottage, which will be retained, 

refurbished and converted as part of the proposed development, currently has a single-

storey extension which is constructed of a mixture of stone and corrugated metal sheets 

(Photograph 3). The extension is in a state of disrepair, with numerous broken doors and 

windows observed. The extension is proposed to be demolished as part of the proposed 

development.  Existing and proposed site plans are included at Figures 2.1 and 2.2, 

respectively. Various agricultural buildings and residential properties are located to the 

east of the site (Photograph 4). At the time of the site walkover, many of the agricultural 

buildings were either empty or were being used to store agricultural paraphernalia. To the 

Page 335



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

8 

 

north of the site, the land levels there is a marked decrease in the downward slope in the 

topography of the land. The land to the north of the site comprises semi improved 

grassland (Photograph 5). To the west of the site there are two large barns with sheep 

present and an old storage tank which appeared to be disused (Photographs 6 and 7). 

Approximately 35m to the west of the site of the proposed dwelling is a watercourse 

known as Hallrule Burn (Photograph 8) which flows in a northerly direction. 

2.3.3 To the southwest of the site is an agricultural field associated with Town O’ Rule farm 

(Photograph 9). The wider surrounding landscape is a mix of agricultural land and 

woodland plantations with a small group of residential properties located to the east of the 

site.  

2.4 Site Topography and Drainage 

2.4.1 The current land for the proposed development is predominantly bare ground, clearly 

used by vehicles. Directly north of the proposed development is a watercourse, known 

locally as Hallrule Burn, flowing in a northerly direction. The area upon which the 

proposed dwelling would be situated is relatively flat. The land to the north of the site 

slopes downward steeply. There is timber post fencing around the slopes presumably to 

mark their presence. 

2.4.2 Manholes were not observed during the site walkover but could have been obscured by 

patches of overgrown vegetation or in areas where there was no access. Surface water 

and groundwater flow is likely to follow topography to the north in the direction of both 

Hallrule Burn and the River Tweed. 

 

Figure 2.1 Existing Site Plan 

 

 

 

 

Page 336



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

9 

 

Figure 2.2 Proposed Site Plan 

  

Page 337



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

10 

 

3. Site History 
3.1 General 

3.1.1 In order to establish the site history an inspection was made of historical maps, dating 

between 1863 and 2018. A summary of the information is provided below and a copy of 

the maps is included as Appendix 2. It is not the intention of this report to describe in 

detail all of the changes that have occurred on or adjacent to the site, only those pertinent 

to the proposed development. 

Map Dates On-site Features Relevant off-site features 

1863 The site is largely 

undeveloped with some 

buildings. 

Large areas of woodland and open space 

surrounding the site. Hallrule house and farm is 

situated north East of the site. Hallrule mill is 

located in an easterly direction of the site. Weens 

Cottages situated South of the site. Hallrule Burn 

River flows north of the site whilst the River 

Tweed flows south east of the site. There is a 

dam built on the Hallrule Burn River North East of 

the site. 

1899 Town O’Rule Cottages 

have been constructed 

near the Southern portions 

of the site. A tank has also 

been developed on site. 

Reservoir has been constructed South of the site 

along with several plantations and a post office. 

There is a well North of the site. 

1923 Little to no change has 

occurred within the site. 

Several tanks have been developed North of the 

site. Two Quarries have been labelled South of 

the site. 

1951 Little to no change has 

occurred within the site. 

Little to no change has occurred within the 

surrounding areas of the site. 

1957 Little to no change has 

occurred within the site. 

One Quarry South of the site is no longer labelled 

on the map. 

1970 Little to no change has 

occurred within the site. 

Both quarries South of the site are now no longer 

marked on the map. 

1990 Little to no change has 

occurred within the site. 

Little to no change has occurred within the 
surrounding areas of the site. 

2001 Two buildings have been 

erected just North West off 

the site boundary. 

Little to no change has occurred within the 
surrounding areas of the site. 

2006 Little to no change has 

occurred within the site. 

Little to no change has occurred within the 

surrounding areas of the site. 

2018 Little to no change has 

occurred within the site. 

Little to no change has occurred within the 

surrounding areas of the site. 

 

 

 

Page 338



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

11 

 

3.2 Summary of Site History 

3.2.1 The site is situated in a predominantly rural environment with little change to its land use 

historically. The site has remained largely unchanged with the exception of the erection of 

Town O’Rule cottages approximately 195m to the southeast of the site and a storage tank 

being developed directly on site in 1899. The site then went unchanged until 2001 where 

historical mapping shows the erection of two further buildings. 

3.2.2 The areas surrounding the site in all directions have mainly been associated with large 

vegetation plantations, isolated dwellings and infrastructure associated with rural 

residential living and agricultural uses such as storage tanks, farms and mills. The site 

shows signs of small industrial and residential expansion such as the erection of a post 

office, reservoir and quarries between 1899 and 1923 but has otherwise remained largely 

unchanged. 

3.3 Potential Contamination Sources 

3.3.1 Based on the historical maps, available environmental data and the site walkover survey, 

the following potential on-site historical contamination sources have been identified within 

the site boundary: 

• Possible made ground associated with the construction of properties located on 

site. 

• Activities associated with residential and farm use of the site, e.g. storage tanks, 

slurries, sewage discharge, agricultural chemicals. 

3.3.2 Based on the historical maps, available environmental data and the site walkover survey, 

the following potential sources of off-site contamination have been identified: 

• Old quarries 

• Mill 

• Industrial land usage associated with agriculture such as storage tanks and 

adjacent farms. 

3.3.3 Through consideration of industry types, proximity to the study site, history of features, 

local topography, and direction of surface and groundwater flow, only potential made 

ground associated with previous constructions and activities associated with agricultural 

use on site will be considered within this Preliminary Risk Assessment as a potential 

source for contamination. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 339



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

12 

 

4. Environmental Setting 
4.1 Introduction 

4.1.1 Public register information was obtained through the Envirocheck Report Datasheets 

provided by the Landmark Information Group. Anticipated geological, hydrogeological and 

mining conditions within the site were established using information from the British 

Geological Survey (BGS) 1:50,000 scale online geological map, data supplied in the 

Envirocheck Report and the Hydrogeological Map of Scotland (1:625,000).The main data 

included within the Envirocheck Report is listed below: 

1. Agency & Hydrological: records of environmental agency and local authority 

consents or authorised processes particularly specific to the water environment; 

2. Geological: potential ground stability hazards and available records of mining or 

quarrying, not a full Coal Authority Mining Report; 

3. Waste: local authority recorded and registered waste disposal, transfer or 

management sites; 

4. Industrial Land Use: a record of contemporary trade and fuel station entries; 

5. Sensitive Land Use: a record of designated sites such as NVZs, Ramsar sites and 

SSSIs. 

4.1.2 As the information collated within the Envirocheck report is extensive, only relevant site-

specific information is summarised within the following sections of the report. All 

information provided is either on site or within a 1000m buffer from the specified site. 

4.2 SEPA Consultation 

4.2.1 The Scottish Environment Protection Agency (SEPA) was asked to provide any 

information on the following at or within 1km of the site:  

• any authorisations or enforcement notices under the Groundwater Regulations;  

• any pollution incidents to the Water Environment;  

• any contaminated land uses at or in the site vicinity;  

• any former or existing landfills. 

4.2.2 The response from SEPA (dated 7th March 2018) did not identify any records of any 

incidents pertaining to the above, but did recommend that the local authority was 

contacted regarding contaminated land uses on or adjacent to the site. The response from 

SEPA is provided within Appendix 3. 

4.3 Local Authority 

4.3.1 In preparing this report the Scottish Borders Council Contaminated Land Officer (CLO) 

was consulted to request available information on potential contamination issues in the 

vicinity of the site. Agricultural operations were acknowledged and this may have resulted 

in the contamination of the land, however, it is noted that the main operations are east of 

the study area and that there was no information on the operations directly onsite 

available through the local authority. The response from the local authority is provided 

within Appendix 3. 

Page 340



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

13 

 

4.4 Sensitive Land Use 

4.4.1 The Envirocheck report identified a Special Area of Conservation (SAC), associated with 

the River Tweed, approximately 500m offsite. Details are limited but an entry included 

within the Scottish National Heritage website indicates that the designation is associated 

with the protection of freshwater fish and mammals. 

4.5 Geology and Mining 

4.5.1 The Envirocheck Report Datasheets describe the site as being “in an area that might not 

be affected by coal mining”. Mining within the surrounding area to the site is not evident 

on the geological or historical maps therefore it was not considered that contamination 

arising from the winning and mining of coal is unlikely to have occurred at the site. 

4.5.2 The historical map review (Section 3) identified two quarries to have been worked over 

1000m south of the site between 1923 and 1957, which are no longer identified on the 

historical maps by 1970.  The nature of the materials which were quarried is not known. 

4.5.3 Available mapping shows the site to compose of low permeability drift deposits which 

include till, head, peat, lacustrine deposits, clay-with-flints and brick earths. Superficial 

Deposits formed up to 3 million years ago in the Quaternary Period where the local 

environment was previously dominated by ice age conditions. These rocks were formed in 

cold periods with Ice Age glaciers scouring the landscape and depositing moraines of till 

with outwash sand and gravel deposits from seasonal and post glacial meltwaters. 

Geological mapping indicates the solid geology beneath the site to comprise of 

Carboniferous Igneous rocks. 

4.6 Hydrology and Hydrogeology 

4.6.1 There is a small watercourse known locally as the Hallrule Burn which runs parallel to the 

western boundary of the proposed development and flows in a northerly direction and two 

larger watercourses are located running either side of the site; to the first is located 

approximately 345m to the west of the site; the other is located approximately 650m to the 

east of the site. The online Scottish Environmental Protection Agency (SEPA) flooding 

map indicates the site does not lie in an area considered to be at risk of flooding from the 

fluvial or surface water flooding.  

4.6.2 The Hydrogeological map of Scotland indicates that the site has a geological classification 

of a Major or Highly Permeable Aquifer - Highly permeable strata usually with a known or 

probable presence of significant fracturing of rocks. The soil classification indicates that 

there is Soils of high Leaching Potential on site - Soils with little ability to attenuate diffuse 

source pollutants and in which non-absorbed diffuse source pollutants and liquid 

discharges will percolate rapidly. 

4.6.3 Neither SEPA or the Envirocheck report identified any groundwater abstraction points 

within 1km of the site. 

4.6.4 There are three discharge consents held by various parties with the closest located 

approximately 591m away from site. These were also acknowledged by SEPA in their 

consultation response. 

4.7 Landfill Sites and Waste Management 

4.7.1 The Scottish Borders Council had no available landfill data to supply regarding the site. 

The Envirocheck report did identify an area of potentially infilled land located 

Page 341



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

14 

 

approximately 916m southwest of the site. This was also identified during the consultation 

with the local authority and was identified to be a pond. The infill materials are unknown.   

4.8 Industrial Land Use 

4.8.1 A number of points of interest were highlighted in the Envirocheck report regarding public 

infrastructure and manufacturing and production with features such as tanks, weirs and 

two sluices. The features which are nearest to the site include storage tanks and a slurry, 

approximately 100m to the west of the site. 

4.9 Soil Chemistry 

4.9.1 The Envirocheck Report identified the British Geological Survey estimated soil chemistry 

to be <15 mg/kg for arsenic concentrations, <1.8 mg/kg for cadmium concentrations, 60 – 

90 mg/kg for chromium concentrations, <100 mg/kg for lead concentrations and 15 – 30 

mg/kg for nickel concentrations. 

4.10 Radon 

4.10.1 The Envirocheck Report identified that no radon protective measures are necessary in the 

construction of new dwellings or extensions as “the property is in a lower probability radon 

area, as less than 1% of homes are above the action level”. 

  

Page 342



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

15 

 

5. Site Conceptual Model 
5.1 Introduction 

5.1.1 In order for a site to constitute Contaminated Land, as is defined in the 1990 

Environmental Protection Act, a significant pollutant linkage must be identified between 

the source of contamination and a sensitive receptor via an appropriate environmental 

pathway. The degree of significance of a pollutant linkage depends on a number of factors 

including the hazardous nature of the source, the type of pathway (such as direct contact 

with contaminants), and the sensitivity of the receptor. A detailed consideration of all the 

potential pollutant linkages at a site is commonly known as a Conceptual Model. 

5.2 Sources of Contamination 

5.2.1 Potential sources of contamination at or in the vicinity of the site have been identified as: 

• Possible made ground associated with the construction of properties located on 

site. 

• Activities associated with residential and farm use of the site, e.g. storage tanks, 

slurries, sewage discharge, agricultural chemicals. 

• Off-site sources of contamination from potentially contaminative sources which 

have historically operated in the surrounding area (e.g. former Quarry pits). Given 

the surrounding area has predominantly been residential, the risk to the site from 

off-site sources is considered to be low and will not be evaluated in the risk 

assessment. 

5.3 Pollution Pathways 

5.3.1 The key pathways and receptors considered for the remainder of this section have been 

identified on the basis that no remedial measures are to be carried out (in order to 

determine the likely risks without remediation). The principal exposure pathways on the 

site are considered to be: 

• Exposure of site users to near-surface contamination (through ingestion, inhalation 

and dermal routes). 

• Aquifer - leaching and vertical migration of contamination. 

• Uptake of contamination by plant roots. 

• Surface Water Runoff. 

• Vertical and lateral migration of ground gas into buildings and service entries such 

as manholes.   

5.4 Key Receptors 

5.4.1 Potential receptors at the site are as follows: 

• Humans: The site currently comprises of residential buildings and farming. Site 

visitors, construction workers and residents are therefore considered to be 

potential receptors. 

Page 343



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

16 

 

• Surface Water: There is a small surface water body located just North of the site 

(online Scottish Environmental Protection Agency Flooding Map) and two rivers 

located off-site. 

• Aquifer: The site is in close proximity to both the river Tweed and the Hallrule Burn 

River. The Hydrogeological map of Scotland indicates that the site has a 

geological classification of a Major or Highly Permeable Aquifer. In consideration 

of the location of the site and the local geology, it is likely that any groundwater 

flow within the bedrock and localised sands and gravels will be in the direction of 

the Hallrule Burn River located north west of the site. No groundwater abstraction 

points have been identified within 1km of the site. 

• Fauna and Vegetation: The site is rurally located and predominantly surrounded 

by a mix of arable fields and woodland plantations. 

• Buildings and Services: The site is mainly residential with surrounding farmland. 

Associated services and a drainage network are likely to be present within the site 

in addition to the area adjacent to the north east and south associated with nearby 

residential properties and farming. 

• Adjacent land uses: The surrounding site is again very rural with residential areas 

and farmland. 

5.5 Risk Assessment 

5.5.1 A qualitative risk assessment has been made of the likelihood of any pollutant linkage 

operating and its potential significance and the potential environmental risk has been 

assessed based on the ‘source-pathway target’ pollutant linkages identified. 

• Low risk – it is unlikely that an issue will arise with respect to causing significant 

harm to human health or controlled waters.  

• Medium risk – it is possible that an issue could arise with respect to causing 

significant harm to human health or controlled waters.    

• High risk – it is likely that an issue will arise with respect to causing significant 

harm to human health or controlled waters. 

Source Pathway Receptor Severity of 
Pollutant 
Linkage 

Probability 
of Pollutant 
Linkage 

Risk 
Classification 

Possible 

made ground 

associated 

with the 

construction 

of properties 

located on 

site. 

1. Direct 
Contact 
(ingestion, 
inhalation and 
dermal) 
2. Aquifer 
(leaching and 
migration into 
groundwater) 
3. Surface 
Water Runoff 
4. Plant Root 
Uptake 
5. Migration of 
ground gas 

Humans (1) Medium Low Low 

Aquifer (2, 

3) 

Medium Low Low/ Moderate 

Adjacent 

Land Uses 

(1, 2, 3) 

Medium Low Low 

Fauna and 

Vegetation 

(4) 

Low  Low Low 

Page 344



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

17 

 

into buildings 
and service 
entries 
6. Surface 
Contact to 
buildings and 
service entries 

Buildings 

and 

Services (5, 

6) 

Low  Low Low/ Moderate 

Surface 

Water (2, 3) 

Medium Low Low 

Activities 

Associated 

with 

residential 

and farm use 

of the site 

e.g. storage 

tanks, 

slurries, 

sewage 

discharge, 

agricultural 

chemicals 

1. Direct 
Contact 
(ingestion, 
inhalation and 
dermal) 
2. Aquifer 
(leaching and 
migration into 
groundwater) 
3. Surface 
Water Runoff 
4. Plant Root 
Uptake 
5. Migration of 
ground gas 
into buildings 
and service 
entries 
6. Surface 

Contact to 

buildings and 

service entries 

Humans (1) 

 

Medium Low 5.5.2 Low 

Aquifer (2, 

3) 

Medium Low Low/Moderate 

Adjacent 

Land Uses 

(1, 2, 3) 

Medium Low Low 

Fauna and 

Vegetation 

(4) 

Low Low Low 

Buildings 

and 

Services (5, 

6) 

Low Low Low 

Surface 

Water (2, 3) 

Medium Low Low/Moderate 

 

5.5.3 At this stage, considering the sites operations to have been consistent and the likely 

characteristics of any made ground present, the risk of contamination associated with the 

site is generally considered to be low. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 345



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

18 

 

6. Conclusions and Recommendations 
6.1 Conclusions 

6.1.1 The purpose of this Desk Study was to consider a potential development site at Town O’ 

Rule farm, located in the Scottish Borders, with respect to Part IIa of the Environmental 

Protection Act 1990 and its potential to constitute contaminated land. 

6.1.2 Outline recommendations for works required to address areas of contamination risk have 

been made and are detailed in Section 6.4 below. 

6.2 Environmental Protection Act (1990) Part IIa 

6.2.1 A review of the data presented within this report has identified the potential presence of 

contamination within the site, associated with the agricultural use of the site.   

6.2.2 Considering the site to be largely undeveloped and the likely characteristics of any made 

ground present, the risk associated with the site is generally considered to be low, 

although there is considered to be a Low/Moderate risk associated with the potential for 

contamination to enter the water environment, given that the proposed development is 

located adjacent to a small stream and the aquifer having been identified as highly 

permeable. It is considered unlikely that the site would constitute Contaminated Land, as 

defined in Part IIa of the Environmental Protection Act. 

6.3 Proposed Use 

6.3.1 The proposed use of the site is consistent with the current residential and agricultural 

operations that are undertaken currently on and adjacent to the site. The risk associated 

with the site is considered to be Low/Moderate, associated with risks to the water 

environment, and the current agricultural use. This is mainly due to the geological 

characteristics on site in addition to the close proximity of the development to a small 

flowing water body. 

6.4 Recommendations 

6.4.1 It is recommended that all works and future development should be undertaken in 

accordance with best practice, e.g. NetRegs Guidance for Pollution Prevention (GPPs) to 

ensure that the waterbodies and watercourses within the site area are not adversely 

impacted by the proposed works. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 346



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

19 

 

7. Appendix 1: Site Walkover Photographs 
7.1 Photograph 1 

 

7.2 Photograph 2 

 

 

Page 347



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

20 

 

7.3 Photograph 3  

 

 

7.4 Photograph 4 

 

Page 348



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

21 

 

7.5 Photograph 5 

 

 

7.6 Photograph 6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 349



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

22 

 

7.7 Photograph 7 

 

 

7.8 Photograph 8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 350



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

23 

 

7.9 Photograph 9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 351



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

24 

 

8. Appendix 2: Historical Maps 
8.1 Roxburghshire (1863) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 352



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

25 

 

8.2 Roxburghshire (1899) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 353



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

26 

 

8.3 Roxburghshire (1923 – 24) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 354



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

27 

 

8.4 Roxburghshire (1951) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 355



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

28 

 

8.5 Ordnance Survey (1957) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 356



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

29 

 

8.6 Ordnance Survey (1970 – 75) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 357



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

30 

 

8.7 Ordnance Survey (1990) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 358



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

31 

 

8.8 10k Raster Mapping (2001) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 359



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

32 

 

8.9 10k Raster Mapping (2006) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 360



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

33 

 

8.10 VectorMap Local (2018) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 361



Bonchester Bridge 

Contaminated Land Preliminary Risk Assessment 

 

 

 

  

Ethical Planning LLP 

34 

 

9. Appendix 3: Consultee Responses 
9.1 SEPA Response 

 

 

9.2 Local Authority Response 

 

 

Document ends 

Page 362



EP

EP

Stay

Pipe

Pipe

Pipe

Post

Post

Post

Post

183.67

183.85

189.25

185.98

181.07
180.66

181.09

181.48

182.23

188.37185.88

185.90

185.91

185.23

185.66

185.01

185.02

185.39

Stone

Gravel Track

Concrete

Tarmac

Sto
ne

 wall 
1.5

0m

Bri
ck

 w
all 

1.2
0m

Grass

Stone wall 1.20m

Delap
ida

ted
 St

one
 Re

tain
ing

 Wall

Po
st 

& W
ire

 1.
10

m

Pos
t &

 Wire 
1.10m

Po
st 

& W
ire

 1.
10

m

Pos
t &

 Wire 
1.00m

Rope Fence

Dia 300mm

Dia 100mm

Dia 100mm

Rid
ge

 18
9.4

9m

Ea
ve

 18
7.0

3m

Rid
ge

 18
9.3

9m

Rid
ge

 19
0.0

4m

Ea
ve

 18
9.2

7m

Eave 186.12m

Ea
ve

 18
6.9

8m

Eave 187.48m

Eave 186.06m

Ridge 188.93m

Ridge 188.86m

Ea
ve

 18
7.4

9m

Ridge 189.39m

Ea
ve

 18
9.2

5m

18
6.

0

186.0

18
6.

0

184.0

184.0
184.0

184.0
18

2.
0

182.0 182.0

182.0

182.0

182.0

18
0.

0

180.0

180.0

180.0

178.0

Grass

Grass

Grass

Gravel Track

O/H Line
O/H Line

O/H
 Li

ne

Grass

snug / sitting

gym

line
 of

 de
moli

sh
ed

ou
tbu

ild
ing

line of demolished

outbuilding

plant
store

FFL
+185.00

FFL
+184.980

FFL
+185.35

sh
utt

ers

sh
utt

ers

paved terrace

hall/
lobby

dining

kitchen

fish tank

balcony

entrance /hallway

boot /utility

fire

tv

gunroom

receptionroom

balcony

FF

LGF

FFL+184.495cbd.

laundry

pantry

w/c

gu
es

t

co
at

gla
ss

 ba
lus

tra
de

garages

terrace &
garden access

slid
ing

 sh
utt

ers

Acc
es

s

FFL
+184.845

FFL
+185.700

w/c

family
entertaining

store

kennels

kennel /
dog wash

Plant

lobbynatural pool/pond

JOB No DRAWING No

PROJECT

DRAWING

CLIENT

REVISION

SCALE DRAWNSHEET SIZE CHECKED DATE

STATUS

@

DATEREV. DRN CHKD.

11 - 12  Riverside  Studios       Amethyst  Road       Newcastle  upon  Tyne       NE4  7YL

SADLER BROWN ARCHITECTURE

T :  0191  265 7080       E :  info @ sadlerbrown. co. uk       W :  www. sadlerbrown. co. uk

DESCRIPTION

SADLER BROWN LIMITED

CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE.

DRAWING NOT TO BE SCALED.

THE AUTHOR  OF THIS DESIGN.

REPORT ERRORS & OMISSIONS TO ARCHITECT.

ELECTRONIC, WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF 
REPRODUCE THIS DRAWING,   BY WHATEVER MEANS, INCLUDING 
SADLER BROWN LIMITED. IT IS AN INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT TO 
THIS DRAWING IS THE SUBJECT OF COPYRIGHT WHICH VESTS IN 

SADLER BROWN LIMITED ASSERTS ITS RIGHTS TO BE IDENTIFIED AS 

c

DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 
PLAN AND ALL RELEVANT RISK ASSESSMENTS.

SADLER BROWN LIMITED WHICH RESERVES ALL ITS RIGHTS. 

A1

JD KBPlanning Issue05/04/2018-

Proposed Ground & Site Plan

Mr J. Reddihough

Private House at Town-O-Rule,
near Bonchester Bridge

1:200 JD KB 05/04/18

PLANNING

21723 AAL(0)110

JD KBRevised for Planning Issue11/06/2018A

N.B. Indicative Landscaping 
Proposals provided by others.
1. For detailed landscaping and access 
proposals refer to drawings by 
Landscape Architect. 
2. For External Levels refer to info 
provided by Landscape Architect.

5 m0 10 m 20 m

 Proposed Tree

 Existing Tree

P
age 363



P
age 364



Bush

Bush

Bush

Bush

Bush

Bush

Bush

Bush

EP

EP

Stay

Pipe

Pipe

Pipe

Pipe

Pipe

Pipe

Post

Post

Post

Post

Post

Post

183.67

183.85

189.25

185.98

181.07
180.66

181.09

181.48

182.23

188.37

187.09

186.82

186.87

186.78

186.43

186.88

186.57

186.45

186.49

186.35

185.88

185.90

185.99

185.91

185.23

185.42

189.53

189.11
189.14

189.16

188.28

187.69

187.38

186.95
186.96

187.88 187.89

186.69

186.64

186.67

186.63

186.83

186.36
186.11

185.87

185.96

185.83

185.66

185.01

185.02

185.39

175.27

175.44

175.60

173.09

173.40

173.63

172.95

172.35

172.10

171.80

171.61

Stone

Gravel Track

Concrete

Tarmac

Po
st 

& W
ire

 1
.10

m

St
on

e w
all 

1.5
0m

Br
ick

 w
all

 1
.20

m

Grass

Grass

Stone wall 1.20m

Gravel track

Post & Wire 1.00m

Gravel

Caravan

Caravan

Concrete

Concrete wall 2.10m

Inc
ine

ra
to

r

0.
70

m B
ree

ze
 b

loc
k 

wa
ll

Delap
idate

d Sto
ne 

Ret
ain

ing
 W

all

Shed

Tarmac

Po
st 

& W
ire

 1
.10

m

Po
st 

& W
ire

 1
.10

m

Post & Wire 1.10m

Po
st

 &
 W

ire
 1

.1
0m

Concrete wall 2.10m

Po
st

 &
 W

ire
 1

.00
m

Post & Wire 1.00m

Post & Wire 1.10m

Post 
& W

ire
 1.10m

Po
st 

& 
Wire

 1
.10

m

Post 
& W

ire
 1.00m

Post 
& W

ire
 1.00m

Post 
& W

ire
 0.90m

Post 
& W

ire 0.90m

Post 
& Wire  1.00m

Post 
& Wire  1.00m

Post & Wire 1.00m

Post & Wire 1.00m

Rope Fence

Dia 300mm

Dia 300mm

Dia 300mm

Dia 100mm

Dia 100mm

Rid
ge

 1
89

.49
m

Ea
ve

 1
87

.03
m

Rid
ge

 1
89

.39
m

Rid
ge

 1
90

.04
m

Ea
ve

 1
89

.27
m

Eave 186.12m

Ea
ve

 1
86

.98
m

Eave 187.48m

Eave 186.06m

Ridge 188.93m

Ridge 188.86m

Eave 192.88m

Ridge 196.16m

Ea
ve

 1
87

.49
m

Ridge 189.39m

Eave 191.50m

Eave 191.53m

Ridge 194.04m

Eave 192.96m

Ea
ve

 1
89

.25
m

186.0

186.0

18
8.0

188.0

18
6.

0

186.0

18
6.

0

186.0

18
6.

0

18
8.

0

18
8.0

18
4.

0

184.0

184.0
184.0

184.0

18
2.

0

18
2.

0

182.0 182.0

182.0

182.0

182.0

18
0.

0

18
0.

0

180.0

180.0

180.0

180.0

178.0

178.0

178.0

178.0

178.0

178.0

176.0

176.0

176.0

176.0

176.0

17
4.

0

174.0

174.0

174.0

174.0

17
2.

0

172.0

172.0

172.0

Concrete

Concrete

Concrete

Concrete

Rough Grass

Rough Grass

Rough Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Gravel Track

Gravel Track

Grass

Oi
l T

an
k

Tank

O/H Line

O/H Line

O/H
 Li

ne

Grass

Grass

Timber Clad
Pitched Roof

Timber Clad
Pitched Roof

Timber Clad
Pitched Roof

Roof L
igh

t

Single ply
membrane

roof

Single ply
membrane

roof

Rid
ge

 1
91

.56
m

Rid
ge

 1
91

.57
m

Flat Green Roof

Tiled Roof
Refurbished

Grey Metal Standing Seam Roof

Roof

Lig
ht

Roof

Lig
ht

Existing Agricultural Buildings

Existing Agricultural Buildings

Existing Stone Cottage 
Refurbished and Converted

Existing Access Retained 
& Revised

Proposed New House

Tra
ck

Garages & Dog Kennels

ADJACENT
FIELD

FIELD

JOB No DRAWING No

PROJECT

DRAWING

CLIENT

REVISION

SCALE DRAWNSHEET SIZE CHECKED DATE

STATUS

@

DATEREV. DRN CHKD.

11 - 12  Riverside  Studios       Amethyst  Road       Newcastle  upon  Tyne       NE4  7YL

SADLER BROWN ARCHITECTURE

T :  0191  265 7080       E :  info @ sadlerbrown. co. uk       W :  www. sadlerbrown. co. uk

DESCRIPTION

SADLER BROWN LIMITED

CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE.

DRAWING NOT TO BE SCALED.

THE AUTHOR  OF THIS DESIGN.

REPORT ERRORS & OMISSIONS TO ARCHITECT.

ELECTRONIC, WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF 
REPRODUCE THIS DRAWING,   BY WHATEVER MEANS, INCLUDING 
SADLER BROWN LIMITED. IT IS AN INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT TO 
THIS DRAWING IS THE SUBJECT OF COPYRIGHT WHICH VESTS IN 

SADLER BROWN LIMITED ASSERTS ITS RIGHTS TO BE IDENTIFIED AS 

c

DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 
PLAN AND ALL RELEVANT RISK ASSESSMENTS.

SADLER BROWN LIMITED WHICH RESERVES ALL ITS RIGHTS. 

A1

JD --Drawing Revised.31/07/2017A

Proposed Site Plan

Mr J. Reddihough

Private House at Town-O-Rule,
near Bonchester Bridge

1:500 PJL KB 04/07/17

PLANNING

21723 EAL(0)200

JD KBFor comment.24/01/2018B

JD KBClient issue.09/03/2018C

JD KBPlanning issue.05/04/2018D

JD KBRevised for Planning issue.11/06/2018E

FIELD

Overhead cables

5 m4321 5 m4321 5 m4321 5 m43210
5 m0 10 m 20 m

N.B. Indicative Landscaping 
Proposals provided by others.
For detailed landscaping and access 
proposals refer to drawings by 
Landscape Architect. 

Proposed access track.
Ref to drawings by others

for detailed proposals.

 Proposed Tree

 Existing Tree

Existing Tree 
to be Removed

P
age 365



snug / sitting

gym

lin
e of

 de
moli

sh
ed

ou
tbu

ild
ing

line of demolished

outbuilding

plant
store

FFL
+185.00

FFL
+184.980

FFL
+185.35

sh
utt

ers

sh
utt

ers

paved terrace

hall/
lobby

dining

kitchen

fish tank

balcony

entrance /hallway

boot /utility

fire

tv

gunroom

receptionroom

balcony

FF

LGF

FFL+184.495cbd.

laundry

pantry

w/c

gu
es

t

co
at

gla
ss

 ba
lus

tra
de

garages

terrace &
garden access

sli
din

g s
hu

tte
rs

Acc
es

s

FFL
+184.845

FFL
+185.700

w/c

family
entertaining

store

kennels

kennel /
dog wash

Plant

lobby

JOB No DRAWING No

PROJECT

DRAWING

CLIENT

REVISION

SCALE DRAWNSHEET SIZE CHECKED DATE

STATUS

@

DATEREV. DRN CHKD.

11 - 12  Riverside  Studios       Amethyst  Road       Newcastle  upon  Tyne       NE4  7YL

SADLER BROWN ARCHITECTURE

T :  0191  265 7080       E :  info @ sadlerbrown. co. uk       W :  www. sadlerbrown. co. uk

DESCRIPTION

SADLER BROWN LIMITED

CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE.

DRAWING NOT TO BE SCALED.

THE AUTHOR  OF THIS DESIGN.

REPORT ERRORS & OMISSIONS TO ARCHITECT.

ELECTRONIC, WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF 
REPRODUCE THIS DRAWING,   BY WHATEVER MEANS, INCLUDING 
SADLER BROWN LIMITED. IT IS AN INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT TO 
THIS DRAWING IS THE SUBJECT OF COPYRIGHT WHICH VESTS IN 

SADLER BROWN LIMITED ASSERTS ITS RIGHTS TO BE IDENTIFIED AS 

c

DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 
PLAN AND ALL RELEVANT RISK ASSESSMENTS.

SADLER BROWN LIMITED WHICH RESERVES ALL ITS RIGHTS. 

A1

PJL --Design updated.26/07/2017A

Proposed Ground Floor Plan

Mr J. Reddihough

Private House at Town-O-Rule,
near Bonchester Bridge

1:100 JD KB 08/09/17

PLANNING

21723 LAL(0)201

JD --Drawing revised.31/07/2017B

JD --Drawing revised to client comments08/09/2017C

JD KBDrawing revised to client comments.
Issued for comment.

16/01/2018D

JD KBDrawing revised to client comments02/02/2018E

JD KBWindow locations revised.23/02/2018F

JD KBDraft Issue to Design Team27/02/2018G

JD KBClient issue for comment05/03/2018H

JD KBClient issue.09/03/2018J

JD KBPlanning issue.05/04/2018K

JD KBRevised to client comments for planning.21/05/2018L

N.B. Indicative Landscaping 
Proposals provided by others.
For detailed landscaping and vehicle 
access proposals refer to drawings by 
Landscape Architect. 

5 m0 10 m 20 m

P
age 366



JOB No DRAWING No

PROJECT

DRAWING

CLIENT

REVISION

SCALE DRAWNSHEET SIZE CHECKED DATE

STATUS

@

DATEREV. DRN CHKD.

11 - 12  Riverside  Studios       Amethyst  Road       Newcastle  upon  Tyne       NE4  7YL

SADLER BROWN ARCHITECTURE

T :  0191  265 7080       E :  info @ sadlerbrown. co. uk       W :  www. sadlerbrown. co. uk

DESCRIPTION

SADLER BROWN LIMITED

CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE.

DRAWING NOT TO BE SCALED.

THE AUTHOR  OF THIS DESIGN.

REPORT ERRORS & OMISSIONS TO ARCHITECT.

ELECTRONIC, WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF 
REPRODUCE THIS DRAWING,   BY WHATEVER MEANS, INCLUDING 
SADLER BROWN LIMITED. IT IS AN INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT TO 
THIS DRAWING IS THE SUBJECT OF COPYRIGHT WHICH VESTS IN 

SADLER BROWN LIMITED ASSERTS ITS RIGHTS TO BE IDENTIFIED AS 

c

DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 
PLAN AND ALL RELEVANT RISK ASSESSMENTS.

SADLER BROWN LIMITED WHICH RESERVES ALL ITS RIGHTS. 

A1

-- -----/--/---

Existing Site Plan

Mr J. Reddihough

Private House at Town-O-Rule,
near Bonchester Bridge

1:500 PJL KB 04/07/17

PLANNING

21723 CAL(0)100

JD KBPlanning issue.05/04/2018B

JD KBRed Line Revised for Planning issue.11/06/2018C

5 m4321 5 m4321 5 m4321 5 m43210
5 m0 10 m 20 m

N.B. Indicative Landscaping 
Proposals provided by others.
For detailed landscaping and access 
proposals refer to drawings by 
Landscape Architect. 

Gro
un

d F
loo

r B
arn

FCH
 2.

50

c.1
.26

m

w.0.
81

m

DH
 2.

03

DH
 1.

99

c.1
.26

m

w.0.
81

m

Beam Height 2.30

UP

Gro
un

d F
loo

r B
arn

SCH
 4.

84

Ele
c.

Ou
tbu

ildi
ng

SCH
 4.

00

Beam Height 2.36

DH
 1.

97

DH
 1.

89

DH
 2.

10

DH
 1.

70

Ou
tbu

ildi
ng

Be
am

 Min 
Hg

t  2
.18

Be
am

 Max
 Hg

t 3.
17

Sloped  roof

c.1
.26

m

w.0.
81

m
Hg

t 2
.66

Ou
tbu

ildi
ng

Slo
pe

d  ro
of

Ou
tbu

ildi
ng

Slo
pe

d  ro
of

Hg
t 2

.11

Silo

Silo

Silo

185.22

185.00

185.00

185.10

185.18

185.23

184.98

185.22

185.63

185.66

185.63

185.65

185.26

185.27

Ea
rth

 Flo
or

Ea
rth

 Flo
or

Ht
Ht

Ht

Bush

Bush

Bush

Bush

Bush

Bush

Bush

Bush

EP

EP

St.

Stay

Stay

Stay

W.L

W.L

Pipe

Pipe

Pipe

Pipe

Pipe

Pipe

Post

Post

Post

Post

Post

Post

GU

184.59

184.59

184.27

184.15

183.67

183.85

184.15

184.11

184.09

184.16

184.06

184.09

184.19

184.29

184.24

184.69

184.70

185.14

185.16

184.98

185.05

185.16

185.45

185.25

185.55

185.29185.88

186.12

185.81

185.83

185.95

186.12

186.35

186.13

186.83

186.89

186.71

186.34

186.07

185.72

185.73

185.72
185.92

185.95

186.73

186.79

186.69

186.41

185.70

185.13

185.18

185.15

185.58

185.56

185.94

186.50

186.41

186.33

186.77

186.76

186.95

187.29

187.07

187.08

187.29

187.32

187.57

187.43

187.50

187.90

187.89

188.07

188.16

188.16

188.15

188.39

188.35

188.37

188.21

187.92

187.60

187.18

186.91

185.46

189.25

185.32

185.42

185.89
185.85

185.91

186.41

185.45

183.79

183.54 183.41

184.17

184.12

184.14

185.13

184.72

185.91

185.58

185.07185.00

184.75

184.52

183.98

185.98

181.07
180.66

181.09

181.48

182.23

184.43

184.33

182.67

183.08

170.05

188.37

183.82

183.03

188.56

188.46

188.46

188.44

188.67

188.68

188.71

188.86

189.06

188.96

188.91

188.89

189.22

189.09

189.09

189.28

187.51

187.22

186.96

186.69

187.09

187.16

186.97

186.55

186.79

186.68

186.03

186.05

185.65

185.74

186.60

185.24

186.13185.59

186.03

186.41

186.69

187.16

187.32

187.52

187.20

187.04

186.21

185.80
185.96

186.30

186.46

185.60

185.48

185.42

185.19

185.09

185.28

185.38
185.26

185.53

185.50

185.45

185.79

185.88

185.68

185.77185.90

186.09

186.38

186.36

186.38

186.61
186.75

186.68

186.73

187.82

187.59

187.57

187.70

188.31

188.23

188.20

188.53

188.84

188.76

188.88

188.99

188.97

188.92

189.15

189.05

189.07

189.20

190.26

190.25

189.05189.06

188.99

188.96

187.10

187.70

188.38

189.09

187.09

186.82

186.87

186.78

186.43

186.15

186.16

186.19

186.26

186.27

186.32

186.13

186.41

186.57

186.41

186.34

186.27

186.21

186.31

186.31

186.42186.43

186.51

186.51

186.71

186.71

186.71

186.77

186.76

186.75

186.72

186.72

186.75

186.72

186.79

186.75

186.79

186.78

186.75

186.77

187.27

186.80

186.73

186.77

186.65

186.70

186.73

186.88

187.46

187.88 187.92

188.13

187.47

186.57

186.45

187.59

188.03

187.57

187.35

186.49

186.35

187.02 187.19

186.62

186.56

186.20

186.20

186.12

185.88

185.90

185.94

186.08 185.99

186.11
185.91

185.23
185.22

185.58
185.42

186.80

186.41

185.93

185.94

186.26

187.14

187.81

188.01

189.14

189.23

189.53

191.18

191.38

191.03

190.99

191.06

190.74

189.35

189.11
189.14

189.16

186.42

188.95

189.12

189.22

189.23

189.24

189.19

189.29

189.11
189.08

189.02

189.09

189.18

189.14

189.17

189.14

188.77

188.92
189.04

189.21

189.20

189.14

188.77

187.88

188.86
189.09

188.89

188.00

188.17

188.79

188.70

188.87
188.66

188.79

187.82

188.55188.28

187.69

187.38

186.95
186.96

187.88 187.89

186.69

186.64

186.67

186.63

186.83

186.11

186.36
186.11

186.11

186.28

185.87

186.17

185.99

185.96

185.83

185.95

187.15

187.16

186.69

185.86

186.12

182.14

180.95

179.78

178.57

178.04

177.87

177.93

184.54
185.18

185.59

185.66

185.01

185.02

185.39

185.36

185.79

185.94

186.71

186.88

184.29

184.50

183.97

183.93

183.75
184.16

183.45

183.10

182.62

182.40

181.87

181.10

180.94

180.74

179.12

182.69

183.80

184.24

183.15
183.98

184.02 183.97

183.63

183.30

182.73

182.57

182.77

182.64

182.16

182.03

181.96

181.73

181.95

181.57

181.68

181.60

181.62

180.95

180.26

180.26

180.43

180.48

180.74

182.83

182.51

182.11

181.95

187.14

180.95

179.75

179.28

179.99

179.42

178.94

178.74

178.62

178.54

178.06

177.91

177.36

176.79

176.32
176.27

175.76
175.68

175.61

174.77

176.28

176.50

176.88

177.73

179.32

178.73

177.84

175.27
175.44

175.60
175.10

175.43

175.64

176.56

177.29

177.61

177.66

182.13

181.14

180.47

180.13

179.84

182.50
182.68

181.39

181.14

180.07

180.07

179.41

179.44

179.57

179.18

178.71

178.65

178.03

178.10

178.62

177.55

177.09

176.88

176.24

175.71

175.16

176.99

176.42

175.78

175.44

175.44

176.10

176.76

176.92

178.80

178.25

177.77

177.37

176.95

176.65

175.90

175.30

174.51

173.90

173.34

172.62

172.03

171.52

171.05

172.26

172.40

172.74

175.96

175.26

173.97

173.18

172.55

172.01

171.49

170.91

171.15

171.66

172.18

173.05

173.65

177.48

177.28
177.55178.01

178.36

178.75

178.39

179.03

179.61

180.00

180.58

181.22

181.42

182.70

182.35

181.53
181.19

180.61

180.23

182.91

182.51

180.19

174.21

174.78

174.99

175.02

175.01

174.04

174.89

173.60

173.58

174.33

174.06

174.96

173.22

173.09

173.40

173.63

173.54
173.22

173.39

173.07

172.96

173.03

172.63

172.58

172.95

172.65

172.33

172.80
172.35

172.19

172.01

171.96

172.10

172.52

172.01

171.82

171.55
171.72

171.73 171.80

172.32

172.08

171.61
171.52

171.30

171.60

171.30

171.16
171.92

171.80171.12

171.67

170.73

171.05

170.84 170.59

171.50

171.31

170.78 170.57

170.84

170.10170.06

170.06

183.75

183.66

183.40
183.35

183.56

183.75

183.78

183.81

183.12

182.87

182.27

185.64185.73

184.88
184.84

184.05184.08

190.74
189.20

188.90

Stone

Concrete

Gravel Track

Grass

Concrete

concrete

Rough Grass

Gravel Track

Tarmac

Pos
t &

 W
ire

 1.
10

m

Ston
e w

all 
1.5

0m

Bric
k w

all  
1.2

0m

Grass

Grass

Stone wall 1.20m

Gravel track

Post &  Wire 1.00m

Gravel

Caravan

Caravan

Concrete

Concrete wall 2.10m

Inc
ine

rat
or

0.7
0m

 B
ree

ze
 bl

oc
k w

all

Delapidated Stone Retaining W
all

Shed

Tarmac

Pos
t &

 W
ire

 1.
10

m

Post
 & W

ire 
1.1

0m

Post & Wire 1.10m

Po
st 

&  
W

ire
 1

.1
0m

Concrete wall 2.10m

Po
st &

 W
ire

 1.
00

m

Post & Wire 1.00m

Post & Wire 1.10m

Post &
 W

ire 1
.10m

Pos
t &

 W
ire

 1.
10

m

Post & Wire 1.00m

Post &
 W

ire 1
.00m

Post &
 Wire 1.00m

Post &
 W

ire 
0.90m

Post &
 W

ire 
0.90m

Post &  Wire 1
.00m

Post &  Wire 1
.00m

Post & Wire 1.00m

Post & Wire 1.00m

Rope Fence

Dia 300mm

Dia 300mm

Dia 300mm

Dia 100mm

Dia 100mm

Ridg
e 1

89
.49

m

Eav
e 1

87
.03

m

Ridg
e 18

9.3
9m

Ridg
e 19

0.0
4m

Ridg
e 19

1.5
6m

Ridg
e 1

91
.57

m

Eav
e 18

9.2
7m

Eav
e 1

86
.26

m

Eav
e 18

5.9
5m

Eave 186.07m

Eav
e 1

86
.08

m

Eave 186.12m

Eav
e 18

6.9
8m

Eave 187.48m

Eave 186.06m

Ridge 188.93m

Ridge 188.86m

Ridg
e 1

87
.97

m

Ridge 187.95m

Ridg
e 1

88
.23

m

Ridg
e 1

87
.84

m

Eav
e 18

7.7
4m

Ridg
e 1

88
.58

m

Ridge 189.44m

Eave 192.88m

Ridge 196.16m

Eav
e 1

87
.49

m

Ridge 189.39m

Eave 191.50m

Eave 191.53m

Ridge 194.04m

Eave 192.96m

Eav
e 18

9.2
5m

Eav
e 18

6.3
1m

Eave
 18

5.9
4m

Eave 186.11m

Eav
e 18

6.1
1m

186.0

186.0

18
8.0

188.0

18
6.

0

186.0

18
6.0

186.0

18
6.

0

18
8.

0

18
8.0

18
4.

0

184.0

184.0
184.0

184.0

18
2.

0

18
2.

0

182.0 182.0

182.0

182.0

182.0

18
0.

0

18
0.0

180.0

180.0

180.0

180.0

178.0

178.0

178.0

178.0

178.0

178.0

176.0

176.0

176.0

176.0

176.0

17
4.0 174.0

174.0

174.0

174.0

17
2.0

172.0

172.0

172.0

186.0

Concrete

Concrete

Concrete

Concrete

Rough Grass

Rough Grass

Rough Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

Grass

concrete

Gravel Track

Gravel Track

Rough Grass

Rough Grass

Grass

Oil T
an

k

Tank

O/H Line

O/H Line

O/H Li
ne

Grass

Grass

185.22

185.00
185.00

185.10
185.18

185.23

184.98
185.22

185.63

185.66
185.63185.65

185.26

185.27

Existing Agricultural Buildings

Existing Storage Building Existing Agricultural Buildings

Existing Stone Building

Existing Storage Yard

GRAVEL TRACK

Existing Entrance and 
Gravel
Access Track

ROAD

ADJACENT
FIELD

ADJACENT
FIELD

ADJACENT
FIELD

BURN WATERCOURSE

P
age 367



Pond

Issues

Hallrule Burn

Burnt Plantation

Ford

Heathfield

TrackWeensmoor Plantation

Tra
ck

Issues

Pond
Well

Well

Issues

Hallrule Burn

FB

Track
Zigzag Plantation

Issues

Issues

Zigzag Plantation

Issues

Issues

Track

Track

Up
pe

r S
cle

nty
 P

lan
tat

ion

Sheepfold

Weensmarch Plantation

Sinks

Town-O'-Rule

FB

Tank

Tank

139.0m

Slurry Lagoon

Issues

Sheepfold

B 63
57

Hallrule Burn

Town-O'-Rule Farm Cottages

The Lummie

149.1m

138.4m

Issues

Avenue Plantation

Town-O'-Rule House

Dr
ain

Tra
ck

Tank

This plan is based upon the Ordnance Survey
Map with the sanction of the Controller of H.M.
Stationery Office.  Crown copyright reserved.
Licence number AL100004883  2014.

0 100 200 300
Scale - 1:5000

400 500 600 700 800 900 1000m

LDT to D McTaggart (Expires Nov. 2022).

SDT to S Brown (Expires Oct. 2019).

LDT to D McTaggart (Expires Nov. 2017).

Woodland & Game Crop

Hut Wood

11.17 ha.

Moor North

15.22 ha.

Moor South

9.54 ha.

Long Field

8.23 ha.

Upper Glen

5.97 ha.

Heathfield

7.40 ha.

Well Field

8.79 ha.

Pond

5.89 ha.

Yellow Field

9.20 ha.

Glen

7.15 ha.

Mid Zag

12.41 ha.

Bottom Zag

11.36 ha.

Candleberry East

10.82 ha.

Candleberry West

10.97 ha.

Gully

19.37 ha.

Back Burn

5.90 ha.

Back Stackyard

3.99 ha.

Hallrule Field

5.81 ha.

Farmhouse Field

2.00 ha.

Above Cottage

4.88 ha.

Below Cottage

4.17 ha.

Below Folds

6.56 ha.

Quarry

5.30 ha.

Ten Acre

3.90 ha.

Lower Glen

7.56 ha.

Little Peg East

6.82 ha.

Little Peg West

7.04 ha.

Big Peg East

7.56 ha.

Big Peg West

7.02 ha.

Snipe Hole

10.96 ha.

In hand
SCALE

DRAWING NUMBER

DRAWN

DATE

TITLE

CLIENT

PROJECT

NOTES

18-20 Glendale Road, Wooler, Northumberland,

NE71 6DW

Tel 01668 281 611   Fax 01668 281 113

www.smithsgore.co.uk

1:10,000 @ A3

I.M.

Mar. 2015

5031-1052738 / 02

FARM PLAN

J H REDDIHOUGH

TOWN O' RULE FARM

BONCHESTER BRIDGE

HAWICK

TD9 8JB

P
age 368



Page 369



Bonchester Bridge
Outline Landscape MasterplanDwg no: 1177/001

Date: 24.05.2018
Scale: 1:500 @A1
Rev: C

Orchard

Natu
ral in

finity
 

sw
im

ming pool 

19m x5m
Terraced 
Kitchen Garden 

Contemporary 
pergola and seating 

Retain exsiting access to 
wider landscape 

Grass verge

Existing Agricultural Field 

Existing Agricultural Field 

Existing Agricultural Field 

Courtyard

KEY 

APPLICATION BOUNDARY 

KEY VIEWS 

HARD

ASPHALT ACCESS TRACK 

HIGH QUALITY SURFACE TREATMENT 

SOFT

EXISTING TREES 

PROPOSED ORCHARD TREES 

PROPOSED ORNAMENTAL TREES 

ORNAMENTAL PLANTING 

NATURAL SWIM POOL

EXISTING BURN 

LAWN

KEY

Ground Floor Views 

1st Floor Views 

Lower Ground Views 

Landscape Views 

PROPOSED VIEWS

PROPOSED ACCESS

KEY

Pedestrain Route 

Dwelling Vehicular Route 

Agricultural Route 

Views t
o Blac

k L
aw

 an
d al

ong th
e Rule Vall

ey 

View
s to Rubers Law

 

Proposed agricultural access track 

Pro
pose

d agric
ultu

ra
l a

cc
ess 

tra
ck

 

P
age 370



1

2
3

1 2

3

▲View of the courtyard looking north  from the main dwelling access. ▲View of the courtyard looking south from the natural swim pool. 

▲View of the kitchen gardens and terrace north of the existing barn. ▲Location Plan 

P
age 371



P
age 372



DateDescriptionRev

All dimensions to be checked on site and the supervising consultant  notified

of any discrepancies prior to commencement of work.

All materials and workmanship to relevant British Standards Codes of practice

and manufacturers recommendations.

This drawing is copyright

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING

CLIENT

TITLE

PROJECT

DATE

DRAWING NO

CHECKED BY

REVISION

28 Windsor Terrace, South Gosforth, Newcastle Upon Tyne, NE3 1YL
        T: 0191 284 6675     enquiries@ethicalpartnership.co.uk

ethical  partnership

SCALE @A4

DRAWN BY

ROAD LEADING TO B6357

03/09/18Submission01

BONCHESTER BRIDGE

LOCATION PLAN

MR JAMIE REDDIHOUGH

AUGUST 2018

A100-01

PG

01

1:2500

AC

N

Page 373

AutoCAD SHX Text
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
Town-o'-rule

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
Town-o'-rule Farm Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
Town-o'-rule House

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
Slurry Lagoon

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
Hallrule Burn



This page is intentionally left blank



5 m0 10 m 20 m

JOB No DRAWING No

PROJECT

DRAWING

CLIENT

REVISION

SCALE DRAWNSHEET SIZE CHECKED DATE

STATUS

@

DATEREV. DRN CHKD.

11 - 12  Riverside  Studios       Amethyst  Road       Newcastle  upon  Tyne       NE4  7YL

SADLER BROWN ARCHITECTURE

T :  0191  265 7080       E :  info @ sadlerbrown. co. uk       W :  www. sadlerbrown. co. uk

DESCRIPTION

SADLER BROWN LIMITED

CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE.

DRAWING NOT TO BE SCALED.

THE AUTHOR  OF THIS DESIGN.

REPORT ERRORS & OMISSIONS TO ARCHITECT.

ELECTRONIC, WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF 
REPRODUCE THIS DRAWING,   BY WHATEVER MEANS, INCLUDING 
SADLER BROWN LIMITED. IT IS AN INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT TO 
THIS DRAWING IS THE SUBJECT OF COPYRIGHT WHICH VESTS IN 

SADLER BROWN LIMITED ASSERTS ITS RIGHTS TO BE IDENTIFIED AS 

c

DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 
PLAN AND ALL RELEVANT RISK ASSESSMENTS.

SADLER BROWN LIMITED WHICH RESERVES ALL ITS RIGHTS. 

A1

JD KBRevised to client comments.
Issued for comment.

16/01/2017A

Proposed First Floor Plan

Mr J. Reddihough

Private House at Town-O-Rule,
near Bonchester Bridge

1:100 JD KB 08/09/17

PLANNING

21723 GAL(0)204

JD KBRevised to client comments.02/02/2018B

JD KBWindow locations revised.23/02/2018C

JD KBDraft Issue to Design Team27/02/2018D

JD KBClient issue.09/03/2018E

Office / Music
Room

Bathroom

Childrens Bunk Room

Balcony

Flat Green Roof

Double HeightVoid

MasterBedroom 1

Bedroom 5

Balcony

Balcony

mez
za

nin
e

ga
ller

y /
 lib

rar
y

Bedroom 2

Bedroom 3

Bedroom 4

Dressing

Landing

 M.Bathroom

GF

Store

flat roof

Double HeightVoid

flat roof

Flat roof

JD KBPlanning issue.05/04/2018F

N.B. Indicative Landscaping 
Proposals provided by others.
For detailed landscaping and vehicle 
access proposals refer to drawings by 
Landscape Architect. 

G JD KBRevised to client comments for planning.21/05/2018

P
age 375



JOB No DRAWING No

PROJECT

DRAWING

CLIENT

REVISION

SCALE DRAWNSHEET SIZE CHECKED DATE

STATUS

@

DATEREV. DRN CHKD.

11 - 12  Riverside  Studios       Amethyst  Road       Newcastle  upon  Tyne       NE4  7YL

SADLER BROWN ARCHITECTURE

T :  0191  265 7080       E :  info @ sadlerbrown. co. uk       W :  www. sadlerbrown. co. uk

DESCRIPTION

SADLER BROWN LIMITED

CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE.

DRAWING NOT TO BE SCALED.

THE AUTHOR  OF THIS DESIGN.

REPORT ERRORS & OMISSIONS TO ARCHITECT.

ELECTRONIC, WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF 
REPRODUCE THIS DRAWING,   BY WHATEVER MEANS, INCLUDING 
SADLER BROWN LIMITED. IT IS AN INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT TO 
THIS DRAWING IS THE SUBJECT OF COPYRIGHT WHICH VESTS IN 

SADLER BROWN LIMITED ASSERTS ITS RIGHTS TO BE IDENTIFIED AS 

c

DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 
PLAN AND ALL RELEVANT RISK ASSESSMENTS.

SADLER BROWN LIMITED WHICH RESERVES ALL ITS RIGHTS. 

A1

Proposed Elevations E, F, G & H

Mr J. Reddihough

Proposed House at Town-O-Rule,
near Bonchester Bridge

1:100 JD KB 05/04/18

PLANNING

21723 AAL(0)210

JD KBPlanning Issue.05/04/2018-

JD KBRevised For Planning Issue.11/06/2018A

TILED ROOF
REFURBISHED

TILED ROOF
REFURBISHED

+185.35hallway

OUTLINE OF
DEMOLISHED

SECTION TIMBER DOOR

R.LR.L

CONSERVATION
ROOF LIGHT

EXISTING
STONE

RWP

RWP

STONE
STEPS

R.L R.L R.L R.L

VERTICAL
TIMBER

CLADDING
EXISTING 
STONE

DATUM 180.00Elevation E   P r o p o s e d   N o r t h   W e s t   E l e v a t i o n   

TIMBER
BALUSTRADE

TO PROPOSED
BALCONY

N.B. PRPOPOSED LANDSCAPING 
INDICATIVE.
For landscaping proposals refer to 
drawings by Landscape Architect 

0 1M 2M 3M 4M 5M 10M

EXISTING TILED 
ROOF 
REFURBISHED

EXISTING
STONE

Elevation G   P r o p o s e d   S o u t h   E a s t   E l e v a t i o n   DATUM 180.00

TIMBER DOOR TO 
REPLACE 
EXISTING

TIMBER FRAMED 
WINDOW TO 
REPLACE 
EXISTING

TIMBER DOOR
TO REPLACE

EXISTING

OUTLINE OF 
SECTION TO BE 
DEMOLISHED

South West Elevation

Elevation F   P r o p o s e d   S o u t h   W e s t   E l e v a t i o n   DATUM 180.00

EXISTING STONE
PIERS RETAINED

FOLLOWING
DEMOLITIONS

EXISTING 
STONE

VERTICAL 
TIMBER 
BOARD

HORIZONTAL
BOARD TIMBER

CLADDING

+188.680

+191.655

DATUM 180.00Elevation H
P r o p o s e d   G a r a g e   
S i d e   E l e v a t i o n   

P
age 376



+184.850

+188.680

+191.655

Elevation B   P r o p o s e d   W e s t   E l e v a t i o n   DATUM 180.00

hallway

+184.500

+187.880

VELUX ROOF 
LIGHT

TIMBER GARAGE
DOORS

TIMBER SLIDING
DOORS/SHUTTERS

SLIDING GLASS
DOORS

HORIZONTAL
BOARD TIMBER

CLADDING

HORIZONTAL 
TIMBER 
BOARD ROOF 
FINISH

VERTICAL 
TIMBER 
CLADDING

GLAZED 
DOORS

GLAZED
DOORS

HORIZONTAL 
BOARD 
TIMBER 
CLADDING

+191.655

VERTICAL TIMBER
CLADDING

HORIZONTAL
BOARD TIMBER

CLADDING

entrance /
hallway

Elevation A   P r o p o s e d   S o u t h   E l e v a t i o n   

+184.500

+195.295

+190.895

+187.880

DATUM 180.00

VERTICAL 
TIMBER 
CLADDING

HORIZONTAL 
BOARD 
TIMBER 
CLADDING

GLASS
BALUSTRADE

GLAZED
DOORS

GREY METAL
STANDING

SEAM ROOF
OUTLINE OF

ADJOINING GABLE

GLAZED
MAIN 
ENTRANCE
DOOR

VERTICAL
TIMBER

CLADDING GLAZED LINK

OUTLINE OF 
ADJOINING 
BUILDING

JOB No DRAWING No

PROJECT

DRAWING

CLIENT

REVISION

SCALE DRAWNSHEET SIZE CHECKED DATE

STATUS

@

DATEREV. DRN CHKD.

11 - 12  Riverside  Studios       Amethyst  Road       Newcastle  upon  Tyne       NE4  7YL

SADLER BROWN ARCHITECTURE

T :  0191  265 7080       E :  info @ sadlerbrown. co. uk       W :  www. sadlerbrown. co. uk

DESCRIPTION

SADLER BROWN LIMITED

CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE.

DRAWING NOT TO BE SCALED.

THE AUTHOR  OF THIS DESIGN.

REPORT ERRORS & OMISSIONS TO ARCHITECT.

ELECTRONIC, WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF 
REPRODUCE THIS DRAWING,   BY WHATEVER MEANS, INCLUDING 
SADLER BROWN LIMITED. IT IS AN INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT TO 
THIS DRAWING IS THE SUBJECT OF COPYRIGHT WHICH VESTS IN 

SADLER BROWN LIMITED ASSERTS ITS RIGHTS TO BE IDENTIFIED AS 

c

DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 
PLAN AND ALL RELEVANT RISK ASSESSMENTS.

SADLER BROWN LIMITED WHICH RESERVES ALL ITS RIGHTS. 

A1

Proposed Elevations A & B

Mr J. Reddihough

Proposed House at Town-O-Rule,
near Bonchester Bridge

1:100 JD KB 22/02/18

PLANNING

21723 BAL(0)207

JD KBPlanning Issue.05/04/2018A

JD KBRevised for Planning Issue.11/06/2018B

0 1M 2M 3M 4M 5M 10M

N.B. PRPOPOSED LANDSCAPING 
INDICATIVE.
For landscaping proposals refer to 
drawings by Landscape Architect 

P
age 377



JOB No DRAWING No

PROJECT

DRAWING

CLIENT

REVISION

SCALE DRAWNSHEET SIZE CHECKED DATE

STATUS

@

DATEREV. DRN CHKD.

11 - 12  Riverside  Studios       Amethyst  Road       Newcastle  upon  Tyne       NE4  7YL

SADLER BROWN ARCHITECTURE

T :  0191  265 7080       E :  info @ sadlerbrown. co. uk       W :  www. sadlerbrown. co. uk

DESCRIPTION

SADLER BROWN LIMITED

CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE.

DRAWING NOT TO BE SCALED.

THE AUTHOR  OF THIS DESIGN.

REPORT ERRORS & OMISSIONS TO ARCHITECT.

ELECTRONIC, WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF 
REPRODUCE THIS DRAWING,   BY WHATEVER MEANS, INCLUDING 
SADLER BROWN LIMITED. IT IS AN INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT TO 
THIS DRAWING IS THE SUBJECT OF COPYRIGHT WHICH VESTS IN 

SADLER BROWN LIMITED ASSERTS ITS RIGHTS TO BE IDENTIFIED AS 

c

DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 
PLAN AND ALL RELEVANT RISK ASSESSMENTS.

SADLER BROWN LIMITED WHICH RESERVES ALL ITS RIGHTS. 

A1

JD KBPlanning Issue.05/04/2018-

Plans and Elevations of Existing Stone 
Building

Mr J. Reddihough

Private House at Town-O-Rule,
near Bonchester Bridge

1:200 JD KB 05/04/18

PLANNING

21723 AAL(0)102

JD KBDrawing title updated.14/08/2018A

N.B. Survey Info provided by others.

Ground Floor Barn
FCH 2.50

c.1.26m
w.0.81m DH 2.03

c.1.26m
w.0.81m DH 1.99

Be
am

 H
ei

gh
t 2

.3
0

UP

Ground Floor Barn
SCH 4.84

Elec.

Outbuilding
SCH 4.00

Be
am

 H
ei

gh
t 2

.3
6

DH 1.97

DH 1.89

DH 2.10

Outbuilding

Beam Min Hgt 2.18

Beam Max Hgt 3.17

Sl
op

ed
 ro

of
w.0.81m

DH 1.70

Hgt 2.66

Outbuilding
Sloped roof

Outbuilding
Sloped roof

Hgt 2.11

Silo
Silo

Silo

c.1.26m

Ground Floor Measured Survey

FL

FL

FL

FL

FL

FL

FL

FL

185.22 185.00

185.00

185.10

185.18185.23

184.98

185.22

185.29

185.16

184.68

185.63

185.66
185.63

185.65

185.26185.27

Earth Floor
Earth Floor

First Floor Measured Survey

DH 1.89
First Floor Barn

SCH 3.49 Silo Silo
Silo

DH 2.15

First Floor Barn
No Floor

c.3.29m
w.0.77m

c.3.29m
w.0.77m

Ladder
Access

FFL 187.80

Be
am

 H
ei

gh
t 2

.3
1

Corrugated Sheet

Tiled

Corrugated Sheet

Corrugated Sheet

Stone

Tiled

Tiled

North West Elevation

Stone

Tiled

Datum 180.00m

South East Elevation

Datum 180.00m

South West Elevation

Stone

Stone

Datum 180.00m

Corrugated Sheet

Stone

North East Elevation

Datum 180.00m

5 m0 10 m 20 m

P
age 378



DATUM 180.00Proposed Section C
 

+184.850

+188.680

+191.655

games room

GAMES ROOM SECTION

27
00

36
11

58
50

JOB No DRAWING No

PROJECT

DRAWING

CLIENT

REVISION

SCALE DRAWNSHEET SIZE CHECKED DATE

STATUS

@

DATEREV. DRN CHKD.

11 - 12  Riverside  Studios       Amethyst  Road       Newcastle  upon  Tyne       NE4  7YL

SADLER BROWN ARCHITECTURE

T :  0191  265 7080       E :  info @ sadlerbrown. co. uk       W :  www. sadlerbrown. co. uk

DESCRIPTION

SADLER BROWN LIMITED

CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE.

DRAWING NOT TO BE SCALED.

THE AUTHOR  OF THIS DESIGN.

REPORT ERRORS & OMISSIONS TO ARCHITECT.

ELECTRONIC, WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF 
REPRODUCE THIS DRAWING,   BY WHATEVER MEANS, INCLUDING 
SADLER BROWN LIMITED. IT IS AN INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT TO 
THIS DRAWING IS THE SUBJECT OF COPYRIGHT WHICH VESTS IN 

SADLER BROWN LIMITED ASSERTS ITS RIGHTS TO BE IDENTIFIED AS 

c

DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 
PLAN AND ALL RELEVANT RISK ASSESSMENTS.

SADLER BROWN LIMITED WHICH RESERVES ALL ITS RIGHTS. 

A1

Proposed Section A, B & C

Mr J. Reddihough

Proposed House at Town-O-Rule,
near Bonchester Bridge

1:100 JD KB 22/02/18

PLANNING

21723 BAL(0)209

JD KBHeight dims added.08/03/2018A

JD KBPlanning Issue.05/04/2018B

+184.500

+187.880

+180.345

+190.895

DATUM 175.00Proposed Section A 

pool

dining
+184.500

+187.880

+180.345

+190.895

DATUM 175.00Proposed Section B 

pool

living

master
bathroom

hallway

HOUSE SHORT SECTION HOUSE SHORT SECTION

28
90

25
00

34
00

29
65

62
65

28
90

34
00

balcony landing

56
00

0 1M 2M 3M 4M 5M 10M

Key Plan

B

A

C

P
age 379



JOB No DRAWING No

PROJECT

DRAWING

CLIENT

REVISION

SCALE DRAWNSHEET SIZE CHECKED DATE

STATUS

@

DATEREV. DRN CHKD.

11 - 12  Riverside  Studios       Amethyst  Road       Newcastle  upon  Tyne       NE4  7YL

SADLER BROWN ARCHITECTURE

T :  0191  265 7080       E :  info @ sadlerbrown. co. uk       W :  www. sadlerbrown. co. uk

DESCRIPTION

SADLER BROWN LIMITED

CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE.

DRAWING NOT TO BE SCALED.

THE AUTHOR  OF THIS DESIGN.

REPORT ERRORS & OMISSIONS TO ARCHITECT.

ELECTRONIC, WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF 
REPRODUCE THIS DRAWING,   BY WHATEVER MEANS, INCLUDING 
SADLER BROWN LIMITED. IT IS AN INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT TO 
THIS DRAWING IS THE SUBJECT OF COPYRIGHT WHICH VESTS IN 

SADLER BROWN LIMITED ASSERTS ITS RIGHTS TO BE IDENTIFIED AS 

c

DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 
PLAN AND ALL RELEVANT RISK ASSESSMENTS.

SADLER BROWN LIMITED WHICH RESERVES ALL ITS RIGHTS. 

A1

JD KBClient issue.09/03/2018-

Proposed Roof Plan

Mr J. Reddihough

Private House at Town-O-Rule,
near Bonchester Bridge

1:100 JD KB 20/02/18

PLANNING

21723 BAL(0)206

JD KBPlanning issue.05/04/2018A

JD KBDrawing status updated.14/08/2018B

Timber Clad
Pitched Roof

Timber Clad
Pitched Roof

Timber Clad
Pitched Roof

Roo
f L

igh
t

Single ply
membrane

roof

Single ply
membrane

roof

Rid
ge

 19
1.5

6m

Rid
ge

 19
1.5

7m

Flat Green Roof

Tiled Roof
Refurbished

Grey Metal Standing Seam Roof

Roo
f

Lig
ht

Roo
f

Lig
ht

5 m0 10 m 20 m

N.B. Indicative Landscaping 
Proposals provided by others.
For detailed landscaping and vehicle 
access proposals refer to drawings by 
Landscape Architect. 

P
age 380



Cinema Room

Pool

Plant

GF

Store / Plant

Store

Changing

Changing

Steam

Sauna

JOB No DRAWING No

PROJECT

DRAWING

CLIENT

REVISION

SCALE DRAWNSHEET SIZE CHECKED DATE

STATUS

@

DATEREV. DRN CHKD.

11 - 12  Riverside  Studios       Amethyst  Road       Newcastle  upon  Tyne       NE4  7YL

SADLER BROWN ARCHITECTURE

T :  0191  265 7080       E :  info @ sadlerbrown. co. uk       W :  www. sadlerbrown. co. uk

DESCRIPTION

SADLER BROWN LIMITED

CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE.

DRAWING NOT TO BE SCALED.

THE AUTHOR  OF THIS DESIGN.

REPORT ERRORS & OMISSIONS TO ARCHITECT.

ELECTRONIC, WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF 
REPRODUCE THIS DRAWING,   BY WHATEVER MEANS, INCLUDING 
SADLER BROWN LIMITED. IT IS AN INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT TO 
THIS DRAWING IS THE SUBJECT OF COPYRIGHT WHICH VESTS IN 

SADLER BROWN LIMITED ASSERTS ITS RIGHTS TO BE IDENTIFIED AS 

c

DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 
PLAN AND ALL RELEVANT RISK ASSESSMENTS.

SADLER BROWN LIMITED WHICH RESERVES ALL ITS RIGHTS. 

A1

JD KBRevised to client comments. 
Issued for comment.

16/01/2018-

Proposed Lower Ground Floor Plan

Mr J. Reddihough

Private House at Town-O-Rule,
near Bonchester Bridge

1:100 JD KB 16/01/18

PLANNING

21723 FAL(0)205

JD KBRevised to client comments.02/02/2018A

JD KBWindow locations revised.23/02/2018B

JD KBDraft Issue to Design Team27/02/2018C

JD KBClient Issue.09/03/2018D

5 m0 10 m 20 m

JD KBPlanning Issue.05/04/2018E

N.B. Indicative Landscaping 
Proposals provided by others.
For detailed landscaping and vehicle 
access proposals refer to drawings by 
Landscape Architect. 

F JD KBRevised to client comments for planning.21/05/2018

P
age 381



Elevation C   P r o p o s e d   N o r t h   E l e v a t i o n   DATUM 177.50

+184.500

+187.880

+180.345

+190.895

VERTICAL
TIMBER

CLADDING GLAZED LINK

Existing FFL
+187.80

Existing FFL [2]
+185.27

Eaves
+189.25

Ridge
+191.86

Eaves
+188.86

Eaves
+186.12

Ridge
+190.04

Ridge
+189.39

Existing FFL [1]
+185.00

TIMBER FRAME
BALCONY

SLIDING
GLAZED
DOORS

ADJACENT STONE
& SLATE

AGRICULTURAL
BUILDING

HORIZONTAL 
BOARD 
TIMBER 
CLADDING

GLASS
BALUSTRADE

ALUMINIUM 
FRAMED 
WINDOWS

GREY METAL 
STANDING 
SEAM ROOF

STONE
CLADDING

STONE
CHIMNEY

TIMBER
CLAD

ORIEL
WINDOW

JOB No DRAWING No

PROJECT

DRAWING

CLIENT

REVISION

SCALE DRAWNSHEET SIZE CHECKED DATE

STATUS

@

DATEREV. DRN CHKD.

11 - 12  Riverside  Studios       Amethyst  Road       Newcastle  upon  Tyne       NE4  7YL

SADLER BROWN ARCHITECTURE

T :  0191  265 7080       E :  info @ sadlerbrown. co. uk       W :  www. sadlerbrown. co. uk

DESCRIPTION

SADLER BROWN LIMITED

CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE.

DRAWING NOT TO BE SCALED.

THE AUTHOR  OF THIS DESIGN.

REPORT ERRORS & OMISSIONS TO ARCHITECT.

ELECTRONIC, WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF 
REPRODUCE THIS DRAWING,   BY WHATEVER MEANS, INCLUDING 
SADLER BROWN LIMITED. IT IS AN INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT TO 
THIS DRAWING IS THE SUBJECT OF COPYRIGHT WHICH VESTS IN 

SADLER BROWN LIMITED ASSERTS ITS RIGHTS TO BE IDENTIFIED AS 

c

DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 
PLAN AND ALL RELEVANT RISK ASSESSMENTS.

SADLER BROWN LIMITED WHICH RESERVES ALL ITS RIGHTS. 

A1

Proposed Elevations C & D

Mr J. Reddihough

Proposed House at Town-O-Rule,
near Bonchester Bridge

1:100 JD KB 22/02/18

PLANNING

21723 BAL(0)208

JD KBPlanning Issue.05/04/2018A

JD KBRevised for Planning Issue.11/06/2018B

+184.500

+187.880

+180.345

+190.895

Elevation D   P r o p o s e d   W e s t   E l e v a t i o n   DATUM 175.00

+191.655

+185.700

ALUMINIUM 
FRAMED 
WINDOWS

GLASS
BALUSTRADE

HORIZONTAL 
TIMBER 
BOARD  
CLADDING

HORIZONTAL TIMBER 
BOARD ROOF FINISH

GLAZED 
SLIDING 
DOOR

R.L R.L R.L

VERTICAL 
TIMBER BOARD STONE

VERTICAL
TIMBER
BOARD

STONE
CLADDING

CANTILEVERED
BALCONY

GALVANISED 
STEEL MESH

+188.680

N.B. PRPOPOSED LANDSCAPING 
INDICATIVE.
For landscaping proposals refer to 
drawings by Landscape Architect 

0 1M 2M 3M 4M 5M 10M

P
age 382



c.1
.26

m

w.0.
81

m

DH
 2.

03

DH
 1.

99

c.1
.26

m

w.0.
81

m

UP

Ele
c.DH

 1.
97

DH
 1.

89

DH
 2.

10

DH
 1.

70

c.1
.26

m

w.0.
81

m

Ht
Ht

Ht

EP

EP

Stay

Stay

Stay

W.L

Pipe

Pipe

Pipe

Post

Post

Post

Post

GU

Stone

Concrete

Gravel Track

Grass

Concrete

concrete

Rough Grass

Gravel Track

Tarmac

Stone w
all 

1.5
0m

Bric
k w

all
 1.

20
m

Grass

Stone wall 1.20m

Delapidated Stone Retaining W
all

Pos
t &

 W
ire

 1.
10

m

Post &
 W

ire 1.10m

Pos
t &

 W
ire

 1.
10

m

Post & Wire 1.00m

Post &
 W

ire 1.00m

Rope Fence

Dia 300mm

Dia 100mm

Dia 100mm

Ridg
e 1

89
.49

mEav
e 1

87
.03

m

Ridg
e 1

89
.39

m

Ridg
e 1

90
.04

m

Ridg
e 1

91
.56

m

Ridg
e 1

91
.57

m

Eav
e 1

89
.27

m

Eav
e 1

86
.26

m

Eav
e 1

85
.95

m

Eave 186.07m

Eav
e 1

86
.08

m

Eave 186.12m

Eav
e 1

86
.98

m

Eave 187.48m

Eave 186.06m

Ridge 188.93m

Ridge 188.86m

Ridg
e 1

87
.97

m

Ridge 187.95m

Ridg
e 1

88
.23

m

Ridg
e 1

87
.84

m

Eav
e 1

87
.74

m

Ridg
e 1

88
.58

m

Ridge 189.44m

Eav
e 1

87
.49

m

Ridge 189.39m

Eav
e 1

89
.25

m

Eav
e 1

86
.31

m

Eave
 18

5.9
4m Eave 186.11m

Eav
e 1

86
.11

m

18
6.0

186.0

18
6.

0

184.0

184.0
184.0

184.0

182.0 182.0

182.0

182.0

182.0

18
0.0

180.0

180.0

180.0

178.0

186.0

Grass

Grass

Grass

concrete

Gravel Track

Rough Grass

Rough Grass

O/H Line
O/H LineO/H

 Li
ne

Grass

CORRUGATED METAL
OUTBUILDING

ADJACENT
AGRICULTURAL BUILDING

ADJACENT
AGRICULTURAL BUILDING

FIELD

WATER COURSE

JOB No DRAWING No

PROJECT

DRAWING

CLIENT

REVISION

SCALE DRAWNSHEET SIZE CHECKED DATE

STATUS

@

DATEREV. DRN CHKD.

11 - 12  Riverside  Studios       Amethyst  Road       Newcastle  upon  Tyne       NE4  7YL

SADLER BROWN ARCHITECTURE

T :  0191  265 7080       E :  info @ sadlerbrown. co. uk       W :  www. sadlerbrown. co. uk

DESCRIPTION

SADLER BROWN LIMITED

CHECK ALL DIMENSIONS ON SITE.

DRAWING NOT TO BE SCALED.

THE AUTHOR  OF THIS DESIGN.

REPORT ERRORS & OMISSIONS TO ARCHITECT.

ELECTRONIC, WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF 
REPRODUCE THIS DRAWING,   BY WHATEVER MEANS, INCLUDING 
SADLER BROWN LIMITED. IT IS AN INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT TO 
THIS DRAWING IS THE SUBJECT OF COPYRIGHT WHICH VESTS IN 

SADLER BROWN LIMITED ASSERTS ITS RIGHTS TO BE IDENTIFIED AS 

c

DRAWING TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE HEALTH AND SAFETY 
PLAN AND ALL RELEVANT RISK ASSESSMENTS.

SADLER BROWN LIMITED WHICH RESERVES ALL ITS RIGHTS. 

A1

JD KBPlanning Issue.05/04/2018B

Existing Ground & Site Plan

Mr J. Reddihough

Private House at Town-O-Rule,
near Bonchester Bridge

1:200 PJL KB 04/07/17

PLANNING

21723 CAL(0)101

JD KBRed Line Revised for Planning Issue.11/06/2018C

N.B. Indicative Landscaping 
Proposals provided by others.
For detailed landscaping and access 
proposals refer to drawings by 
Landscape Architect. 

5 m0 10 m 20 m

P
age 383



TOWN O' RULE FARMHOUSETOWN O' RULE FARMHOUSE

TOWN O' RULE COTTAGESTOWN O' RULE COTTAGES

215m215m

104m104m

CLIENTCLIENT

PROJECTPROJECT

DRAWING TITLEDRAWING TITLE

DRAWN BYDRAWN BY CHECKED BYCHECKED BY APPROVED BYAPPROVED BY

DATEDATESCALESCALEDRG NoDRG No

cc Copyright ReservedCopyright Reserved http://www.saj-consultants.comhttp://www.saj-consultants.com

DRAWNDRAWNDATEDATEDETAILSDETAILSREVISIONREVISION CHK'DCHK'D APP'DAPP'D

Ó Ó Crown Copyright and Database Rights (2017)Crown Copyright and Database Rights (2017)
Ordnance SurveyOrdnance Survey

Licence No. 0100031673Licence No. 0100031673

MR J REDDIHOUGHMR J REDDIHOUGH

ERECTION OF DWELLINGHOUSE.ERECTION OF DWELLINGHOUSE.
 LAND AT TOWN O RULE FARMHOUSE LAND AT TOWN O RULE FARMHOUSE

BONCHESTER BRIDGE, HAWICKBONCHESTER BRIDGE, HAWICK

SITE ACCESS REVIEWSITE ACCESS REVIEW
VISIBILITY SPLAYVISIBILITY SPLAY

ACCESS OPTION 2ACCESS OPTION 2

JN1565-Dwg-0004JN1565-Dwg-0004 1:1500 @ A31:1500 @ A3 FEBRUARY 2018FEBRUARY 2018

LWLW LWLW LWLW

NOTES:NOTES:

1.  BASE DRAWING:1.  BASE DRAWING:
OS_MasterMap_459797_607353_OS_Mastermap.dwgOS_MasterMap_459797_607353_OS_Mastermap.dwg

KEYKEY

VISIBILITY SPLAY (2.4m X 215m RIGHT/VISIBILITY SPLAY (2.4m X 215m RIGHT/
104m LEFT)104m LEFT)

P
age 384

http://www.saj-consultants.com


TOWN O' RULE FARMHOUSETOWN O' RULE FARMHOUSE

TOWN O' RULE COTTAGESTOWN O' RULE COTTAGES

CLIENTCLIENT

PROJECTPROJECT

DRAWING TITLEDRAWING TITLE

DRAWN BYDRAWN BY CHECKED BYCHECKED BY APPROVED BYAPPROVED BY

DATEDATESCALESCALEDRG NoDRG No

cc Copyright ReservedCopyright Reserved http://www.saj-consultants.comhttp://www.saj-consultants.com

DRAWNDRAWNDATEDATEDETAILSDETAILSREVISIONREVISION CHK'DCHK'D APP'DAPP'D

Ó Ó Crown Copyright and Database Rights (2017)Crown Copyright and Database Rights (2017)
Ordnance SurveyOrdnance Survey

Licence No. 0100031673Licence No. 0100031673

MR J REDDIHOUGHMR J REDDIHOUGH

ERECTION OF DWELLINGHOUSE.ERECTION OF DWELLINGHOUSE.
 LAND AT TOWN O RULE FARMHOUSE LAND AT TOWN O RULE FARMHOUSE

BONCHESTER BRIDGE, HAWICKBONCHESTER BRIDGE, HAWICK

SITE ACCESS REVIEWSITE ACCESS REVIEW
VISIBILITY SPLAYVISIBILITY SPLAY

ACCESS OPTION 1ACCESS OPTION 1

JN1565-Dwg-0003JN1565-Dwg-0003 1:1500 @ A31:1500 @ A3 FEBRUARY 2018FEBRUARY 2018

LWLW LWLW LWLW

NOTES:NOTES:

1.  BASE DRAWING:1.  BASE DRAWING:
OS_MasterMap_459797_607353_OS_Mastermap.dwgOS_MasterMap_459797_607353_OS_Mastermap.dwg

KEYKEY

DWELLING VISIBILITY SPLAY (2.4m X 215m)DWELLING VISIBILITY SPLAY (2.4m X 215m)

AGRICULTURAL ACCESS VISIBILITY SPLAYAGRICULTURAL ACCESS VISIBILITY SPLAY
(2.4m X 215m RIGHT / 60m LEFT)(2.4m X 215m RIGHT / 60m LEFT)

P
age 385

http://www.saj-consultants.com


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 7

Newtown St Boswells Melrose TD6 0SA  Tel: 01835 825251  Fax: 01835 825071  Email: ITSystemAdmin@scotborders.gov.uk 

Applications cannot be validated until all the necessary documentation has been submitted and the required fee has been paid.

Thank you for completing this application form:

ONLINE REFERENCE 100120972-001

The online reference is the unique reference for your online form only. The  Planning Authority will allocate an Application Number when 
your form is validated. Please quote this reference if you need to contact the planning Authority about this application.

Type of Application
What is this application for? Please select one of the following: *

  Application for planning permission (including changes of use and surface  mineral working).

  Application for planning permission in principle.

  Further application, (including renewal of planning permission, modification, variation or removal of a planning condition etc)

  Application for Approval of Matters specified in conditions.

Description of Proposal
Please describe the proposal including any change of use: *  (Max 500 characters)

Is this a temporary permission? *  Yes   No

If a change of use is to be included in the proposal has it already taken place?  Yes   No
(Answer ‘No’ if there is no change of use.) *

Has the work already been started and/or completed? *

 No   Yes – Started   Yes - Completed

Applicant or Agent Details
Are you an applicant or an agent? * (An agent is an architect, consultant or someone else acting
on behalf of the applicant in connection with this application)  Applicant  Agent

Construction of a new dwellinghouse, associated outbuildings and agricultural access track

Page 387

Agenda Item 5b



Page 2 of 7

Agent Details
Please enter Agent details

Company/Organisation:

Ref. Number: You must enter a Building Name or Number, or both: *

First Name: * Building Name:

Last Name: *  Building Number:

Address 1
Telephone Number: * (Street): *

Extension Number: Address 2:

Mobile Number: Town/City: *

Fax Number: Country: *

Postcode: *

Email Address: *

Is the applicant an individual or an organisation/corporate entity? *

  Individual    Organisation/Corporate entity

Applicant Details
Please enter Applicant details

Title: You must enter a Building Name or Number, or both: *

Other Title: Building Name:

First Name: * Building Number:

Address 1
Last Name: * (Street): *

Company/Organisation Address 2:

Telephone Number: * Town/City: *

Extension Number: Country: *

Mobile Number: Postcode: *

Fax Number:

Email Address: *

Ethical Partnership

Mr

Allen

Jamie

Creedy

Reddihough

South Gosforth

 Windsor Terrace

28

28

07845709600

NE3 1YL

NE3 1YL

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

Newcastle upon Tyne

Newcastle upon Tyne

South Gosforth

South Gosforth

planning@ethicalpartnership.co.uk

c/o Ethical Partnership

Page 388



Page 3 of 7

Site Address Details
Planning Authority: 

Full postal address of the site (including postcode where available):

Address 1:  

Address 2:

Address 3:

Address 4:

Address 5:

Town/City/Settlement:

Post Code:

Please identify/describe the location of the site or sites

Northing Easting

Pre-Application Discussion
Have you discussed your proposal with the planning authority? *  Yes   No

Site Area
Please state the site area:

Please state the measurement type used:  Hectares (ha)   Square Metres (sq.m)

Existing Use
Please describe the current or most recent use: *  (Max 500 characters)

Access and Parking
Are you proposing a new altered vehicle access to or from a public road? *  Yes   No

If Yes please describe and show on your drawings the position of any existing. Altered or new access points, highlighting the changes 
you propose to make. You should also show existing footpaths and note if there will be any impact on these.

0.58

Agricultural site with existing agricultural structures. Previous planning applications for residential development on the site have 
been consented. 

Scottish Borders Council

Land Northwest of Town O' Rule Farmhouse, Bonchester Bridge, Hawick

613446 358804

Page 389



Page 4 of 7

Are you proposing any change to public paths, public rights of way or affecting any public right of access? *  Yes   No

If Yes please show on your drawings the position of any affected areas highlighting the changes you propose to make, including 
arrangements for continuing or alternative public access.

How many vehicle parking spaces (garaging and open parking) currently exist on the application
Site?

How many vehicle parking spaces (garaging and open parking) do you propose on the site (i.e. the
Total of existing and any new spaces or a reduced number of spaces)? *

Please show on your drawings the position of existing and proposed parking spaces and identify if these are for the use of particular 
types of vehicles (e.g. parking for disabled people, coaches, HGV vehicles, cycles spaces).

Water Supply and Drainage Arrangements
Will your proposal require new or altered water supply or drainage arrangements? *  Yes   No

Do your proposals make provision for sustainable drainage of surface water?? *  Yes   No
(e.g. SUDS arrangements) *

Note:- 

Please include details of SUDS arrangements on your plans

Selecting ‘No’ to the above question means that you could be in breach of Environmental legislation.

Are you proposing to connect to the public water supply network? *

  Yes

  No, using a private water supply

  No connection required

If No, using a private water supply, please show on plans the supply and all works needed to provide it (on or off site).

Assessment of Flood Risk
Is the site within an area of known risk of flooding? *  Yes    No   Don’t Know

If the site is within an area of known risk of flooding you may need to submit a Flood Risk Assessment before your application can be 
determined. You may wish to contact your Planning Authority or SEPA for advice on what information may be required.

Do you think your proposal may increase the flood risk elsewhere? *  Yes    No   Don’t Know

Trees
Are there any trees on or adjacent to the application site? *  Yes   No

If Yes, please mark on your drawings any trees, known protected trees and their canopy spread close to the proposal site and indicate if 
any are to be cut back or felled.

Waste Storage and Collection
Do the plans incorporate areas to store and aid the collection of waste (including recycling)? *  Yes   No

10

10

Page 390



Page 5 of 7

If Yes or No, please provide further details: * (Max 500 characters)

Residential Units Including Conversion
Does your proposal include new or additional houses and/or flats? *  Yes   No

How many units do you propose in total? *

Please provide full details of the number and types of units on the plans. Additional information may be provided in a supporting 
statement.

All Types of Non Housing Development – Proposed New Floorspace
Does your proposal alter or create non-residential floorspace? *  Yes   No

Schedule 3 Development
Does the proposal involve a form of development listed in Schedule 3 of the Town and Country  Yes   No   Don’t Know
Planning (Development Management Procedure (Scotland) Regulations 2013 *

If yes, your proposal will additionally have to be advertised in a newspaper circulating in the area of the development. Your planning 
authority will do this on your behalf but will charge you a fee. Please check the planning authority’s website for advice on the additional 
fee and add this to your planning fee.

If you are unsure whether your proposal involves a form of development listed in Schedule 3, please check the Help Text and Guidance 
notes before contacting your planning authority.

Planning Service Employee/Elected Member Interest
Is the applicant, or the applicant’s spouse/partner, either a member of staff within the planning service or an  Yes    No
elected member of the planning authority? *

Certificates and Notices
CERTIFICATE AND NOTICE UNDER REGULATION 15 – TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
PROCEDURE) (SCOTLAND) REGULATION 2013

One Certificate must be completed and submitted along with the application form. This is most usually Certificate A, Form 1,
Certificate B, Certificate C or Certificate E.

Are you/the applicant the sole owner of ALL the land? *  Yes    No

Is any of the land part of an agricultural holding? *  Yes    No

Certificate Required
The following Land Ownership Certificate is required to complete this section of the proposal:

Certificate A

Please refer to submitted drawings and documents

1

Page 391



Page 6 of 7

Land Ownership Certificate
Certificate and Notice under Regulation 15 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Scotland) 
Regulations 2013

Certificate A

I hereby certify that –

(1) - No person other than myself/the applicant was an owner (Any person who, in respect of any part of the land, is the owner or is the 
lessee under a lease thereof of which not less than 7 years remain unexpired.) of any part of the land to which the application relates at 
the beginning of the period of 21 days ending with the date of the accompanying application.

(2) - None of the land to which the application relates constitutes or forms part of an agricultural holding

Signed: Allen Creedy

On behalf of: Mr Jamie Reddihough

Date: 04/09/2018

 Please tick here to certify this Certificate. *

Checklist – Application for Planning Permission
Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997

The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2013

Please take a few moments to complete the following checklist in order to ensure that you have provided all the necessary information 
in support of your application. Failure to submit sufficient information with your application may result in your application being deemed 
invalid. The planning authority will not start processing your application until it is valid.

a) If this is a further application where there is a variation of conditions attached to a previous consent, have you provided a statement to 
that effect? *
 Yes   No   Not applicable to this application

b) If this is an application for planning permission or planning permission in principal where there is a crown interest in the land, have 
you provided a statement to that effect? *
 Yes   No   Not applicable to this application

c) If this is an application for planning permission, planning permission in principle or a further application and the application is for 
development belonging to the categories of national or major development (other than one under Section 42 of the planning Act), have 
you provided a Pre-Application Consultation Report? *
 Yes   No   Not applicable to this application

Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997

The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2013

d) If this is an application for planning permission and the application relates to development belonging to the categories of national or 
major developments and you do not benefit from exemption under Regulation 13 of The Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2013, have you provided a Design and Access Statement? *
 Yes   No   Not applicable to this application

e) If this is an application for planning permission and relates to development belonging to the category of local developments (subject 
to regulation 13. (2) and (3) of the Development Management Procedure (Scotland) Regulations 2013) have you provided a Design 
Statement? *
 Yes   No   Not applicable to this application

f) If your application relates to installation of an antenna to be employed in an electronic communication network, have you provided an 
ICNIRP Declaration? *
 Yes   No   Not applicable to this application

Page 392



Page 7 of 7

g) If this is an application for planning permission, planning permission in principle, an application for approval of matters specified in 
conditions or an application for mineral development, have you provided any other plans or drawings as necessary:

  Site Layout Plan or Block plan.

  Elevations.

  Floor plans.

  Cross sections.

  Roof plan.

  Master Plan/Framework Plan.

  Landscape plan.

  Photographs and/or photomontages.

  Other.

If Other, please specify: *  (Max 500 characters) 

Provide copies of the following documents if applicable:

A copy of an Environmental Statement. *  Yes   N/A

A Design Statement or Design and Access Statement. *  Yes   N/A

A Flood Risk Assessment. *  Yes   N/A

A Drainage Impact Assessment (including proposals for Sustainable Drainage Systems). *  Yes   N/A

Drainage/SUDS layout. *  Yes   N/A

A Transport Assessment or Travel Plan  Yes   N/A

Contaminated Land Assessment. *  Yes   N/A

Habitat Survey. *  Yes   N/A

A Processing Agreement. *  Yes   N/A

Other Statements (please specify). (Max 500 characters)

Declare – For Application to Planning Authority
I, the applicant/agent certify that this is an application to the planning authority as described in this form. The accompanying
Plans/drawings and additional information are provided as a part of this application.

Declaration Name: Mr Allen Creedy

Declaration Date: 04/09/2018
 

Payment Details

Online payment: XM0100002308 
Payment date: 04/09/2018 14:57:00

Created: 04/09/2018 14:57

Page 393



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 395



P
age 396



P
age 397



P
age 398



P
age 399



Page 400



P
age 401



P
age 402



P
age 403



P
age 404



P
age 405



P
age 406



Page 407



Page 408



Page 409



Page 410



Page 411



Page 412



SCOTTISH BORDERS COUNCIL

APPLICATION TO BE DETERMINED UNDER POWERS DELEGATED TO 
CHIEF PLANNING OFFICER

PART III REPORT (INCORPORATING REPORT OF HANDLING)

REF : 15/01113/PPP

APPLICANT : Mr J H Reddihough

AGENT : Robert J Hales

DEVELOPMENT : Erection of dwellinghouse

LOCATION:  Land North West Of Town O Rule Farmhouse
Bonchester Bridge 
Hawick
Scottish Borders

TYPE : PPP Application

REASON FOR DELAY:
______________________________________________________________________________________

DRAWING NUMBERS:

Plan Ref    Plan Type Plan Status
       
1302/15/01 Site Plan Approved
1302/15/02 Location Plan Approved

NUMBER OF REPRESENTATIONS: 0 
SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS:

There are no representations.

CONSULTATIONS:

Roads Planning Service: I have no objections in principle to the above proposal.  However I have 
concerns over the road serving the site and I would require the following works to be carried out 
should these proposals be approved to cater for the additional traffic:

• A passing opportunity to be provided on the road between the site and the B6357 prior to the 
occupation of the dwelling.  This can either be in the form of a passing place or localised widening.  
The exact location of this should be agreed with the Council prior to works commencing on the site 
and the works thereafter carried out to an agreed timescale.

• Parking for a minimum of 2 vehicles, excluding garages, and space for turning to be provided 
within the curtilage of the site prior to occupation and thereafter retained in perpetuity.
• The access onto the D63/3 public road from the site must incorporate a service lay-by to 
accommodate service vehicles.  A typical layout for a service layby is shown in our detail DC6.

• The initial 6m of the access must be constructed to our specification.

• The proposed gates must be hung so as to open into the site.

Page 413



It should be borne in mind that all work carried out within the public road boundary must be carried out 
by a contractor first approved by the Council.  

Environmental Health: There is an indication within the application that the site has had agricultural 
use.  I therefore recommend that the applicant complete and return the questionnaire providing 
information relating to the previous use of the site.  Once the questionnaire has been returned I will 
advise you on whether further assessment of potential contamination issues at the site is necessary.

If the applicant does not return the questionnaire, it is important that the potential for contamination is 
considered when issuing the Planning Permission.  I recommend that if the questionnaire is not 
returned, a condition regarding potential contamination is attached to the Planning Permission in order 
to ensure that the site is suitable for its proposed use.

Director of Education and Lifelong Learning: The proposed development is located within the 
catchment area for Hobkirk Primary School and Jedburgh Grammar School.  There are no 
contributions sought for this application.

Archaeology Officer: While I can support the principle of development, there are potential 
archaeological implications.  The name ‘Town O’ Rule’ reflects the location of a medieval village or 
town that was likely destroyed in the 16th century by the Earl of Hertford.  It is difficult to place where 
exactly the town was located in the valley.  Blaeu’s Atlas of the 17th century suggests a settlement 
called ‘Tou of Rule’ between Hallrule Farm and Billerwell well to the north of this site. The present 
farmstead only appears on maps from the late 18th century.  Historical evidence suggests the town 
was sited to the ‘left’ of a cleft, which may reflect the location of Town O’ Rule Farm in relation to the 
Hallrule Burn.  The disparity in the historical sources therefore suggests two possible locations for the 
town, at Town O’ Rule Farm itself or at some unknown location between Hallrule and Billerwell to the 
north.  There is nothing I can find in aerial photos or other evidence to suggest that either location is 
more likely than the other.

In addition to this our Historic Environment Record contains reference to a possible prehistoric 
settlement in the vicinity of Town O’ Rule farmhouse, though states that nothing now remains.

Given the two potential archaeological sites, the medieval ‘Tou of Rule’ and a prehistoric settlement, 
within the development area it is important to identify and mitigate the loss of archaeological deposits 
during development.  I recommend that this can be achieved by an archaeological watching brief to 
take place following all demolitions on site and during excavations for the new build secured by a 
condition.

Ecology Officer: The existing timber framed, steel and timber clad structure proposed for demolition is 
unlikely to support bat roosts but is likely to support breeding birds such as barn swallow and house 
sparrow.  Mitigation for breeding birds is required.  Demolition of the existing structures should occur 
outside of the bird breeding season (March-September).  If demolition works are to be carried out 
during the breeding season, supplementary surveys for breeding birds and mitigation will be required 
as appropriate.
 
Landscape Architect: No comments (verbal response).

Hobkirk Community Council: No response.

APPLICANT’S SUPPORTING INFORMATION:

Design and Access Statement:

• The proposed building is to occupy a similar footprint to existing corrugated metal clad timber 
frame structures which currently occupy the site and sit within the immediate vicinity of other buildings 
that form part of the farm steading of Town O’ Rule Farm, which is located 1.2 miles north of 
Bonchester Bridge.

• There are three entrances into Town O Rule from the public road.

Page 414



• The original development at Town O’ Rule is arranged around a courtyard setting.  The 
buildings are single and two storey random rubble stone with slate roofs.  The farmhouse is rendered.  
Later timber frame additions are attached to these earlier structures, with some being detached and 
built outwith the original development curtilage to the west.  These structures are of simple timber 
frame construction, open at the front, with corrugated profile sheeting or open boarded timber.

• The existing farm buildings no longer fulfil their functions and are surplus to requirements.  
Some buildings are used occasionally and others are becoming dilapidated.

• The site is an unkempt field in which single storey, open fronted sheds are located, clad in 
corrugated metal sheeting and located within an L shape plan.  The boundary to this field consists of a 
post and wire fence with a short section of dry stone walling along the section which lines the road at 
the south west of the field.

• The proposal is to demolish the existing shed within the site.  The existing access would be 
removed and a new access formed.  This will reduce the amount of access junctions along the 
highway.

• The proposed dwellinghouse is orientated towards the views available to the north west and to 
the south west while taking consideration of the sun path.  The siting reflects the existing L shaped 
footprint, whilst reflecting the courtyard portrayed within Town O Rule Farm.  This idea of an open 
courtyard responds to the scale of the steading and the sense of connection as a whole while the other 
elevation and area is more about a sense of the private and the open countryside in which it is 
connected.

• The dwellinghouse aims to reflect the rectilinear unconnected blocks of the original Town O 
Rule steading but aims to create a connection between the two parts of the farm.

• The proposed dwellinghouse follows the footprints of the existing structures and is to be 
arranged at right angles to the Town O Rule steading in order to create a stronger link between the 
developments as a whole. 

• The proposed dwellinghouse is to have pitched roofs with gables to reflect the existing 
traditional buildings.  The materiality and type of structure is important in order to reflect and 
compliment the architectural language.  It is possible that the proposed may be constructed from a 
frame type structure and clad in a sheet or timber cladding with the emphasis on the vertical, in which 
a varied size of openings will penetrate the skin in order to reflect those later additions.  Larger 
openings at ground floor would reflect the openness of the existing structures and farms traditionally.  
Masonry maybe used to match that of the original buildings or the structures maybe rendered to match 
the farmhouse.

• The courtyard is to be hard landscaped to reflect the idea of a working farm, for practicality 
and flexibility and will consist of shared and private surfaces which will be defined by a condition within 
the hard landscaping.  No fence type structures would be constructed within this courtyard. 

• Boundaries outwith the courtyard are to be defined by post and rail or post and wire fences.  
Large timber gates will allow access to the garden ground.  The existing wall is to be built up and 
continued to the access where timber gates will form an entrance.  A hedge is proposed to provide an 
amount of screening for the plot while mirroring that existing to the right of the entrance in order to 
create a unified development.   A small amount of tree planning will reflect that of its surrounding 
context while creating a shallower visual depth of sight.

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS AND POLICIES:

Scottish Borders Consolidated Local Plan Adopted 2011 

G1: Quality Standards for New Development
G2: Contaminated Land
G5: Developer Contributions
BE2: Archaeological Sites and Ancient Monuments

Page 415



NE3: Local Biodiversity
NE4: Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows
EP2: Special Landscape Area 
H2: Protection of Residential Amenity
Inf4: Parking Provision and Standards
D2: Housing in the Countryside

Supplementary Planning Guidance: 

New Housing in the Borders Countryside December 2008
Placemaking and Design January 2010
Local Landscape Designations August 2012

Recommendation by  - Julie Hayward  (Lead Planning Officer) on 6th November 2015

Site and Proposal

Town O Rule Farm is situated to the north of Bonchester Bridge accessed by a minor public road from the 
B6357 Bonchester Bride to Jedburgh road.  It comprises of a two storey rendered farmhouse and a number 
of traditional stone and slate and more modern corrugated metal farm buildings.

The site is unused land situated to the north west of the main steading.  There are corrugated metal sheds 
on the site and an access onto the public road.  There are fields to the north and east and the modern 
agricultural complex is to the north west.  There is a stone wall on the western boundary with the road and 
access track to the modern steading.  

The farmhouse and a modern house, Town O Rule House, are situated to the south east and there are three 
farm cottages on the opposite side of the public road to the south east.  The site is within the Teviot Valleys 
Special Landscape Area.

This is a Planning Permission in Principle application for the erection of a dwellinghouse on this site.  The 
indicative site plan shows an L shaped dwelling situated adjacent to the south west boundary of the site 
adjacent to the access to the modern steading.  The existing farm buildings would be demolished.  The 
existing access would be closed off and a hedge planted along the road boundary.  A new access onto the 
public road would be formed to the south east.

Foul drainage would be via a septic tank discharging to open ground and the proposed dwellinghouse would 
connect to the mains water supply.

Planning History

12/01209/FUL: Change of use from agricultural building and alterations to form dwellinghouse.  Disused 
Agricultural Building North West of Town O Rule Farmhouse Bonchester Bridge.  Withdrawn.

12/01210/PPP: Erection of two dwellinghouses.  Land North West of Town O Rule Farmhouse
Bonchester Bridge.  Withdrawn.

Planning Policy 

Policy D2 of the Scottish Borders Consolidated Local Plan Adopted 2011 requires that the site is well related 
to an existing building group of at least three houses or buildings capable of conversion to residential use.  
Any consents for new build granted under the building group part of the policy should not exceed two 
houses or a 30% increase in addition to the group during the Local Plan period.  No further development 
above this threshold will be permitted.  Calculations on building group size are based on the existing number 
of housing units within the group at the start of the Local Plan period.  This will include those units under 
construction or nearing completion at that point.  The cumulative impact of the new development on the 
character of the building group, landscape and amenity of the surrounding area will be taken into account in 
determining applications.

Page 416



The Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance: New Housing in the Borders Countryside December 2008 
states that the existence of a group will be identifiable by a sense of place which will be contributed to by 
natural and man-made boundaries.  Sites should not normally break into undeveloped fields particularly 
where there exists a definable natural boundary between the building group and the field and the new 
development should be limited to the area contained by that sense of place.  Any new development should 
be within a reasonable distance of the existing properties within the building group and this distance should 
be guided by the spacing between the existing properties in the building group.  The scale and siting of new 
development should reflect and respect the character and amenity of the existing building group.

A Planning Permission in Principle application (12/01210/PPP) was approved by the Planning and Building 
Standards Committee in December 2012 for two dwellinghouses on a larger that includes this current site, 
together with an application to convert the agricultural building into a dwellinghouse.  These applications 
have now been withdrawn as the Section 75 Agreement to secure the relevant developer contributions was 
never completed.  Therefore, the principle of residential development on this site has been supported by the 
Council in the past and policies on housing in the countryside have not changed since that decision.

It is accepted that there is a building group at Town O Rule comprising of the farmhouse, Town O Rule 
House to the south east of the farmhouse and the three Town O Rule Cottages.  Planning permission for 
additional housing in this building group has been granted in the past; permission was granted for Town O 
Rule House in 2005 as it was considered then that there was a building group in this location and the site for 
the proposed house was midway between the cottages and farmhouse.

It is considered that this site is well related to the existing building group, being part of the existing steading, 
and within the area defined by the sense of place.  There are no significant boundaries between the existing 
houses and the site.  The proposed dwellinghouse would be within a reasonable distance of the farmhouse.  
The proposal would represent an appropriate addition to the building group.

There have been no other approvals for dwellinghouses within or adjacent to this building group in the 
current Local Plan period, as the previous application for two dwellinghouses has been withdrawn, and so 
there would be no conflict with this aspect of the policy.

Design and Impact on Visual Amenities

Policy G1 of the Scottish Borders Consolidated Local Plan Adopted 2011 requires all development to be of 
high quality in accordance with sustainability principles, designed to fit in with Borders townscapes and to 
integrate with its landscape surroundings.

The Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance: New Housing in the Borders Countryside December 2008 
states that the scale and siting of new development should reflect and respect the character and amenity of 
the existing building group.

This is an application for Planning Permission in Principle and so no details of the design of the 
dwellinghouse have been submitted.  The indicative site plan shows an L shaped building designed to reflect 
the buildings within the traditional steading.  The Design Statement advises that the proposed dwellinghouse 
would have a pitched roof with gables to reflect the original buildings and may have timber cladding with a 
vertical emphasis to reflect later additions to the steading or be rendered to match the farmhouse.

It is considered that with appropriate design, materials, boundary treatment and landscaping the proposal 
would not harm the visual amenities of the area.

Landscape Impacts

The site is within the Special Landscape Area, as designated in the Council’s Supplementary Planning 
Guidance: Local Landscape Designations August 2012.

The proposal would involve the removal of the redundant agricultural buildings on the site, which have no 
architectural merit, and their demolition would improve the appearance of the site.  The plot is well related to 
the existing traditional farm buildings to the north east.  These would act as a backdrop and a screen.  It is 
considered that the development would not be unduly prominent in the landscape.  It is considered that with 

Page 417



appropriate scale, design and materials the proposal would not harm the special characteristics of the 
Special Landscape Area.

Residential Amenities

Policy H2 of the Scottish Borders Consolidated Local Plan Adopted 2011 states that development that is 
judged to have an adverse impact on the amenity of residential areas will not be permitted.    

The existing farmhouse is 20m from the site separated by agricultural buildings and so the residential 
amenities of occupiers of this property would not be affected by this proposal.

It is considered that provided that the steading buildings adjacent to the site are no longer used for 
agricultural purposes an adequate residential environment can be achieved for the future occupants of the 
new dwellinghouses. These buildings are no longer in use and the main farm complex is now to the north 
west.

Access and Parking

Policy Inf4 requires that car parking should be provided in accordance with the Council’s adopted standards.  

The Roads Planning Service has no objections to this application provided the detailed proposal addresses 
their concerns regarding the standard of the access, parking, the provision of a service lay-by, the position of 
gates at the access and a passing place or road widening on the public road.  These issues can be 
controlled by planning conditions and agreed at the detailed application stage.

Contaminated Land

Policy G2 refers to developments proposed on contaminated sites and the need for site investigations to 
identify any risks to public health, safety or the environment and remedial proposals.  

Environmental Health has advised that the application site has been in agricultural use.  This land use is 
potentially contaminative and it is the responsibility of the developer to demonstrate that the land is suitable 
for the use they propose.  A condition is proposed to ensure that the site is investigated for any potential 
contamination and appropriate mitigation measures carried out.

Archaeology

Policy BE2 states that where there is evidence of archaeological remains the Council may require and 
archaeological evaluation to provide clarification of the potential impact of a development.

The Council’s Archaeologist advises that the proposal will have archaeological implications; the name ‘Town 
O’ Rule’ reflects the location of a medieval village or town, though the exact location is not known.   In 
addition, the Historic Environment Record contains reference to a possible prehistoric settlement in the 
vicinity of Town O’ Rule farmhouse, though states that nothing now remains.

Given the two potential archaeological sites within the development area it is important to identify and 
mitigate the loss of archaeological deposits during development.  An archaeological watching brief is 
required following all demolitions on-site and during excavations for the new build.  This will be secured by a 
condition.

Developer Contributions

Policies G5 of the Scottish Borders Local Plan Adopted 2008 states that where a site is acceptable but 
cannot proceed due to deficiencies in infrastructure or due to environmental impacts the Council will require 
developers to make contributions towards the cost of addressing such deficiencies.

No contributions are required towards education or affordable housing.

REASON FOR DECISION :

Page 418



It is considered that the proposal complies with policy D2 of the Scottish Borders Consolidated Local Plan 
Adopted 2011 as the site is well related to an existing building group.  Appropriate siting and design will 
ensure that the proposal would not affect the residential amenities of occupants of neighbouring properties 
or the visual amenities of the Special Landscape Area.  Adequate access and on-site parking can be 
achieved.

Recommendation:  Approved subject to conditions

 1 No development shall commence until the details of the layout, siting, design and external 
appearance of the building(s), the means of access thereto and the landscaping of the site have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. 
Reason: To achieve a satisfactory form of development, and to comply with the requirements of 
Section 59 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997, as amended by the Planning etc. 
(Scotland) Act 2006.

 2 No development shall commence until all matters specified in conditions have, where required, been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall 
only take place except in strict accordance with the details so approved. 
Reason: To achieve a satisfactory form of development, and to comply with the requirements of 
Section 59 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997, as amended by the Planning etc. 
(Scotland) Act 2006.

 3 Unless otherwise agreed in writing and in advance by the Planning Authority, prior to any 
development commencing on site, a scheme will be submitted by the Developer (at their expense) 
to identify and assess potential contamination on site.  No construction work shall commence until 
the scheme has been submitted to, and approved, by the Council, and is thereafter implemented in 
accordance with the scheme so approved.  

The scheme shall be undertaken by a competent person or persons in accordance with the advice 
of relevant authoritative guidance including PAN 33 (2000) and BS10175:2011 or, in the event of 
these being superseded or supplemented, the most up-to-date version(s) of any subsequent 
revision(s) of, and/or supplement(s) to, these documents. This scheme should contain details of 
proposals to investigate and remediate potential contamination and must include:-

a) A desk study and development of a conceptual site model including (where necessary) a 
detailed site investigation strategy. The desk study and the scope and method of recommended 
further investigations shall be agreed with the Council prior to addressing parts b, c, d, and, e of this 
condition.

and thereafter

b) Where required by the desk study, undertaking a detailed investigation of the nature and 
extent of contamination on site, and assessment of risk such contamination presents. 

c) Remedial Strategy (if required) to treat/remove contamination to ensure that the site is fit for 
its proposed use (this shall include a method statement, programme of works, and proposed 
validation plan).

d) Submission of a Validation Report (should remedial action be required) by the developer 
which will validate and verify the completion of works to a satisfaction of the Council.

e) Submission, if necessary, of monitoring statements at periods to be agreed with the Council 
for such time period as is considered appropriate by the Council.

Written confirmation from the Council, that the scheme has been implemented completed and (if 
appropriate), monitoring measures are satisfactorily in place, shall be required by the Developer 
before any development hereby approved commences. Where remedial measures are required as 

Page 419



part of the development construction detail, commencement must be agreed in writing with the 
Council.

Reason: To ensure that the potential risks to human health, the water environment, property, and, 
ecological systems arising from any identified land contamination have been adequately addressed.

 4 No development shall take place until the applicant has secured a programme of archaeological 
work in accordance with an approved Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) outlining a Watching 
Brief. Development and archaeological investigation shall only proceed in accordance with the WSI.  

The requirements of this are:

• The WSI shall be formulated and implemented by a contracted archaeological organisation 
working to the standards of the Chartered Institute for Archaeologists (CIfA) approval of which shall 
be in writing by the Planning Authority.  
• If significant finds, features or deposits are identified by the attending archaeologist(s), all 
works shall cease and the nominated archaeologist(s) will contact the Council’s Archaeology Officer 
immediately for verification. The discovery of significant archaeology may result in further developer 
funded archaeological mitigation as determined by the Council.
• Development should seek to mitigate the loss of significant archaeology through avoidance 
in the first instance according to an approved plan.
• If avoidance is not possible, further developer funded mitigation for significant archaeology 
will be implemented through either an approved and amended WSI, a new WSI to cover substantial 
excavation, and a Post-Excavation Research Design (PERD).
• Initial results shall be submitted to the Planning Authority for approval in the form of a Data 
Structure Report (DSR) within one month following completion of all on-site archaeological works. 
These shall also be reported to the National Monuments Record of Scotland (NMRS) and Discovery 
and Excavation in Scotland (DES) within three months of on-site completion
• The results of further mitigation of significant archaeology shall be reported to the Council 
following completion for approval and published as appropriate once approved.  

Reason: The site is within an area where ground works may interfere with, or result in the 
destruction of, archaeological remains, and it is therefore desirable to afford a reasonable 
opportunity to record the history of the site.

 5 Demolition of the existing built structures must occur outside of the bird breeding season, to be 
carried out between October and February.  No demolition works to commence during the breeding 
bird season (March-August) without the express written permission of the Planning Authority.  A 
supplementary breeding bird survey and subsequent mitigation may be required if works are to 
commence during the breeding season.
Reason: To protect breeding birds within the site.

 6 All agricultural activities shall cease and all redundant buildings shall be removed from the site prior 
to any development commencing.
Reason: To avoid conflict with agricultural activities.

 7 The roofing materials to be natural slate.
Reason: To safeguard the visual amenity of the surrounding area.

 8 If a private water supply is to be used, no development to be commenced until a report by a 
qualified person has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority, 
demonstrating the provision of water to the development in terms of the quantity, quality and 
impacts on other supplies in the vicinity.
Reason: To ensure that the site is adequately serviced.

 9 Details of the surface and foul water drainage for the site to be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Planning Authority before the development commences.  The approved scheme then to be 
completed as part of the development.

Page 420



Reason: To ensure that satisfactory arrangements are made for the disposal of surface and foul 
water.

10 No development shall take place except in strict accordance with a scheme of soft landscaping 
works which shall first have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority, 
and shall include:

i. indication of existing trees, shrubs and hedges to be removed, those to be retained and, in the 
case of damage, proposals for their restoration
ii. location of new trees, shrubs, hedges and grassed areas
iii. schedule of plants to comprise species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/density
iv. programme for completion and subsequent maintenance of all existing and proposed planting.

Reason: To enable the proper form and layout of the development and the effective assimilation of 
the development into its wider surroundings.

11 No development shall be commenced until precise details of the boundary treatment around the site 
and the proposed gates have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority, 
and thereafter no development shall take place except in strict accordance with those details.  
Reason: The boundary treatments require further consideration to ensure a satisfactory form of 
development, which contributes appropriately to its setting.

12 Parking and turning for a minimum of two vehicles, excluding any garages, must be provided and 
retained in perpetuity within the curtilage of the property.  These parking spaces must be provided 
prior to the dwellinghouse being occupied.  
Reason:  To ensure adequate on-site parking is provided within the plot.

13 One passing opportunity to be provided on the road between the site and the B6357, either in the 
form of a passing place or localised widening, before the dwellinghouse is occupied in accordance 
with a scheme that has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority before 
the development commences.
Reason: To ensure that the local road can cater with the traffic generated by this development, in 
the interests of road safety.

14 The access onto the D63/3 public road from the site to incorporate a service lay-by as per detail 
DC6 (attached) before the dwellinghouse is occupied.
Reason: To accommodate service vehicles, in the interests of road safety.

15 The initial 6m of the access must be constructed to the following specification: 40mm of 14mm size 
close graded bituminous surface course to BS 4987 laid on 60mm of 20mm size dense binder 
course (basecourse) to the same BS laid on 350mm of 100mm broken stone before the 
dwellinghouse is occupied.  All work within the public road boundary to be carried out by a 
contractor first approved by the Council (list attached).
Reason: To ensure that the site can be safely accessed, in the interests of road safety.

16 The proposed gates to be hung so as to open into the site and not out over the public road.
Reason: To prevent any obstruction of the public road in the interests of road safety.

“Photographs taken in connection with the determination of the application and any other 
associated documentation form part of the Report of Handling”.

Page 421



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 423



This page is intentionally left blank



CONSULTATION RESPONSE TO 

PLANNING OR RELATED APPLICATION 

Comments provided by Archaeology Officer 
Officer Name: Dr Christopher 

Bowles 

 
Contact e-mail/number: 
archaeology@scotborders.gov.uk 

Date of reply 24 September, 2018 

Planning Application 
Reference 

18/01194/FUL Case Officer: Stuart Herkes 
 

Proposed Development Erection of dwellinghouse, garages and associated access 

Site Location Land North West Of Town O Rule Farmhouse Bonchester Bridge  Hawick  
Scottish Borders   

The following observations represent the comments of the consultee on the submitted application as they relate 
to the area of expertise of that consultee. A decision on the application can only be made after consideration of 
all relevant information, consultations and material considerations. 

Background and  
Site description 

I have reviewed this application against our HER, historic mapping and 
documentary research. I would also draw your attention to my previous 
comments on application 15/01113/PPP 
 
The proposed development is within an area of low to moderate archaeological 
potential. As outlined in my previous response, Town O’ Rule may originate in the 
medieval period. Additionally, there is a record for a possible prehistoric 
enclosure near the farm. This has evidentially been ploughed and is no longer 
visible on the surface. Buried remains may however survive. 
 

Key Issues 
(Bullet points) 

 There is a low to moderate potential for encountering buried 
archaeological features or deposits. 

Assessment As requested in my previous response, and referenced in the applicant’s Planning 
Statement, an archaeological watching brief is following demolitions and during 
excavations.  
 

Recommendation ☐ Object ☐Do not object ☒Do not object, 
subject to conditions 

☐Further information 
required 

Recommended 
Conditions 

If consented, I recommend the following condition: 
 
No development shall take place within the development site as outlined in red 
on the approved plan until the developer has secured a Written Scheme of 
Investigation (WSI) detailing a programme of archaeological works. The WSI shall 
be formulated and implemented by a contracted archaeological organisation 
working to the standards of the Chartered Institute for Archaeologists (CIfA). The 
WSI shall be submitted by the developer no later than 1 month prior to the start 
of development works and approved by the Planning Authority before the 

Page 425

Agenda Item 5c



commencement of any development. Thereafter the developer shall ensure that 
the programme of archaeological works is fully implemented and that all 
recording, recovery of archaeological resources within the development site, 
post-excavation assessment, reporting and dissemination of results are 
undertaken per the WSI.  

 
Reason: The site is within an area where development may damage or destroy 
archaeological remains, and it is therefore desirable to afford a reasonable 
opportunity to record the history of the site. 

Recommended 
Informatives 

 

 

 

Page 426



Page 1 of 2 

 
 

Scottish Borders Council 
 

Regulatory Services – Consultation reply 
 

Planning Ref 18/01194/FUL 

Uniform Ref 18/02825/PLANCO 

Proposal 
Erection of dwellinghouse, garages and associated 
access  

Address 

Land North West Of Town O Rule Farmhouse Bonchester 
Bridge  

Hawick 

Scottish Borders 

Date 18thSeptember 2018 

Amenity and Pollution Officer  

Contaminated Land Officer Gareth Stewart 

 
 
Amenity and Pollution 
 
Assessment of Application 
 
Noise 
Odour 
Air Quality 
Private Water Supplies 
Food premises 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommendation  

Delete as appropriate – Agree with application in principle, subject to conditions /Further 
Information Required Before Application is Determined / Information to be Provided Before Work 
Commences (see conditions) / No Comment / Object / Informative Note 

 
 
Contaminated land 
 
Assessment of Application 
 
The above application appears to be proposing the redevelopment of land which was previously in 
an agricultural use. This land use is potentially contaminative and it is the responsibility of the 
developer to demonstrate that the land is suitable for the use they propose. 
 
It is recommended that planning permission should be granted on condition that development is 
not be permitted to start until a site investigation and risk assessment has been carried out, 
submitted and agreed upon by the Planning Authority.   
 
Any requirement arising from this assessment for a remediation strategy and verification plan 
would become a condition of the planning consent, again to be submitted and agreed upon by the 
Planning Authority prior to development commencing. 

Page 427



Page 2 of 2 

The attached standard condition may be helpful in this respect  

 
Recommendation  

Delete as appropriate – Agree with application in principle, subject to conditions /Further 
Information Required Before Application is Determined / Information to be Provided Before Work 
Commences (see conditions) / No Comment / Object /Informative Note 

 
Conditions 
 
Unless otherwise agreed in writing and in advance by the Planning Authority, prior to any 
development commencing on site, a scheme will be submitted by the Developer (at their expense) 
to identify and assess potential contamination on site.  No construction work shall commence 
until the scheme has been submitted to, and approved, by the Council, and is thereafter 
implemented in accordance with the scheme so approved.   
 
The scheme shall be undertaken by a competent person or persons in accordance with the advice 
of relevant authoritative guidance including PAN 33 (2000) and BS10175:2011 or, in the event of 
these being superseded or supplemented, the most up-to-date version(s) of any subsequent 
revision(s) of, and/or supplement(s) to, these documents. This scheme should contain details of 
proposals to investigate and remediate potential contamination and must include:- 
 

a) A desk study and development of a conceptual site model including (where necessary) a 
detailed site investigation strategy. The desk study and the scope and method of 
recommended further investigations shall be agreed with the Council prior to addressing 
parts b, c, d, and, e of this condition. 

 
and thereafter 
 
b) Where required by the desk study, undertaking a detailed investigation of the nature and 

extent of contamination on site, and assessment of risk such contamination presents.  
 

c) Remedial Strategy (if required) to treat/remove contamination to ensure that the site is fit for 
its proposed use (this shall include a method statement, programme of works, and 
proposed validation plan). 

 
d) Submission of a Validation Report (should remedial action be required) by the developer 

which will validate and verify the completion of works to a satisfaction of the Council. 
 

e) Submission, if necessary, of monitoring statements at periods to be agreed with the Council 
for such time period as is considered appropriate by the Council. 

 
Written confirmation from the Council, that the scheme has been implemented completed and 
(if appropriate), monitoring measures are satisfactorily in place, shall be required by the 
Developer before any development hereby approved commences. Where remedial measures 
are required as part of the development construction detail, commencement must be agreed in 
writing with the Council. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the potential risks to human health, the water environment, property, and, 
ecological systems arising from any identified land contamination have been adequately 
addressed. 
 
 
 
 

Page 428



CONSULTATION RESPONSE TO 

PLANNING OR RELATED APPLICATION 

Comments 
provided by 

Ecology 
Officer Name and Post: 

 
Contact e-mail/number: 

 Liz Hall, Assistant Ecology 
Officer 

Elizabeth.hall@scotborders.gov.uk 
T. 01835 825209  

Date of reply 03/10/18 

Planning 
Application 
Reference 

18/01194/FUL Case Officer: Stuart Herkes 
 

Proposed 
Development 

Erection of dwellinghouse, garages and associated access.  

Site Location Land North West Of Town O Rule Farmhouse Bonchester Bridge  Hawick 

The following observations represent the comments of the consultee on the submitted application 
as they relate to the area of expertise of that consultee. A decision on the application can only be 
made after consideration of all relevant information, consultations and material considerations. 

Background and  
Site description 

 I am content with the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Ethical Planning LLP 
2018)  

 Relevant Local Development Plan policies are:  
o EP1 International Nature Conservation Sites and Protected Species 
o EP2 National Nature Conservation Sites and Protected Species 
o EP3 Local Biodiversity  
o EP13 Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows 
o EP15 Development Affecting the Water Environment 

Key Issues 
 

 Potential impacts on the River Tweed SAC (Rule Water) 

 Potential impacts on European Protected Species (bats) 

 Potential to disturb breeding birds during nesting season 

 Opportunities to enhance the local habitat network 

 Impacts on notable species and habitats (including the water environment) 

Assessment  The Rule Water, a tributary of the River Tweed Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC), is located 556m south east of the proposed site. Given 
the nature and scale of the proposal, and the context of the SAC, which is 
located beyond two roads, farm buildings and arable/improved grassland 
fields, with a lack of direct ecological connectivity between the site and the 
SAC, no impacts are considered likely. From OS map data, the small burn 
on site does not appear to flow into the Hallrule Burn to the north of site, 
however it sinks underground and there may be some connectivity 
between these two burns, with ensuing connectivity to the SAC. Care 
should be taken to follow SEPA guidance to avoid pollution of the water 
environment and to follow good practice in construction, through a 
construction method statement. 

 Habitat includes scattered trees and semi-improved grassland/rank 
vegetation, which may be impacted/removed as a result of the 
development. In line with LDP policy EP13, opportunities exist to enhance 
the local habitat network and support biodiversity by planting native tree 
and hedgerow species of local provenance, details of how such 
opportunities will be addressed should be outlined in a habitat 
enhancement and management plan.  

 Although no trees on site were considered to have bat roost potential, 
evidence of bats was found within the stone cottage scheduled for 
removal, with the PEA stating that there is potential for the cottage to 

Page 429

mailto:Elizabeth.hall@scotborders.gov.uk


support summer roosts, which are protected year round. In accordance 
with the requirements of the Conservation (Natural Habitats, &c.) 
Regulations 1994 and with advice from the Scottish Government 
(https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/file/2960/bats_technical_ad
vice_note), information on European Protected Species is required prior to 
determination of the planning application. As droppings have been found 
and the structure has potential to support roosts, further bat surveys are 
required, in accordance with good practice guidelines.i 

 Records of other protected and notable species within 1km of the site 
include nesting birds, red squirrel, common amphibian species and brown 
hare. No records of badger exist, however the grasslands on site may 
provide foraging habitat for this itinerant species that is known to be 
active throughout the Scottish Borders. It is considered most likely that red 
squirrel forage in the areas of wood pasture to the south of site, and in 
surrounding woodlands. Precautionary mitigation is required in order to 
protect species from potential impacts due to development, which should 
be incorporated within a construction method statement.  

 In order to avoid impacts on breeding birds, development should avoid the 
nesting season (March to August inclusive). 

Recommendation ☐ 
Object 

☐Do not 
object 

☐Do not object, 
subject to conditions 

☒Further information 
required 

Further 
information 
required prior to 
determination 

 Prior to determination, a survey for bats by a suitably qualified personii will 
be required for the structure to be altered.   

o Following guidance from the Scottish Government, bat surveys 
and any subsequent licensing requirements will need to be 
resolved before the planning application is determined. Impacts 
on bats will be assessed against the three key tests.  

o Surveys likely to involve disturbance to bats or their roosts can 
only be carried out by a licensed bat worker.  

o Activity surveys for maternity roosts and occasional roosts in 
buildings and trees should be conducted between May and 
September (optimally May – August, depending on the site’s 
suitability for roosting bats).  

o Preliminary roost assessments can be undertaken at any time of 
year and are sufficient only if it is shown there is negligible 
suitability for bats.  

If evidence of bats or their roosts is found in the surveys, the developer will be 
required to submit as part of their submission to the Planning Authority a 
mitigation plan for bats. 

Recommended 
Conditions 

 No development shall commence during the breeding bird season unless 
in strict accordance with a Species Protection Plan (SPP) for breeding birds 
that shall be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority. The 
SPP shall include provision for a pre-development supplementary survey 
and mitigation.  
 

 Prior to commencement of development, a Construction Method 
Statement (CMS) shall be submitted for approval to the Planning 
Authority, incorporating measures to mitigate potential impacts on the 
water environment, including the River Tweed SAC, (incorporating good 
practice as outlined in SEPA guidance, e.g. GPP 5), and on protected and 
notable species.  Care should be taken to avoid contamination of the water 
environment, by following SEPA good practice guidelines, e.g. GPP 5. No 
development shall take place except in compliance with the approved 
CMS.  

 

Page 430

https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/file/2960/bats_technical_advice_note
https://www.scotborders.gov.uk/downloads/file/2960/bats_technical_advice_note


 Prior to commencement of development, a Habitat Enhancement and 
Management Plan (HEMP) outlining measures to enhance local 
biodiversity and the ecological network through planting native species of 
local provenance and incorporating recommendations from the 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Ethical Planning LLP, 2018), shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority. No development 
shall take place except in compliance with the approved HEMP. 

Recommended 
Informatives 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
i Collins, J. (ed.) (2016) Bat Surveys for Professional ecologists: Good Practice Guidelines (3rd edn). The Bat Conservation 
Trust, London. 
ii Preferably a specialist bat surveyor including licensed bat workers.  

Page 431



Council Headquarters, Newtown St Boswells, MELROSE, Scottish Borders, TD6 0SA 
Customer Services:  0300 100 1800    www.scotborders.gov.uk  

 

PLANNING CONSULTATION 
 
On behalf of:  Director of Education & Lifelong Learning 

 
From:  Director of Assets & Infrastructure 
 
Contact:  Lesley Marshall, Estates Strategy Officer 
 
To:  Head of Planning & Building Standards  Date: 22 October 2018 
 
Contact: Stuart Herkes     01835 825039                                 Ref: 18/01194/FUL 
  

 
PLANNING CONSULTATION 

 
 
Name of Applicant:  Mr Jamie Reddihough   
  
Agent: Ethical Partnership 
    
Nature of Proposal: Erection of dwelling house, garage and associated access 
 
Site: Land North West of Town O Rule Farmhouse, Bonchester Bridge, Hawick, Scottish Borders 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
OBSERVATIONS OF: Education & Lifelong Learning (Neil Hastie) 

 

CONSULTATION REPLY 
 

I refer to your request for Educations view on the impact of this proposed development which is 
within the catchment area for Denholm Primary School and Jedburgh High School. 
 
A contribution of £2,533 is sought for the Primary School. 
  
Contributions are sought to raise capital to extend or improve schools or where deemed necessary 
to provide new schools in order to ensure that over capacity issues are managed and no reduction 
in standards is attributed to this within the Borders Area. 
 
This contribution should be paid upon receipt of detailed planning consent but may be phased 
subject to an agreed schedule. 
 
Please note that the level of contributions for all developments will be reviewed at the end of each 
financial year and may be changed to reflect changes in the BCIS index – therefore, we reserve 
the right to vary the level of the contributions. 
 
If you require any further information please do not hesitate to contact me by emailing 
estatemanagement@scotborders.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 432

http://www.scotborders.gov.uk/
mailto:estatemanagement@scotborders.gov.uk


CONSULTATION RESPONSE TO 

PLANNING OR RELATED APPLICATION 

Comments provided by Landscape Architect 
Officer Name and Post: 

 
Contact e-mail/number: 

 S McDermott smcdermott@scotborders.gov.uk 

Date of reply 12th October 2018 

Planning Application 
Reference 

18/01194/FUL Case Officer:  S Herkes 
 

Proposed Development Erection of dwellinghouse, garages and associated access 

Site Location Land NW of Town O Rule Farmhouse Bonchester Bridge   

The following observations represent the comments of the consultee on the submitted application as they 
relate to the area of expertise of that consultee. A decision on the application can only be made after 
consideration of all relevant information, consultations and material considerations. 

Background and  
Site description 

The site is two rectangular blocks of land adjacent to the minor public road 
between the B6357at Halrule Mill and A6088 at Hawthornside. 
The site (or part thereof) was granted planning permission in principle in 
November 2015 

Key Issues 
(Bullet points) 

 Impact on existing tree resource  

 Visual impact on the local area which lies within the Teviot Valleys Special 
Landscape Area 

Assessment The principle of a dwellinghouse in this location has been established.  
My concern is with the impact on the existing tree and hedge resource on or 
immediately adjacent to the site. An Arboricultural Impact Assessment has been 
submitted but fails to provide the associated Tree Survey information which is 
detailed in Section 4.4 of BS5837:2012.  There is no definitive plan showing the 
trees on site (which I acknowledge are relatively few in number) with numbering 
to identify each tree surveyed  
I understand that the purpose of an Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) is to 
assess the impact of the development on the trees surveyed ‘that evaluates the 
direct and indirect effects of the proposed design and where necessary 
recommends mitigation.’ (Section 5.4 of BS5837) Tree constraints (5.2 od 
BS5837) should be plotted on proposed site plan and this may demonstrate 
while a particular tree(s) require removal. A Tree Protection Plan (Section5.5 of 
BS) will be required when the design has been approved to indicate the locations 
of protective fencing and extent of any ground protection required to protect 
any retained trees on site. This will likely be conditioned as part of and detailed 
consent. 
I would want the Tree Survey information submitted to support a revised AIA 
which clearly demonstrates the impact of the development on every tree on or 
adjacent to the site. 
Any consent of the proposed development should be conditional on a detailed 
Landscape scheme being submitted which should pay particular attention to the 
external parts of the site, such as tree and hedge planting to the boundaries and 
planting  to external areas that will mitigate the visual impact and help to 
achieve a landscape fit in this very rural landscape. 

Recommendation ☐ Object ☐Do not object ☒Do not object, 
subject to conditions 

☒Further information 
required 

Page 433



Recommended 
Conditions 

 
The below conditions are revised by JH Sept 2018 
 
LA01 Hard and Soft Landscaping – Submission of Details 
LA02 Soft Landscaping - Submission of Details 
LA03 Landscaping - Commencement 
LA08 Existing Trees to be Retained - Details to be Submitted 
LA15 Landscaping Works – Notice of Completion 
 

Recommended 
Informatives 

 

 

Page 434



CONSULTATION RESPONSE TO 

PLANNING OR RELATED APPLICATION 

Comments provided by Roads Planning Service 
 

Contact e-mail/number: 

Officer Name and Post: Paul Grigor 
Roads Planning Officer 

pgrigor@scotborders.gov.uk 
01835 826663 

Date of reply 16th October 2018 

Planning Application 
Reference 

18/01194/FUL Case Officer: Stuart Herkes 

Proposed Development Erection of dwellinghouse, garages and associated access 

Site Location Land North West of Town O Rule Farmhouse, Bonchester Bridge, Hawick 

The following observations represent the comments of the consultee on the submitted application as they 
relate to the area of expertise of that consultee. A decision on the application can only be made after 
consideration of all relevant information, consultations and material considerations. 

Background and  
Site description 

 

Key Issues  Access 

Assessment I have no objections in principle to this development. The proposed access for the 
residential plot will need to be surfaced to an appropriate specification. 
 
I note that there are plans to provide a new access to the south-west of the 
development site for agricultural traffic. It should be noted that this would not be 
a requirement of the Roads Planning Service. I would have no objections to the 
existing junction area being surfaced to an extent which covers both the 
residential access and the agricultural access. 
 
Should the applicant insist on a new access for agricultural traffic, I do not have 
any preference over option 1 or 2, as shown on the associated plans.  

Recommendation ☐ Object ☐Do not object ☒Do not object, 
subject to conditions 

☐Further information 
required 

Recommended 
Conditions 

A scheme of details to be submitted for approval by the Council and thereafter 
the approved details to be carried out fully prior to occupation of the proposed 
unit, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Council. The scheme of details 
must show how both the proposed residential unit and the agricultural units are 
accessed. 
Reason: To ensure adequate access is provided from the public road to serve the 
development site. 
  

Recommended 
Informatives 

Specification for all works associated with any new access connected with this 
development: 
 

 40mm of 14mm size close graded bituminous surface course to BS 4987 laid 
on 60mm of 20mm size dense binder course (basecourse) to the same BS laid 
on 350mm of 100mm broken stone bottoming blinded with sub-base, type 1. 

 
It should be noted that all works within the public road boundary, must be 
undertaken by a contractor first approved by the Council. 

 

Signed: Alan Scott 

Page 435

mailto:pgrigor@scotborders.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



List of Policies

1

Local Review Reference: 20/00001/RREF
Planning Application Reference: 18/01194/FUL
Development Proposal:  Erection of dwellinghouse, garages and associated access
Location: Land North West of Town O Rule Farmhouse, Bonchester Bridge
Applicant: Mr Jamie Reddihough

Scottish Borders Local Development Plan 2016

POLICY PMD1: SUSTAINABILITY

In determining planning applications and preparing development briefs, the Council will have 
regard to the following sustainability principles which underpin all the Plan’s policies and 
which developers will be expected to incorporate into their developments:

a) the long term sustainable use and management of land
b) the preservation of air and water quality
c) the protection of natural resources, landscapes, habitats, and species
d) the protection of built and cultural resources
e) the efficient use of energy and resources, particularly non-renewable resources
f) the minimisation of waste, including waste water and encouragement to its 

sustainable management
g) the encouragement of walking, cycling, and public transport in preference to the 

private car
h) the minimisation of light pollution
i) the protection of public health and safety
j) the support to community services and facilities
k) the provision of new jobs and support to the local economy
l) the involvement of the local community in the design, management and improvement 

of their environment

POLICY PMD2: QUALITY STANDARDS

All new development will be expected to be of high quality in accordance with sustainability 
principles, designed to fit with Scottish Borders townscapes and to integrate with its 
landscape surroundings.  The standards which will apply to all development are that:

Sustainability 
a) In terms of layout, orientation, construction and energy supply, the developer has 

demonstrated that appropriate measures have been taken to maximise the efficient 
use of energy and resources, including the use of renewable energy and resources 
such as District Heating Schemes and the incorporation of sustainable construction 
techniques in accordance with supplementary planning guidance.  Planning 
applications must demonstrate that the current carbon dioxide emissions reduction 
target has been met, with at least half of this target met through the use of low or 
zero carbon technology,

b) it provides digital connectivity and associated infrastructure,
c) it provides for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems in the context of overall 

provision of Green Infrastructure where appropriate and their after-care and 
maintenance,

d) it encourages minimal water usage for new developments,
e) it provides for appropriate internal and external provision for waste storage and 

presentation with, in all instances, separate provision for waste and recycling and, 
depending on the location, separate provision for composting facilities,

f) it incorporates appropriate hard and soft landscape works, including structural or 
screen planting where necessary, to help integration with its surroundings and the 

Page 437

Agenda Item 5d



List of Policies

2

wider environment and to meet open space requirements. In some cases 
agreements will be required to ensure that landscape works are undertaken at an 
early stage of development and that appropriate arrangements are put in place for 
long term landscape/open space maintenance,

g) it considers, where appropriate, the long term adaptability of buildings and spaces.

Placemaking & Design
h) It creates developments with a sense of place, based on a clear understanding of the 

context, designed in sympathy with Scottish Borders architectural styles; this need 
not exclude appropriate contemporary and/or innovative design,

i) it is of a scale, massing, height and density appropriate to its surroundings and, 
where an extension or alteration, appropriate to the existing building,

j) it is finished externally in materials, the colours and textures of which complement the 
highest quality of architecture in the locality and, where an extension or alteration, the 
existing building,

k) it is compatible with, and respects the character of the surrounding area, 
neighbouring uses, and neighbouring built form,

l) it can be satisfactorily accommodated within the site,
m) it provides appropriate boundary treatments to ensure attractive edges to the 

development that will help integration with its surroundings,
n) it incorporates, where appropriate, adequate safety and security measures, in 

accordance with current guidance on ‘designing out crime’.

Accessibility 
o) Street layouts must be designed to properly connect and integrate with existing street 

patterns and be able to be easily extended in the future where appropriate in order to 
minimise the need for turning heads and isolated footpaths,

p) it incorporates, where required, access for those with mobility difficulties,
q) it ensures there is no adverse impact on road safety, including but not limited to the 

site access,
r) it provides for linkages with adjoining built up areas including public transport 

connections and provision for buses, and new paths and cycleways, linking where 
possible to the existing path network; Travel Plans will be encouraged to support 
more sustainable travel patterns,

s) it incorporates adequate access and turning space for vehicles including those used 
for waste collection purposes.

Greenspace, Open Space & Biodiversity
t) It provides meaningful open space that wherever possible, links to existing open 

spaces and that is in accordance with current Council standards pending preparation 
of an up-to-date open space strategy and local standards. In some cases a 
developer contribution to wider neighbourhood or settlement provision may be 
appropriate, supported by appropriate arrangements for maintenance,

u) it retains physical or natural features or habitats which are important to the amenity or 
biodiversity of the area or makes provision for adequate mitigation or replacements.

Developers are required to provide design and access statements, design briefs and 
landscape plans as appropriate.

POLICY HD2: HOUSING IN THE COUNTRYSIDE

The Council wishes to promote appropriate rural housing development:

a) in village locations in preference to the open countryside where permission will only 
be granted in special circumstances on appropriate sites, 

Page 438



List of Policies

3

b) associated with existing building groups where this does not adversely affect their 
character or that of the surrounding area, and
c) in dispersed communities in the Southern Borders housing market area.

These general principles in addition to the requirement for suitable roads access will be the
starting point for the consideration of applications for housing in the countryside, which will
be supplemented by Supplementary Planning Guidance / Supplementary Guidance on New
Housing in the Borders Countryside and on Placemaking and Design.

(A) BUILDING GROUPS

Housing of up to a total of 2 additional dwellings or a 30% increase of the building group,
whichever is the greater, associated with existing building groups may be approved provided
that:

a) the Council is satisfied that the site is well related to an existing group of at least 
three houses or building(s) currently in residential use or capable of conversion to residential 
use. Where conversion is required to establish a cohesive group of at least three houses, no 
additional housing will be approved until such conversion has been implemented,
b) the cumulative impact of new development on the character of the building group, 
and on the landscape and amenity of the surrounding area will be taken into account when 
determining new applications. Additional development within a building group will be refused 
if, in conjunction with other developments in the area, it will cause unacceptable adverse 
impacts,
c) any consents for new build granted under this part of this policy should not exceed 
two housing dwellings or a 30% increase in addition to the group during the Plan period. No 
further development above this threshold will be permitted.

In addition, where a proposal for new development is to be supported, the proposal should 
be appropriate in scale, siting, design, access, and materials, and should be sympathetic to 
the character of the group.

The calculations on building group size are based on the existing number of housing units
within the group as at the start of the Local Development Plan period. This will include those
units under construction or nearing completion at that point.

(B) DISPERSED BUILDINGS GROUPS

In the Southern Housing Market area there are few building groups comprising 3 houses
or more, and a more dispersed pattern is the norm. In this area a lower threshold may
be appropriate, particularly where this would result in tangible community, economic or
environmental benefits. In these cases the existence of a sense of place will be the primary
consideration.

Housing of up to 2 additional dwellings associated with dispersed building groups that meet
the above criteria may be approved provided that:

a) the Council is satisfied that the site lies within a recognised dispersed community in 
the Southern Borders housing market area,
b) any consents for new build granted under this part of this policy should not exceed 
two housing dwellings in addition to the group during the Plan period. No further 
development above this threshold will be permitted,
c) the design of housing will be subject to the same considerations as other types of  
housing in the countryside proposals.

Page 439



List of Policies

4

(C) CONVERSIONS OF BUILDINGS TO A HOUSE

Development that is a change of use of a building to a house may be acceptable provided 
that:

a) the Council is satisfied that the building has architectural or historic merit, is capable 
of conversion and is physically suited for residential use,
b) the building stands substantially intact (normally at least to wallhead height) and the 
existing structure requires no significant demolition. A structural survey will be required 
where in the opinion of the Council it appears that the building may not be capable of 
conversion, and
c) the conversion and any proposed extension or alteration is in keeping with the scale 
and architectural character of the existing building.

(D) RESTORATION OF HOUSES

The restoration of a house may also be acceptable provided that the walls of the former 
residential property stand substantially intact (normally at least to wallhead height). In 
addition:

a) the siting and design reflects and respects the historical building pattern and the 
character of the landscape setting,
b) any proposed extension or alteration should be in keeping with the scale, form and 
architectural character of the existing or original building, and
c) significant alterations to the original character will only be considered where it can be 
demonstrated that these provide environmental benefits such as a positive contribution to 
the landscape and/or a more sustainable and energy efficient design.

(E) REPLACEMENT DWELLINGS

The proposed replacement of an existing house may be acceptable provided that:

a) the siting and design of the new building reflects and respects the historical building 
pattern and the character of the landscape setting,
b) the proposal is in keeping with the existing/original building in terms of its scale, 
extent, form and architectural character,
c) significant alterations to the original character of the house will only be considered 
where it can be demonstrated that these provide environmental benefits such as a positive 
contribution to the landscape and /or a more sustainable and energy efficient design.

(F) ECONOMIC REQUIREMENT

Housing with a location essential for business needs may be acceptable if the Council is
satisfied that:

a) the housing development is a direct operational requirement of an agricultural, 
horticultural, forestry or other enterprise which is itself appropriate to the countryside, and it 
is for a worker predominantly employed in the enterprise and the presence of that worker on-
site is essential to the efficient operation of the enterprise. Such development could include 
businesses that would cause disturbance or loss of amenity if located  within an existing 
settlement, or
b) it is for use of a person last employed in an agricultural, horticultural, forestry or other 
enterprise which is itself appropriate to the countryside, and also employed on the unit that is 
the subject of the application, and the development will release another house for continued 

Page 440



List of Policies

5

use by an agricultural, horticultural, forestry or other enterprise which is itself appropriate to 
the countryside, and 
c) the housing development would help support a business that results in a clear social 
or environmental benefit to the area, including the retention or provision of employment or 
the provision of affordable or local needs housing, and
d) no appropriate site exists within a building group, and
e) there is no suitable existing house or other building capable of conversion for the 
required residential use.

In ALL instances in considering proposals relative to each of the policy sections above, there 
shall be compliance with the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance where it meets the 
terms of this policy and development must not negatively impact on landscape and existing 
communities. The cumulative effect of applications under this policy will be taken into 
account when determining impact.

POLICY HD3 : PROTECTION OF RESIDENTIAL AMENITY

Development that is judged to have an adverse impact on the amenity of existing or 
proposed residential areas will not be permitted. To protect the amenity and character of 
these areas, any developments will be assessed against:

a) the principle of the development, including where relevant, any open space that 
would be lost; and

b) the details of the development itself particularly in terms of:
(i) the scale, form and type of development in terms of its fit within a residential area,
(ii) the impact of the proposed development on the existing and surrounding properties 

particularly in terms of overlooking, loss of privacy and sunlighting provisions. These 
considerations apply especially in relation to garden ground or ‘backland’ 
development, 

(iii) the generation of traffic or noise,
(iv) the level of visual impact.

POLICY EP1: INTERNATIONAL NATURE CONSERVATION SITES AND PROTECTED 
SPECIES

Development proposals which will have a likely significant effect on a designated or 
proposed Natura site, which includes all Ramsar sites, are only permissible where:

a) an appropriate assessment has demonstrated that it will not adversely affect the 
integrity of the site, or
b) there are no alternative solutions, and
c) there are imperative reasons of overriding public interest including those of a social 
or economic nature

Where a development proposal is sited where there is the likely presence of an EPS, the 
planning authority must be satisfied that:

a) there is no satisfactory alternative, and
b) the development is required for preserving public health or public safety or for other 
imperative reasons of overriding public interest including those of a social or economic 
nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance to the environment, and
c) the development is not detrimental to the maintenance of the population of a EPS at 
a favourable conservation status in its natural range.

POLICY EP2: NATIONAL NATURE CONSERVATION AND PROTECTED SPECIES

Page 441



List of Policies

6

Development proposals which are likely to have a significant adverse effect, either directly or 
indirectly, on a Site of Special Scientific Interest or habitat directly supporting a nationally 
important species will not be permitted unless:

a) the development will not adversely affect the integrity of the site, and
b) the development offers substantial benefits of national importance, including those of 
a social or economic nature, that clearly outweigh the national nature conservation value of 
the site.

The developer will be required to detail mitigation, either on or off site, of any damage that 
may be caused by development permissible under the exception criteria.

POLICY EP3: LOCAL BIODIVERSITY

Development that would have an unacceptable adverse effect on Borders Notable Species 
and Habitats of Conservation Concern will be refused unless it can be demonstrated that the 
public benefits of the development clearly outweigh the value of the habitat for biodiversity 
conservation.

Any development that could impact on local biodiversity through impacts on habitats and 
species should:

a) aim to avoid fragmentation or isolation of habitats; and
b) be sited and designed to minimise adverse impacts on the biodiversity of the site, 
including its environmental quality, ecological status and viability; and
c) compensate to ensure no net loss of biodiversity through use of biodiversity offsets 
as appropriate; and
d) aim to enhance the biodiversity value of the site, through use of an ecosystems 
approach, with the aim of creation or restoration of habitats and wildlife corridors and 
provision for their long-term management and maintenance.

POLICY EP5: SPECIAL LANDSCAPE AREAS

In assessing proposals for development that may affect Special Landscape Areas, the 
Council will seek to safeguard landscape quality and will have particular regard to the 
landscape impact of the proposed development, including the visual impact. Proposals that 
have a significant adverse impact will only be permitted where the landscape impact is 
clearly outweighed by social or economic benefits of national or local importance.

POLICY EP13: TREES, WOODLANDS AND HEDGEROWS

The Council will refuse development that would cause the loss of or serious damage to the 
woodland resource unless the public benefits of the development clearly outweigh the loss of 
landscape, ecological, recreational, historical, or shelter value.

Any development that may impact on the woodland resource should:

a) aim to minimise adverse impacts on the biodiversity value of the woodland resource, 
including its environmental quality, ecological status and viability; and
b) where there is an unavoidable loss of the woodland resource, ensure appropriate 
replacement planting, where possible, within the area of the Scottish Borders; and
c) adhere to any planning agreement sought to enhance the woodland resource.

POLICY EP8: ARCHAEOLOGY

Page 442



List of Policies

7

(A) NATIONAL  ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITES
Development proposals which would destroy or adversely affect the appearance, fabric or 
setting of Scheduled Monuments or other nationally important sites will not be permitted 
unless:

a) the development offers substantial benefits, including those of a social or economic 
nature, that clearly outweigh the national value of the site, and
b) there are no reasonable alternative means of meeting the development need.

(B) BATTLEFIELDS
The Council may support development proposals within a battlefield on the Inventory of 
Historic Battlefields Register, or a regionally significant site, that seek to protect, conserve, 
and/or enhance the landscape characteristics or important features of the battlefield.
Proposals will be assessed according to their sensitivity to the battlefield.

(C) REGIONAL OR LOCAL ARCHAEOLOGICAL ASSETS
Development proposals which will adversely affect an archaeological asset of regional or 
local significance will only be permitted if it can be demonstrated that the benefits of the 
proposal will clearly outweigh the heritage value of the asset.

In all of the above cases, where development proposals impact on a Scheduled Monument, 
other nationally important sites, or any other archaeological or historical asset, developers 
may be required to carry out detailed investigations.

Any proposal that will adversely affect a historic environment asset or its appropriate setting 
must include a mitigation strategy acceptable to the Council.

POLICY EP15: DEVELOPMENT AFFECTING THE WATER ENVIRONMENT

Development proposals that seek to bring improvement to the quality of the water 
environment will be supported. Where a proposal would result in a significant adverse effect 
on the water environment through impact on its natural or physical characteristics, or its use 
for recreation or existing river engineering works, it will be refused. Decision making will be 
guided by an assessment of:

a) pollution of surface or underground water, including water supply catchment areas, 
as a result of the nature of any surface or waste water discharge or leachate, including from 
the disturbance of contaminated land;
b) flood risk within the site or the wider river catchment;
c) proposals for river engineering works that may be required for fisheries management, 
flood defence or erosion control;
d) compliance with current best practice on Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUDS) 
including avoidance of flooding, pollution, extensive canalisation and culverting of 
watercourses.

POLICY IS2: DEVELOPER CONTRIBUTIONS

Where a site is otherwise acceptable in terms of planning policy, but cannot proceed due to 
deficiencies in infrastructure and services or to environmental impacts, any or all of which 
will be created or exacerbated as a result of the development, the Council will require 
developers to make a full or partial contribution towards the cost of addressing such 
deficiencies.  

Contributions may be required for one or more of the following:

Page 443



List of Policies

8

a) treatment of surface or foul waste water in accordance with the Plan’s policies on 
preferred methods (including SUDS maintenance);

b) provision of schools, school extensions or associated facilities, all in accordance with 
current educational capacity estimates and schedule of contributions; 

c) off-site transport infrastructure including new roads or road improvements, Safer 
Routes to School, road safety measures, public car parking, cycle-ways, bridges and 
associated studies and other access routes, subsidy to public transport operators; all 
in accordance with the relevant standards and the provisions of any Travel Plan;

d) leisure, sport, recreation, play areas and community facilities, either on-site or off-
site;

e) landscape, open space, allotment provision, trees and woodlands, including costs of 
future management and maintenance;

f) protection, enhancement and promotion of environmental assets either on-site or off-
site, having regard to the Local Biodiversity Action Plan and the Council’s 
Supplementary Planning Guidance on Biodiversity, including compensation for any 
losses and/or alternative provision;

g) provision of other facilities and equipment for the satisfactory completion of the 
development that may include: measures to minimise the risk of crime; provision for 
the storage, collection and recycling of waste, including communal facilities; provision 
of street furniture and digital connectivity with associated infrastructure.

Wherever possible, any requirement to provide developer contributions will be secured by 
planning condition.  Where a legal agreement is necessary, the preference for using an 
agreement under other legislation, for example the 1973 Local Government (Scotland) Act 
and the 1984 Roads (Scotland) Act will be considered.  A planning obligation will only be 
necessary where successors in title need to be bound by its terms. Where appropriate, the 
council will consider the economic viability of a proposed development, including possible 
payment options, such as staged or phased payments.

POLICY IS7: PARKING PROVISION AND STANDARDS

Development proposals should provide for car and cycle parking in accordance with 
approved standards. 

Relaxation of technical standards will be considered where appropriate due to the nature of 
the development and/or if positive amenity gains can be demonstrated that do not 
compromise road safety.

In town centres where there appear to be parking difficulties, the Council will consider the
desirability of seeking additional public parking provision, in the context of policies to  
promote the use of sustainable travel modes.

POLICY IS8: FLOODING

At all times, avoidance will be the first principle of managing flood risk. In general terms, new 
development should therefore be located in areas free from significant flood risk.
Development will not be permitted if it would be at significant risk of flooding from any source 
or would materially increase the probability of flooding elsewhere. The ability of functional 
flood plains to convey and store floodwater should be protected, and development should be 
located away from them.

Within certain defined risk categories, particularly where the risk is greater than 0.5% annual 
flooding probability or 1 in 200 year flood risk, some forms of development will generally not 
be acceptable.  These include:

Page 444



List of Policies

9

a) development comprising essential civil infrastructure such as hospitals, fire stations, 
emergency depots etc., schools, care homes, ground-based electrical and 
telecommunications equipment unless subject to an appropriate long term flood risk 
management strategy;
b) additional built development in undeveloped and sparsely developed   areas.

Other forms of development will be subject to an assessment of the risk and mitigation 
measures.

Developers will be required to provide, including if necessary at planning permission in 
principle stage:

a) a competent flood risk assessment, including all sources of flooding, and taking 
account of climate change; and
b) a report of the measures that are proposed to mitigate the flood risk.

The information used to assess the acceptability of development will include:

a) information and advice from consultation with the council’s flood team and the 
Scottish Environment  Protection Agency;
b) flood risk maps provided by the Scottish Environment Protection Agency which 
indicate the extent of the flood plain;
c) historical records and flood studies held by the council and other agencies, including 
past flood risk assessment reports carried out by consultants and associated comments from 
the Scottish Environment Protection Agency, also held by the council;
(d) the Scottish Environment Protection Agency’s Land Use Vulnerability Guidance.

POLICY IS9: WASTE WATER TREATMENT STANDARDS AND SUSTAINABLE URBAN 
DRAINAGE

WASTE WATER TREATMENT STANDARDS
The Council’s preferred method of dealing with waste water associated with new 
development will be, in order of priority:

a) direct connection to the public sewerage system, including pumping if necessary, or 
failing that:
b) negotiating developer contributions with Scottish Water to upgrade the existing 
sewerage network and/or increasing capacity at the waste water treatment works, or failing 
that:
c) agreement with Scottish Water and SEPA where required to provide permanent or 
temporary alternatives to sewer connection including the possibility of stand alone treatment 
plants until sewer capacity becomes available, or, failing that:
d) for development in the countryside i.e. not within or immediately adjacent to publicly 
sewered areas, the use of private sewerage treatment may be acceptable, providing it can 
be demonstrated that this can be delivered without any negative impacts to public health, the 
environment or the quality of watercourses or groundwater.

In settlements served by the public foul sewer, permission for an individual private sewage 
treatment system will normally be refused unless exceptional circumstances prevail and the 
conditions in criteria (d) above can be satisfied.

Development will be refused if:
a) it will result in a proliferation of individual septic tanks or other private water treatment 
infrastructure within settlements,

Page 445



List of Policies

10

b) it will overload existing mains infrastructure or it is impractical for the developer to 
provide for new infrastructure.

SUSTAINABLE URBAN DRAINAGE
Surface water management for new development, for both greenfield and brownfield sites, 
must comply with current best practice on sustainable urban drainage systems to the 
satisfaction of the council, Scottish Environment Protection Agency (where required), 
Scottish Natural Heritage and other interested parties where required. Development will be 
refused unless surface water treatment is dealt with in a sustainable manner that avoids 
flooding, pollution, extensive canalisation and culverting of watercourses. A drainage 
strategy should be submitted with planning applications to include treatment and flood 
attenuation measures and details for the long term maintenance of any necessary features.
POLICY IS13 CONTAMINATED LAND

Where development is proposed on land that is contaminated, suspected of contamination, 
or unstable the developer will be required to:

a) carry out, in full consultation with, and to the satisfaction of Scottish Borders Council, 
appropriate phased site investigations and risk assessments; and
b) where necessary, and to the satisfaction of Scottish Borders Council design, 
implement, and validate appropriate remedial or mitigation measures to render the site 
suitable for its proposed use.

OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Placemaking & Design 2010
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Privacy and Sunlight  2006
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Development Contributions 2011
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on New Housing in the Borders Countryside 

2008
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Landscape and Development 2008
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Waste Management 2015
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Trees and Development 2008
 SBC Supplementary Planning Guidance on Local Landscape Designations 2012
 National Planning Framework 3
 Scottish Planning Policy

Page 446


	Agenda
	4a Additional information provided by appellant
	4b Response from Planning Officer
	4c Response from Roads Planning Officer
	4d Review papers
	Item 4(d) - NOR 2 - GROUNDS FOR REVIEW
	Item 4(d) - NOR 3 - LOC_AND_SITE_PLAN-3285378
	Item 4(d) - NOR 4 - ELEVATIONS-3285374
	Item 4(d) - NOR 5 - ELEVATIONS_2-3285373
	Item 4(d) - NOR 6 - FLOOR_PLAN-3285375
	Item 4(d) - NOR 7 - LANDSCAPE_PLAN-3285377
	Item 4(d) - NOR 8 - PHOTOS-3285381
	Item 4(d) - NOR 9 - APPLICATION_PDF-3285379
	Item 4(d) - NOR 10 - REFUSAL_NOTICE-3285382
	Item 4(d) - NOR 11 - OFFICERS_REPORT-3285380
	Item 4(d)  - Papers referred to in report
	Item 4(d) _-_CONSULTATION_REPLIES-3286702
	Item 4(d)_-_REPRESENTATIONS
	Item 4(d) - List of Policies

	5a Notice of Review and associated documents
	Item 5(a) - NOR 2 - GROUNDS_FOR_REVIEW_STATEMENT-3322077
	Item 5(a) - NOR 3  - APPLICATION_COVERING_LETTER-3322172
	Item 5(a) - NOR 4 - BONCHESTER_BRIDGE_PLANNING_STATEMENT-3322168
	Item 5(a) - NOR 5 - DECISION_NOTICE___OFFICERS_REPORT-3322115
	Item 5(a) - NOR 6- PROPOSED_DRAWINGS-3322173
	Item 5(a) - NOR 7 -ARCHITECTURAL_DESIGN___ACCESS_STATEMENT-3322175
	Item 5(a) - NOR 8 - ARCHITECTURAL_DESIGN___ACCESS_STATEMENT_ADDENDUM-3322127
	Item 5(a) - NOR 9 - LANDSCAPE_APPAISAL-3322165
	Item 5(a) - NOR 10 - ARBORICULTURAL_IMPACT_ASSESSMENT-3322170
	Item 5(a) - NOR 11 - BONCHESTER_BRIDGE_FLOOD_RISK_ASSESSMENT-3322169
	Item 5(a) - NOR 12 - CONTAMINATED_LAND_ASSESSMENT-3322166
	Item 5(a) - NOR 13 - ORIGINAL_PLANS_2018_-_1_OF_2-3322178
	A100-01_Location Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	A4 P SHEET



	Item 5(a) - NOR 14 - ORIGINAL_PLANS_2018_-_2_OF_2-3322179

	5b Papers referred to in Officer's Report
	Item 5(b) - PRT 2_-_REFUSED_DRAWINGS-3322154
	Item 5(b) - PRT 3 - 15-011133-PPP DECISION_NOTICE
	Item 5(b) - PRT 4 - 15-0111330-PPP OFFICER_S_REPORT
	Item 5(b) - PRT 5 - 15-011133-PPP -  PROPOSED_SITE_PLAN

	5c Consultations
	5d List of Policies

